BIOLOGICAL DETERMINANTS OF LONGEVITY IN A CROATIAN OLDEST-OLD POPULATION

Šetinc, Maja

Doctoral thesis / Doktorski rad

2024

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: University of Zagreb, Faculty of Science / Sveučilište u Zagrebu, Prirodoslovno-matematički fakultet

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:217:958116

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2025-02-06



Repository / Repozitorij:

Repository of the Faculty of Science - University of Zagreb







University of Zagreb

FACULTY OF SCIENCE DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY

Maja Šetinc

BIOLOGICAL DETERMINANTS OF LONGEVITY IN A CROATIAN OLDEST-OLD POPULATION

DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Zagreb, 2024



Sveučilište u Zagrebu

PRIRODOSLOVNO-MATEMATIČKI FAKULTET BIOLOŠKI ODSJEK

Maja Šetinc

BIOLOŠKE ODREDNICE DUGOVJEČNOSTI U HRVATSKOJ POPULACIJI OSOBA DUBOKE STAROSTI

DOKTORSKI RAD

Zagreb, 2024

This doctoral dissertation was made at the Institute for Anthropological Research, under the supervision of Tatjana Škarić-Jurić, MD, PhD, scientific advisor with tenure, as a part of the Doctoral programme of Biology at the Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb.

SUPERVISOR INFORMATION

Tatjana Škarić-Jurić is a scientific advisor with tenure in the field of biomedicine and health and an associate professor of anthropology. She graduated from the School of Medicine, University of Zagreb (UNIZG) in 1989 and finished postgraduate study of Biological Anthropology at the Faculty of Science, UNIZG, in 1993. She obtained her PhD degree in the field of Biomedicine and Public Health in 1999 from the School of Medicine, UNIZG.

Since 1989, dr. sc. Škarić-Jurić has been working at the Institute for Anthropological Research in Zagreb, where she took part in 15 domestic and international scientific projects (having the role of PI in four of these projects). During the three decades of scientific activity, her research interests covered a wide spectrum of topics within fields of biological anthropology and public health. As a young researcher, she focused on exploring the heritable and non-heritable sources of variability in complex human traits by applying quantitative-genetics methodology on family and twin data, and population-genetics methods on population data. Another area of her interest included biological (micro)evolution and its impact on the current structure of human populations) which have proved to be very powerful natural experiments. More recently her diversified interests span from genetic analyses on molecular level to the impact of socioeconomic and other environmental factors on complex phenotype formation. Her studies of life-course dynamics of human morphological and physiological characteristics included research on the changes during growth and development period as well as the research centring around ageing process and the phenomenon of human longevity.

She authored 84 scientific and professional papers, co-edited two books, actively participated in 110 international scientific conferences, and supervised three PhD theses, one Master thesis, and three Graduate theses. She was also involved in lecturing activities at the graduate study of Anthropology at the Faculty of Social Sciences and Humanities (courses: «Quantitative Genetics» and «Introduction to Population Genetics»), and postgraduate programs at the Faculty of Science, (course: «Anthropology - Human Biological Variation») and the Faculty of Food Technology and Biotechnology (course: «Nutritional Status»), as well as at the University of Rijeka and J. J. Strossmayer University of Osijek (course: «Medical Anthropology»). She was engaged in number of professional activities: participation in various professional boards and panels, as well as editing and reviewing activities (including for EC framework programs in 2008, 2014, 2016, and 2019).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my mentor and supervisor, prof. dr. sc. Tatjana Škarić-Jurić, for all her guidance, advice and patience in the process of making this thesis, as well as for picking me among many good candidates that applied for this job. I will forever appreciate her for giving me this opportunity.

I would also like to thank prof. dr. sc. Marijana Peričić Salihović and dr. sc. Matea Zajc Petranović, who have always been there to answer my questions and provide a helping hand (or something sweet).

This thesis would have never been possible without my wonderful young colleagues, dr. sc. Željka Celinšćak and dr. sc. Anita Stojanović Marković, who have many a time helped to guide me forward by sharing their previous experiences. They have also shown me the true meaning of teamwork.

These wonderful women have at all times been inspiring and enlightening company, who have somehow managed to always lighten the atmosphere with a laugh and create a truly supportive working environment.

I would like to thank our predecessors in this scientific endeavour, prof. dr. sc. Nina Smolej Narančić and prof. dr. sc. Branka Janićijević, for setting the groundwork our research is based on.

A big thank you also goes to dr. sc. Joris Deelen for giving me the incredible opportunity to learn from him and his amazing team from the Max Planck Institute for Biology of Ageing. It was truly a once-in-a-lifetime experience.

It would not do to not say thank you to the rest of my colleagues as well – both those who are my seniors, and my fellow assistants (or those who used to be, but have since moved up in life) – you make going to work feel like going to see friends.

I would also like to say thank you to my dearest friends, who have always provided the nicest company to unwind after a hard day's work, and have always been here for me.

And above all, from the bottom of my heart, thank you to my family and my partner, Mario, for their continued love and support. I couldn't have done it without you.

BIOLOGICAL DETERMINANTS OF LONGEVITY IN A CROATIAN OLDEST-OLD POPULATION

MAJA ŠETINC

Institute for Anthropological Research, Gajeva 32, Zagreb

Research of long-lived individuals is key for better understanding of the ageing process and the factors that contribute to successful ageing. In this study, 43 genetic variants with previous association to longevity were explored in the population of Croatian oldest-olds (85+ years), along with health-related parameters and relative telomere length, to determine their impact on longevity and late-life survival. Only one variant, associated with *MRE11* gene, differed between the study group and the young control group. There was a difference in the variants that contributed to reaching longevity (90 years) and extreme longevity (95 years), with the only variant shared between the two models being *TP53* rs1042522. SNP-SNP interactions had a significant effect on survival above the age of 85, with *CDKN2B* being the most important interaction partner. Finally, health-related parameters contributed to survival in advanced age independently of genetic factors, while relative telomere length did not show any association.

(147 pages, 13 figures, 25 tables, 262 references, original in English)Keywords: oldest-old, longevity, survival, single nucleotide polymorphisms, genetic risk score, genetic interaction, health-related traits

Supervisor: Tatjana Škarić-Jurić, MD, PhD, scientific advisor with tenure
 Reviewers: Adjunct Prof. Marijana Peričić Salihović, PhD, scientific advisor with tenure
 Tihomir Balog, PhD, scientific advisor with tenure
 Prof. Maja Matulić, PhD

Sveučilište u Zagrebu Prirodoslovno-matematički fakultet Biološki odsjek

BIOLOŠKE ODREDNICE DUGOVJEČNOSTI U HRVATSKOJ POPULACIJI OSOBA DUBOKE STAROSTI

MAJA ŠETINC

Institut za antropologiju, Gajeva 32, Zagreb

Istraživanja dugovječnih pojedinaca ključna su za bolje razumijevanje procesa starenja, kao i za stjecanje saznanja o čimbenicima koji doprinose uspješnom starenju. U ovom istraživanju 43 genetske varijante prethodno povezane s dugovječnošću, parametri povezani sa zdravljem i relativna duljina telomera istraživani su na hrvatskom uzorku osoba duboke starosti (85+ godina) kako bi se utvrdio njihov doprinos dugovječnosti i preživljenju u dubokoj starosti. Ispitanici su se od kontrolne skupine mladih osoba razlikovali samo u jednoj varijanti, povezanoj s genom *MRE11*. Utvrđena je razlika u varijantama koje su doprinosile doživljenju dugovječnosti (90 godina) i ekstremne dugovječnosti (95 godina), s tim da je jedino rs1042522 u genu *TP53* bila u oba modela. Interakcije između lokusa imale su značajan učinak na preživljenje iznad 85 godina, pri čemu je najvažniji sudionik bio gen *CDKN2B*. Zdravstvene varijable također su doprinosile preživljenju u dubokoj starosti neovisno od genetskih faktora, dok relativna duljina telomera nije pokazala povezanost s preživljenjem.

(147 stranica, 13 slika, 25 tablica, 262 literaturnih navoda, jezik izvornika: engleski)
Ključne riječi: osobe duboke starosti, dugovječnost, preživljenje, polimorfizmi jednog nukleotida,
zbroj genetičkih rizika, genetske interakcije, obilježja povezana sa zdravljem

Mentor: dr. sc. Tatjana Škarić-Jurić, dr. med., znanstvena savjetnica u trajnom izboru Ocjenjivači:

naslovna prof. dr. sc. Marijana Peričić Salihović, znanstvena savjetnica u trajnom izboru dr. sc. Tihomir Balog, znanstveni savjetnik u trajnom izboru prof. dr. sc. Maja Matulić

CONTENTS

1.		INTRODUCTION	1
1. 1	l. .	Ageing from the evolutionary perspective	1
1.2	2.	Molecular theories of ageing	3
	1.2.1	Somatic mutation theory	3
	1.2.2	The telomere hypothesis of ageing	4
	1.2.3	Waste accumulation theory	5
	1.2.4	Mitochondrial theory	6
	1.2.5	Caloric restriction theory of ageing	7
1.3	3.	Hallmarks and biomarkers of ageing	8
1.4	4.	Candidate gene and genome-wide association studies (GWAS)	11
1.5	5.	Healthy ageing	13
1.6	5.	The global population ageing	15
1.7	7.	Research scope and the aims of the thesis	17
2.		LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	20
3.		DISCUSSION	104
3.1	l . '	The difference in the frequency of longevity-associated variants between the young and the oldest-old	104
3.2	2.	Genetic background for longevity and extreme longevity in Croatian population	108
3.3	3.	Genetic interactions in survival of the oldest-olds	109
3.4	1.	Impact of other factors on survival of the oldest-olds	114
4.		CONCLUSIONS	116
5.		REFERENCES	118
6.		CURRICULUM VITAE	139
7.		APPENDICES	140
8.		PROŠIRENI SAŽETAK	146

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Ageing from the evolutionary perspective

Ageing is a highly complex biological process that happens to most living beings. It is characterised by a progressive weakening of all functions of the organism, which ultimately leads to its death. It can also be defined as a time-related deterioration of the physiological functions necessary for fertility and survival (Gilbert, 2000).

Ageing is widespread throughout the animal kingdom, with different species displaying different changes in phenotype as they age. It is, however, not ubiquitous, as some species, like hydra from the Cnidaria phylum, do not exhibit signs of ageing at all (Kirkwood & Tipton, 2017). The life expectancy among species differs greatly as well. The life cycle of the adult stage of the fruit fly, *Drosophila melanogaster*, lasts approximately 3 months (Piper & Partridge, 2018). A laboratory mouse has a maximum lifespan of about 4.5 years (Gilbert, 2000), while their wild counterparts are expected to live only between 1- 1.5 years (Ballenger, 1999). Naked mole rats, the longest-living members of the Rodentia order that are often used as models for longevity, can live up to 30 years (Buffenstein & Jarvis, 2002). Large mammals such as elephants and bowhead whales are also known for their long lifespans, but the title of the longest-living vertebrate goes to the Greenland shark, estimated to reach 500 years of age (Nielsen et al., 2016). In comparison, the maximum lifespan of a human is estimated at 121 years (R. Arking, 1998), with the longest-living person up to date being Jeanne Calment from France, who died aged 122.

Evolutionary theories of ageing have long tried to rationalise ageing by making a connection between ageing process and reproduction. Creating offspring is energy-demanding, so high fertility has often been connected to faster ageing of the organism (Jasienska, 2020; Ryan et al., 2018). This is partially corroborated by the fact that species with shorter life often follow the r reproductive strategy – with maximum energy allocated to high numbers of progeny, with short gestation, less parental care, and a short time until sexual maturity (Pianka, 1970). The species with longer lifespans, on the other hand, tend to follow K strategy characterised by having few offspring, a long gestational period, intensive parental care, and a long period until sexual maturity (Pianka, 1970). There are some exceptions – for example, long-lived sea turtles reproduce in a way that more

closely resembles *r* strategy. This line of thinking, however, suggesting the trade-off between energy allocated for reproductive fitness and the energy that can be spent for other functions that would contribute to longevity, such as DNA repair, has been proposed by Thomas Kirkwood in 1977 as one of the causes for ageing in a theory known as the disposable soma theory (Kirkwood, 1977). The age-related decline of the organism's vitality has also been rationalised as a consequence of the reproductive exhaustion of the old individuals, who are no longer able to ensure the continuation of their species, and have therefore lost their importance in the light of evolution (Weismann, 1891). It was proposed that such individuals are therefore weeded out by the programmed process of ageing to make room for the reproductively fit individuals of the species. But in the natural world, however, most individuals do not survive to the point of old age and senescence due to extrinsic hazards (Kirkwood, 2005), meaning that there would be no need for a strong natural selection of genes that trigger ageing. Therefore, it is widely accepted that ageing is not programmed, but has rather evolved as a side-effect of declining ability of natural selection to maintain fitness as the organism ages (Flatt & Partridge, 2018).

Regardless of the fact that the ageing process is not programmed by any single gene, the impact of genetics on ageing is substantial. Mutations have been found that modulate lifespan in model organisms (Kirkwood, 2005), as well as certain variants that contribute to longevity in humans (Deelen et al., 2011; Flachsbart et al., 2009; Willcox et al., 2008). Some genes that affect ageing are pleiotropic and affect multiple biological systems within an organism, or are expressed differently at different life stages. Some act in the manner of antagonistic pleiotropy, meaning that they enhance fitness of an organism early in life, but diminish it in later life when the natural selection pressure is weak (Austad & Hoffman, 2018; Kirkwood, 2005). The antagonistic pleiotropy theory of ageing is widely accepted today, with experimental evidence speaking in its favour (Austad & Hoffman, 2018). As more and more ageing-related mechanisms were discovered to conform to the concept of antagonistic pleiotropy (Bartke, 2011; Carter & Nguyen, 2011; Wood et al., 2000), they started to converge and point to the pituitary gland, the main control centre that coordinates the crosstalk between nervous, endocrine and immune systems (Chesnokova & Melmed, 2002), as a potential integrative centre that regulates different processes that accompany ageing.

1.2. Molecular theories of ageing

The study of ageing remains even today one of the most challenging research topics in the fields of biology and medicine. Ageing is fascinating not just because it is ubiquitous and unavoidable (at least for humans), but because it affects numerous phenotypes all at once. It is because of this complexity that, in the history of ageing research, many molecular theories have been proposed to explain why and how ageing happens, and only the most prominent of those theories are described in the continuation of this chapter. Even though each theory could explain some of the changes that happen during the ageing process, none of them could by themselves account for all the age-associated phenotypes. This is why no single theory prevailed, and instead, the molecular background behind ageing is now considered to be a network of interconnected processes.

1.2.1. Somatic mutation theory

Somatic cells are throughout life exposed to different internal and external stressors and mutagens. From the reactive oxygen species that are created as byproducts of oxidative metabolism within the cells, the UV radiation from the sun or the mutagens naturally found in the environment, there are various factors that can damage the DNA molecule and cause mutations (Vijg & Suh, 2013). The DNA can also get damaged spontaneously, for example by heightened body temperature or by hydrolytic cleavage of the glycosidic bonds (a process also known as "depurination"), and mutations can be introduced into the DNA sequence during replication (Vijg, 2000). As these lesions in the DNA can block cell division or transcription of genes, the cells come equipped with a capable system for recognising them, known as the DNA damage response (DDR), as well as a complex system for their repair (Niedernhofer et al., 2018). However, as the organism ages, the efficiency of DNA repair decreases, causing the gradual accumulation of DNA damage. This accumulation of unrepaired DNA lesions manifests as genotoxic stress, which - in order to prevent the replication of damaged DNA - triggers signalling cascades that promote apoptosis or senescence (Yousefzadeh et al., 2021). The inverse situation, on the other hand, in which the damage to the DNA goes unnoticed by DDR, also presents a danger to the organism as it can lead to development of disease, particularly cancer. Thus, it highlights the fine balance between senescence and proliferation, and the key role that DNA repair mechanism play in maintaining this homeostasis. DNA damage is, therefore, considered as one of the main causes of ageing, and this theory has been confirmed by studies that have shown that older individuals, both of model organisms and humans, exhibit more DNA lesions than their younger counterparts (Hamilton et al., 2001; Jacob et al., 2013). Also, recent studies have shown that some long-lived species could owe that longevity to more efficient DNA repair (Tian et al., 2019). Apart from the accumulation of somatic mutations, ageing is also connected to changes to the epigenetic markers. The strongest evidence exists for the age-related changes in methylation levels across the entire genome (Bell et al., 2012; Christensen et al., 2009; Teschendorff et al., 2010), but ageing has also been connected to the decrease of the number of histones (Larson et al., 2012) and the loss of heterochromatin (Dang et al., 2009; Feser et al., 2010), which could all disturb the epigenetic regulation of gene expression.

1.2.2. The telomere hypothesis of ageing

In 1961, Leonard Hayflick was performing experiments cultivating non-cancerous human and animal cells to see how long they could be maintained in cell culture. Contrary to the theory proposed by Alexis Carrel at the beginning of the 20th century, in which it was stated that normal somatic cells could be maintained in cell culture almost indefinitely (Carrel, 1912), Hayflick found that cells usually underwent 40 to 60 cell divisions before entering senescence (Hayflick, 1965). This limited number of times that a cell can divide before maxing out its proliferative capacity has since been known as the Hayflick limit. The molecular explanation for this phenomenon was given by Alexey Olovnikov in 1971, when he, looking at the trains in the Moscow subway, formulated the end replication problem. He theorised that during replication of the DNA, the very ends of the lagging strand cannot be fully copied by DNA polymerases because the enzyme itself sits on it, like a locomotive engine at the end of the train track (Olovnikov, 1973). He also suggested the ends of chromosomes comprise repeated sequences that serve as buffers that shorten in each cell division, and that the cells enter replicative senescence once this buffer role has been lost (Olovnikov, 1996), thus setting the foundation of the telomere shortening hypothesis of ageing. His theories have been confirmed by further research, and these repetitive DNA sequences at the ends of chromosomes given the name telomeres. Telomeres in humans and other vertebrates consist of hexameric repeats of TTAGGG (Moyzis et al., 1988) that bind proteins of the shelterin complex and serve to protect the ends of the linear DNA molecule from degradation by nucleases (Blackburn et al., 2015). They are shortened in every cycle of DNA replication, and upon reaching a critical length, trigger the activation of the DNA damage response, arrest of the cell cycle and the cells' entry into replicative senescence (Zglinicki & Martin-Ruiz, 2005). Even though the critically shortened telomeres are recognised as DNA damage, they cannot be mended by regular mechanisms for DNA repair, as this repair requires a special template to rebuild and lengthen the telomeric repeats. Telomerase is a complex enzyme with DNA polymerase activity and an RNA template that enables this lengthening of telomeres, but is not expressed in most human cells (Blackburn et al., 2015). It is, on the other hand, expressed in stem cells (Collins & Mitchell, 2002; Wright et al., 1996) and often in cancer cells (Hahn et al., 1999; Shay et al., 2001), allowing them continuous proliferation far beyond the Hayflick limit. Therefore, telomeres play not only an important role in ageing but also in disease susceptibility and development (Rossiello et al., 2022). Telomeres are the longest at birth, which represents the most important predictor for later life telomere length (Martens et al., 2021). Because of the shortening during the course of life, telomeres could represent a good marker of biological age, as well as an interesting biomarker for ageing research.

1.2.3. Waste accumulation theory

Proteins, the main building blocks of an organism, carry out most of the main structural and functional tasks in a living system, making their proper functioning of utmost importance. In normal cellular metabolism, fresh proteins are synthesised anew, and non-functioning, damaged or redundant proteins are marked for degradation and broken down in proteasomes (Davies, 2001; Shang & Taylor, 2011). The maintenance of this balance, also known as proteostasis, is often dysregulated by ageing (Hipp et al., 2019). Throughout their lifetime, proteins and other macromolecules in the cell are exposed to different conditions and agents that can damage and impair their functions. Elevated temperatures can cause the proteins to lose their 3D conformation, while highly reactive molecules like reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS), as well as sugars and aldehydes, can oxidise them and affect their structure. Proteins that are misfolded, unfolded or oxidised by these molecular stressors can then stick together in oligomeric complexes, causing the formation of protein aggregates that impair cellular function and decrease viability (Chondrogianni et al., 2014). To prevent them from further damaging other macromolecules, damaged proteins are either degraded, sequestered in separate compartments within the cell or repaired (Chen et al., 2011). The latter is possible thanks to molecular chaperones, of which most well-known are the ones from the heat-shock protein family (Hsp). They have a vital role in preserving the structural integrity of proteins and help the proteins to achieve their functional conformation by binding to the unfolded regions and oligomerizing with accessory proteins around this region in order to create an ideal surrounding for the protein to fold (Mayer & Bukau, 2005). They can refold damaged proteins to restore their function, and also help to prevent the accumulation of misfolded proteins (Hut et al., 2005), which is why their expression is required for longevity (Calderwood et al., 2009). The heat shock response, however, has been shown to weaken with age (Calderwood et al., 2009), and, together with the failure of the protein degradation system, leads to collapse of protein quality control, which in turn compromises the cell's functional integrity and can cause the development of protein misfolding diseases, such as Alzheimer's and Huntington's disease (Powers et al., 2009; Taylor & Dillin, 2011).

1.2.4. Mitochondrial theory

Mitochondria are the powerhouse of the cell, cellular organelles where energy in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) is created by oxidative phosphorylation. This process, necessary for the sustenance of eukaryotic life, involves a chain of chemical reactions that include transport of electrons from electron donors to acceptors in a series of redox reactions ending in the release of oxygen (Nunnari & Suomalainen, 2012). This electron transport, happening on protein complexes located on the inner mitochondrial membrane, also known as the respiratory chain, sometimes causes the production of highly reactive byproducts of aerobic metabolism – reactive oxidative species (ROS) (Bratic & Larsson, 2013). Due to their high chemical reactivity, these toxic byproducts can cause oxidative damage to proteins, lipids and nucleic acids. Mitochondria are the only organelle in the animal cells, besides the nucleus, that have their own genome – mtDNA. It is a circular DNA molecule of 16 569 base pairs that encodes 13 proteins with a role in oxidative phosphorylation and 24 RNA components (22 tRNAs and two rRNAs) necessary for mitochondrial protein synthesis (Trifunovic & Larsson, 2008). Due to highly oxidative conditions within the mitochondria inner membrane, the circular, histone-free nature of mtDNA and a more limited set of repair machinery available in the mitochondria (Druzhyna et al., 2008; Lax et al., 2011), mtDNA has a much higher rate of mutation compared to nuclear DNA (Short et al., 2005). This can, as the organism ages, cause the accumulation of mutations in the mtDNA (Trifunovic & Larsson, 2008), and subsequently lead to mitochondrial dysfunction and accelerated ROS generation (Trifunovic et al., 2004; Wallace, 2010). This is also reflected in the fact that, with ageing, the rate of energy production in the mitochondria decreases (Petersen et al., 2003; Short et al., 2005), indicating the weakening of mitochondrial function.

1.2.5. Caloric restriction theory of ageing

One of the first breakthroughs in the field of ageing research was the discovery that rats on a caloric restriction diet could live much longer than their counterparts on normal diets (McCay et al., 1975). It was the first proof of an irrefutable connection between nutrient intake and longevity, as well as the first example of the plasticity of the ageing process. It inspired the scientists to investigate the genes that activate in response to nutrient stimuli, and look for a link between those genes and ageing. This resulted in the discovery of the age-1 gene in Caenorhabditis elegans (Friedman & Johnson, 1988), ushering the genetic era of ageing research. This gene encodes a worm homologue of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, a kinase that phosphorylates transcription factors downstream of the insulin/insulin-like growth factor 1 signalling pathway (IIS) that is well-conserved from yeast to mammals (Barbieri et al., 2003). Soon after, DAF-2, a homologue of insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor, and DAF-16, a homologue of the FOXO transcription factor, were discovered as the other key regulatory elements of C. elegans lifespan (Kenyon et al., 1993), proving that IIS indeed was the most promising pathway for longevity research. It has since been discovered that IIS is the centre of a much larger regulatory network that spans beyond just one pathway (Figure 1). It is connected to cellular metabolism, stress response, cell cycle control, apoptosis and autophagy via its downstream effectors such as FOXO transcription factors (Martins et al., 2016) and mTOR (Saxton & Sabatini, 2017; Yoon, 2017), as well as cytokine production and inflammatory processes (Spielman et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2008; Manowsky et al., 2016), among others. Because of this involvement in a variety of cellular processes, even though the IIS is evolutionary tied to organismal survival and not ageing per se (Antebi, 2007), the changes in expression of key genes in this signalling network can influence how an organism ages, proving that regulating nutritional signals can indeed influence the ageing process.



Figure 1. The insulin signalling pathway. Image sourced from Kushi and collaborators (Kushi et al., 2021).

1.3. Hallmarks and biomarkers of ageing

The complexity of the ageing process lies in a wide spectrum of processes and changes that an organism simultaneously undergoes as it ages. These cellular and molecular processes are not independent of each other and often have causal or synergistic effects. They are what determines the aging phenotype, and are considered the hallmarks of ageing (López-Otín et al., 2013, 2023) (Figure 2). DNA instability and telomere attrition are hallmarks of ageing caused by the wear and tear of DNA throughout life, and both represent a limiting factor to the replicative potential of the cells. Epigenetic alterations influence transcription and affect cell division via chromatin organisation (Sen et al., 2016). They are a hallmark of ageing that reflects environmental influence on gene expression. All these changes on the DNA level are the drivers behind cellular senescence and stem cell exhaustion, which are the main hallmarks of ageing on the cellular level. Ageing affects cellular and intercellular signalling pathways, which causes deregulated nutrient-sensing

and altered intercellular communications. It also impacts the cellular systems for maintaining homeostasis, so aged cells often display signs of mitochondrial dysfunction, loss of proteostasis and disabled macroautophagy. On the tissue level, the main hallmark of ageing is chronic inflammation, characterised by an increase in the levels of pro-inflammatory markers in blood and tissues. Chronic inflammation is a strong risk factor for age-related diseases and geriatric conditions that are highly prevalent and causes of disability in elderly individuals, and has therefore even got its own name: inflammaging (Ferrucci & Fabbri, 2018; Franceschi et al., 2000). The ageing-related changes, however, do not stop at the level of the organism itself – the microbiome is also affected by the ageing process through the bidirectional host-bacteria crosstalk. This altered communication results in dysbiosis, a change in the composition of gut microbiota, which makes for a final, holobiont hallmark of ageing (López-Otín et al., 2013, 2023). López-Otín et al. (2023) have grouped these hallmarks of ageing into three categories - primary, antagonistic and integrative (Figure 2). Primary hallmarks are disadvantageous molecular events or changes at the level of individual cells, and are the core drivers of ageing. Antagonistic hallmarks, when they become widespread as a result of the changes incurred by the primary hallmarks, further contribute to the ageing phenotype and exacerbate other ageing-related changes. Finally, integrative hallmarks comprise the changes on multicellular and systemic levels that disrupt normal functioning of the organism as a whole.



Figure 2. The 12 hallmarks of ageing, as they were defined by López-Otín and collaborators (López-Otín et al., 2023).

The rate of ageing does not only vary greatly between species, but between individuals as well (Belsky et al., 2015). That is why one's biological age, the age that reflects the condition of the organism, does not always match the chronological age (Franceschi et al., 2018). Measuring the rate at which one ages is difficult, and establishing what the biomarkers of ageing are, has caused much debate (Butler et al., 2004; Johnson, 2006; Mather et al., 2011; Sprott, 2010). That is why these main criteria for the determination of ageing biomarkers have been proposed: a) it must predict the rate of ageing; b) it must measure a basic process underlying ageing and not the effects of disease; c) it must be minimally invasive so the measurement can be repeated; d) it has to be a marker of ageing in both humans and model organisms, so it can be verified before being tested on humans (Bürkle et al., 2015). Most importantly, a biomarker of ageing must outperform chronological age in predicting the outcome – remaining lifespan, mortality risk, and age-related

morbidity risk (Lohman et al., 2021). Some of the proposed biomarkers that pass most of these criteria are telomere length (Zglinicki & Martin-Ruiz, 2005), epigenetic clocks measuring the methylation state of CpG islands (Horvath & Raj, 2018), omics-based markers such as those from transcriptomic data measuring the differences in mRNA levels (Harries et al., 2011), proteomic-based estimators that detect age-related changes in protein levels (Tanaka et al., 2018), metabolomic-based estimators (Robinson et al., 2020), as well as biochemical biomarkers from blood (Mamoshina et al., 2018; Putin et al., 2016). Due to the employment of new methods and high-dimensional analyses, this area of ageing research is developing rapidly, so this list of potential biomarkers can be expected to grow even more in the coming years.

1.4. Candidate gene and genome-wide association studies (GWAS)

Living systems rely on tight regulation. All processes happening within an organism are governed by cellular signalling pathways, which are in turn regulated through gene expression, but no organism is completely exempt from the effects of its environment. In the case of a complex process such as ageing, for which time is also an important factor, the effects of environmental factors on the dynamics of the biological process are significant. However, environmental influence is very difficult to study and pinpoint, even if it contributes to the observed phenotype. In the case of human ageing and longevity, such beneficial influence of the environment can be seen in the so called "blue zones", the areas of the world with markedly higher percentage of long-lived individuals (Buettner & Skemp, 2016). These long-lived individuals, who are living examples of successful ageing, are the most valuable resource for studying the impact of environment and health-related behaviours on ageing phenotypes, but also for studying the genetics of human longevity. Even though the total effect of genetic variation on human lifespan is moderate, with the genetic component estimated at around 20-30% (Herskind et al., 1996), the two approaches for studying the genetic background of human longevity – candidate gene studies and genome-wide association studies (GWAS) – have proven very useful in determining different pathways that are key for healthy ageing and longevity. The goal of these types of studies is to find genetic differences between long-lived individuals, nonagenarians and centenarians, and individuals representing general population (Smulders & Deelen, 2023). While candidate gene studies can identify a limited number of polymorphisms associated with an increased or decreased risk of an outcome by focusing on pathways with a putative role in said outcome, genome-wide association studies search for association signal through the entire genome in a more unbiased, hypothesis-free way (Smulders & Deelen, 2023; Wilkening et al., 2009). The results of GWAS are considered reliable as these studies usually employ very large samples and their findings have to be replicated, which is why the detected genetic variants can also be used in other studies to predict the target phenotype (Duncan et al., 2019a).

The most well-known gene that influences human longevity is APOE, a gene from the family of apolipoproteins that mediates cholesterol transport and metabolism. The ApoE protein has three isoforms, termed ε_2 , ε_3 , and ε_4 , that are defined by two missense single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), rs429358 (Arg112Cys, arginine defines ε 4) and rs7412 (Arg158Cys, cysteine defines ε 2) (Deelen et al., 2011). Its first connection to longevity was made 30 years ago, when Schachter et al. (1994) reported on a very low frequency of the allele defining the ɛ4 among French centenarians (Schächter et al., 1994). It was considered as a candidate gene in ageing studies because isoform ε4 (Arg112, Arg158), which is the ancestral variant (Huebbe & Rimbach, 2017), was associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease (Bennet et al., 2007; Corder et al., 1993; Eichner et al., 1993; Wilson et al., 1994) and Alzheimer's disease (Farrer et al., 1997; Zuo et al., 2006), which are both age-related conditions. Isoform $\varepsilon 2$ (Cys112, Cys158) is protective against these diseases, while £3 (Cys112, Arg158), which is today the most common of the ApoE isoforms (Mahley & Rall, 2000) is considered neutral. It was determined as the strongest genetic factor influencing longevity (Deelen et al., 2011), and remains the only genetic locus to reach the level of genome-wide significance ($p < 5 \times 10^{-8}$) in multiple meta-analyses of GWAS results (Deelen et al., 2019). This is why it is today considered a golden standard of longevity research, and is even considered as a potential biomarker of ageing (Bürkle et al., 2015).

The only other longevity-associated locus that has been replicated in several independent studies is *FOXO3* (Smulders & Deelen, 2023). First identified as a genetic factor for longevity by Willcox et al. (Willcox et al., 2008), the variants in *FOXO3* have been associated with longer life in many GWA and candidate gene studies on different populations (Anselmi et al., 2009; Bao et al., 2014; Broer et al., 2015; Flachsbart et al., 2009; Pawlikowska et al., 2009; Soerensen et al., 2010; Zeng et al., 2010). *FOXO3* is the main transcriptional effector of the insulin signalling activated by metabolic stress and nutrient deficiency (Eijkelenboom & Burgering, 2013). It is involved in

regulation a wide variety of cellular processes connected to cellular survival, including metabolism, protein turnover and quality control, as well as cell death (Stefanetti et al., 2018). Because of its involvement in the main pathway implicated in ageing, it is not surprising it has been deemed a candidate gene for longevity.

Variants in other genes that either belong to IIS or are in some way connected to it have been reported to potentially impact the ageing process. For example, variants in *IGF1R* and *IGF2R* genes encoding insulin-like growth factor receptors (Albani et al., 2009a; Bonafè et al., 2003; Li et al., 2016; Soerensen et al., 2012a), an SNP in the gene for hormone receptors that control the secretion of growth hormone (Soerensen et al., 2012a), variants in the genes for metabolic regulators sirtuins (TenNapel et al., 2014), have all been associated with longevity. So have the variants in the KLOTHO gene, a silencer of insulin signalling, that has got his name after one of the three Fates from Greek mythology – the one that is tasked with spinning the thread of life (D. E. Arking et al., 2002; Pereira et al., 2020; Soerensen et al., 2012a; Zhu et al., 2019). However, IIS is not the only pathway enriched with longevity genes – strong evidence exists for the connection with ageing and longevity of variants in genes involved in cell cycle control -TP53 (Groß et al., 2014), as well as CDKN2B (Fortney et al., 2015; Pilling et al., 2016; Pinós et al., 2014) located in a region that also happens to be implicated in cardiovascular disease risk (Burton et al., 2007; Helgadottir et al., 2007; McPherson et al., 2007). The association with longevity is also reported for variants in the *IL6* gene, encoding a cytokine with both pro- and anti-inflammatory properties (Albani et al., 2009b; Christiansen et al., 2004; Revelas et al., 2018), as well as for variants in genes involved in DNA repair, for example ERCC2 and MRE11 (Dato et al., 2018). Most of these, however, could not yet be replicated in independent studies or in diverse populations.

1.5. Healthy ageing

Since its inception, humans have been fascinated with the idea of eternal life. For centuries, alchemists have tried to create the Philosopher's stone, a magical object that would, apart from transmuting other materials into gold, grant its owner the Elixir of life, and thus, immortality. While their efforts have been unsuccessful, the quest for both genetic and environmental factors that can positively influence the ageing process and contribute to longevity is today more relevant than ever

before. This research also goes beyond merely reaching longevity; it is a quest for a long life spent in good health and with a good quality of life.

The past century has seen the greatest longevity leap in the history of humankind, which resulted in a much larger number of people surviving to older age. But in order to truly reap the benefits of this longer lifespan, it is of utmost importance to remain in good health for as long as possible (Beard et al., 2016). This is why the main term in the research of healthy ageing is healthspan – the years of life lived in good health, free of disease (Garmany et al., 2021), and why a whole branch of ageing research that specialises in this connection between ageing and disease - geroscience has been established (Kennedy et al., 2014). However, while the human lifespan increased drastically, the healthspan has not followed (Garmany et al., 2021). The number of age-specific risk factors representing physiological status has stayed relatively constant (Crimmins & Beltrán-Sánchez, 2011), meaning that today's oldest-old might not be any healthier than previous generations. This is quite problematic, as advanced age is already the main risk factor for chronic diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases and type 2 diabetes (Niccoli & Partridge, 2012). The older age group is also a segment of population where multimorbidity, the coexistence of two or more chronic conditions, is very prevalent (Kirchberger et al., 2012; Salive, 2013). In a study that reviewed data from US studies on mortality, length of life and disease, Crimmins and Beltrán-Sánchez (2011) report an increase in prevalence of disease, longer time lived with a disease, and a decline in mobility functioning (Crimmins & Beltrán-Sánchez, 2011), meaning that the increased life expectancy does not automatically mean a better quality of life. They also show that a decline in some risk factors like high cholesterol and hypertension is due to drug usage (Crimmins & Beltrán-Sánchez, 2011), which also highlights another problem that goes hand in hand with multimorbidity in older populations – polypharmacy, or taking of multiple medications at once (Kurczewska-Michalak et al., 2021) - which can have negative side effects of its own. Exceptionally long-lived individuals, however, delay or completely avoid the onset of most age-related diseases (Smulders & Deelen, 2023), which makes them extremely valuable – not only as examples of successful ageing – but for gaining insight into the conditions and factors necessary for acquiring longevity.

Therefore, gerontologists today claim that it is not a lack of disease, but other important factors like the absence of frailty and good functional ability – an individual's ability to perform daily

tasks independently (Clegg et al., 2013; Ramnath et al., 2018) – that are true hallmarks of successful ageing. Parameters like mobility, independence and mental capacity have been shown as good predictors of mortality and some morbidities (Inouye et al., 1998; Reuben et al., 1992), and the same is true for one's perception of their own health (Bardage et al., 2005; Curtin et al., 1999; Kawada, 2003). Finally, all aspects of functional ability are tied to nutritional status, which is especially important for older individuals, as it plays a big role in the preservation of muscle mass and strength during aging (Mithal et al., 2013).

1.6. The global population ageing

In the last 200 years, the average human life expectancy has more than doubled (Figure 3) (Oeppen & Vaupel, 2002). From the world average of around 29 years in 1820, it increased to 73 years in 2020 (World Health Organization, n.d.) in an almost linear fashion. This increase was made possible by civilization advancements like better nutrition and sanitation, education and higher income, as well as development of medicine (Oeppen & Vaupel, 2002). Initially, the biggest contributor to this increase was the decline of juvenile (especially infant) mortality, but in the second half of the 20th century it was the improvements in survival after the age of 65, partly due to improved treatments for ageing-related diseases, that propelled the rise in life expectancy (Wilmoth, 1998). It was this improvement in 65+ survival, together with reduced fertility (Lee et al., 2014), that led to an increase in the share of the elderly in the population. Projections show that by 2050, for the first time in human history, the number of people over the age of 60 will surpass the combined number of adolescents and young adults, and that the world's oldest-old population is likely to triple from 2015 to 2050 (United Nations et al., 2019). It is, therefore, not surprising that centenarians are the fastest growing demographic group in the world's population (Dobriansky et al., 2007).

Life expectancy, 1940





all countries, and 2021. Image was adapted from Dattani and collaborators (Dattani et al., 2023).

As old age is one of the main risk factors for the development of chronic diseases and multimorbidity, demographic ageing of the global population creates a strain on the economic,

social and healthcare systems of many countries. As this global phenomenon of population ageing is expected to continue in the coming decades, this pressure is also expected to increase, so the national governments are being warned of the potential impact these changes will have on the global economy and encouraged to make policies intended to raise fertility (Bhattacharjee et al., 2024). In the face of this future, the need for research into the mechanisms of the ageing process and longevity has never been greater. Successful ageing and the conservation of vitality well into advanced age is going to be of critical importance for the maintenance of economic stability in the coming times, so better understanding of the ageing process and factors which might help to delay the onset of functional disabilities, and thus contribute to successful ageing and longevity, is only going to gain importance.

1.7. Research scope and the aims of the thesis

Croatia is, along with the rest of the more developed countries, facing the ageing of the population. According to the data from the Croatian Bureau of Statistics, there were almost 91,000 people over the age of 85 in 2022 (Croatian Bureau of Statistics, 2023). However, comprehensive genetic research of factors that might contribute to longevity is something that has not yet been done on a sample of the Croatian population.

This study aims to explore whether there is a generational difference in genetic characteristics associated with longevity in the Croatian population, as well as examine whether genetic background influences one's chances of reaching longevity (90+ years) and extreme longevity (95+ years). It will also determine whether the chosen set of genetic variants influences survival in advanced old age. Most importantly, this study will contribute to the general pool of knowledge about the role biological and health factors play in achieving longevity and healthy ageing in the Croatian population.

The hypothesis of this study is that the frequency of single nucleotide polymorphisms associated with longevity differs between oldest-old individuals and a young control group from Croatian population, and that those same polymorphisms have an effect on longevity, while their interactions, relative telomere length and indicators of health status are factors that influence survival in advanced old age. The main aim of this research is to determine biological contributors to the longevity of the Croatian oldest-old population and it will be achieved through specific goals that include:

- 1) a comparison of allele and genotype frequencies of variants associated with longevity between a sample of oldest-old individuals and a young control group;
- testing which of the chosen single nucleotide polymorphisms have an effect on reaching longevity (90+ years) and extreme longevity (95+ years);
- 3) testing whether the chosen genetic variants or their interactions, relative telomere length, and health-related traits have an effect on survival in advanced old age.

The research that is planned within the framework of this doctoral dissertation is based on a sample of 327 oldest-old people (85 years and older), which was collected between 2007 and 2009 as a part of the project "Complex trait variation and health in children, adults and centenarians". Ten years after the initial survey, within the research project "HEalth, CUltural, and Biological determinants of longevity: Anthropological perspective on survival in very old age (HECUBA)" the age of death of all the respondents was determined from the national mortality register, making it possible to discern a group of long-lived individuals among them (those who lived to be over 90 years of age). Furthermore, within the same project, DNA samples of 100 unrelated young people between the ages of 20 and 35 were collected using the snowball method. This young sample, which should be a representation of individuals with differing chances of reaching longevity, is used as a control group for comparing the frequency of gene variants and as a reference group for calculating the relative telomere length of a group of elderly subjects.

For the genetic analysis, a set of 43 single nucleotide polymorphisms was selected by reviewing the relevant literature in publicly available databases (PubMed, repositories specialising in human genetics such as LongevityMap, https://genomics.senescence.info/longevity/, and Digital Ageing Atlas http://ageing-map.org/ (Budovsky et al., 2013; Craig et al., 2015)). The main criteria for the inclusion in the study was a strong or repeated association with human longevity and involvement in various signalling and metabolic pathways that play a role in the ageing process (e.g., cell cycle regulation, DNA repair mechanisms, the insulin signalling pathway).

The participants from the oldest-old group were users of one of 13 homes for the elderly and infirm from the city of Zagreb and Zagreb County area and participated in the research voluntarily, signing

an informed consent for participation and providing a sample of peripheral venous blood for biochemical, haematological, and molecular genetic analyses. The subjects completed a survey adapted to a sample of elderly people that contained questions related to functional ability, quality of life and health, and contained two internationally standardised questionnaires: Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA) for assessing nutritional status, and the psychometric test Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) for assessing the mental state of respondents. They had their blood pressure and bone density of the calcaneus (heel bone) measured, and underwent a short anthropometry. The collected data comprises a database of health variables that cover a wide spectrum of health status data indicating the subject's vitality (i.e., the number of chronic diseases, the number of medications taken daily, the number of prosthetic devices, nutritional status, blood pressure, bone density, etc.), which are in this study used in conjunction with the obtained genetic, biochemical and haematological data.

While some research has previously been conducted on the same long-lived sample – one that has examined the role of four polymorphisms in candidate genes for cardiovascular diseases (CVD) in longevity (Zajc Petranović, 2013) and the other that discussed the influence of five polymorphisms in candidate longevity genes on the subjects' biological age (Krajačić, 2017) – these studies did not cover as wide of a set of longevity-associated polymorphisms, nor could they provide a true insight on the effect these variants have on the lifespan of our oldest-old subjects, which is something this study is able to do.

2. LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

ANTHROPOLOGIE • LXI/1 • pp. 1-28 • 2023



TATJANA ŠKARIĆ-JURIĆ, ŽELJKA CELINŠĆAK, MAJA ŠETINC, LUKA BOČKOR, ANITA STOJANOVIĆ MARKOVIĆ, MATEA ZAJC PETRANOVIĆ, MARIJANA PERIČIĆ SALIHOVIĆ, JORIS DEELEN, BRANKA JANIĆIJEVIĆ, NINA SMOLEJ NARANČIĆ

SO DIFFERENT BUT EQUAL: 33 LONGEVITY GENES' LOCI IN THE ROMA AND IN THE GENERAL POPULATION OF CROATIA

ABSTRACT: The age pyramid of Roma populations tips strongly towards the younger age groups and is characterized by a low number of elderly individuals. There is a vast range of environmental factors that influence the age structure of Roma populations. To explore whether a genetic risk for premature mortality also exists in this ethnic minority, 33 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in 23 putative longevity genes were investigated in 308 adult Roma living in Croatia, and in Croatian population sample, composed of 314 "Old" (85–101 yrs.) and 97 "Young" (20–35 yrs.) subjects. The cumulative effect of the investigated SNPs, which have previously been related to human longevity, was summarized within Genetic Longevity Score (GLS). After Bonferroni correction the "Old" and "Young" Croatian age groups differ only in the allele frequency in MRE11A locus (rs533984), while the Roma had significantly different allele frequencies from the surrounding majority population in most of the investigated longevity genes loci (in 16 out of the 33 SNPs). However, the Roma's GLS is equal to those in the "Young" and "Old" Croatian cohorts implying identical chances of surviving to the age of 85 among Roma as in the majority Croatian population, when only genetics is taken into account.

KEY WORDS: Longevity - Genetic score - Premature mortality - Minority health - Roma - Croatia

INTRODUCTION

Global average life expectancy by 1800 was between 30 and 40 years of age, and over the last 200 years it has almost doubled (Finch 2007). This change is mainly

attributed to the increase in food production and the role of the industrial revolution in the regular supply of food, with the improvement of hygienic conditions and advances in medicine. However, there are quite large inequalities within and between countries, and between different

Received 27 August 2021; Received in revised form 31 March 2022; Accepted 25 April 2022. Available online 21 March 2023. © 2023 Moravian Museum, Anthropos Institute, Brno. All rights reserved. DOI: https://doi.org.10.26720/anthro.22.04.29.1 population groups. There is growing evidence that socioeconomic deprivation is a major cause of differences in mortality (Boruzs *et al.* 2018). Today, the highest life expectancy (over 84 years of age) has been found in some developed countries such as Hong Kong, Japan, Italy, Singapore, and Switzerland, and it is higher in women than in men. With the median age of 43.9 years, Croatia is the 18th country with the oldest population in the world (Central Intelligence Agency 2020). The estimates for 2020 indicate a total fertility rate of 1.42 children born per woman, and that the proportion of people aged 65 years and above in total population amounts to 21.06% (Croatian Bureau of Statistics, 2021).

Roma (Gypsy) are the largest European transnational minority population of common Indian origin consisting of 12 million people. The Roma were migrating throughout most of their history and retained the nomadic way of life as their cultural pattern. Today, most Roma have a permanent residence, but they generally live separated and excluded from the majority communities in several ways: physically - in outskirts of towns and villages, often in overcrowded settlements with poor sanitation and lack of other housing facilities (Anthonj et al. 2020), economically - underprivileged, poorly educated and unable to find a regular job (EU-FRA 2014), and socially - discriminated considering the prejudices of majority populations and their hostility (Kende et al. 2017). Poverty and social exclusion, along with a number of lifestyle specifics, could have an adverse impact on the health of the Roma population, which indeed shows poorer health status, increased morbidity and mortality compared to other populations, and a shorter average life expectancy.

Most countries do not report detailed ethnic data in their national census data, but one of the rare official documents is the European Public Health Alliance which shows that in all EU member states, the estimated life expectancy of the Roma was lower than that of the surrounding majority non-Roma population (The European Public Health Alliance 2018). The estimated life expectancy gap between Roma and non-Roma varied from 2-10 years lower in the UK Roma than in the UK non-Roma, to as much as 20 years lower life expectancy of the Italian Roma in comparison with Italian non-Roma. The age structure of the Roma in all EU states is much younger than the national average, with a much higher proportion of young people and a relatively smaller size of the elderly population (Frazer, Marlier 2011). In Hungary, both birth rates and mortality are far higher among the Roma population than in Hungarians: there are 2 times more Roma aged <15 years (37% vs. 16.8%) and 5 times less Roma >60 years of age (3.9% vs. 20.2%). A similar trend is observed in Ireland (42% vs. 20% <14-year-olds, and 2.7% vs. 11% >65-year-olds), Italy (45% vs. 15% <16-year-olds, and 0.3% vs. 25% >60-year-olds), and Slovakia (43.6% vs. 25.5% <14-year-olds, and 3.6% vs. 14.5% >60-year-olds), but also in the Czech Republic, Romania and Spain (Frazer, Marlier 2011).

There is a vast spectrum of environmental influences that could cause the observed younger age structure of the Roma population. In Croatia, poor education and traditional attitudes towards female reproductive health all contribute to a high-fertility reproductive pattern present in this population (Skarić-Jurić et al. 2007, Klasnić et al. 2020). The young-leaning age structure of Roma population is a consequence of high fertility rate, but also of higher mortality at almost all ages (i.e. in periods of childhood, adolescence and early adulthood, as well as in middle ages). The higher risk of mortality in this population has multiple causes: malnutrition, infections, violent deaths, deaths related to multiple parities, and especially higher prevalence of chronic diseases related to several risk factors (Zeljko et al. 2008, Zeljko et al. 2011). In all ages, a low socioeconomic status and a lack of continuous access to health care (Škarić-Jurić et al. 2007) modulate the adverse health outcomes, including mortality rates. Namely, if a person is not employed (as is the case with the vast majority of Roma), the periods in which he/she has health insurance in Croatia are during the maternity period (during pregnancy and until the end of the first year of the child) or while in the education system (for those who do not attend university education health insurance ends at 18 years of age). In addition, citizenship or immigration papers are obligatory to obtain health insurance.

A situation similar to that in Croatia is also present among Roma in other countries: Roma are generally poorly educated and many of them are early schoolleavers (more than 70% of 45+ year-old Roma in Greece and Portugal did not complete any level of formal education, FRA 2018), have lower odds of achieving dietary recommendations (Hungary: Llanaj et al. 2020) or have inferior diet diversity (Slovakia: Hijova et al. 2014; Czeck Republic: Olišarova et al. 2018; Romania: Ciaian et al. 2018) than non-Roma, and have high prevalence of chronic diseases. Recent research on Hungarian Roma has shown that the prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors and the risk of cardiovascular diseases (estimated by Framingham Risk Score, the Systematic Coronary Risk Evaluation, Pooled Cohort Equations and Revised Pooled Cohort Equations) show

an unfavourable picture in the Roma population in relation to the majority population (Piko *et al.* 2021). Furthermore, recent meta-analyses of seven CVD risk factors showed that Roma, compared to non-Roma from 16 European countries, carry significantly higher burdens of CVD risk factors related to smoking, diabetes, abdominal obesity and metabolic syndrome, with lower burdens for hypertension and BMI $\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$ (Zajc Petranović *et al.* 2021).

In addition to environmental and lifestyle factors, it seems that there may be genetic reasons behind the differences in the frequency of CVD risk factors between Roma and non-Roma populations. The increased prevalence of diabetes in Czech Roma (Hubáček *et al.* 2020), increased mean BMI and waist circumference (Llanaj *et al.* 2020) and the reduced prevalence of hypertension (Soltesz *et al.* 2020) in the Hungarian Roma population, may be related to different frequencies of risk alleles in genes associated with the development of these phenotypes.

The main question of the present study was whether the young age structure and premature mortality characterizing Roma worldwide could be at least partly attributed to the genetic risk load present in this specific population. To investigate the matter, our study explored whether the Croatian Roma have fewer "longevity variants" compared to the surrounding majority (non-Roma) Croatian population, and the principal working hypothesis of the study was that the genetic landscape of the Roma population contributes to their shorter lifespan.

In order to illuminate this issue, a genetic score, composed of summed genotypic values of effect alleles of the selected "longevity variants" was constructed. The genetic score gives an opportunity to summarize and compare the degree of genetic load between different ethnic groups (Werissa *et al.* 2019, Hubáček *et al.* 2020, Soltész *et al.* 2020). The Genetic Longevity Score (GLS) in the present study enabled us to examine the cumulative effect of genetic factors related to human longevity since it sums the genotypic values attributed to each locus, where effect alleles were those found to contribute to longer lifespan in other studies.

Additionally, this study aims to test whether the loci found to be relevant for longevity in other populations had the same effect on the Croatian majority population, by observing the difference between two age extreme cohorts.

Specifically, this study aims to:

 present the Croatian Roma longevity variants' allele and genotype frequencies and compare them with those found in the Croatian majority population;

- (2)compare longevity variants' allele and genotype frequencies of Croatian "Old" (85+) and "Young" (20-35 yrs.) cohorts;
- (3)calculate and compare genetic scores of longevity variants between the Roma minority, Croatian majority "Old" and "Young" cohorts.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study populations

The informed consent was obtained from each study participant and the research was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Institute for Anthropological Research, Zagreb.

(1)The Roma population (age span: 18-75 yrs.). The biological material of 321 adult Roma was collected in multiple field studies (2005-2012), which were part of the ongoing multidisciplinary anthropological, molecular-genetic and epidemiological communitybased research of Roma populations in Croatia. The fieldwork was carried out in several regions of Croatia with the highest number of Roma minority inhabitants according to the census data (Croatian Bureau of Statistics 2013). Our sample represents approximately 4.4% of the adult Roma population according to the 2011 Census (when 43.6% of the Roma population was 19 years and older), and if we assume that the same ratio of adult and minor Roma was in 2001 (officially available data from the 2001 Census are not presented separately for minors and adults), 7.8% of the adult Roma population according to the 2001 Census. Therefore, we consider our sample as representative for the adult Roma population living in Croatia. The participants were informed about the goals, methods and expectations of the study with the help of linguistically and culturally competent and trained Roma volunteers.

(2)Croatian population (age span: 20-101 yrs.). The Croatian sample consists of adult unrelated participants of both sexes who belong to two extreme adult age groups: 327 people aged 85 years and older (the "Old" cohort) and 102 young people aged 20-35 years (the "Young" cohort). The "Old" cohort sample was collected in 2007-2009 (for the Croatian project on longevity). In order to counterpart the "Old" cohort representing longevity phenotype, a sample of the "Young" cohort was collected in 2019 (within the course of the CSF project HECUBA), covering a similar age range at the opposite side of the age distribution. Two disparate adult samples were chosen in order to mimic extreme phenotypes while investigating the possible impact of longevity genes on selective mortality in the Croatian population. The gender asymmetry of the "Old" sample is the result of women being more represented in the population over 85 years of age (Croatian Bureau of Statistics 2001), and the "Young" sample follows this gender distribution.

Genotyping

The genomic DNA was isolated from the peripheral blood using the salting out method (Miller *et al.* 1988). Genotyping was conducted in a commercial company using the Kompetitive Allele Specific PCR (KASP) method. The KASP genotyping assay is a form of competitive allele-specific PCR combined with homogeneous fluorescent SNP genotyping system, which determines the alleles at a specific locus within genomic DNA (Semagn *et al.* 2014).

Selection of markers

The selection of the longevity variants was a result of literature search using publicly available databases (PubMed as well as repositories specialized for human longevity such as https://genomics.senescence.info/ longevity/, http://ageing-map.org/). The relevance (strong and/or replicated relation to human longevity) and the involvement into different pathways related to human longevity were the criteria for loci selection. The 33 loci, which have previously been related to the longevity phenotype, were successfully genotyped in both the Croatian and the Roma samples.

Genetic Longevity Score construction

The Genetic Longevity Score (GLS) sums up across all loci the alleles related to human longevity, assuming that each one has the effect of equal size. All genotypes in the file are "oriented" as in the literature, so the effect/longevity allele is the one as declared in source research.

GLS is constructed as the sum of genotypic values for each participant. For each locus, if a longevity allele is homozygous a value of 2 is attributed, if heterozygous a value of 1, and if the longevity allele is not present value 0 is attributed. The summary value for all investigated loci was obtained for each person resulting in an unweighted GLS.

In order to account for the effect size of each locus, the weighted GLS was calculated by multiplying genotypic values with beta values (*Supplementary Table* 1) from the 90th percentile analysis originating from the longevity GWAS summary statistics (Deelen *et al.* 2019). By employing beta values originating from a single study, vast heterogeneity – methodological and populational – present in all here referred to research has been avoided, and more reliable weighted GLS were obtained.

Both scores – unweighted and weighted GLS – are constructed for the Roma minority, as well as for each of the two extreme age groups of the Croatian majority population separately ("Old" and "Young").

In order to remove the noise of multiple linked SNPs in the genetic score values, the linkage disequilibrium (LD) was calculated for all pairs of SNPs located on the same chromosome using Haploview 4.2 (Barrett *et al.* 2005). Only one representative SNP per region of LD ($r^2>0.4$) was kept which resulted in the exclusion of 8 SNPs, and thus genetic scores calculation was based on the values of 25 longevity genes' loci.

Missing data

The non-successful genotyping has a strong effect on GLS, in terms of sample size. Namely, the missing genotyping data of one locus in one person resulted in the exclusion of all data for this participant. Therefore, we excluded participants who had more than five unsuccessfully genotyped loci. For participants with five or fewer unsuccessfully genotyped loci, the missing data in the construction of GLS score were replaced by median values for each locus calculated separately for each of the three samples separately (Roma, "Old" and "Young" Croatian sample). The final sample sizes used in subsequent analysis were: 308 Roma, 411 Croatian (314 "Old" and 97 "Young"), 719 in total.

Data analysis

Allele and genotype frequencies were calculated by direct counting method. Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) was tested using Arlequin 3.5.2.2 (Excoffierr, Lischer 2010). Differences between samples with respect to genotype distribution and allele frequencies were tested in a pairwise fashion by a 2×3 Chi-square test or by Fisher's exact test. The significance of the allele frequency differences was set to p = 0.05; however, after Bonferroni correction for multiple testing (n = 33)a corrected p-value of less than 0.002 was considered significant. Since the normality of distribution assumption for both Genetic Longevity Scores was rejected, study groups were compared by means of nonparametric tests (Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney U tests). Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS software package 21.0 (IBM Corp. 2012).

TABLE 1: Gene	ral information or	n 33 longevity	/ loci and	effect alleles'	frequencies in	Croatian 1	majority and	Roma minority
population. The	lifferences betweer	1 Croatian and	Roma effe	ect allele frequ	encies are evalu	ated by Chi	2-test, and sig	nificant p-values
are denoted by be	old font.							

Chr.	Gene	SNP	Effect (longevity) allele	Reference for longevity allele	Croatian effect allele frequency	Roma effect allele frequency	р	Delta (Croatian - Roma difference)	Included in GLS
3	TERC	rs12696304	С	(Codd et al. 2010, Soerensen et al. 2012b)	74.3	70.2	0.284	4.1	yes
3	TERC	rs3772190	Α	(Soerensen et al. 2012b)	22.6	26.7	0.215	-4.1	no
3	TERC	rs16847897	G	(Codd et al. 2010, Shen et al. 2011)	70.5	67.7	0.389	2.8	yes
3	GHSR	rs572169	с	(Soerensen et al. 2012a)	72.4	80.5	<0.001	-8.1	yes
5	RAD50 (in LD with IL13 region)	rs2706372	т	(Flachsbart et al. 2016)	27.7	23.9	0.090	3.8	yes
5	LINC02227 (close to EBF1)	rs2149954	Т	(Deelen et al. 2014)	38.1	52.9	<0.001	-14.8	yes
6	IRF4	rs12203592	с	(Law et al. 2017)	93.4	89.7	0.005	3.7	yes
6	TNF-alfa	rs1800629	G	Yao et al. 2020	87.4	95.9	<0.001	-8.5	yes
6	FOXO3A	rs12206094	Т	(Flachsbart et al. 2017)	28.8	33.1	0.084	-4.3	yes
6	FOXO3A	rs2802292	G	(Bao et al. 2014, Revelas et al. 2018)	40.9	45.9	0.087	-5.0	no
6	FOXO3A	rs2764264	с	(Bao et al. 2014)	31.7	40.6	0.001	-8.9	no
6	FOXO3A	rs10457180	G	(Zettergren et al. 2018)	31.6	40.8	<0.001	-9.3	no
6	FOXO3A	rs13217795	с	(Bao et al. 2014)	31.0	39.9	<0.001	-8.9	no
6	FOXO3A	rs4946935	A	Flachsbart et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2014	29.0	20.4	<0.001	8.6	no
6	IGF2R	rs9456497	G	(Soerensen et al. 2012a)	18.6	19.9	0.384	-1.4	yes
6	LPA	rs10455872	A	(König et al. 2019)	96.4	98.8	0.003	-2.4	yes
7	IL6	rs1800795	G	(Revelas et al. 2018, Albani et al. 2009a, Fuku et al. 2015)	56.8	74.1	<0.001	-17.3	yes
7	IL6	rs2069837	Α	(Zeng et al. 2016)	93.2	86.1	<0.001	7.1	yes
7	GHRHR	rs2267723	Α	(Soerensen et al. 2012a)	55.6	49.3	0.016	6.3	yes
9	CDKN2B	rs4977756	G	(Fortney et al. 2015)	39.5	34.8	0.079	4.7	yes
9	CDKN2B	rs1333049	G	(Pinós et al. 2014)	51.8	52.9	0.672	-1.0	yes
11	MRE11A	rs533984	G	(Dato et al. 2018)	57.5	58.1	0.788	-0.6	yes
12	SH2B3/ATXN2	rs3184504	С	(Kuo et al. 2020)	48.5	68.4	<0.001	-19.8	yes
13	KLOTHO	rs1207362	G	(Soerensen et al. 2012a)	69.1	58.2	<0.001	10.9	yes
13	KLOTHO	rs9536314	Т	(Almeida et al. 2017, Xu et al. 2015)	88.2	83.3	0.008	4.9	no
13	KLOTHO	rs9527025	С	(Xu et al. 2015, Wolf et al. 2019)	11.6	16.8	0.004	-5.2	yes
15	IGF1R	rs2229765	A	(Albani et al. 2009b)	44.8	29.8	<0.001	15.0	yes
17	TP53	rs1042522	с	(Van Heemst et al. 2005, Reiling et al. 2012)	76.2	42.7	<0.001	33.6	yes
19	SIRT6	rs107251	с	(TenNapel et al. 2014)	89.2	95.3	<0.001	-6.1	yes
19	TOMM40	rs2075650	A	(Flachsbart et al. 2016, Shadyab et al. 2017)	85.9	82.3	0.080	3.7	yes
19	APOE	rs429358	Т	(Shadyab et al. 2017, Deelen et al. 2019)	91.4	80.8	<0.001	10.6	yes
19	APOE	rs7412	Т	(Shadyab et al. 2017, Deelen et al. 2019)	6.6	6.5	0.915	0.2	yes
19	APOC1	rs4420638	Α	(Shadyab et al. 2017)	87.5	77.9	<0.001	9.6	no

RESULTS

All investigated longevity loci were polymorphic, and they were in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium in all three study groups. The effect (longevity) allele frequencies of the 33 investigated polymorphisms for the Croatian Roma and Croatian "Young" and "Old" cohorts are presented in Supplementary Table 2 and *Figure 1*, while the genotype frequencies are presented in Supplementary Table 3. The effect allele always refers to that indicated in the literature as listed in the Supplementary Table 2. The Roma allele frequencies significantly differed from both Croatian cohorts in number of longevity loci (p < 0.002, after Bonferroni correction): in 10 out of 33 loci from the "Young" and in 13 out of 33 loci from the "Old" cohort. On the other hand, the allele frequencies of the Croatian "Young" and "Old" cohorts differed only in the MRE11A locus (rs533984) with longevity allele G more frequent in the "Old" cohort.

The effect allele frequencies in Croatian ("Old" and "Young" cohorts combined) and Roma populations, as well as the significance and the absolute values (delta) of their differences are provided in *Table 1*. The effect/longevity allele frequencies differences (delta) between Croatian majority and the Roma

minority populations are shown in decreasing order (Figure 2). The Croatian general population has significantly (p < 0.002) higher allele frequencies than the Roma minority population for seven SNPs, and the largest differences (>10%) were found for loci: rs1042522 (TP53), rs2229765 (IGF1R), rs1207362 (KLOTHO), and rs429358 (TOMM40/APOE/APOC1). On the other hand, the Croatian Roma have significantly higher frequencies for nine SNPs, and the biggest differences (>10%) are found for loci: rs3184504 (SH2B3/ATXN2), rs1800795 (IL6), and rs2149954 (LINC02227 (EBF1)). It should be noted that three FOXO3A SNPs (rs10457180, rs13217795, and rs2764264) also have substantially higher frequencies in the Roma (delta ranging from 8.9 to 9.3%).

The gender structure of three samples is presented in *Supplementary Table 4*. We also examined gender differences in longevity allele frequencies (data not shown), and the only SNP whose distribution was associated with gender in both Croatian and Roma populations was rs12696304. Longevity allele frequencies for rs12696304 differed between men and women in the "Young" Croatian population (p = 0.047; with C allele frequency of 66.1% in men and 80.0% in women) and in the Roma sample (p = 0.015; with C

GLS	Statistics	Croatian "Old" (N= 314)	Croatian "Young" (N=97)	Roma (N= 308)	Total sample (N=719)
unweighted	Mean <u>+</u> SD	29.75 <u>+</u> 3.13	29.56 <u>+</u> 3.05	29.42 <u>+</u> 3.30	29.58 <u>+</u> 3.19
	Median	30	30	29	30
	Min Max.	21-39	21-36	21-39	21-39
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov normality test p-value	<0.001	0.090	<0.001	<0.001
	Shapiro-Wilk normality test p-value	0.003	0.233	0.027	<0.001
weighted	Mean <u>+</u> SD	2.65 <u>+</u> 0.39	2.61 <u>+</u> 0.38	2.55 <u>+</u> 0.51	2.60 <u>+</u> 0.44
	Median	2.75	2.72	2.74	2.74
	Min Max.	0.87-3.34	1.56-3.37	0.88-3.31	0.87-3.37
	Kolmogorov-Smirnov normality test p-value	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
	Shapiro-Wilk normality test p-value	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001

TABLE 2: Descriptive statistics and normality of distribution tests for the unweighted and weighted genetic longevity scores (GLS) in three groups and in the combined sample. Significant p-values of normality tests are denoted by bold font.



FIGURE 1: Effect alleles' frequencies for 33 longevity loci in Croatian "Old" (85-101 yrs.), "Young" (20-35 yrs.), and Croatian Roma samples. p-values of populations' differences are given for the chi2-test results.

allele frequency of 75.2% in men and 65.9% in women). Additionally, in the Roma population, rs3772190 (p = 0.040) also reached the level of statistical significance when this population was compared by gender, with an A allele frequency of 77.4% in men and 69.8% in women.

Table 2 summarizes unweighted and weighted Genetic Longevity Score (GLS) statistics. Combined unweighted GLS ranged from 21 to 39, on average 29.6), and the mean values in three examined groups were: 29.4 in the Roma, 29.8 in the "Old", and 29.6 in the "Young" Croatian cohort. Normality of distribution tests showed that neither unweighted nor weighted GLS are normally distributed (*Table 2, Supplementary Figure 1*); the exception was unweighted score in the "Young" cohort. Therefore, the nonparametric tests were used for groups' comparisons, and showed that the three compared groups did not differ in GLS, both unweighted and weighted (*Table 3*). Their GLS values also did not show any association with gender (data not shown).

DISCUSSION

The principal aim of the study was to estimate and compare the longevity allele load in the Roma and non-Roma Croatian population. The 33 SNPs were selected from the published genetic data related to human longevity, and the genetic score calculation was based on a subsample of 25 unlinked SNPs. The aim was to evaluate if the short average lifespan of the Roma population demonstrated in different countries by the young age structure, early mortality and small number of older individuals may be related with fewer beneficial longevity genes' alleles present in their gene pool. This study also tests the difference between two extreme age cohorts coming from the majority population of Croatia, with a goal to detect possible selective mortality – related variants.

The presented analysis showed that the Roma minority does not have an increased average genetic risk for premature death in comparison with the majority Croatian population. The results also showed that the

GLS	Three groups: Kruskal-Wallis test p-value	Croatian "Old" vs. Croatian "Young": Mann-Whitney U test p-value	Roma vs. Croatian "Young": Mann-Whitney U test p-value	Roma vs. Croatian "Old": Mann-Whitney U test p-value
unweighted	0.307	0.618	0.589	0.123
weighted	0.289	0.210	0.763	0.184

TABLE 3: Genetic longevity scores (GLS) differences among Croatian "Old", Croatian "Young", and Croatian Roma. Significant p-values are denoted by bold font for the nonparametric tests results evaluating differences among groups.


FIGURE 2: Decreasing order of the effect allele frequencies differences (delta) between Croatian (two cohorts combined) and Roma populations for the 33 longevity loci.

Roma population in Croatia has frequencies of alleles in 17 longevity loci similar to those found in the Croatian majority population. However, the allele frequencies of 16 loci significantly differed between the two populations, with seven longevity alleles' frequencies being higher in the Croatian population, while nine longevity alleles are found in higher frequencies in the Roma population. The loci that are the most prominently different (>10%) are specifically addressed here.

Longevity loci markedly more frequent in the general population of Croatia

Among the investigated SNPs, the most notable difference between the majority Croatian population and the Croatian Roma is in rs1042522 in the TP53 gene. TP53 acts like a tumor suppressor by inducing growth arrest or apoptosis by controlling the set of genes required for regulating cell division. TP53 rs1042522 is a missense variant, an Arg72Pro substitution (G>C), conferring functional alterations to the protein. The effect of this SNP on longevity was found in many studies, although with some ambiguous results between them (Cho, Suh 2014, Mustafina et al. 2011, Groß et al. 2014, Reiling et al. 2012). In Central Italy the Arg allele was associated with longevity in women aged 91 and over when compared to the group of women aged 73-91 years (Di Pietro et al. 2013). On the contrary, Ørsted et al. (2007) presented data that Pro allele contributes to longevity through increased survival after cancer diagnosis in the Danish general population, which was later confirmed in Portuguese/Caucasian patients with advanced cervical cancer (Coelho *et al.* 2018). Considering presented evidence, more research is needed to elaborate the true role of rs1042522 in human longevity. Our results show that the C allele resulting in the Arg-Pro substitution is 33.6% more common in the general population of Croatia than in the Croatian Roma.

Most of the loci that have the pronouncedly higher frequencies in the majority Croatian population belong to the growth factor/insulin/IGF-1 signaling (IIS) pathway. In recent years, the IIS pathway has emerged as one of the most notable candidates in longevity research, as several studies have confirmed that multiple SNPs in genes of the IIS pathway are associated with longevity (Soerensen et al. 2012a, Sanese et al. 2019). rs2229765 is a synonymous substitution with unclear functional significance. Allele A of rs2229765, located in the IGF1R gene, has been shown to confer advantage to longevity in males. In an Italian population sample, the frequency of allele A was significantly higher in males over 85 years of age, in comparison to males between the ages of 70 and 85 (Albani et al. 2009). It also correlated with a drop in plasma levels of IGF-1 in males, but no correlation was found in females. In the majority Croatian population allele A is 15% more common than in the Croatian Roma.

Another intronic mutation is rs1207362 in the *KLOTHO* gene. Named after the Greek goddess that

spins the thread of life, Clotho, the *KLOTHO* gene was recognized as a candidate for slowing down the ageing process. It encodes the α -Klotho protein, a multifunctional protein that was reported to suppress the signaling downstream of the insulin receptor substrate (IRS) and the IGF-1 receptor (IGF-1R) (Xu *et al.* 2015). In a study by Soerensen *et al.* (2012a), rs1207362, which could possibly cause alternative splicing of the α -Klotho mRNA, was associated with longevity in the Danish population. In our research, longevity G allele in the locus rs1207362 is found with 10.9% higher frequency in the Croatian population than in the Croatian Roma.

ApoE is a polymorphic apolipoprotein essential for plasma lipoprotein metabolism and lipid transport. There are three common allelic variants of the APOE gene: ɛ3 (Cys112, Arg158), ɛ2 (Cys112, Cys158) and ϵ 4 (Arg112, Arg158). They are defined by combination of SNPs at two independent loci: rs429358 and rs7412. ϵ^2 is defined by T allele on both loci (8.4% worldwide frequency), ɛ4 by C allele in both loci (13.7% worldwide frequency), while $\varepsilon 3$ is defined by C allele at rs7412 and T allele at rs429358 (77.9% worldwide frequency). APOE is the first discovered candidate gene for cardiovascular diseases, and ɛ4 isoform has been associated with Alzheimer's disease and early cognitive decline (Rawle et al. 2018). Even larger importance lies in the fact that there is a huge amount of evidence that proves the robust association of the $\varepsilon 4$ isoform with longevity. Shadyab et al. (2017) found that rs429358 and rs7412 were significantly associated with survival to age 90 in their meta-analysis among American women of African and European ancestry. Deelen et al. (2019) reported that rs429358, defining APOE ε 4, was associated with decreased odds of becoming long-lived and significant association of rs7412, defining APOE $\varepsilon 2$, with increased odds of becoming long-lived. In the present study T allele of rs429358 is 10.6% more common in the general population of Croatia than in the Roma minority population (p < 0.001), while the T allele frequency of rs7412 is similarly distributed in two populations (p = 0.915).

Longevity loci markedly more frequent in the Roma minority population

SH2B3 encodes a multi-domain protein involved in blood coagulation and erythropoietin (EPO) signaling pathway (Tong *et al.* 2005). A missense variant (rs3184504) in SH2B3 has been linked to many common diseases in genome-wide association studies, including several autoimmune and cardiovascular disorders (Laroumanie et al. 2018) as well as cancers (Hung et al. 2015). Pilling and coworkers in a genome-wide analysis of parental longevity in UK Biobank found that 11 highly correlated genetic variants in the wider SH2B3/ATXN2/ BRAP locus (including rs3184504) were associated with parent's attained age (Pilling et al. 2017). This longevity association has been replicated in other cohorts (Timmers et al. 2019). Kuo and coworkers in their study showed that the C allele was associated with lower blood pressure, shorter reaction time (cognitive measure), as well as healthier muscle mass and hematological measures. They also found associations between the C allele and reduced rates of hypothyroidism, hypertension and cardiovascular disease (Kuo et al. 2020). The protective rs3184504 C allele is also associated with higher expression of genes involved in toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling (Westra et al. 2013). In our study, the rs3184504 longevity related C allele is found in 19.8% higher frequency in Roma than in Croatian population.

Interleukin 6 is a pleiotropic cytokine produced by many cell types. It has been thoroughly researched due to its role in the inflammatory processes (Serrano et al. 2008), and recent studies indicate that it might also be a reliable marker for functional decline, and a predictor of morbidity and mortality in old age (Di Bona et al. 2009, De Lauretis et al. 2013, Fraga et al. 2015, Parks et al. 2020). rs1800795 is an intronic SNP located in the 5'-flanking region of the interleukin-6 (IL-6) gene. Studies of this SNP concerning longevity have contradicting results. Kayaalti et al. (2011) found a positive association between the presence of C allele and longevity in the Turkish population, while other studies associated allele G with longevity (Albani et al. 2009, Revelas et al. 2018). In our research, the G allele was attributed as a "longevity allele" and it is 17.3% more common in Roma than in the Croatian majority population.

Intron variant of long intergenic non-protein coding RNA 2227 (*LINC02227*) was found to be connected with longevity in a genome-wide association metaanalysis of 7,729 long-lived individuals of European descent (\geq 85 years) and 16,121 younger controls (<65 years) and the results were replicated in an additional set of 13,060 long-lived individuals and 61,156 controls (Deelen *et al.* 2014). In a study performed by Shadyab *et al.* (2017), only seven SNPs in LD with rs2149954 were significantly associated with survival to age 85 after correction for multiple testing. Nygaard *et al.* (2017) found a protective effect of the rs2149954 minor allele T on mortality independent of cardiovascular disease. In the middle-aged individuals they also found a significant association between the rs2149954 minor allele dose and a lower risk for hypertension, and in the elderly individuals they additionally found indications of an association with a lower risk of cancer and increased physical performance represented by a higher Activities of Daily Living (ADL) score and improved chair stand. In our research the T allele was attributed as "longevity allele" and it is 14.8% more common in Roma than in the Croatian majority population.

Although the three FOXO3A loci did not meet the criteria of 10% difference, large enough population differences (8.9%-9.3%) and importance of this gene evoke some remarks. The FOXO3A was proven to be a longevity gene by multiple studies performed on different populations (Sanese et al. 2019). Product of the FOXO3 gene is a transcription factor that regulates stress responses and affects lifespan, but the exact mechanisms through which FOXO3 modulates ageing have not yet been identified (Grossi et al. 2018, Flachsbart et al. 2017). FOXO3 is evolutionarily highly conserved, so most variations of the FOXO3 gene, including the variations that may play a role in longevity, were found in its non-coding elements. FOXO3 mediates gene expression as a response to hormones, growth factors and nutrients. Impairment of the IIS signaling pathway and PI3K signaling cascade are thought to modulate FOXO3 expression in a way that is beneficial to longevity in a variety of organisms (Sanese et al. 2019). Three of the FOXO3 SNPs have markedly higher frequencies in the Croatian Roma than in the majority Croatian population. rs10457180 is the most commonly mentioned longevity SNP (Flachsbart et al. 2017, Sanese et al. 2019), and it is 9.3% more common in the Roma. rs13217795 was also more common in the Roma (for almost 9%,) and this SNP was found to be associated with male longevity and healthy ageing (Willcox et al. 2008, Bao et al. 2014). rs2764264 was the first FOXO3 SNP to be associated with longevity (Soerensen et al. 2010), and it is 8.9% more common in the Roma than in the Croatian non-Roma population.

MRE11A – the only locus differing in two extreme age cohorts

The only longevity locus that is more frequent in "Old" compared to "Young" cohorts of the Croatian majority population is *MRE11A* (rs533984). MRE11A is a component of the MRN complex. MRE11A provides single-strand (ss) endonuclease activity and doublestrand-specific 3'-5' exonuclease activity and is therefore essential in double-strand break repair, recombination and maintenance of telomere integrity and meiosis (De Jager *et al.* 2001, Trujillo *et al.* 1998, Coquel *et al.* 2018, Paull, Gellert 1998, Carney *et al.* 1998). *MRE11A* rs533984 has been implicated in longevity by Dato and coworkers, who performed data analysis on 1,058 tagging SNPs in 140 genes of 1825 subjects (Dato *et al.* 2018). By the multidimensional reduction (MDR) analysis, they showed that the *MRE11A* rs533984 variant with the G allele was significantly associated with extreme survival in females.

Evolutionary considerations

The specific focus of this study was to test if the genetic load of the group of loci previously reported as putative longevity genes are comparable in a European population (such as Croatians) with the amount of beneficial alleles present in the representative sample of the Roma population. The rationale for posing this question is the shorter average life-span of the Roma population in comparison with surrounding majority populations found in all European countries that collect ethnic-specific mortality data. The second reason is the genetic specificity of the Roma population, which has been confirmed in all previously conducted studies (for Croatian Roma, e.g. Salihović *et al.* 2011, Klarić *et al.* 2009, Barešić, Salihović 2014).

The complex social structure and cultural specificities of the Roma made genetic drift an extremely powerful evolutionary force shaping the genetic architecture of this ethnic group worldwide. Namely, their at least a thousand year-long history of migrations was structured in a way that they were spread in numerous small groups (promoting multiple founder effects), sharing strong cultural practice of endogamy (or very selective exogamy; they share brides only with a narrow range of other Roma groups). The Roma also suffered a number of drastic population shrinking events in their history; the prominent one being during the WWII, where they were one of the primary targets of the Holocaust, following the Jewish population. All those reasons confer a possibility that the genetic drift shuffled their genetic structure in a more or in a less advantageous way considering longevity genes.

We do not expect that natural selection for a particular set of genes we have chosen as candidates for the longevity phenotype has occurred in the time span that has elapsed since the formation of the Roma population. In fact, we do not expect that even in one human population, some longevity genes have had the opportunity to be selected due to the fact that the lifespan that humans now enjoy is only a 100 years long phenomenon.

Namely, in the overwhelming majority of the span of human evolution, the circumstances were not permitting the selection process to act on "longevity phenotype" directly, as this is a phenotype that is related to the post-reproductive period of life. However, in the future some evidence might be found for a subsample of those loci indicating that their effect could be considered as a form of antagonistic pleiotropy (AP). A few genes (some are also present in here included group) are already considered as those that might act beneficially in young age, while those genes' action is nocent for the post-reproductive period of life of an individual. To this group of genes belong the genes included in the growth hormone (GH) signaling pathway that also includes insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1). Namely, IGF-1 is a primary mediator of the growth hormone effect, and it plays an important role in growth and development, while in adult age it accelerates the senescence of an individual.

All here considered "longevity genes" have a range of important roles in some of the substantial cellular pathways, and some variants in those genes, in present circumstances, happen to be more common in longlived persons. And we interpret them – a posteriori – as beneficial, or as those which increase the chance for some individuals to reach a more advanced age.

Strengths and limitations of the study

The most important contribution of this research is the presentation of genetic data on the longevity loci for the Roma which is an ethnic minority population overall underrepresented in genetic studies. Also, to our knowledge, this is the first study that compares the longevity variants loads in different populations, particularly by constructing a genetic longevity score (GLS). The present study investigating the variation of 33 longevity loci in Roma minority and in Croatian majority population revealed the two following main results:

(1) The Croatian Roma and the surrounding majority Croatian population have significantly different allele frequencies in half of the investigated longevity variants' loci (in 16 out of 33 investigated loci: in nine, longevity alleles are more prevalent in the Croatian Roma, while in seven they are more frequently present in the general population of Croatia). In some loci the allele frequency differences between the two populations are actually high (>10%). Therefore, we can point to some longevity alleles at particular loci that are more prevalent in the Roma minority (in genes: SH2B3/ATXN2, IL6, and LINC02227 (EBF1)) and others that are more frequently present in the Croatian majority population (in genes: TP53, IGF1R, KLOTHO, and TOMM40/APOE/APOC1).

(2) Within the context of large allele frequency differences between the Roma minority and surrounding majority Croatian population, the second finding of the study stands prominently and brings even greater importance. Namely, the Roma GLS is the same as in the general population of Croatia, and it is so irrespectively if the "Old" or "Young" cohorts have been considered. This implies the same risk of premature death in two populations, and the identical chance for survival to the age of 85 years, when genetics is exclusively considered. This result indicates that the age structure and mortality pattern found in the Roma population are not the consequence of their increased genetic risk for premature mortality, but rather a combination of extrinsic factors determined by societal circumstances.

Two age cohorts coming from the opposite sides of adult age distribution are deliberately chosen in order to emphasize the possible selective mortality signals present in evaluated longevity genes' loci. However, the principal limitation of this research is the small number of participants in the "Young" cohort, which necessitates that the obtained results including this group should be considered with caution. It should be done so for the lack of the differences in their mean GLS score compared to the "Old" cohort as well as for the single difference in allele frequency separating two age cohorts. Namely, the only longevity locus that is more frequent in "Old" compared to "Young" cohorts of the Croatian majority population is MRE11A (rs533984). Having in mind the small "Young" cohort size and the marginal significance of the difference (after Bonferroni correction for multiple testing), this finding, although intriguing, warrants replication in more powered studies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research was funded by the Croatian Science Foundation grants IP-2018-01-2497 and DOK-2018-09-8382 (to TŠJ) and IP-2014-09-4454 (to MPS). The Roma and the "Old" cohort samples were collected within projects funded by the Croatian Ministry of Science, Education and Sports grants 196-1962766-2763 (to BJ) and 196-1962766-2747 (to NSN). The Roma sample was also partially collected within project funded by Tatjana Škarić-Jurić, Željka Celinšćak, Maja Šetinc, Luka Bočkor, Anita Stojanović Marković, Matea Zajc Petranović, Marijana Peričić Salihović, Joris Deelen, Branka Janićijević, Nina Smolej Narančić

the Nutricia Research Foundation grant 2012-36/2013-E7 (to TŠJ).

REFERENCES

- ALBANI D., BATELLI S., POLITO L., PRATO F., PESARESI M., GAJO G. B., DE ANGELI S., ZANARDO A., GALIMBERTI D., SCARPINI E., GALLUCCI M., FORLONI G., 2009a: Interleukin-6 plasma level increases with age in an italian elderly population ("The Treviso Longeva"-Trelong-Study) with a sex-specific contribution of rs1800795 polymorphism. Age 31,2: 155-162. DOI: 10.1007/s11357-009-9092-5
- ALBANI D., BATELLI S., POLITO L., VITTORI A., PESARESI M., GAJO G.B., DE ANGELI S., ZANARDO A., GALLUCCI M., FORLONI G., 2009b: A polymorphic variant of the insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) receptor correlates with male longevity in the Italian population: a genetic study and evaluation of circulating IGF-1 from the "Treviso Longeva (TRELONG)" Study. BMC Geriatrics 9,1: 1-7. DOI: 10.1186/1471-2318-9-19
- ALMEIDA O. P., MORAR B., HANKEY G. J., YEAP B. B., GOLLEDGE J., JABLENSKY A., FLICKER L., 2017: Longevity klotho gene polymorphism and the risk of dementia in older men. *Maturitas* 101: 1-5. DOI: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2017.04.005
- ANTHONJ C., SETTY K.E., EZBAKHE F., MANGA M., HOESER C., 2020: A systematic review of water, sanitation and hygiene among Roma communities in Europe: situation analysis, cultural context, and obstacles to improvement. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* 226:113506. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113506
- BAO J. M., SONG X. L., HONG Y. Q., ZHU H. L., LI C., ZHANG T., CHEN W., ZHAO S. C., CHEN Q., 2014: Association between FOXO3A gene polymorphisms and human longevity: a meta-analysis. Asian Journal of Andrology 16,3: 446-452. DOI: 10.4103/1008-682X.123673
- BAREŠIĆ A., SALIHOVIĆ M. P., 2014: Carrier rates of four single-gene disorders in Croatian Bayash Roma. Genetic Testing and Molecular Biomarkers 18,2: 83-87. DOI: 10.1089/gtmb.2013.0323
- BARRETT J. C., FRY B., MALLER J., DALY M. J., 2005: Haploview: analysis and visualization of LD and haplotype maps. *Bioinformatics* 21: 263-65. DOI: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bth457
- BORUZS K., JUHÁSZ A., NAGY C., SZABÓ Z., JAKOVLJEVIC M., BÍRÓ K., ÁDÁNY R., 2018: High inequalities associated with socioeconomic deprivation in cardiovascular disease burden and antihypertensive medication in Hungary. *Frontiers in Pharmacology* 9: 839. DOI: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00839
- CARNEY J. P., MASER R. S., OLIVARES H., DAVIS E. M., LE BEAU M., YATES J. R. 3RD, HAYS L., MORGAN W. F., PETRINI J. H., 1998: The HMre11/HRad50 Protein Complex and Nijmegen Breakage Syndrome: Linkage of

Double-Strand Break Repair to the Cellular DNA Damage Response. *Cell* 93, 3: 477-86.

- DOI: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81175-7
- CENTRAL INTELLIGENCE AGENCY 2020: The world factbook 2020. Washington, DC.
- CHO M., SUH Y., 2014: Genome maintenance and human longevity. Current Opinion in Genetics and Development 26:105-115. DOI: 10.1016/j.gde.2014.07.002
- CIAIAN P., CUPÁK A., POKRIVČÁK J., RIZOV M., 2018: Food consumption and diet quality choices of Roma in Romania: a counterfactual analysis. *Food Sec.* 10, 437–456. DOI: 10.1007/s12571-018-0781-8
- CODD V., MANGINO M., VAN DER HARST P., BRAUND P. S., KAISER M., BEVERIDGE A. J., RAFELT S., MOORE J., NELSON C., SORANZO N., ZHAI G., VALDES A. M., BLACKBURN H., LEACH I. M., DE BOER R. A., GOODALL A. H., OUWEHAND W., VAN VELDHUISEN D. J., VAN GILST W. H., NAVIS G., BURTON P. R., TOBIN M. D., HALL A. S., THOMPSON J. R., SPECTOR T., SAMANI N. J., 2010: Common variants near TERC are associated with mean telomere length. *Nature Genetics* 42, 3: 197-199. DOI: 10.1038/ng.532
- COELHO A., NOGUEIRA A., SOARES S., ASSIS J., PEREIRA D., BRAVO I., CATARINO R., MEDEIROS R., 2018: TP53 Arg72Pro polymorphism is associated with increased overall survival but not response to therapy in Portuguese/Caucasian patients with advanced cervical cancer. Oncology Letters 15, 5: 8165-8171. DOI: 10.3892/ol.2018.8354
- COQUEL F., SILVA M. J., TÉCHER H., ZADOROZHNY K., SHARMA S., NIEMINUSZCZY J., METTLING C., DARDILLAC E., BARTHE A., SCHMITZ A. L., PROMONET A., CRIBIER A., SARRAZIN A., NIEDZWIEDZ W., LOPEZ B., COSTANZO V., KREJCI L., CHABES A., BENKIRANE M., LIN Y. L., PASERO P., 2018: SAMHD1 Acts at Stalled Replication Forks to Prevent Interferon Induction. *Nature* 557, 7703: 57-61. DOI: 10.1038/s41586-018-0050-1
- CROATIAN BUREAU OF STATISTICS 2013: Census of population, households and dwellings 2011, Population by sex and age. Zagreb.
- CROATIAN BUREAU OF STATISTICS 2021: Women and men in Croatia. Zagreb.
- DATO S., SOERENSEN M., DE RANGO F., ROSE G., CHRISTENSEN K., CHRISTIANSEN L., PASSARINO G., 2018: The genetic component of human longevity: New insights from the analysis of pathway-based SNP-SNP interactions. Aging Cell 17, 3: 1-12. DOI: 10.1111/acel.12755
- DEELEN J., BEEKMAN M., UH H.W., BROER L., AYERS K. L., TAN Q., KAMATANI Y., BENNET A. M., TAMM R., TROMPET S., GUOBJARTSSON D. F., FLACHSBART F., ROSE G., VIKTORIN A., FISCHER, K., NYGAARD M., CORDELL H.J., CROCCO P., VAN DEN AKKER E. B., BÖHRINGER S., HELMER Q., NELSON C. P., SAUNDERS G. I., ALVER M., ANDERSEN-RANBERG K., BREEN M. E., VAN DER BREGGEN R., CALIEBE A., CAPRI M., CEVENINI E., COLLERTON J. C., DATO

S., DAVIES K., FORD I., GAMPE J., GARAGNANI P., DE GEUS E. J. C., HARROW J., VAN HEEMST D., HEIJMANS B. T., HEINSEN F. A., HOTTENGA J. J., HOFMAN A., JEUNE B., JONSSON P. V., LATHROP M., LECHNER D., MARTIN-RUIZ C., MCNERLAN S. E., MIHAILOV E., MONTESANTO A., MOOIJAART S. P., MURPHY A., NOHR E.A., PATERNOSTER L., POSTMUS I., RIVADENEIRA F., ROSS O.A., SALVIOLI S., SATTAR N., SCHREIBER S., STEFÁNSSON H., STOTT D. J., TIEMEIER H., UITTERLINDEN A. G., WESTENDORP R. G. J., WILLEMSEN G., SAMANI N. J., GALAN P., SØRENSEN THORKILD I. A., BOOMSMA D. I., WOUTER J. J., REA I. M., PASSARINO G., DE CRAEN A. J. M., CHRISTENSEN K., NEBEL A., STEFÁNSSON K., METSPALU A., MAGNUSSON P., BLANCHÉ H., CHRISTIANSEN L., KIRKWOOD T. B.L., VAN DUIJN C. M., FRANCESCHI C., HOUWING-DUISTERMAAT J. J., SLAGBOOM P. E., 2014: Genome-wide association meta-analysis of human longevity identifies a novel locus conferring survival beyond 90 Years of age. Human Molecular Genetics 23, 16: 4420-4432. DOI: 10.1093/hmg/ddu139

- DEELEN J., EVANS D.S., ARKING D.E., TESI N., NYGAARD M., LIU X., WOJCZYNSKI M. K., BIGGS M. L., VAN DER SPEK A., ATZMON G., WARE E. B., SARNOWSKI C., SMITH A. V., SEPPÄLÄ I., CORDELL H. J., DOSE J., AMIN N., ARNOLD A. M., AYERS K. L., BARZILAI N., BECKER E. J., BEEKMAN M., BLANCHÉ H., CHRISTENSEN K., CHRISTIANSEN L., COLLERTON J. C., CUBAYNES S., CUMMINGS S. R., DAVIES K., DEBRABANT B., DELEUZE J. F., DUNCAN R., FAUL J. D., FRANCESCHI C., GALAN P., GUDNASON V., HARRIS T. B., HUISMAN M., HURME M. A., JAGGER C., JANSEN I., JYLHÄ M., KÄHÖNEN M., KARASIK D., KARDIA S. L. R., KINGSTON A., KIRKWOOD T. B. L., LAUNER L. J., LEHTIMÄKI T., LIEB W., LYYTIKÄINEN L. P., MARTIN-RUIZ C., MIN J., NEBEL A., NEWMAN A. B., NIE C., NOHR E. A., ORWOLL E. S., PERLS T. T., PROVINCE M. A., PSATY B.M., RAITAKARI O. T., REINDERS M. J. T., ROBINE J. M., ROTTER J. I., SEBASTIANI P., SMITH J., SØRENSEN T. I. A., TAYLOR K. D., UITTERLINDEN A. G., VAN DER FLIER W., VAN DER LEE S. J., VAN DUIJN C. M., VAN HEEMST D., VAUPEL J. W., WEIR D., YE K., ZENG Y., ZHENG W., HOLSTEGE H., KIEL D. P., LUNETTA K.L., SLAGBOOM P. E., MURABITO J. M., 2019: A metaanalysis of genome-wide association studies identifies multiple longevity genes. Nature Communications 10, 1: 3669. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11558-2
- DE JAGER M., VAN NOORT J., VAN GENT D.C., DEKKER C., KANAAR R., WYMAN C., 2001: "Human Rad50/Mre11 is a flexible complex that can tether DNA ends." *Molecular Cell* 8, 5: 1129-35. DOI: 10.1016/s1097-2765(01)00381-1
- DE LAURETIS A., SESTINI P., PANTELIDIS P., HOYLES R., HANSELL D. M., GOH N. S., ZAPPALA C. J., VISCA D., MAHER T. M., DENTON C. P., ONG V. H., ABRAHAM D. J., KELLEHER P., HECTOR L., WELLS

A. U., RENZONI E. A., 2013: Serum interleukin 6 is predictive of early functional decline and mortality in interstitial lung disease associated with systemic sclerosis. *J Rheumatol.* 40, 4: 435-46. DOI: 10.3899/jrheum.120725

- DI BONA D., VASTO S., CAPURSO C., CHRISTIANSEN L., DEIANA L., FRANCESCHI C., HURME M., MOCCHEGIANI E., REA M., LIO D., CANDORE G., CARUSO C., 2009: Effect of interleukin-6 polymorphisms on human longevity: A Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ageing Research Reviews* 8, 1: 36-42. DOI: 10.1016/j.arr.2008.09.001
- DI PIETRO F., DATO S., CARPI F.M., CORNEVEAUX J. J., SERFAUSTINI S., MAOLONI S., MIGNINI F., HUENTELMAN M. J., PASSARINO G., NAPOLIONI V., 2013: TP53*P72 allele influences negatively female life expectancy in a population of Central Italy: Cross-sectional study and genetic-demographic approach analysis. Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 68, 5: 539-545. DOI: 10.1093/gerona/gls223
- EXCOFFIER L., LISCHER H. E. L., 2010: Arlequin suite ver 3.5: A new series of programs to perform population genetics analyses under Linux and Windows. *Mol Ecol Resour.* 10, 3: 564–7. DOI: 10.1111/j.1755-0998.2010.02847.x
- EU-FRA 2014: European Union Agency for fundamental rights 2014 Roma survey - data in focus poverty and employment: the Situation of Roma in 11 EU member states.
- FINCH C. E., 2007: The Biology of Human Longevity. Academic Press.
- FLACHSBART F., DOSE J., GENTSCHEW L., GEISMANN C., CALIEBE A., KNECHT C., NYGAARD M., BADARINARAYAN N., ELSHARAWY A., MAY S., LUZIUS A., TORRES G.G., JENTZSCH M., FORSTER M., HÄESLER R., PALLAUF K., LIEB W., DERBOIS C., GALAN P., DRICHEL D., ARLT A., TILL A., KRAUSE-KYORA B., RIMBACH G., BLANCHÉ H., DELEUZE J.F., CHRISTIANSEN L., CHRISTENSEN K., NOTHNAGEL M., ROSENSTIEL P., SCHREIBER S., FRANKE A., SEBENS S., NEBEL A., 2017: Identification and characterization of two functional variants in the human longevity gene FOXO3. Nature Communications 8, 1: 1-12. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-017-02183-y
- FLACHSBART F., ELLINGHAUS D., GENTSCHEW L., HEINSEN F. A., CALIEBE A., CHRISTIANSEN L., NYGAARD M., CHRISTENSEN K., BLANCHÉ H., DELEUZE J. F., DERBOIS C., GALAN P., BÜNING C., BRAND S., PETERS A., STRAUCH K., MÜLLER-NURASYID M., HOFFMANN P., NÖTHEN M. M., LIEB W., FRANKE A., SCHREIBER S., NEBEL A., 2016: Immunochip analysis identifies association of the RAD50/IL13 region with human longevity. Aging Cell 15, 3: 585-588. DOI: 10.1111/acel.12471
- FORTNEY K., DOBRIBAN E., GARAGNANI P., PIRAZZINI C., MONTI D., MARI D., ATZMON G., BARZILAI N., FRANCESCHI C., OWEN A. B., KIM S. K., 2015: Genomewide scan informed by age-related disease identifies loci for exceptional human longevity. *PLoS Genetics* 11, 12: 1–23. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005728

Tatjana Škarić-Jurić, Željka Celinšćak, Maja Šetinc, Luka Bočkor, Anita Stojanović Marković, Matea Zajc Petranović, Marijana Peričić Salihović, Joris Deelen, Branka Janićijević, Nina Smolej Narančić

- FRA (European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights). Second European Union Minorities and Discrimination Survey (EUMIDIS II). Roma–Selected Findings–Luxembourg, Publications Office of the European Union. Available online: https://fra.europa.eu/en/publication/2016/second-europeanunion-minorities-and-discrimination-survey-roma-selected-fin dings (accessed on March 17th, 2021).
- FRAZER H., MARLIER E., 2011: Promoting the social inclusion of Roma. European Network of Independent Experts on Social Inclusion; No. 2011-03. CEPS/INSTEAD.
- FRAGA V. G., GUIMARÃES H. C., TEIXEIRA A. L., BARBOSA M. T., MATEO E. C., CARVALHO M. G., CARAMELLI P., GOMES K. B. G, 2015: Genetic predisposition to higher production of interleukin-6 through -174 G > C polymorphism predicts global cognitive decline in oldest-old with cognitive impairment no dementia. Arq Neuropsiquiatr 73, 11: 899-902. DOI: 10.1590/0004-282X20150137

FUKU N., HE Z. H., SANCHIS-GOMAR F., PAREJA-GALEANO H., TIAN Y., ARAI Y., ABE Y., MURAKAMI H., MIYACHI M., ZEMPO H., NAITO H., YVERT T., VERDE Z., VENTURINI L., FIUZA-LUCES C., SANTOS-LOZANO A., RODRÍGUEZ G., RICEVUTI G., HIROSE N., EMANUELE E., GARATACHEA N., LUCIA A., 2015: Exceptional longevity and muscle and fitness related genotypes: a functional in vitro analysis and case-control association replication study with SNPs THRH rs7832552, IL6 rs1800795 and ACSL1 rs6552828. Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience 7: 1–9. DOI: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00059

- GROSSI V., FORTE G., SANESE P., PESERICO A., TEZIL T., SIGNORILE M. L., FASANO C., LOVAGLIO R., BAGNULO R., LOCONTE D. C., SUSCA F. C., RESTA N., SIMONE C., 2018: The Longevity SNP rs2802292 uncovered: HSF1 activates stress-dependent expression of FOXO3 through an intronic enhancer. *Nucleic Acids Research* 46, 11: 5587-5600. DOI: 10.1093/nar/gky331
- GROß S., IMMEL U. D., KLINTSCHAR M., BARTEL F., 2014: Germline genetics of the p53 pathway affect longevity in a gender specific manner. *Curr Aging Sci.* 7, 2: 91–100. DOI: 10.2174/1874609807666140321150751
- HUBÁČEK J. A., ŠEDOVÁ L., OLIŠAROVÁ V., ADÁMKOVÁ V., TÓTHOVÁ V., 2020: Different prevalence of T2DM risk alleles in Roma population in comparison with the majority Czech population. *Molecular Genetics and Genomic Medicine* 8, 9: e1361. DOI: 10.1002/mgg3.1361
- HUNG R. J., ULRICH C. M., GOODE E. L., BRHANE Y., MUIR K., CHANA. T., LEMARCHAND L., SCHILDKRAUT J., WITTE J. S., EELES R., BOFFETTA P., SPITZ M. R., POIRIER J. G., RIDER D. N., FRIDLEY B. L., CHEN Z., HAIMAN C., SCHUMACHER F., EASTON D. F., LANDI M. T., BRENNAN P., HOULSTON R., CHRISTIANI D. C., FIELD J. K., BICKEBÖLLER H., RISCH A., KOTE-JARAI Z., WIKLUND F., GRÖNBERG H., CHANOCK S., BERNDT S. I., KRAFT P., LINDSTRÖM S., AL OLAMA A. A., SONG H., PHELAN C., WENTZENSEN N., PETERS U., SLATTERY M. L., SELLERS T. A., CASEY G., GRUBER S. B., HUNTER D. J., AMOS C. I., HENDERSON B., 2015:

Cross cancer genomic investigation of inflammation pathway for five common cancers: lung, ovary, prostate, breast, and colorectal cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 107, 11: djv246. DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djv246

- IBM Corp. Released 2012. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 21.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- KAYAALTI Z., ŞAHINER L., DURAKOĜLUGIL M. E., SÖYLEMEZOĜLU T., 2011: Distributions of interleukin-6 (IL-6) promoter and metallothionein 2A (MT2A) core promoter region gene polymorphisms and their associations with aging in Turkish population. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics 53, 3: 354–358. DOI: 10.1016/j.archger.2011.01.001
- KENDE A., HADARICS M., LÁŠTICOVÁ B., 2017: Anti-Roma attitudes as expressions of dominant social norms in Eastern Europe. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations* 60: 12-27. DOI:10.1016/j.ijintrel.2017.06.002
- KLARIĆI. M., SALIHOVIĆ M. P., LAUC L. B., ZHIVOTOVSKY L. A., ROOTSI S., JANIĆIJEVIĆ B., 2009: Dissecting the molecular architecture and origin of Bayash Romani patrilineages: Genetic influences from South-Asia and the Balkans. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 138, 3: 333-342. DOI: 10.1002/ajpa.20933
- KLASNIĆ K., KUNAC S., RODIK P., 2020: Roma inclusion in the Croatian society: Women, Youth and Children. Office for Human Rights and Rights of National Minorities of the Government of the Republic of Croatia, Zagreb.
- KOLOVOU V., BILIANOU H., GIANNAKOPOULOU V., KALOGEROPOULOS P., MIHAS C., KOURIS M., COKKINOS D. V., BOUTSIKOU M., HOURSALAS I., MAVROGENI S., KATSIKI N., KOLOVOU G., 2017: Five gene variants in nonagenarians, centenarians and average individuals. Archives of Medical Science 13, 5: 1130-1141. DOI: 10.5114/aoms.2017.68942
- KÖNIG M., JOSHI S., LEISTNER D. M., LANDMESSER U., SINNING D., STEINHAGEN-THIESSEN E., DEMUTH I., 2019: Cohort profile: role of lipoproteins in cardiovascular disease - The LipidCardio study. *BMJ Open* 3:9, 9: e030097. DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030097
- KUO C. L., JOAQUIM M., KUCHEL G. A., FERRUCCI L., HARRIES L. W., PILLING L. C., MELZER D., LE COUTEUR D., 2020: The longevity-associated SH2B3 (LNK) genetic variant: selected aging phenotypes in 379,758 subjects. Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 75, 9: 1656-1662. DOI: 10.1093/gerona/glz191
- LAROUMANIE F., KORNEVA A., BERSI M. R., ALEXANDER M. R., XIAO L., ZHONG X., VAN BEUSECUM J. P., CHEN Y., SALEH M. A., MCMASTER W. G., GAVULIC K. A., DALE B. L., ZHAO S., GUO Y., SHYR Y., PERRIEN D. S., COX N. J., CURCI J. A., HUMPHREY J. D., MADHUR M.S., 2018: LNK deficiency promotes acute aortic dissection and rupture. JCI Insight 3, 20: e122558. DOI: 10.1172/jci.insight.122558
- LAW M. H., MEDLAND S. E., ZHU G., YAZAR S., VIÑUELA A., WALLACE L., SHEKAR S. N., DUFFY D. L., BATAILLE V., GLASS D., SPECTOR T. D., WOOD D., GORDON S. D., BARBOUR J. M., HENDERS A. K., HEWITT A. W.,

MONTGOMERY G. W., STURM R. A., MACKEY D. A., GREEN A. C., MARTIN N. G., MACGREGOR S., 2017: Genome-wide association shows that pigmentation genes play a role in skin aging. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 137, 9: 1887-1894.

DOI: 10.1016/j.jid.2017.04.026

- LLANAJ E., VINCZE F., KÓSA Z., SÁNDOR J., DIÓSZEGI J., ÁDÁNY R., 2020: Dietary Profile and Nutritional Status of the Roma Population Living in Segregated Colonies in Northeast Hungary. *Nutrients* 12, 9: 2836. DOI: 10.3390/nu12092836
- MILLER S. A., DYKES D. D., POLESKY H. F., 1988: A simple salting out procedure for extracting DNA from human nucleated cells. *Nucleic Acids Research* 16, 3: 1215. DOI: 10.1093/nar/16.3.1215
- MUSTAFINA O. E., NASIBULLIN T. R., ÉRDMAN V. V., TUKTAROVA I. A., 2017: Association analysis of polymorphic loci of TP53 and NFKB1 genes with human age and longevity. *Adv Gerontol.* 24, 3: 397-404.
- NYGAARD M., THINGGAARD M., CHRISTENSEN K., CHRISTIANSEN L., 2017: Investigation of the 5q33.3 longevity locus and age-related phenotypes. *Aging* 9, 1:247-255. DOI: 10.18632/aging.101156
- OLIŠAROVÁ V., TÓTHOVÁ V., BÁRTLOVÁ S., DOLÁK F., KAJANOVÁ A., NOVÁKOVÁ D., PROKEŠOVÁ R., ŠEDOVÁ L., 2018: Cultural Features Influencing Eating, Overweight, and Obesity in the Roma People of South Bohemia. Nutrients 10, 7: 838. DOI: 10.3390/nu10070838
- ØRSTED D. D., BOJESEN S. E., TYBJÆRG-HANSEN A., NORDESTGAARD B. G., 2007: Tumor suppressor P53 Arg72Pro polymorphism and longevity, cancer survival, and risk of cancer in the general population. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 204, 6: 1295-1301. DOI: 10.1084/jem.20062476
- PARKS E. E., LOGAN S., YEGANEH A., FARLEY J. A., OWEN D. B., SONNTAG W. E., 2020: Interleukin 6 reduces allopregnanolone synthesis in the brain and contributes to age-related cognitive decline in mice. J Lipid Res. 61, 10: 1308-1319. DOI: 10.1194/jlr.RA119000479
- PAULL T. T., GELLERT M., 1998: "The 3' to 5' Exonuclease Activity of Mre11 Facilitates Repair of DNA Double-Strand Breaks." *Molecular Cell* 1, 7: 969-79. DOI: 10.1016/s1097-2765(00)80097-0
- PIKO P., KOSA Z., SANDOR J., ADANY R., 2021: Comparative risk assessment for the development of cardiovascular diseases in the Hungarian general and Roma population. *Sci Rep* 11: 3085. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-021-82689-0
- PILLING L. C., ATKINS J. L., DUFF M. O., BEAUMONT R. N., JONES S. E., TYRRELL J., KUO C. L., RUTH K. S., TUKE M. A., YAGHOOTKAR H., WOOD A. R., MURRAY A., WEEDON M. N., HARRIES L.W., KUCHEL G. A., FERRUCCI L., FRAYLING T. M., MELZER D., 2017: Red blood cell distribution width: genetic evidence for aging pathways in 116,666 volunteers. *PLoS ONE* 12, 9: e0185083. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0185083
- PINÓS T., FUKU N., CÁMARA Y., ARAI Y., ABE Y., RODRÍGUEZ-ROMO G., GARATACHEA N., SANTOS-

LOZANO A., MIRO-CASAS E., RUIZ-MEANA M., OTAEGUI I., MURAKAMI H., MIYACHI M., GARCIA-DORADO D., HINOHARA K., ANDREU A. L., KIMURA A., HIROSE N., LUCIA A., 2014: The rs1333049 polymorphism on locus 9p21.3 and extreme longevity in Spanish and Japanese cohorts. *Age* 36, 2: 933-943. DOI: 10.1007/s11357-013-9593-0

- POKUPČIĆ K., CUKROV S., KLARIĆ I. M., SALIHOVIĆ M. P., LAUC L. B., BLAŽANOVIĆ A., JANIĆIJEVIĆ B., 2008: Y-STR genetic diversity of Croatian (Bayash) Roma. Forensic Science International: Genetics 2, 2: 2007–2009. DOI: 10.1016/j.fsigen.2007.11.002
- RAWLE M. J., DAVIS D., BENDAYAN R., WONG A., KUH D., RICHARDS M., 2018: Apolipoprotein-E (ApoE) E4 and cognitive decline over the adult life course. *Translational Psychiatry* 8, 1: 18. DOI: 10.1038/s41398-017-0064-8
- REILING E., LYSSENKO V., BOER J. M. A., IMHOLZ S., VERSCHUREN W. M. M., ISOMAA B., TUOMI T., GROOP L., DOLLÉ M. E. T., 2012: Codon 72 polymorphism (rs1042522) of TP53 is associated with changes in diastolic blood pressure over time. *European Journal of Human Genetics* 20, 6: 696-700. DOI: 10.1038/ejhg.2011.240
- REVELAS M., THALAMUTHU A., OLDMEADOW C., EVANS T. J., ARMSTRONG N. J., KWOK J. B., BRODATY H., SCHOFIELD P. R., SCOTT R. J., SACHDEV P. S., ATTIA J. R., MATHER K. A., 2018: Review and metaanalysis of genetic polymorphisms associated with exceptional human longevity. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development* 175: 24-34. DOI: 10.1016/j.mad.2018.06.002
- SALIHOVIĆ M. P., BAREŠIĆ A., KLARIĆ I. M., CUKROV S., LAUC L. B., JANIĆIJEVIĆ B., 2011: The role of the Vlax Roma in shaping the European Romani maternal genetic history. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 146, 2: 262-270. DOI: 10.1002/ajpa.21566
- SANESE P., FORTE G., DISCIGLIO V., GROSSI V., SIMONE C., 2019: FOXO3 on the road to longevity: Lessons from SNPs and chromatin hubs. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal* 17: 737–745. DOI: 10.1016/j.csbj.2019.06.011
- SEMAGN K., BABU R., HEARNE S., AND OLSEN M., 2014: Single nucleotide polymorphism genotyping using kompetitive allele specific PCR (KASP): Overview of the technology and its application in crop improvement. *Molecular Breeding* 33, 1: 1–14. DOI: 10.1007/s11032-013-9917-x
- SERRANO A.L., BAEZA-RAJA B., PERDIGUERO E., JARDÍ M., MUÑOZ-CÁNOVES P., 2008: Interleukin-6 is an essential regulator of satellite cell-mediated skeletal muscle hypertrophy. *Cell Metabolism* 7, 1: 33–44. DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2007.11.011
- SHADYAB A. H., KOOPERBERG C., REINER A. P., JAIN S., MANSON J. E., HOHENSEE C., MACERA C. A., SHAFFER R. A., GALLO L.C., LACROIX A. Z., 2017: Replication of genome-wide association study findings of longevity in white, African American, and Hispanic Women: The women's health initiative. Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 72, 10: 1401-1406. DOI: 10.1093/gerona/glw198

- SHEN Q., ZHANG Z., YU L., CAO L., ZHOU D., KAN M., LI B., ZHANG D., HE L., LIU Y., 2011: Common variants near TERC are associated with leukocyte telomere length in the Chinese Han population. *European Journal of Human Genetics* 19, 6: 721-723. DOI: 10.1038/ejhg.2011.4
- SOERENSEN M., DATO S., CHRISTENSEN K., MCGUE M., STEVNSNER T., BOHR V. A., CHRISTIANSEN L., 2010: Replication of an association of variation in the FOXO3A gene with human longevity using both case-control and longitudinal data. *Aging Cell* 9, 6: 1010-1017. DOI: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2010.00627.x
- SOERENSEN M., DATO S., TAN Q., THINGGAARD M., KLEINDORP R., BEEKMAN M., JACOBSEN R., SUCHIMAN E. H. D., DE CRAEN A. J. M., WESTENDORP R. G. J., SCHREIBER S., STEVNSNER T., BOHR V. A., SLAGBOOM P. E., NEBEL A., VAUPEL J. W., CHRISTENSEN K., MCGUE M., CHRISTIANSEN L., 2012a: Human longevity and variation in GH/IGF-1/Insulin signaling, DNA damage signaling and repair and pro/antioxidant pathway genes: cross sectional and longitudinal studies. *Experimental Gerontology* 47, 5: 379–387. DOI: 10.1016/j.exger.2012.02.010
- SOERENSEN M., THINGGAARD M., NYGAARD M., DATO S., TAN Q., HJELMBORG J., ANDERSEN-RANBERG K., STEVNSNER T., BOHR V.A., KIMURA M., AVIV A., CHRISTENSEN K., CHRISTIANSEN L., 2012b: Genetic variation in TERT and TERC and human leukocyte telomere length and longevity: a cross-sectional and longitudinal analysis. Aging Cell 11, 2: 223–227.
- ;DOI: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2011.00775.x
- SOLTÉSZ B., PIKÓ P., SÁNDOR J., KÓSA Z., ÁDÁNY R., FIATAL S., 2020: The genetic risk for hypertension is lower among the Hungarian Roma Population compared to the general population. *PloS One* 15, 6: e0234547. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0234547
- ŠKARIĆ-JURIĆ T., KLARIĆ I. M., SMOLEJ NARANČIĆ N., DRMIĆ S., SALIHOVIĆ M.P., LAUC L. B., MILIČIĆ J., BARABALIĆ M., ZAJC M., JANIĆIJEVIĆ B., 2007: Trapped between tradition and transition – anthropological and epidemiological cross-sectional study of Bayash Roma in Croatia. Croatian Medical Journal 48, 5: 708-719.
- TENNAPEL M. J., LYNCH C. F., BURNS T. L., WALLACE R., SMITH B. J., BUTTON A., DOMANN F. E., 2014: SIRT6 minor allele genotype is associated with >5-year decrease in lifespan in an aged cohort. *PLoS ONE* 9, 12: 1–18. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0115616
- THE EUROPEAN PUBLIC HEALTH ALLIANCE 2018: Closing the life expectancy gap of Roma in Europe.
- TIMMERS P. R., MOUNIER N., LALL K., FISCHER K., NING Z., FENG X., BRETHERICK A. D., CLARK D. W., SHEN X., ESKO T., KUTALIK Z., WILSON J. F., JOSHI P. K., 2019: Genomics of 1 million parent lifespans implicates novel pathways and common diseases and distinguishes survival chances. *ELife* 8 (January): e39856. DOI: 10.7554/eLife.39856
- TONG W., ZHANG J., LODISH H. F., 2005: Lnk Inhibits Erythropoiesis and Epo-Dependent JAK2 Activation and

Downstream Signaling Pathways. *Blood* 105, 12: 4604–4612. DOI: 10.1182/blood-2004-10-4093

- TRUJILLO K. M., YUAN S. S. F., LEE E. Y. H. P., SUNG P., 1998. "Nuclease Activities in a Complex of Human Recombination and DNA Repair Factors Rad50, Mre11, and P95." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273, 34: 21447–50. DOI: 10.1074/jbc.273.34.21447
- VAN HEEMST D., MOOIJAART S. P., BEEKMAN M., SCHREUDER J., DE CRAEN A. J. M., BRANDT B. W., ELINE SLAGBOOM P., WESTENDORP R. G. J., 2005: Variation in the human TP53 gene affects old age survival and cancer mortality. *Experimental Gerontology* 40, 1–2: 11–15. DOI: 10.1016/j.exger.2004.10.001
- WERISSA N. A., PIKO P., FIATAL S., KOSA Z., SANDOR J., ADANY R., 2019: SNP-based genetic risk score modeling suggests no increased genetic susceptibility of the Roma population to type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Genes* 10, 11: 942. DOI: 10.3390/genes10110942
- WESTRA H. J., PETERS M. J., ESKO T., YAGHOOTKAR H., SCHURMANN C., KETTUNEN J., CHRISTIANSEN M. W., FAIRFAX B. P., SCHRAMM K., POWELL J. E., ZHERNAKOVA A., ZHERNAKOVA D. V., VELDINK J. H., VAN DEN BERG L. H., KARJALAINEN J., WITHOFF S., UITTERLINDEN A. G., HOFMAN A., RIVADENEIRA F., HOEN P. A. C., REINMAA E., FISCHER K., NELIS M., MILANI L., MELZER D., FERRUCCI L., SINGLETON A. B., HERNANDEZ D.G., NALLS M. A., HOMUTH G., NAUCK M., RADKE D., VÖLKER U., PEROLA M., SALOMAA V., BRODY J., SUCHY-DICEY A., GHARIB S.A., ENQUOBAHRIE D. A., LUMLEY T., MONTGOMERY G.W., MAKINO S., PROKISCH H., HERDER C., RODEN M., GRALLERT H., MEITINGER T., STRAUCH K., LI Y., JANSEN R. C., VISSCHER P. M., KNIGHT J. C., PSATY B. M., RIPATTI S., TEUMER A., FRAYLING T. M., METSPALU A., VAN MEURS J. B. J., FRANKE L., 2013: Systematic identification of trans EQTLs as putative drivers of known disease associations. Nature Genetics 45, 10: 1238-1243. DOI: 10.1038/ng.2756
- WILLCOX B. J., DONLON T. A., HE Q., CHEN R., GROVE J. S., YANO K., MASAKI K. H., WILLCOX D. C., RODRIGUEZ B., CURB J. D., 2008: FOXO3A genotype is strongly associated with human longevity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105, 37: 13987-13992. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0801030105
- WOLF E. J., MORRISON F. G., SULLIVAN D. R., LOGUE M. W., GUETTA R. E., STONE A., SCHICHMAN S. A., MCGLINCHEY R. E., MILBERG W. P., MILLER M. W., 2019: The goddess who spins the thread of life: klotho, psychiatric stress, and accelerated aging. *Brain, Behavior,* and Immunity 80: 193-203. DOI: 10.1016/j.bbi.2019.03.007
- XU X., LIANG X., HU G., ZHANG J., LEI H., 2015: Renal function and klotho gene polymorphisms among Uygur and Kazak populations in Xinjiang, China. *Medical Science Monitor* 21: 44-51. DOI: 10.12659/MSM.891213
- YAO S., ZHU Y. S., SHI G. P., GUO J. H., WANG Z. D., CHU X. F., JIANG X. Y., JIN L., WANG X. F., 2020: Associations

of TNF-A -308 G>A and TNF-B 252 A>G with physical function and BNP–Rugao longevity and ageing study. *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging* 24, 3: 358-363. DOI: 10.1007/s12603-020-1336-1

- ZAJC PETRANOVIĆ M., RIZZIERI A. E., SIVARAJ D., SMOLEJ NARANČIĆ N., ŠKARIĆ-JURIĆ T., CELINŠĆAK Ž., STOJANOVIĆ MARKOVIĆ A., PERIČIĆ SALIHOVIĆ M., KALÁSZI J., KALÁSZI M., LIN J. Q., MEHTA S., BURLESON J., RIZZIERI D. A., 2021: CVD Risk Factors in the Ukrainian Roma and Meta-Analysis of Their Prevalence in Roma Populations Worldwide. J Pers Med. 1111: 1138. DOI: 10.3390/jpm11111138
- ZELJKO H., ŠKARIĆ-JURIĆ T., NARANČIĆ N. S., SALIHOVIĆ M. P., KLARIĆ I. M., BARBALIĆ M., STARČEVIĆ B., LAUC L. B., JANIĆIJEVIÉ B., 2008: Traditional CVD risk factors and socio-economic deprivation in Roma minority population of Croatia. Collegium Antropologicum 32, 3: 667-676.
- ZELJKO H. M., ŠKARIĆ-JURIĆ T., NARANČIĆ N. S., TOMAS Ž., BAREŠIĆ A., SALIHOVIĆ M. P., STARČEVIĆ B., JANIĆIJEVIĆ B., 2011: E2 Allele of the apolipoprotein E gene polymorphism is predictive for obesity status in Roma minority population of Croatia. *Lipids in Health and Disease* 10, 9. DOI: 10.1186/1476-511X-10-9
- ZELJKO H. M., ŠKARIĆ-JURIĆ T., NARANČIĆ N. S., BAREŠIĆ A., TOMAS Ž., PETRANOVIĆ M. Z., MILIČIĆ J., SALIHOVIĆ M. P., JANIĆIJEVIĆ B., 2013: Age trends in prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in Roma minority population of Croatia. *Economics and Human Biology* 11, 3: 326-336. DOI: 10.1016/j.ehb.2012.02.007
- ZENG Y., NIE C., MIN J., LIU X., LI M., CHEN H., XU H., WANG M., NI T., LI Y., YAN H., ZHANG J. P., SONG C., CHI L.Q., WANG H. M., DONG J., ZHENG G. Y., LIN L., QIAN F., QI Y., LIU X., CAO H., WANG Y., ZHANG L., LI Z., ZHOU Y., WANG Y., LU J., LI J., QI M., BOLUND L., YASHIN A., LAND K. C., GREGORY S., YANG Z., GOTTSCHALK W., TAO W., WANG J., WANG J., XU X., BAE H., NYGAARD M., CHRISTIANSEN L., CHRISTENSEN K., FRANCESCHI C., LUTZ M. W., GU J., TAN Q., PERLS T., SEBASTIANI P., DEELEN J., SLAGBOOM E., HAUSER E., XU H., TIAN X. L., YANG H., VAUPEL J. W., 2016: Novel loci and pathways significantly associated with longevity. *Scientific Reports* 6: 1-13. DOI: 10.1038/srep21243
- ZETTERGREN A., KERN S., RYDÉN L., ÖSTLING S., BLENNOW K., ZETTERBERG H., FALK H., SKOOG I., 2018: Genetic variation in FOXO3 is associated with selfrated health in a population-based sample of older individuals. Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 73,11: 1453-1458. DOI: 10.1093/gerona/gly021

Tatjana Škarić-Jurić¹ Željka Celinšćak^{1*} Maja Šetinc¹ Luka Bočkor² Anita Stojanović Marković¹ Matea Zajc Petranović¹ Marijana Peričić Salihović¹ Joris Deelen^{3, 4} Branka Janićijević¹ Nina Smolej Narančić¹

- ¹ Institute for Anthropological Research, Ljudevita Gaja 32, 10 000 Zagreb, Croatia
- ² Centre for Applied Bioanthropology, Institute for Anthropological Research, Zagreb, Croatia
- ³ Max Planck Institute for Biology of Ageing, Köln, Germany
- ⁴Cologne Excellence Cluster on Cellular Stress Responses in Ageing-Associated Diseases (CECAD), University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

*Corresponding author. E-mail: zeljka.jurcic@gmail.com

37

17

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 1. Beta values from the analysis of survival to the 90th percentile, obtained from longevity GWA studies performed on several cohorts of European ancestry (Deelen *et al.* 2019). Beta values were used as weights for the calculation of weighted GLS.

Chromosome	Position	Gene	ANS	Literature-defined longevity allele	Effect allele (in Deelen et al. 2019)	Non-effect allele (in Deelen <i>et al.</i> 2019)	Effect allele frequency	Bcta	SE	P-value	Effective N
3	169481271	TERC	rs12696304	c	C	Ð	0,73	0,0252	0,0223	0,2581	11615
3	169500487	TERC	rs3772190	A	A	Ċ	0,24	-0,021	0,0223	0,3477	11615
3	169568116	TERC	rs16847897	ŋ	U	Ð	0,28	-0,0193	0,0214	0,3657	11615
3	172165727	GHSR	rs572169	С	Т	U	0,31	-0,0093	0,0207	0,6549	11615
5	131935477	RAD50	rs2706372	Т	Т	U	0,21	0,0495	0,0245	0,04296	11050
5	157820602	LINC02227	rs2149954	Т	Т	υ	0,37	0,0515	0,0205	0,01188	11050
9	396321	IRF4	rs12203592	с	Т	U	0,14	-0,048	0,0318	0,1305	9923
9	31543031	TNF-alfa	rs1800629	G	Y	IJ	0,16	-0,0901	0,0336	0,007318	8400
9	108906200	FOXO3A	rs12206094	Т	Т	U	0,28	0,0776	0,0213	0,0002733	11615
9	108908518	FOXO3A	rs2802292	ŋ	Т	Ü	0,62	-0,0787	0,0198	6,81E-05	11615
9	108934461	FOXO3A	rs2764264	C	Т	U	0,69	-0,0879	0,0209	2,65E-05	11615
9	108965039	FOXO3A	rs10457180	U	A	Ð	0,7	-0,0925	0,0209	9,50E-06	11615
9	108974098	FOXO3A	rs13217795	c	Т	C	0,7	-0,0941	0,0209	6,85E-06	11615
6	109000742	FOXO3A	rs4946935	v	v	IJ	0,29	0,0934	0,0211	9,59E-06	11615
9	160443428	IGF2R	rs9456497	ŋ	٧	IJ	0,82	0,0392	0,0249	0,116	11615
9	161010118	ГЪМ	rs10455872	۷	٧	IJ	0,94	0,1236	0,0454	0,006513	11050
7	22766645	IL6	rs1800795	U	U	U	0,42	0,0279	0,0196	0,1559	11615
7	22768027	11.6	rs2069837	V	V	Ċ	0,92	0,0742	0,0357	0,03782	11615
7	31006942	GHRHR	rs2267723	Α	Υ	IJ	0,55	-0,0019	0,0197	0,9238	11615
6	22068652	CDKN2B	rs4977756	G	V	Ċ	0,6	-0,0851	0,0196	1,39E-05	11615
6	22125503	CDKN2B	rs1333049	ŋ	U	Ċ	0,47	-0,0606	0,0203	0,002851	11050
11	94199272	MREILA	rs533984	Ċ	A	Ð	0,39	-0,0071	0,0197	0,7181	11615
12	111884608	SH2B3/ATXN2	rs3184504	c	Т	U	0,49	-0,0438	0,0191	0,022	11615
13	33612839	KLOTHO	rs1207362	G	Т	Ċ	0,31	-0,0235	0,0208	0,2581	11615
13	33628138	KLOTHO	rs9536314	т	Т	IJ	0,84	-0,024	0,0266	0,367	11615
13	33628193	KLOTHO	rs9527025	U	υ	Ċ	0,16	0,0234	0,0266	0,3796	11615
15	99478225	IGFIR	rs2229765	۷	V	IJ	0,46	0,0079	0,0191	0,6779	11615
17	7579472	TP53	rs1042522	c	U	Ð	0,71	-0,0103	0,0231	0,6564	11615
19	4176085	SIRT6	rs107251	c	Т	C	0,12	-0,028	0,0308	0,3621	11615
19	45395619	TOMM40	rs2075650	¥	v	IJ	0,87	0,3799	0,0299	5,16E-37	11075
19	45411941	APOE	rs429358	т	Т	U	0,87	0,5098	0,0322	1,28E-56	10878
19	45412079	APOE	rs7412	т	Т	v	0'0	0,2452	0,0367	2,38E-11	11075
19	45422946	APOCI	rs4420638	A	٧	ß	0,83	0,4079	0,0308	4,93E-40	11050

Tatjana Škarić-Jurić, Željka Celinšćak, Maja Šetinc, Luka Bočkor, Anita Stojanović Marković, Matea Zajc Petranović, Marijana Peričić Salihović, Joris Deelen, Branka Janićijević, Nina Smolej Narančić SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 2. Allele frequencies in general ("Old" and "Young") and Roma population of Croatia. Original α level = 0.05; α level after Bonferroni correction < 0.002.

SNP is SNPLongevily intellingReferences integrationConservity integrationLongevily integrationLongevily integration113/56310 $< C$ Codd <i>et al.</i> 2001. Science <i>et al.</i> 2012 $< C < C < C < C < C < C < C < C < C < C$					Included in	"bio"	"Young"	Roma	"ganoY" "ganoY"	"Young" vs Roma	"Old" vs Roma
6804 C Codd ar al. 2010, Shorensen ar al. 2012 yess 74,0 75,3 70 7139 C Codd ar al. 2010, Shorensen ar al. 2011 yess 70,5 70,4 70 7139 C G Codd ar al. 2010, Shorensen ar al. 2012 yess 72,5 72,0 80 7131 T Flanchaburt ar al. 2014 yess 38,1 38,2 23,2 9543 T Dectemen ar al. 2017 yess 38,1 38,2 24,2 9544 C Hanchaburt ar al. 2014 yess 38,1 38,2 36,3 9545 C Buo ar al. 2014 yes 32,6 36,3 36,3 9553 A Buo artal. 2014 yes 32,6 36,3 36,3 9544 C Bao artal. 2014 yes 32,6 36,3 36,3 9553 A Bao artal. 2014 yes 32,6 36,3 36,3 9553 A Bao artal. 2014 yes 32,6	SI	ę,	Longevity allele	References	GRS	Longevity allele frequency	Longevity allele frequency	Longevity allele frequency	đ	đ	đ
12190 A Socenser et al. 2012 no 22.9 21.4 22.6 47387 G Codd et al. 2010, Shen et al. 2011 yess 70.5 70.6 <	rs126	96304	C	Codd et al. 2010, Soerensen et al. 2012	yes	74,0	75,3	70,2	0,773	0,191	0,141
47397 G Codd <i>et al.</i> 2010, Shen <i>et al.</i> 2011 yes 70,5 70,4 67 216,9 C Socrensen <i>et al.</i> 2010, Shen <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 72,5 72,0 80 05573 T Plachbhart <i>et al.</i> 2016 yes 33,1 33,2 23,0 05573 C Socrensen <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 33,1 33,2 23,2 05059 C Yuo <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 33,1 33,2 33,3 05059 C Buo <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 33,1 34,5 34,5 05050 C Buo <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 32,6 35,3 44,5 05051 C Buo <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 32,4 33,4 05051 A Buo <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 32,3 34,5 05051 A Buo <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 32,2 35,3 34,5 05051 A Socrensen <i>et al.</i> 2013 yes 32,3 34,5 35,3 34,5	rs37	72190	۷	Soerensen et al. 2012	ou	22,9	21,4	26,7	0,763	0,173	0,143
2169 C Soerensen et al. 2012 yes 72.5 72.0 80 06372 T Fleubsbart et al. 2016 yes 27.2 29.0 23 06373 T Decinen et al. 2014 yes 38.1 38.2 29.0 23 03954 T Decinen et al. 2014 yes 92.5 95.6 59 03053 G Kuo et al. 2014 yes 92.5 95.3 54.5 050694 T Buo et al. 2014, Revelas et al. 2018 no 32.8 58.3 <t< td=""><td>rs168</td><td>847897</td><td>Ċ</td><td>Codd et al. 2010, Shen et al. 2011</td><td>yes</td><td>70,5</td><td>70,4</td><td>67,7</td><td>1,000</td><td>0,527</td><td>0,292</td></t<>	rs168	847897	Ċ	Codd et al. 2010, Shen et al. 2011	yes	70,5	70,4	67,7	1,000	0,527	0,292
06371 T Flackbart <i>et al.</i> 2016 yes 27.2 2.9.0 2.3 49954 T Declen <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 38.1 38.2 29.2 49954 T Declen <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 38.3 38.2 39.2 200332 C Lw <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 92.5 96.6 39 000529 G Yao <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 92.5 95.3 35.3 000529 G Buo <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 32.8 28.3 35.3 01795 G Buo <i>et al.</i> 2014 no 32.8 28.0 40 511795 C Buo <i>et al.</i> 2014 no 32.8 28.0 40 511795 G Boo <i>et al.</i> 2017 no 32.8 28.0 40 511795 G Boo <i>et al.</i> 2013 Mbant <i>et al.</i> 2014 no 32.2 26.9 40 511795 G Boo <i>et al.</i> 2014 No 32.8 32.9 47.3	rs5	72169	c	Soerensen et al. 2012	yes	72,5	72,0	80,5	0,926	0,018	0,001
(4954) T Declenc et al. 2014 yes 38.1 38.2 52.5 005392 C Law et al. 2017 yes 92.5 96.6 89 005392 G Yao et al. 2020 yes 92.5 95.5 95.5 005029 G Bao et al. 2014 yes 92.5 95.3 33 64264 C Bao et al. 2014 no 32.1 95.3 36.3 64264 C Bao et al. 2014 no 32.2 28.9 40 6437 A Flactbahat et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2018 no 33.1 20.3 23.0 46033 A Flactbahat et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2016 yes 36.4 40 455491 G Soerensen et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2016 yes 36.3 30.1 456493 A König et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2016 yes 36.7 36 46033 A Zectergene et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2016 yes 36.7 36 37 <td>rs2</td> <td>706372</td> <td>Т</td> <td>Flachsbart et al. 2016</td> <td>yes</td> <td>27,2</td> <td>29,0</td> <td>23,9</td> <td>0,641</td> <td>0,174</td> <td>0,211</td>	rs2	706372	Т	Flachsbart et al. 2016	yes	27,2	29,0	23,9	0,641	0,174	0,211
203392 C Law et al. 2017 yes 92.5 96.6 89 2006034 T Fachebart et al. 2017 yes 92.5 95.3 33 2006034 T Fachebart et al. 2017 yes 88.0 88.2 35.3 33 201202 G Bao et al. 2014 no 32.8 35.3 33 647364 C Bao et al. 2014 no 32.3 35.3 33 451180 G Bao et al. 2014 no 37.26 35.3 33 45183 A Fachebart et al. 2017 no 37.26 38.0 49 45183 A Fachebart et al. 2017 no 37.26 38.0 49 45183 A Fortupet et al. 2017 no 37.26 38.0 49 45643 G Fortupet et al. 2015 yes 96.3 96.3 47 45843 A Secrensen et al. 2012 yes 96.3 96.3 96.3 56.	rs2	149954	Т	Deelen et al. 2014	yes	38,1	38,2	52,9	1,000	0,001	<0,001
800629 G Yao <i>et al.</i> 2020 yes 88.0 85.2 95.3 206094 T Flachsbart <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 29.6 26.3 33.3 2050924 G Bao <i>et al.</i> 2014, Revelas <i>et al.</i> 2018 no 42.5 35.3 45. 764354 C Bao <i>et al.</i> 2014 no 32.6 28.0 40 764354 C Bao <i>et al.</i> 2014 no 32.6 28.0 40 754357 A Flachsbart <i>et al.</i> 2017, TenNapel <i>et al.</i> 2014 no 32.2 28.0 40 75517795 C Bao <i>et al.</i> 2014 no 32.2 26.9 39 755372 A Flachsbart <i>et al.</i> 2017, TenNapel <i>et al.</i> 2014 no 30.1 25.3 74 755372 A Flachsbart <i>et al.</i> 2017, TenNapel <i>et al.</i> 2014 no 30.1 25.3 74 755315394 G Konerester <i>et al.</i> 2015, Albanit <i>et al.</i> 2009, yets 95.3 95.3 95.3 74 755313304 G	rs12	203592	υ	Law et al. 2017	yes	92,5	96,6	89,7	0,058	0,004	0,087
2006004 T Flachbbart et al. 2017 yess 29.6 26.3 33.3 45.3 802292 G Bao et al. 2014, Kevelas et al. 2018 no 42.5 35.3 45.3 764264 C Bao et al. 2014, Kevelas et al. 2018 no 42.5 35.3 45.3 7647180 G Bao et al. 2014 no 32.2 28.90 40 7457180 G Bao et al. 2014 no 32.2 28.9 40 745672 A Flachburt et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2014 no 30.1 25.3 74 755872 A Kong et al. 2019 yess 96.3 96.7 96.7 96 765872 A Kong et al. 2015 yess 95.2 62.5 74 800795 G Kong et al. 2015 yess 95.3 96.7 96.7 96.7 917756 G Fouku et al. 2015 yess 95.2 62.5 74 907333 G Fouku et al. 2015 </td <td>rsl</td> <td>800629</td> <td>Ċ</td> <td>Yao et al. 2020</td> <td>yes</td> <td>88,0</td> <td>85,2</td> <td>95,9</td> <td>0,312</td> <td><0,001</td> <td><0,001</td>	rsl	800629	Ċ	Yao et al. 2020	yes	88,0	85,2	95,9	0,312	<0,001	<0,001
802292 G Bao et al. 2014, Revelas et al. 2018 no 42.5 35.3 45 764264 C Bao et al. 2014, Revelas et al. 2018 no 32.2.6 35.0 40 7647180 G Zettergren et al. 2018 no 32.2.6 28.0 40 7817180 G Bao et al. 2014 no 32.2.6 28.0 40 7817795 C Bao et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2013 yes 39.1 25.3 20.9 39 455872 A König et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2019, yes 96.3	rs12	2206094	Т	Flachsbart et al. 2017	yes	29,6	26,3	33,1	0,409	0,086	0,193
764264 C Base et al. 2014 no 32.8 23.0 40 7647180 G Zettergren et al. 2013 no 32.5 23.0 40 7217795 C Base et al. 2014 no 32.2 26.9 39.0 946935 A Flachsburt et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2014 no 30.1 25.3 20.9 946935 A Soerensen et al. 2013, TenNapel et al. 2014 no 30.1 25.3 20.9 945872 A Konig et al. 2018, Albani et al. 2009, yes 96.3 96.7 98 945872 A Konig et al. 2015 yes 92.3 96.7 98 940593 A Soerensen et al. 2012 yes 92.3 96.7 98 950733 A Soerensen et al. 2012 yes 92.3 96.7 98 960837 A Soerensen et al. 2015 yes 92.3 96.7 98 977756 G Funote et al. 2015 yes 95.3	rs2	802292	Ċ	Bao et al. 2014, Revelas et al. 2018	оп	42,5	35,3	45,9	0,088	0,013	0,247
0457180 \overline{G} Zettergren <i>et al.</i> 2018 no 32.6 28.0 40 3217795 C Bao <i>et al.</i> 2014 no 32.2 26.9 39 946935 A Flachsbart <i>et al.</i> 2014 no 30.1 25.3 20 945647 G Bao <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 96.7 26.9 39 945647 A Konig <i>et al.</i> 2013 Nbami <i>et al.</i> 2013 yes 96.7 26.9 39 945877 A Konig <i>et al.</i> 2016 yes 95.2 96.7 98 800795 G Revelas <i>et al.</i> 2015 yes 95.3 96.7 95 800785 A Zong et al. 2014 yes 92.3 96.8 86 97705 G Pricheg <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 95.7 98.9 96 88 807304 G Pricheg <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 95.7 98.9 96 88 96 88 96 88 96 86	rs2	2764264	υ	Bao et al. 2014	оп	32,8	28,0	40,6	0,243	0,002	0,006
3217795 C Bao er al. 2014 no 32.2 26.9 39 946935 A Flachsbart er al. 2017, TenNapel er al. 2014 no 30.1 25.3 20 9456497 G Soerensen er al. 2017, TenNapel er al. 2014 yes 96.7 29.3 9456497 G Soerensen er al. 2012 yes 96.7 29.3 20 9455872 A König er al. 2018, Albani er al. 2009, yes yes 96.7 98.7 29.3 20.4 800795 G Revelas er al. 2018, Albani er al. 2009, yes yes 92.3 96.8 86 2050837 A Zeng er al. 2018, Albani er al. 2002 yes 92.3 96.8 86 2050837 A Zeng er al. 2018, Albani er al. 2002 yes 92.3 96.7 93 2050837 A Zeng er al. 2015 yes 96.7 96.8 86 86 2050837 A Zeng er al. 2012 yes 97.5 97.3 93 93 94 94 94 94 94 94 95 95 95 95	rsl	0457180	Ö	Zettergren et al. 2018	оп	32,6	28,0	40,8	0,244	0,002	0,004
9946935 Λ Flachsbart et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2014no 30.1 25.3 29.3 9456497GSoerensen et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2014yess 99.2 16.3 19.2 9456497GSoerensen et al. 2013yess 96.3 96.7 98.7 9456497AKönig et al. 2019yes 95.3 96.7 98.7 9456497ARevelas et al. 2018, Albami et al. 2009, yes 95.3 96.7 98.7 800795GRevelas et al. 2016yes 92.3 96.7 96.7 9057730ASoerensen et al. 2012yes 92.3 96.7 96.8 9077756GPinós et al. 2014yes 92.3 94.7 94.9 917756GPinós et al. 2014yes 95.6 44.9 95.7 9133049GPinós et al. 2014yes 96.8 96.7 96.8 9133049GPinós et al. 2014yes 96.8 96.7 96.8 9133049GPinós et al. 2014yes 96.8 96.7 96.8 913450GPinós et al. 2012yes 96.8 96.8 96.7 96.8 9133049GDato et al. 2017, Nu et al. 2015yes 96.8 96.8 96.8 96.8 913044TAlbani et al. 2017, Nu et al. 2015yes 96.8 96.8 96.7 96.8 913049TAlbani et al. 2015, Wolf et al. 2015yes 96.8 96.8 </td <td>rsl</td> <td>3217795</td> <td>U</td> <td>Bao et al. 2014</td> <td>оп</td> <td>32,2</td> <td>26,9</td> <td>39,9</td> <td>0,176</td> <td>0,002</td> <td>0,007</td>	rsl	3217795	U	Bao et al. 2014	оп	32,2	26,9	39,9	0,176	0,002	0,007
9456497 G Soerenser <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 19.2 16.3 19.3 0455872 A König <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 96.3 96.7 98 0455872 A König <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 95.3 96.7 98 1800795 G Fukuet <i>al.</i> 2016 yes 92.3 96.7 98 2069837 A Zeng <i>et al.</i> 2016 yes 92.3 96.8 74 2069837 A Soerensen <i>et al.</i> 2015 yes 95.3 74 74 2069837 G Fukuet <i>al.</i> 2015 yes 95.3 76.0 74 2057025 G Prios <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 55.7 48.9 55 533384 G Dato <i>et al.</i> 2013 yes 55.7 48.9 55 533384 G Dato <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 55.7 48.9 55 533384 G Dato <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 55.7 48.9 58	iś	4946935	v	Flachsbart et al. 2017, TenNapel et al. 2014	оп	30,1	25,3	20,4	0,228	0,179	<0,001
0455872 A König et al. 2019 yes 96.3 96.7 98 1800795 $G_{\rm C}$ Fukue et al. 2015 Yubani et al. 2015 yes 55.2 62.5 74 2069837 A Zeng et al. 2016 yes 92.3 96.8 74 2069837 A Zeng et al. 2016 yes 92.3 96.8 74 2069837 A Zeng et al. 2015 yes 95.5 56.0 49 2057736 G Forturey et al. 2012 yes 95.3 56.0 49 2133049 G Forturey et al. 2014 yes 95.7 48.9 52 533044 G Puko et al. 2018 yes 95.7 48.9 52 533044 G Stuotes et al. 2014 yes 95.7 48.9 52 533044 G Kuo et al. 2012 yes 95.4 48.9 52 533044 G Stuotes et al. 2012 yes 52 52 56.0 <td>IS</td> <td>9456497</td> <td>U</td> <td>Soerensen et al. 2012</td> <td>yes</td> <td>19,2</td> <td>16,3</td> <td>19,9</td> <td>0,444</td> <td>0,328</td> <td>0,773</td>	IS	9456497	U	Soerensen et al. 2012	yes	19,2	16,3	19,9	0,444	0,328	0,773
I800795 Revelas et al. 2018, Albani et al. 2009, Pinku et al. 2015 yes 55.2 62.5 74 2069837 A Zeng et al. 2015 yves 92,3 96,8 86 2069837 A Zeng et al. 2015 yves 92,3 95,0 49 2069837 G Fortney et al. 2015 yves 92,3 95,0 49 2069834 G Fortney et al. 2015 yves 92,7 98,8 86 1333049 G Pinvis et al. 2014 yves 95,7 94,9 55 1333049 G Pinvis et al. 2014 yves 96,5 47,3 58 533984 G Dato et al. 2013 yves 60,5 47,3 58 533084 C Stonersen et al. 2012 yves 66,5 47,3 58 533084 C Stonersen et al. 2012 yves 68,8 70,0 58 533084 C Xu et al. 2015 Yvet al. 2015 70,0 70,0 52<	rsl	0455872	۷	König et al. 2019	yes	96,3	96,7	98,8	1,000	0,090	0,005
2069837 A Zeng et al. 2016 yes $92,3$ $96,8$ 86 2267723 A Socrensen et al. 2012 yes $55,5$ $56,0$ 49 277756 G Fortney et al. 2015 yes $33,7$ $38,7$ $34,7$ 497756 G Fortney et al. 2014 yes $55,7$ $48,9$ $55,7$ 1333049 G Pinois et al. 2014 yes $52,7$ $48,9$ $53,7$ 1333049 G Pinois et al. 2014 yes $60,5$ $47,3$ 53 533984 G Pinois et al. 2014 yes $60,5$ $47,3$ 53 5133949 C But or et al. 2012 yes $66,8$ $70,0$ 53 5107350 G Socrensen et al. 2017, Xu et al. 2015 yes $68,8$ $70,0$ 52 5235314 T Almeida et al. 2017, Xu et al. 2015 yes $68,8$ $70,0$ 52 523535314 T Almeida et a	12	1800795	Ċ	Revelas et al. 2018, Albani et al. 2009, Fuku et al. 2015	yes	55,2	62,5	74,1	0,085	0,003	<0,001
2267723 A Soerenser <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes $55,5$ $56,0$ 49 4977756 G Fortuey <i>et al.</i> 2015 yes $33,7$ $38,7$ $34,7$ 4977756 G Pinós <i>et al.</i> 2015 yes $52,7$ $48,9$ $52,7$ $48,9$ $52,7$ 1333049 G Dato <i>et al.</i> 2018 yes $52,7$ $48,9$ $52,7$ $48,9$ $52,7$ 5333984 G Dato <i>et al.</i> 2018 yes $60,5$ $47,3$ $58,7$ 5333984 C Suborther <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes $68,8$ $70,0$ $58,7$ 5333914 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2017, Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015 yes $68,8$ $70,0$ $58,7$ 53536314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2017, Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015 yes $11,9$ $10,3$ $52,7$ 53536314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2017, Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015 yes $68,8$ $70,0$ $58,7$ 5237025 C Xu <i>et al.</i> 2016 yes	2	2069837	¥	Zeng et al. 2016	yes	92,3	96,8	86,1	0,050	<0,001	0,001
4977756 G Fortney et al. 2015 yes $39,7$ $38,7$ $58,8$ 5533984 G Dato et al. 2018 word wes $60,5$ $47,3$ 58 5134504 C Kuo et al. 2018 word wes $60,5$ $48,9$ 58 3184504 C Kuo et al. 2012 yes $88,1$ $48,9$ 58 3184504 T Almeida et al. 2017 yes $68,8$ $70,0$ 58 9535314 T Almeida et al. 2015 word yes $68,8$ $70,0$ 58 95353314 T Almeida et al. 2015 word yes $68,8$ $70,0$ $70,0$ 29	IS	2267723	۷	Soerensen et al. 2012	yes	55,5	56,0	49,3	0,933	0,128	0,033
1133049 G Pinós et al. 2014 yes 52.7 48.9 52.3 5333984 G Dato et al. 2018 yes 60.5 47.3 58 5333984 G Bato et al. 2018 yes 60.5 47.3 58 5333984 G Kuo et al. 2018 yes 60.5 47.3 58 3184504 G Kuo et al. 2020 yes 68.8 70.0 58 3184504 G Soerensen et al. 2017, Xu et al. 2012 yes 68.8 70.0 58 9535314 T Almeida et al. 2017, Xu et al. 2019 yes 88.1 88.7 88.3 95353055 A Albani et al. 2005, Wolf et al. 2019 yes 43.6 48.9 29^{10} 20229765 A Albani et al. 2005, Relling et al. 2012 yes 43.6 48.9 29^{10} 20229765 A Albani et al. 2016, Shadyab et al. 2017 yes 43.6 77.6 77.2 42^{10} 20259765 A Albani et al. 2016, Shadyab et al. 2017 yes	2	4977756	Ċ	Fortney et al. 2015	yes	39,7	38,7	34,8	0,864	0,335	0,075
s533984 G Dato <i>et al.</i> 2018 yes 60.5 47.3 58 s513984 C Kuo <i>et al.</i> 2018 yes 48.4 48.9 68.8 s1384504 C Kuo <i>et al.</i> 2020 yes 48.4 48.9 68.8 s1384504 C Storensen <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 68.8 70.0 58 s1385314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2017, Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015 yes 68.8 70.0 58 9536314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2017, Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015 no 88.1 88.7 88.7 88.7 89.7 89.7 95.3 9536314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2015, Wolf <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 41.9 70.0 77.6 77.2 42.9 20229765 A Albani <i>et al.</i> 2016, Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 76.0 77.6 77.2 42.9 2025222755 C Van Heemst <i>et al.</i> 2016, Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 76.0 77.6 77.2 42.9 2075650 A Fernole <i>et al.</i> 2017, Declen <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes	G	\$1333049	IJ	Pinós et al. 2014	yes	52,7	48,9	52,9	0,403	0,356	1,000
3184504 C Kuo <i>et al.</i> 2020 yes 48.4 48.9 68 1207362 G Soerensen <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 68.8 70,0 58 9536314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2017, Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015 yes 68.8 70,0 58 9536314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2017, Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015 yes 68.1 88,7 83 9536314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2017, Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015 yes 11.9 10,3 16 9536314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2015, Wolf <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 43.6 48.9 29 2229765 A Albani <i>et al.</i> 2005, Relling <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 43.6 48.9 29 2229755 C Van Heemst <i>et al.</i> 2005, Relling <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 76.0 77.2 42 202557 C Van Heemst <i>et al.</i> 2016, Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 86.3 86.3 86.3 86.3 86.3 86.3 86.3 86.3 86.3 86.3 86.3 86.3 86.3	ч	s533984	ŋ	Dato et al. 2018	yes	60,5	47,3	58,1	0,002	0,011	0,414
I1207362 G Soerensen <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 68,8 70,0 58 9536314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2017, Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015 no 88,1 88,7 88,3 9536314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2017, Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015 no 88,1 88,7 83 9536314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2015, Wolf <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 11,9 10,3 16 95327025 C Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015, Wolf <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 43,6 48,9 29 20229765 A Albani <i>et al.</i> 2005, Relling <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 43,6 77,2 42 2025252 C Van Heemst <i>et al.</i> 2016, Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 89,6 87,6 95 207551 C TenNapel <i>et al.</i> 2016, Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 85,8 86,3 86,3 82,3 2075650 A Flackbart <i>et al.</i> 2016, Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017, Declen <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 91,9 86,7 86,3 85,3 2075650 T Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017, Declen <i>et al.</i> 2019	2	3184504	U	Kuo et al. 2020	yes	48,4	48,9	68,4	0,934	<0,001	<0,001
9536314 T Almeida <i>et al.</i> 2017, Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015 no 88,1 88,7 83 83 83,7 83 83 83,7 83 83 83,7 83 83 83,7 83 83 83,7 83 83 83,7 83 83 83,7 83 83 83 83 83 83 16 83 16 83 16 83 16 83 16 83 16 83 16 29 29 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 77 20 29 20 </td <td>ž,</td> <td>1207362</td> <td>ŋ</td> <td>Soerensen et al. 2012</td> <td>yes</td> <td>68,8</td> <td>70,0</td> <td>58,2</td> <td>0,785</td> <td>0,005</td> <td><0,001</td>	ž,	1207362	ŋ	Soerensen et al. 2012	yes	68,8	70,0	58,2	0,785	0,005	<0,001
S9527025 C Xu <i>et al.</i> 2015, Wolf <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 11.9 10.3 16 \$2229765 A Albani <i>et al.</i> 2005, Wolf <i>et al.</i> 2010 yes 43.6 48.9 29 \$2229755 C Van Heemst <i>et al.</i> 2005, Reling <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 75.0 77.2 42 \$1042521 C Yan Heemst <i>et al.</i> 2005, Reling <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 89.6 87.6 95 \$107251 C TenNapel <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 89.6 87.6 95 \$2075550 A Flachsbart <i>et al.</i> 2016, Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 85.8 86.3 86.3 82 \$2075550 A Flachsbart <i>et al.</i> 2017, Declen <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 91.9 89.7 80.7	6	s9536314	Т	Almeida et al. 2017, Xu et al. 2015	оп	88,1	88,7	83,3	0,897	0,080	0,021
2229765 A Albani <i>et al.</i> 2009 yes 43.6 48.9 29 2229765 C Van Heemst <i>et al.</i> 2005, Relling <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 77.2 42 \$107251 C TenNapel <i>et al.</i> 2005, Relling <i>et al.</i> 2013 yes 89.6 87.6 95 \$2075650 A Flachsbart <i>et al.</i> 2016, Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 85.8 86.3 82.3 \$2075650 A Flachsbart <i>et al.</i> 2016, Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 91.9 89.7 92 \$420358 T Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017, Deelen <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 91.9 89.7 80.7 \$420638 A Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017, Deelen <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 71.6 3.2 6 \$420638 A Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017, Deelen <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 71.6 3.2 6	4	9527025	v	Xu et al. 2015, Wolf et al. 2019	yes	11,9	10,3	16,8	0,602	0,035	0,017
I042522 C Van Heemst <i>et al.</i> 2005, Reling <i>et al.</i> 2012 yes 76,0 77,2 42 \$\$107251 C TenNapel <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 89,6 87,6 95 \$\$107251 C TenNapel <i>et al.</i> 2014 yes 89,6 87,6 95 \$\$2075650 A Flachsbart <i>et al.</i> 2016, Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 85,8 86,3 82 \$\$429358 T Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017, Deelen <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 91,9 89,7 80 \$\$4720638 A Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017, Deelen <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 7,6 3,2 6 \$\$420638 A Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017, Deelen <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 7,6 3,2 6	IS	2229765	¥	Albani et al. 2009	yes	43,6	48,9	29,8	0,232	<0,001	<0,001
s107251 C TenNapel et al. 2014 yes 89,6 87,6 95 :2075650 A Flachsbart et al. 2016, Shadyab et al. 2017 yes 85,8 86,3 82,3 80,7 80,4 717 81,2 717 81,2 717 81,2 71,0 714 713 74 81,2 717 84,9 717 714 714 714 714 714 714 714 714 81,9 717 714 714	Ë	\$1042522	c	Van Heemst et al. 2005, Reiling et al. 2012	yes	76,0	77,2	42,7	0,768	<0,001	<0,001
2075650 A Flachsbart <i>et al.</i> 2016, Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 yes 85,8 86,3 82,3 84,9 77 r4420638 A Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017, Decien <i>et al.</i> 2019 no 88,2 84,9 77 6	-	s107251	С	TenNapel et al. 2014	yes	89,6	87,6	95,3	0,423	0,001	<0,001
\$429358 T Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017, Declen <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 91,9 89,7 80 rs7412 T Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017, Declen <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 7,6 3,2 6 4420638 A Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 Declen <i>et al.</i> 2017 no 88,2 84,9 77	S	2075650	۷	Flachsbart et al. 2016, Shadyab et al. 2017	yes	85,8	86,3	82,3	1,000	0,257	0,100
rs7412 T Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017, Decien <i>et al.</i> 2019 yes 7,6 3,2 6 4420638 A Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 no 88,2 84,9 77	4	s429358	Т	Shadyab et al. 2017, Deelen et al. 2019	yes	91,9	89,7	80,8	0,369	0,005	<0,001
14420638 A Shadyab <i>et al.</i> 2017 no 88,2 84,9 77		rs7412	Т	Shadyab et al. 2017, Deelen et al. 2019	yes	7,6	3,2	6,5	0,042	0,105	0,436
	IS	4420638	۲	Shadyab et al. 2017	ou	88,2	84,9	77,9	0,256	0,037	<0,001

So different but equal: 33 longevity genes' loci in the Roma and in the general population of Croatia

19

REFERENCES FOR LITERATURE SOURCES USED TO DETERMINE LONGEVITY ALELLES

- ALBANI D., BATELLI S., POLITO L., PRATO F., PESARESI M., GAJO G. B., DE ANGELI S., ZANARDO A., GALIMBERTI D., SCARPINI E., GALLUCCI M. FORLONI G., 2009: Interleukin-6 Plasma Level Increases with Age in an Italian Elderly Population ('The Treviso Longeva'-Trelong-Study) with a Sex-Specific Contribution of rs1800795 Polymorphism. Age 31, 2: 155-162. DOI:10.1007/s11357-009-9092-5
- ALBANI D., BATELLI S., POLITO L., VITTORI A., PESARESI M., GAJO G. B., DE ANGELI S., ZANARDO A., GALLUCCI M., FORLONI G., 2009: A Polymorphic Variant of the Insulin-like Growth Factor 1 (IGF-1) Receptor Correlates with Male Longevity in the Italian Population: A Genetic Study and Evaluation of Circulating IGF-1 from the 'Treviso Longeva (TRELONG)' Study. *BMC Geriatrics* 9, 1: 1–7. DOI:10.1186/1471-2318-9-19
- ALMEIDA O. P., MORAR B., HANKEY G. J., YEAP B. B., GOLLEDGE J., JABLENSKY A., FLICKER L., 2017: Longevity Klotho Gene Polymorphism and the Risk of Dementia in Older Men. *Maturitas* 101: 1-5. DOI:10.1016/j.maturitas.2017.04.005
- BAO J. M., SONG X. L., HONG Y. Q., ZHU H. L., LI C., ZHANG T., CHEN W., ZHAO S. C., CHEN Q., 2014: Association between FOXO3A Gene Polymorphisms and Human Longevity: A Meta-Analysis. Asian Journal of Andrology 16, 3: 446-452. DOI:10.4103/1008-682X.123673
- CODD V., MANGINO M., VAN DER HARST P., BRAUND P. S., KAISER M., BEVERIDGE A. J., RAFELT S., MOORE J., NELSON C., SORANZO N., ZHAI G., VALDES A. M., BLACKBURN H., LEACH I. M., DE BOER R. A., KIMURA M., AVIV A.; WELLCOME TRUST CASE CONTROL CONSORTIUM; GOODALL A. H., OUWEHAND W., VAN VELDHUISEN D. J., VAN GILST W. H., NAVIS G., BURTON P. R., TOBIN M. D., HALL A. S., THOMPSON J. R., SPECTOR T., SAMANI N. J., 2010: Common Variants near TERC Are Associated with Mean Telomere Length. *Nature Genetics* 42, 3: 197-199. DOI:10.1038/ng.532
- DATO S., SOERENSEN M., DE RANGO F., ROSE G., CHRISTENSEN K., CHRISTIANSEN L., PASSARINO, G., 2018: The Genetic Component of Human Longevity: New Insights from the Analysis of Pathway-Based SNP-SNP Interactions. Aging Cell 17, 3: 1-12. DOI:10.1111/acel.12755
- DEELEN J., BEEKMAN M., UH H. W., BROER L., AYERS K. L., TAN Q., KAMATANI Y., BENNET A. M., TAMM R., TROMPET S., GUÐBJARTSSON D. F., FLACHSBART F., ROSE G., VIKTORIN A., FISCHER K., NYGAARD M., CORDELL H.J., CROCCO P., VAN DEN AKKER E.B., BÖHRINGER S., HELMER Q., NELSON C. P., SAUNDERS G. I., ALVER M., ANDERSEN-RANBERG K., BREEN M. E., VAN DER BREGGEN R., CALIEBE A., CAPRI M., CEVENINI E., COLLERTON J. C., DATO S, DAVIES K., FORD I., GAMPE J., GARAGNANI P., DE GEUS E. J., HARROW J., VAN HEEMST D., HEIJMANS B. T., HEINSEN F. A., HOTTENGA J. J., HOFMAN A.,

JEUNE B., JONSSON P. V., LATHROP M., LECHNER D., MARTIN-RUIZ C., MCNERLAN S. E., MIHAILOV E., MONTESANTO A., MOOIJAART S. P., MURPHY A., NOHR E.A., PATERNOSTER L., POSTMUS I., RIVADENEIRA F., ROSS O. A., SALVIOLI S., SATTAR N., SCHREIBER S., STEFÁNSSON H., STOTT D. J., TIEMEIER H., UITTERLINDEN A. G., WESTENDORP R. G. J, WILLEMSEN G., SAMANI N. J., GALAN P., SØRENSEN T. I., BOOMSMA D. I., JUKEMA J. W., REA I. M., PASSARINO G., DE CRAEN A. J., CHRISTENSEN K., NEBEL A., STEFÁNSSON K., METSPALU A., MAGNUSSON P., BLANCHÉ H., CHRISTIANSEN L., KIRKWOOD T. B., VAN DUIJN C. M., FRANCESCHI C., HOUWING-DUISTERMAAT J. J., SLAGBOOM P. E., 2014: Genome-Wide Association Meta-Analysis of Human Longevity Identifies a Novel Locus Conferring Survival beyond 90 Years of Age. Human Molecular Genetics 23, 16: 4420-4432. DOI:10.1093/hmg/ddu139

- DEELEN J., EVANS D.S., ARKING D.E., TESI N., NYGAARD M., LIU X., WOJCZYNSKI M.K., BIGGS M. L., VAN DER SPEK A., ATZMON G., WARE E. B., SARNOWSKI C., SMITH A. V., SEPPÄLÄ I., CORDELL H. J., DOSE J., AMIN N., ARNOLD A. M., AYERS K. L., BARZILAI N., BECKER E.J., BEEKMAN M., BLANCHÉ H., CHRISTENSEN K., CHRISTIANSEN L., COLLERTON J. C., CUBAYNES S., CUMMINGS S.R., DAVIES K., DEBRABANT B., DELEUZE J. F., DUNCAN R., FAUL J. D., FRANCESCHI C., GALAN P., GUDNASON V., HARRIS T.B., HUISMAN M., HURME M. A., JAGGER C., JANSEN I., JYLHÄ M., KÄHÖNEN M., KARASIK D., KARDIA S. L. R., KINGSTON A., KIRKWOOD T. B. L., LAUNER L. J., LEHTIMÄKI T., LIEB W.. LYYTIKÄINEN L. P., MARTIN-RUIZ C., MIN J., NEBEL A., NEWMAN A. B., NIE C., NOHR E.A., ORWOLL E. S., PERLS T. T., PROVINCE M. A., PSATY B.M., RAITAKARI O. T., REINDERS M. J. T., ROBINE J. M., ROTTER J. I., SEBASTIANI P., SMITH J SØRENSEN T. I. A., TAYLOR K. D., UITTERLINDEN A. G., VAN DER FLIER W., VAN DER LEE S. J., VAN DUIJN C. M., VAN HEEMST D., VAUPEL J. W., WEIR D., YE K., ZENG Y., ZHENG W., HOLSTEGE H., KIEL D. P., LUNETTA K. L., SLAGBOOM P. E., MURABITO J. M., 2019: A Meta-Analysis of Genome-Wide Association Studies Identifies Multiple Longevity Genes. Nature Communications 10, 1: DOI:10.1038/s41467-019-11558-2
- FLACHSBART F., DOSE J., GENTSCHEW L., GEISMANN C., CALIEBE A., KNECHT C., NYGAARD M., BADARINARAYAN N., ELSHARAWY A., MAY S., LUZIUS A., TORRES G. G., JENTZSCH M., FORSTER M., HÄSLER R., PALLAUF K., LIEB W., DERBOIS C., GALAN P., DRICHEL D., ARLT A., TILL A., KRAUSE-KYORA B., RIMBACH G., BLANCHÉ H., DELEUZE J. F., CHRISTIANSEN L., CHRISTENSEN K., NOTHNAGEL M., ROSENSTIEL P., SCHREIBER S., FRANKE A., SEBENS S., NEBEL A., 2017. Identification and Characterization of Two Functional Variants in the Human

Longevity Gene FOXO3. Nature Communications 8, 1: 1–12. DOI:10.1038/s41467-017-02183-y

- FLACHSBART F., ELLINGHAUS D., GENTSCHEW L., HEINSEN F. A., CALIEBE A., CHRISTIANSEN L., NYGAARD M., CHRISTENSEN K., BLANCHÉ H., DELEUZE J. F., DERBOIS C., GALAN P., BÜNING C., BRAND S., PETERS A., STRAUCH K., MÜLLER-NURASYID M., HOFFMANN P., NÖTHEN M. M., LIEB W, FRANKE A., SCHREIBER S., NEBEL A., 2016. Immunochip Analysis Identifies Association of the RAD50/IL13 Region with Human Longevity. Aging Cell 15, 3: 585-588. DOI:10.1111/acel.12471
- FORTNEY K. D., GARAGNANI P., PIRAZZINI C., MONTI D., MARI D., ATZMON G., BARZILAI N., FRANCESCHI C., OWEN A. B., KIM S. K., 2015: Genome-Wide Scan Informed by Age-Related Disease Identifies Loci for Exceptional Human Longevity. *PLoS Genetics* 11, 12: 1–23. DOI:10.1371/journal.pgen.1005728
- FUKU N., HE Z. H., SANCHIS-GOMAR F., PAREJA-GALEANO H., TIAN Y., ARAI Y, ABE Y., MURAKAMI H., MIYACHI M., ZEMPO H., NAITO H., YVERT T., VERDE Z., VENTURINI L., FIUZA-LUCES C., SANTOS-LOZANO A., RODRIGUEZ-ROMO G., RICEVUTI G., HIROSE N., EMANUELE E., GARATACHEA N., LUCIA A., 2015: Exceptional Longevity and Muscle and Fitness Related Genotypes: A Functional in Vitro Analysis and Case-Control Association Replication Study with SNPs THRH Rs7832552, IL6 rs1800795 and ACSL1 rs6552828. Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience 7: 1–9. DOI:10.3389/fnagi.2015.00059
- KÖNIG M., JOSHI S., LEISTNER D. M., LANDMESSER U., SINNING D., STEINHAGEN-THIESSEN E., DEMUTH I., 2019: Cohort Profile: Role of Lipoproteins in Cardiovascular Disease - The LipidCardio Study. *BMJ Open* 9, 9. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030097
- KUO C. L., JOAQUIM M., KUCHEL G. A., FERRUCCI L., HARRIES L. W., PILLING L. C., MELZER D., LE COUTEUR D., 2020: The Longevity-Associated SH2B3 (LNK) Genetic Variant: Selected Aging Phenotypes in 379,758 Subjects. Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 75, 9: 1656-1662. DOI:10.1093/gerona/glz191
- LAW M. H., MEDLAND S. E., ZHU G., YAZAR S., VIÑUELA A., WALLACE L., SHEKAR S. N., DUFFY D. L., BATAILLE V., GLASS D., SPECTOR T.D., WOOD D.; MUTHER CONSORTIUM; GORDON S. D., BARBOUR J. M., HENDERS A. K., HEWITT A. W., MONTGOMERY G. W., STURM R. A., MACKEY D. A., GREEN A. C., MARTIN N. G., MACGREGOR S., 2017: Genome-Wide Association Shows That Pigmentation Genes Play a Role in Skin Aging. Journal of Investigative Dermatology 137, 9: 1887–1894. DOI:10.1016/j.jid.2017.04.026
- PINÓS T., FUKU N., CÁMARA Y., ARAI Y., ABE Y., RODRÍGUEZ-ROMO G., GARATACHEA N., SANTOS-LOZANO A., MIRO-CASAS E., RUIZ-MEANA M., OTAEGUI I., MURAKAMI H., MIYACHI M., GARCIA-DORADO D., HINOHARA K., ANDREU A.L., KIMURA A., HIROSE N., LUCIA A., 2014: The rs1333049

Polymorphism on Locus 9p21.3 and Extreme Longevity in Spanish and Japanese Cohorts. *Age* 36, 2: 933–943. DOI:10.1007/s11357-013-9593-0

- REILING E., LYSSENKO V., BOER J. M., IMHOLZ S., VERSCHUREN W. M., ISOMAA B., TUOMI T., GROOP L., DOLLÉ M. E., 2012. Codon 72 Polymorphism (rs1042522) of TP53 Is Associated with Changes in Diastolic Blood Pressure over Time. *European Journal of Human Genetics* 20, 6: 696-700. DOI:10.1038/ejhg.2011.240
- REVELAS M., THALAMUTHU A., OLDMEADOW C., EVANS T. J., ARMSTRONG N. J., KWOK J. B., BRODATY H., SCHOFIELD P. R., SCOTT R. J., SACHDEV P. S., ATTIA J. R., MATHER K.A., 2018: Review and Meta-Analysis of Genetic Polymorphisms Associated with Exceptional Human Longevity. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development* 175: 24–34. DOI:10.1016/j.mad.2018.06.002
- SHADYAB A. H., KOOPERBERG C., REINER A. P., JAIN S., MANSON J. E., HOHENSEE C., MACERA C. A., SHAFFER R. A., GALLO L. C., AND LACROIX A. Z., 2017: Replication of Genome-Wide Association Study Findings of Longevity in White, African American, and Hispanic Women: The Women's Health Initiative. Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 72, 10: 1401-1406. DOI:10.1093/gerona/glw198
- SHEN Q., ZHANG Z., YU L., CAO L., ZHOU D., KAN M., LI B., ZHANG D., HE L., LIU Y., 2011: Common Variants near TERC Are Associated with Leukocyte Telomere Length in the Chinese Han Population. *European Journal of Human Genetics* 19, 6: 721–723. DOI:10.1038/ejhg.2011.4
- SOERENSEN M., DATO S., TAN Q., THINGGAARD M., KLEINDORP R., BEEKMAN M., JACOBSEN R., SUCHIMAN H. E., DE CRAEN A. J. M., WESTENDORP R. G. J., SCHREIBER S., STEVNSNER T., BOHR V. A., SLAGBOOM P. E., NEBEL A., VAUPEL J. W., CHRISTENSEN K., MCGUE M., CHRISTIANSEN L., 2012: Human Longevity and Variation in GH/IGF-1/Insulin Signaling, DNA Damage Signaling and Repair and pro/Antioxidant Pathway Genes: Cross Sectional and Longitudinal Studies. *Experimental Gerontology* 47, 5: 379–387. DOI:10.1016/j.exger.2012.02.010
- SOERENSEN M., THINGGAARD M., NYGAARD M., DATO S., TAN Q., HJELMBORG J., ANDERSEN-RANBERG K., STEVNSNER T., BOHR V.A., KIMURA M., AVIV A., CHRISTENSEN K., CHRISTIANSEN L., 2012: Genetic Variation in TERT and TERC and Human Leukocyte Telomere Length and Longevity: A Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Analysis. Aging Cell 11, 2: 223-227. DOI:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2011.00775.x.
- TENNAPEL M. J., LYNCH C. F., BURNS T. L., WALLACE R., SMITH B. J., BUTTON A., DOMANN F. E., 2014: SIRT6 Minor Allele Genotype Is Associated with >5-Year Decrease in Lifespan in an Aged Cohort. *PLoS ONE* 9, 12: 1-18. DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0115616
- VAN HEEMST D., MOOIJAART S. P., BEEKMAN M., SCHREUDER J., DE CRAEN A. J. M., BRANDT B. W., SLAGBOOM P. E., WESTENDORP R. G. J., 2005: Variation in the Human TP53 Gene Affects Old Age Survival

Tatjana Škarić-Jurić, Żeljka Celinšćak, Maja Šetinc, Luka Bočkor, Anita Stojanović Marković, Matea Zajc Petranović, Marijana Peričić Salihović, Joris Deelen, Branka Janićijević, Nina Smolej Narančić

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 3. Genotype frequencies in general ("Old" and "Young") and Roma population of Croatia. Original α level = 0.05; α level after

and Cancer Mortality. *Experimental Gerontology* 40, 1-2: 11-15. DOI:10.1016/j.exger.2004.10.001

- WOLF E. J., MORRISON F. G., SULLIVAN D. R., LOGUE M. W., GUETTA R. E., STONE A., SCHICHMAN S. A., MCGLINCHEY R. E., MILBERG W. P., MILLER M. W., 2019: The Goddess Who Spins the Thread of Life: Klotho, Psychiatric Stress, and Accelerated Aging. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* 80: 193–203. DOI:10.1016/j.bbi.2019.03.007
- XU X., LIANG X., HU G., ZHANG J., LEI H., 2015: Renal Function and Klotho Gene Polymorphisms among Uygur and Kazak Populations in Xinjiang, China. *Medical Science Monitor* 21: 44–51. DOI:10.12659/MSM.891213
- YAO S., ZHU Y. S., SHI G. P., GUO J. H., WANG Z. D., CHU X. F., JIANG X. Y., JIN L., WANG X. F., 2020: Associations of TNF-A -308 G>A and TNF-B 252 A>G with Physical Function and BNP-Rugao Longevity and Ageing Study. *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging* 24 (3): 358-363. DOI:10.1007/s12603-020-1336-1
- ZENG Y., NIE C., MIN J., LIU X., LI M., CHEN H., XU H., WANG M., NI T., LI Y., YAN H., ZHANG J. P., SONG C., CHI L. Q., WANG H. M., DONG J., ZHENG G.Y., LIN L., QIAN F., QI Y., LIU X., CAO H., WANG Y., ZHANG L., LI Z., ZHOU Y., WANG Y., LU J., LI J., QI M., BOLUND L., YASHIN A., LAND K. C., GREGORY S., YANG Z., GOTTSCHALK W., TAO W., WANG J., WANG J., XU X., BAE H., NYGAARD M., CHRISTIANSEN L., CHRISTENSEN K., FRANCESCHI C., LUTZ M. W., GU J., TAN Q., PERLS T., SEBASTIANI P., DEELEN J., SLAGBOOM E., HAUSER E., XU H., TIAN X. L., YANG H., VAUPEL J. W., 2016: Novel Loci and Pathways Significantly Associated with Longevity. *Scientific Reports* 6: 1–13. DOI:10.1038/srep21243
- ZETTERGREN A., KERN S., RYDÉN L., ÖSTLING S., BLENNOW K., ZETTERBERG H., FALK H., SKOOG, I., 2018: Genetic Variation in FOXO3 Is Associated with Self-Rated Health in a Population-Based Sample of Older Individuals. Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 73, 11: 1453-1458. DOI:10.1093/gerona/gly021

Bonferroni correction <	0.002.											
	ana		Included		"bio"		Young"	Ľ.	toma	"DIO" "vs" "Sv	"Young" vs Roma	"Old" vs Roma
Cene	ANIC	Genotype	in GRS	z	frequency (%)	z	frequency (%)	z	frequency (%)	p	đ	р
		C:C		170	54,0	52	53,6	160	51,1	0,860	0,866	0,350
TERC	rs12696304	G:C	yes	127	40,3	38	39,2	126	40,3			
		G:G		18	5,7	7	7,2	27	8,6			
		G:G		186	58,9	56	58,3	173	56,0	0,764	0,855	0,213
TERC	rs3772190	G:A	ou	116	36,7	34	35,4	112	36,2			
		A:A		14	4,4	9	6,2	24	7,8			
		G:G		160	50,0	49	48,5	140	44,9	0,964	0,727	0,366
TERC	rs16847897	G:C	yes	133	41,6	43	42,6	147	47,1			
		c:c		27	8,4	6	8,9	25	8,0			
		C:C		171	54,3	55	55,0	205	6'59	0,992	0,076	0,004
GHSR	rs572169	C:T	yes	115	36,5	36	36,0	92	29,6			
		T:T		29	9,2	6	9,0	14	4,5			

22

		с:c		166	52,9	53	54,1	183	58,8	0,237	0,133	0,318
RAD50/IL13 region	rs2706372	T:C	yes	125	39,8	33	33,7	109	35,0			
		T:T		23	7,3	12	12,2	19	6,1			
		C:C		130	40,5	39	39,4	0 <i>L</i>	22,7	0,968	0,002	<0,001
LINC02227 (EBFI)	rs2149954	T:C	yes	138	43,0	44	44,4	153	49,7			
		Τ:T		53	16,5	16	16,2	85	27,6			
		с:с		275	86,2	87	93,5	257	80,8	0,142	0,012	0,161
IRF4	rs12203592	T:C	yes	41	12,9	9	6,5	55	17,3			
		Τ:T		3	0,9	0	0,0	9	1,9			
		G:G		246	77,4	67	69,8	278	91,1	0,135	<0,001	<0,001
TNF-alfa	rs1800629	G:A	yes	64	20,1	28	29,2	27	8,9			
		A:A		8	2,5	1	1,0	0	0,0			
		C:C		155	49,2	53	53,5	150	48,1	0,513	0,062	0,076
FOX03A	rs12206094	T:C	yes	134	42,5	41	41,4	119	38,1			
		Τ:T		26	8,3	5	5,1	43	13,8			
		T:T		103	32,1	38	38,0	66	32,0	0,458	0,074	0,077
FOXO3A	rs2802292	T:G	оп	164	51,1	49	49,0	137	44,3			
		G:G		54	16,8	13	13,0	73	23,6			
		T:T		137	44,2	51	51,5	116	37,3	0,428	0,009	0,007
FOXO3A	rs2764264	T:C	no	141	45,5	40	40,4	136	43,7			
		C:C		32	10,3	8	8,1	59	19,0			
		A:A		139	44,1	52	52,0	115	36,6	0,384	0,006	0,004
FOXO3A	rs10457180	G:A	no	145	46,0	40	40,0	140	44,6			
		G:G		31	9,8	8	8,0	59	18,8			
		T:T		140	44,4	53	54,1	113	37,2	0,245	0,004	0,007
FOX03A	rs13217795	T:C	по	146	46,3	38	38,8	138	45,4			
		c:c		29	9,2	7	7,1	53	17,4			
		G:G		157	49,1	55	57,9	196	63,0	0,318	0,388	0,001
FOXO3A	rs4946935	G:A	no	135	42,2	33	34,7	102	32,8			
		A:A		28	8,8	7	7,4	13	4,2			

		A:A		206	65,0	67	71,3	198	62,5	0,500	0,250	0,743
IGF2R	rs9456497	G:A	yes	101	31,9	24	25,5	110	34,7			
		G:G		10	3,2	3	3,2	6	2,8			
		A:A		296	93,4	94	94,0	309	97,8	0,728	0,091	0,020
LPA	rs10455872	G:A	yes	19	6,0	9	6,0	7	2,2			
		G:G		2	0,6	0	0,0	0	0,0			
		G:G		66	31,9	36	39,1	174	55,2	0,152	0,018	<0,001
11.6	rs1800795	C:G	yes	144	46,5	44	47,8	117	37,1			
		c:c		67	21,6	12	13,0	24	7,6			
		A:A		269	84,9	75	93,8	239	76,1	0,110	0,002	0,005
11.6	rs2069837	G:A	yes	47	14,8	5	6,2	67	21,3			
		G:G		1	0,3	0	0,0	8	2,5			
		A:A		96	30,9	30	30,9	77	24,9	0,771	0,140	0,098
GHRHR	rs2267723	G:A	yes	154	49,5	51	52,6	152	49,2			
		G:G		61	19,6	16	16,5	80	25,9			
		A:A		113	35,8	40	40,4	139	45,3	0,635	0,697	0,042
CDKN2B/ANRIL	rs4977756	G:A	yes	154	48,7	43	43,4	122	39,7			
		G:G		49	15,5	16	16,2	46	15,0			
		G:G		96	30,2	24	24,2	101	32,3	0,509	0,249	0,686
TP53/CDKN2A	rs1333049	GC	yes	145	45,6	50	50,5	132	42,2			
		c:c		77	24,2	25	25,3	80	25,6			
		G:G		110	35,0	22	22,2	114	36,5	0,006	0,029	0,081
MREIIA	rs533984	G:A	yes	159	50,6	51	51,5	135	43,3			
		A:A		45	14,3	26	26,3	63	20,2			
		Т:Т		84	26,6	27	27,3	33	10,6	0,897	<0,001	<0,001
SH2B3/ATXN2	rs3184504	T:C	yes	158	50,0	47	47,5	125	40,1			
		c:c		74	23,4	25	25,3	154	49,4			
		G:G		152	48,4	47	48,5	104	35,0	0,742	0,013	0,001
KL (KLOTHO)	rs1207362	T:G	yes	128	40,8	42	43,3	137	46,1			
		Τ:T		34	10,8	8	8,2	56	18,9			

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 3. Continued.

Tatjana Škarić-Jurić, Željka Celinšćak, Maja Šetinc, Luka Bočkor, Anita Stojanović Marković, Matea Zajc Petranović, Marijana Peričić Salihović, Joris Deelen, Branka Janićijević, Nina Smolej Narančić

		Τ:T		253	78,8	77	79,4	214	70,2	0,679	0,160	0,045
кготно	rs9536314	T:G	ou	60	18,7	19	19,6	81	26,6			
		G:G		8	2,5	1	1,0	10	3,3			
		G:G		253	78,8	79	80,6	219	69,7	0,288	0,052	0,029
KLOTHO	rs9527025	C:G	yes	60	18,7	19	19,4	86	27,4			
		c:c		8	2,5	0	0,0	9	2,9			_
		G:G		102	32,6	27	28,4	161	51,8	0,483	<0,001	<0,001
IGFIR	rs2229765	A:G	yes	149	47,6	44	46,3	116	37,3			
		A:A		62	19,8	24	25,3	34	10,9			
		с:c		181	56,7	58	59,8	50	16,1	0,778	<0,001	<0,001
TP53	rs1042522	C:G	yes	124	38,9	34	35,1	162	52,3			
		G:G		14	4,4	5	5,2	98	31,6			
		с:c		259	80,7	77	77,8	289	91,2	0,618	<0,001	<0,001
SIRT6	rs107251	T:C	yes	59	18,4	20	20,2	28	8,8			
		Т:Т		3	0,9	2	2,0	0	0,0			
		A:A		238	74,1	72	74,2	218	69,0	0,671	0,322	0,303
MM40/APOE/APOCI	rs2075650	G:A	yes	75	23,4	24	24,7	86	27,2			
		G:G		8	2,5	1	1,0	12	3,8			
		T:T		262	84,5	79	79,0	196	66,0	0,262	0,016	<0,001
MM40/APOE/APOCI	rs429358	сT	yes	46	14,8	21	21,0	88	29,6			
		с:с		2	0,6	0	0,0	13	4,4			
		с:c		270	85,7	91	92,9	272	87,2	0,151	0,147	0,219
MM40/APOE/APOCI	rs7412	сT	yes	42	13,3	7	7,1	40	12,8			
		Т:Т		3	1,0	0	0,0	0	0,0			
		A:A		246	78,1	71	71,0	193	62,1	0,259	0,060	<0,001
MM40/APOE/APOCI	rs4420638	G:A	ou	64	20,3	28	28,0	98	31,5			
		G:G		5	1,6	1	1,0	20	6,4			

		Se	x			Age		
Group	N	Men N (%)	Women N (%)	Mean	Std. Deviation	Minimum	Maximum	Range
Croatian "Old"	314	80 (25.5%)	234 (74.5%)	88.15	3.39	79	101	22
Croatian "Young"	97	32 (33.0%)	65 (67.0%)	24.63	3.76	20	35	15
Croatian - combined	411	112 (27.3%)	299 (72.7%)	73.15	27.23	20	101	81
Roma	308	140 (45.5%)	168 (54.5%)	40.49	13.94	18	75	57

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 4. Sex and age distribution of three studied groups.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1: Unweighted (A) and weighted (B) genetic longevity scores (GLS) distribution in three groups: Croatian "Old", Croatian "Young", and Croatian Roma.







OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Šetinc M, Celinšćak Ž, Bočkor L, Ćorić T, Kolarić B, Stojanović Marković A, et al. (2023) Genetic scores for predicting longevity in the Croatian oldest-old population. PLoS ONE 18(2): e0279971. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0279971

Editor: David M. Ojcius, University of the Pacific, UNITED STATES

Received: October 25, 2022

Accepted: December 19, 2022

Published: February 3, 2023

Peer Review History: PLOS recognizes the benefits of transparency in the peer review process; therefore, we enable the publication of all of the content of peer review and author responses alongside final, published articles. The editorial history of this article is available here: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279971

Copyright: © 2023 Šetinc et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: Fully anonymised dataset used in this study is now publicly available on Zenodo repository (https://zenodo.org/record/ 7421684, DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.7421684). RESEARCH ARTICLE

Genetic scores for predicting longevity in the Croatian oldest-old population

Maja Šetinc^{®1}*, Željka Celinšćak¹, Luka Bočkor^{1,2}, Tanja Ćorić³, Branko Kolarić³, Anita Stojanović Marković¹, Matea Zajc Petranović¹, Marijana Peričić Salihović¹, Nina Smolej Narančić¹, Tatjana Škarić-Jurić¹

1 Institute for Anthropological Research, Zagreb, Croatia, 2 Centre for Applied Bioanthropology, Institute for Anthropological Research, Zagreb, Croatia, 3 Andrija Štampar Teaching Institute of Public Health, Zagreb, Croatia

* maja.setinc@inantro.hr

Abstract

Longevity is a hallmark of successful ageing and a complex trait with a significant genetic component. In this study, 43 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) were chosen from the literature and genotyped in a Croatian oldest-old sample (85+ years, sample size (N) = 314), in order to determine whether any of these SNPs have a significant effect on reaching the age thresholds for longevity (90+ years, N = 212) and extreme longevity (95+ years, N = 84). The best models were selected for both survival ages using multivariate logistic regression. In the model for reaching age 90, nine SNPs explained 20% of variance for survival to that age, while the 95-year model included five SNPs accounting for 9.3% of variance. The two SNPs that showed the most significant association (p \leq 0.01) with longevity Scores (uGLS and wGLS) were calculated and their predictive power was tested. All four scores showed significant correlation with age at death (p \leq 0.01). They also passed the ROC curve test with at least 50% predictive ability, but wGLS90 stood out as the most accurate score, with a 69% chance of accurately predicting survival to the age of 90.

Introduction

Continuous progress in reducing death rates during the early and middle years of life and improvements of the living conditions have resulted in a doubling of global life expectancy over the last two centuries [1], and according to data from the World Health Organization, that trend continues today [2] (accessed on 26th August 2022). This increase in life expectancy has led to a large increase in the percentage of older individuals in the population, and global predictions suggest that by 2050, for the first time in human history, there will be more people over 60 than adolescents and young adults combined. As old age is one of the main risk factors for the development of chronic illnesses such as cancer, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases [3], the ageing of the population represents a significant burden on the social and healthcare systems of many countries [4]. Multimorbidity and frailty are also more prevalent among the elderly population [5, 6], often causing the need for long-term care in the later

Funding: This research was funded by Croatian Science Foundation grants IP-01-2018-2497 (HECUBA project) and DOK-2018-09-8382 to Tatjana Škarić-Jurić. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist. stages of a person's life. This demographic phenomenon has brought to attention the importance of preventing age-related diseases and conditions, identifying phenotypes associated with healthy ageing and genetic variants and biomarkers underlying these traits [7], implementing a sustainable healthcare [8] as well as developing strategies to promote successful ageing. Longevity and healthy ageing, and how to achieve them, are therefore among the principal challenges in human biology and medicine today, and the importance of research on this topic will increase even more in the coming decades.

The first major breakthrough in ageing research was the discovery that caloric restriction could positively affect the lifespan of model organisms [9]. This finding has intrigued scientists for almost a century, and was tested and reproduced in other species as well, with the results from primates being published only recently [10, 11]. In recent years, caloric restriction has also been proposed as an approach to cancer prevention [12, 13] and disease management [14, 15]. Along with increasing lifespan, dietary restriction reduced the occurrence of age-related diseases [16], thus proving that it can also be beneficial for extending the healthspan—a term that refers to the total duration of life spent in good health and the part of the total lifespan free from illness. As human life expectancy continues to increase, the challenges of extending the healthspan become even more important [17, 18] in order to achieve "optimal longevity"–a long and high-quality life [18].

Another major finding that propelled ageing research even further was the discovery of a single gene, aptly named age-1, that affects the lifespan of Caenorhabditis elegans [19]. This discovery marked the beginning of a new era of genetics-based longevity research, in which conserved genes and interacting signalling pathways that contribute to longevity have been identified. The ageing process and age-associated phenotypes are linked via gene regulation [20], and the complex network of cellular pathways involved in this regulation has pointed to a much greater plasticity of the ageing process than previously believed [21]. Genetic studies conducted in recent years indicate the same conserved pathways discovered in model organisms may modulate lifespan and healthspan in humans as well [22]. These studies used a candidate gene approach to investigate their association with longevity. Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) are another type of study commonly used to uncover longevity loci in humans [23]. In order to reveal genetic variants that might contribute to reaching an advanced old age, the frequencies of genetic variants are usually compared between an aged group of interest and a younger control group. Studying such longevity loci could prove instrumental for determining the molecular mechanisms underlying healthy ageing, and could also enable accurate prediction of a person's chance of reaching old age.

Polygenic risk score is a sum of an individual's genetic risk for a disease or trait, and it could be a compelling tool for health and lifestyle management [24, 25]. While polygenic risk scores are usually constructed as linear combinations of individual variant effects [26], summing all risk variants reported for a disease on a genome-wide level, a genetic score for predicting the chance of survival to a threshold age of longevity is a sum of significant longevity loci. Genotype data for 43 SNPs previously associated with longevity were obtained for a sample of Croatian elderly individuals (85+ years of age), and this study explores the relation of these longevity variants with the age at death of the studied sample. Its main goals are:

- to find the most influential genetic variants in the Croatian oldest-old sample that are significantly related to longevity (90+) and extreme longevity (95+ years)
- to construct unweighted and weighted genetic scores and test their specificity and sensitivity to predict a chance of survival to the age of 90 and 95 years.

Materials & methods

The study sample comprised 327 unrelated elderly individuals of both sexes aged 85 years and older, residents of the homes for elderly and infirm in Zagreb, the capital of Croatia (detailed description of the sample and study protocol could be found in Perinić Lewis et al. [27]). The informed consent was obtained from each study participant and the research was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Institute for Anthropological Research, Zagreb. The field study was conducted between 2007 and 2009, and 10 years after the initial sampling, the age at the time of death of each respondent was determined from the national mortality register.

43 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in candidate genes for longevity were selected from publicly available literature databases (PubMed and repositories specialized for human longevity such as http://genomics.senescence.info/longevity/, http://geing-map.org/). The SNPs were selected based on their strong or repeatedly reported association with human longevity and involvement in various metabolic pathways. S1 Table contains information about the selected SNPs (rs code, chromosome position, nearest gene, allele frequencies, MAF, genotyping success rate, HWE p-values and information on literature mentioning association with longevity".

Each participant provided a peripheral blood sample, and genomic DNA was isolated from leukocytes using the salting-out method [28]. Genotyping was outsourced and done in a commercial laboratory using a Kompetitive Allele Specific PCR (KASP) [29]. It is a genotyping assay that combines competitive allele-specific PCR with a homogeneous fluorescence-based reporting system for the identification and measurement of genetic variation occurring at the nucleotide level to detect SNPs or insertions and deletions (InDels). After genotyping, the final sample comprised 314 participants, as 13 participants had missing data on nine or more SNPs (>20% of unsuccessfully genotyped loci) and were therefore excluded from the analysis. Exclusion criteria were determined according to the principle of parsimony to retain the highest possible number of participants. Because all genetic data for each participant needed to be complete to calculate a genetic score, all missing data for participants with 1–8 unsuccessfully genotyped SNPs were replaced by the median value for that SNP.

Genotype data (available in open access on the online repository Zenodo [30]) were coded for each participant as follows: a value of 2 was assigned to the homozygous genotype of longevity allele, a value of 1 to the heterozygous genotype, and a value of 0 to the homozygous genotype of an allele not associated with longevity in our sample. In cases where less than 10 homozygous genotypes of any type were determined, and in cases of SNPs where dominant or recessive coding proved more significant in further analyses (rs2267723, rs16847897), they were coded with only the values 0 and 1, and the heterozygote was added to the less common homozygote. The coded data were used to perform univariate logistic regression as a means of selecting the SNPs that have a potential influence on longevity, using a cut-off p-value ≤ 0.20 [31]. Two separate analyses were performed with age at death as the dependent variable, for both of which the participants were divided in two groups-a group of those who died before, and a group of those who died after reaching a cut-off age of 90 or 95 years. The number of participants in the two groups according to their age at death was: for the cut-off age 90, there were 103 participants who died before the age of 90, and 211 participants who lived over 90; for the cut-off age 95, there were 230 participants who died before reaching 95 years of age, and 84 participants who lived over 95. All SNPs that had a p-value \leq 0.20 in univariate analysis were selected for testing in a multivariate logistic regression model. The best models for age thresholds of 90 and 95 years were selected for further calculations.

Genetic Risk Score is called Genetic Longevity Score (GLS) in this study, since "risk" for reaching the age of 90 or 95 is a preferred trait, and thus a more appropriate term was chosen. GLS is a number representing a sum of alleles associated with human longevity across loci

included in the best multivariate logistic model. Unweighted GLS (uGLS) was calculated by summing the coding values assigned to genotypes at all SNPs that accounted for the best logistic regression model for ages at death 90 or 95 (uGLS90 and uGLS95, respectively). Weighted GLS (wGLS90 and wGLS95) was calculated by summing the genotype values for each SNP multiplied by their respective exponentiation of the beta coefficient from the multivariate model. To test the reliability of the scores, additional statistical analyses were performed to evaluate their association with age at death as a continuous or discrete variable (i.e. descriptive analysis, Pearson's correlations, Chi-square test, multiple regression analyses). Receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curve analysis was performed for both unweighted and weighted GLS, with binary age at death set as the dependent variable to calculate the area under the curve (AUC). All statistical calculations were performed using the SPSS software package 21.0.

Results

The general information on investigated 43 SNPs is presented in S1 Table, and univariate logistic regression results for all 43 SNPs with survival ages of 90+ and 95+ years as the dependent variable are shown in S2 Table. In univariate analysis, five SNPs (rs3772190, rs16847897, rs1800629, rs2267723, rs7412) were significantly associated (p-value of ≤ 0.05) with survival to the age of 90, and one SNP (rs429358) to survival to the age of 95. Since only one SNP was entered in the logistic regression in this analysis, this p-value did not have to undergo multiple correction testing. This shows a strong correlation between these SNPs with longevity in the studied population. However, in order to enlarge the qualifying pool of SNPs for further analyses, p-value of ≤ 0.2 was selected as the cut-off value for SNPs to be entered into multivariate logistic regression analysis [31]. With this inclusion criteria for the multivariate analyses, 17 SNPs entered the series of models for survival age 90+, and 10 SNPs entered the models for age 95+. The best multivariate models, which explain the largest proportion of variance in survival age, are presented in Tables 1 and 2, as well as in Fig 1, which shows a forest plot of SNPs that are positively (OR > 1) associated with longevity.

The best model, explaining 20.5% of the variance in survival to 90+ years of the oldest-old Croatian sample, has nine SNPs and is presented in Table 1. The two SNPs that showed the most significant association ($p \le 0.01$) are: rs16847897, located in the TERC gene with the more frequent homozygote (GG) having a 2.128 times higher chance (95% CI 1.249-3.627, p = 0.005), and rs2267723 in the GHRHR gene, whose less common homozygote (AA) has a 2.280 times higher chance (95% CI 1.239-4.194, p = 0.008) of reaching 90 years of age. A lower degree of significance (p \leq 0.05) has the locus rs7412, in the APOE gene, where the carriers of the less frequent allele T (genotypes TT and CT) have a 3.055 times greater chance of living over 90 years (95% CI 1.230-7.587, p = 0.016) than the homozygotic carriers of allele C, and the locus rs1800629, upstream of the TNF- α gene, whose more common homozygotes (GG) are 1.898 times (95% CI 1.038-3.468, p = 0.037) more likely to survive up to the age of 90. Finally, rs1042522 located in the TP53 gene did not reach statistical significance at the level of the entire locus, but heterozygotes for this locus (CG) have a 1.752 times (95% CI 1.010-3.040, p = 0.046) higher chance of reaching 90 years of age. The additional four loci-rs12206094 (in the FOXO3 gene), rs9536314 (in the KLOTHO gene), rs50871 (in the ERCC2 gene) and rs17202060 (in the TXNRD1 gene)-are also included in the best model for the survival age of 90 years because they contribute to the quality of the model. Out of five SNPs that were significant at the univariate level, only one wasn't included in the best multivariate model. That SNP was rs3772190, located in the TERC gene, which was excluded due to its linkage (calculated in Haploview software [32]) with another TERC SNP, rs16847897, which entered the multivariate model since it showed a stronger association with survival to the age of 90.

Closest gene	SNP	Contrasting genotypes	В	Р	O.R.	95% C.I.	for O.R.
						Lower	Upper
APOE	rs7412	CC vs TT, CT	1.117	0.016	3.055	1.230	7.587
ERCC2	rs50871	CC vs AC vs AA		0.238			
		CC, AA vs AC	-0.407	0.229	0.665	0.343	1.292
		CC, AC vs AA	0.069	0.856	1.072	0.506	2.268
FOXO3	rs12206094	CC vs TC vs TT		0.092			
		CC, TT vs TC	-0.363	0.183	0.696	0.408	1.187
		CC, TC vs TT	0.847	0.159	2.332	0.717	7.583
GHRHR	rs2267723	GG, AG vs AA	0.824	0.008	2.280	1.239	4.194
KL (KLOTHO)	rs9536314	TT vs GG, TG	0.454	0.181	1.575	0.809	3.065
TERC	rs16847897	CC, GC vs GG	0.755	0.005	2.128	1.249	3.627
TNF-α	rs1800629	AA, GA vs GG	0.641	0.037	1.898	1.038	3.468
TP53	rs1042522	CC vs GG vs CG		0.092			
		CC, CG vs GG	0.833	0.248	2.300	0.559	9.456
		CC, GG vs CG	0.561	0.046	1.752	1.010	3.040
TXNRD1	rs17202060	TT vs CC vs TC		0.164			
		TT, TC vs CC	0.292	0.480	1.339	0.595	3.012
		TT, CC vs TC	0.705	0.094	2.024	0.887	4.621
Nagelkerke R-squared				0.205			
Hosmer-Lemeshow test	1			0.536			
% Correct				72.9			

Tabl	e 1.	The best mu	ltivariate l	ogistic re	egression mode	el for surviva	l to the age	of 90 years	in the	Croatian ol	dest-old :	sample	(N =	314).
					11								· · ·	

This table shows all the SNPs that together make up the best model for predicting survival to age 90+, the genotypes that were contrasted within the model, beta values, odd ratios and 95% confidence intervals. The p-values of SNPs that passed the significance threshold of $p \le 0.05$ are highlighted in bold. Nagelkerke R-squared value, indicating the amount of variance explained by the model, is shown at the bottom of the table along with the results of Hosmer—Lemeshow test and the percentage of correctly classified cases.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279971.t001

Table 2 presents the best model for predicting survival to age 95+, explaining 9.3% of variance. Of the five SNPs contributing to the best model, no locus was significant at the entire locus level (three contrasting genotypes). However, there are several significant associations that elucidate specific genotypes: the rs6067484 locus in the *PTPN1* gene, whose less frequent homozygotes (GG) have a 2.505 times higher chance for reaching 95 years of age (95% CI 1.049–5.981, p = 0.039). Also, for rs4837525 located in the *PAPPA* gene, heterozygotes (AG) have a chance of living over the age of 95, which is 2.703 times (95% CI 1.039–7.033, p = 0.042) higher than those of both homozygotes, and for rs1042522 of the *TP53* gene, the less common homozygote (GG) has a 3.233 times (95% CI 1.013–10.322, p = 0.048) higher chance of surviving to the age of 95 years. Finally, rs429358 in the *APOE* gene, which was also significant on the univariate analysis level, is associated with survival to 95 years at the p \leq 0.1 significance level (p = 0.053), with the more frequent genotype (TT) having a 2.345 times (95% CI 0.988–5.563) greater chance of reaching 95 years of age. The association of rs12203592 in the *IRF4* gene, although not statistically significant, contributes to the strength of the model.

It should be noted that the two selected models share only one locus—rs1042522 in the *TP53* gene—which is significantly associated with survival to age 90+ (CG genotype) as well as to age 95+ (GG genotype). However, both models also indicate epsilon diplotypes of the *APOE* gene: the first model at the rs7412 locus and the second at the rs429358 locus. Data on the frequencies of *APOE* gene longevity loci and APOE isoforms in the oldest-old Croatian population are shown in Table 3, with allele distribution frequencies in the European population

Closest gene	SNP	Contrasting genotypes	в	р	O.R.	95% C.I	. for O.R.
						Lower	Upper
APOE	rs429358	CC, CT vs TT	0.852	0.053	2.345	0.988	5.563
IRF4	rs12203592	CC vs CT, TT	0.569	0.110	1.766	0.880	3.546
PAPPA	rs4837525	AA vs AG vs GG		0.119			
		AA, AG vs GG	0.766	0.127	2.151	0.804	5.757
		AA, GG vs AG	0.994	0.042	2.703	1.039	7.033
PTPN1	rs6067484	AA vs GA vs GG		0.116			
		AA, GG vs GA	0.116	0.685	1.123	0.640	1.970
		AA, GA vs GG	0.918	0.039	2.505	1.049	5.981
TP53	rs1042522	CC vs CG vs GG		0.123			
		CC, CG vs GG	1.174	0.048	3.233	1.013	10.322
		CC, GG vs CG	0.245	0.375	1.278	0.744	2.197
elkerke R-squared				0.093			
smer—Lemeshow to	est			0.763			
Correct				74.2			

Table 2. The best multivariate logistic regression model for survival to the age of 95.0 years in the Croatian oldest-old sample (N = 314).

This table shows all the SNPs that together make up the best model for predicting survival to age 95+, the genotypes that were contrasted within the model, beta values, odd ratios and 95% confidence intervals. The p-values of SNPs that passed the significance threshold of $p \le 0.05$ are highlighted in bold. Nagelkerke R-squared value, indicating the amount of variance explained by the model, is shown at the bottom of the table along with the results of Hosmer—Lemeshow test and the percentage of correctly classified cases.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279971.t002

taken from the gnomAD database [33], and isoform frequencies of 1038 control subjects of European origin under 60 years of age, taken from the paper of McKay et al. [34].

Unweighted and weighted longevity scores were calculated for survival ages 90+ and 95+. Descriptive data of unweighted and weighted GLS90 and GLS95 are shown in Table 4, while the distribution of all four genetic longevity scores by the low/high division of the age-at-death variable is presented in Fig 2. The mean value of the scores within individual age-at-death groups is also presented. Pearson's correlation of all four longevity scores with age at death as a continuous variable is presented in Table 5. With p-value ≤ 0.01 , all four GLSs were significantly associated with age at death. There was no significant difference in any calculated GLS between sexes, which is shown in S3 Table.

The distribution of the two unweighted genetic longevity scores (uGLS90 and uGLS95) in the three age-at-death groups (\leq 90.00 years, 90.00–94.99 years, and 95.00+ years) is presented in Fig 3. None of the highest-scoring participants for uGLS90 died before the age of 90, while the entire range of scores were represented in the lowest survival group for uGLS95. The lowest longevity scores were found among participants who died before the age of 90, and were not observed in the other two groups. The distribution is similar between the two scores among those who lived the longest, with no participant having a score below three. In the higher survival groups, distribution curves shift to the right side of the x-axis and higher longevity scores. S1 Fig shows the distribution of median values of genetic longevity scores by three age-atdeath groups: <90.00, 90.0–94.99, and 95.00+, presenting the absolute number of individuals in each group. All scores yield analogous results: the group of participants who died before the age of 90 has a higher percentage of below-median longevity scores. Likewise, participants who survived beyond the age of 95 have a higher percentage of above-median scores. The relative age distribution of age-at-death groups (the percentage of each group is equal to 100%) according to the median of weighted genetic longevity scores is presented in S2 Fig, which



Fig 1. Forest plot of SNPs positively (O.R. > 1) associated with longevity, with multivariate model Odds Ratios (O.R.) and 95% confidence intervals (C.I.) displayed. A) SNPs positively associated with survival to the age of 90, B) SNPs positively associated with survival to the age of 95.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279971.g001

demonstrates that the weighted longevity score for the threshold of 95 years is gradual and inverse between groups below and above the median. The largest proportion of participants who died before age 90 is in the below-the-median group, and the largest proportion of those who survived over age 95 is in the above-the-median wGLS95 group. On the other hand, the weighted longevity score for the threshold age of 90 years has equal distributions between the 90.00–94.99 group and the 95.00+ group for both below- and above-the-median scores, while the proportion of people who died before 90.00 year of age is substantially higher in the below-the-median wGLS90 group.

Table 3. Frequencies of alleles at loci that determine APOE isoforms in a Croatian sample of oldest-old people, and their frequencies in the general European population.

		Croatian olde	est-old sample	European	frequencies
		allele T	allele C	allele T	allele C
APOE loci	rs7412	0.066	0.934	0.077	0.923
	rs429358	0.914	0.086	0.851	0.149
APOE isoform frequencies	ε2 (rs7412-T, rs429358-T)		0.076		0.091
	ε3 (rs7412-C, rs429358-T)		0.844		0.733
	ε4 (rs7412-C, rs429358-C)		0.079		0.176

Allele frequencies in European populations were taken from the gnomAD database [33], and isoform frequencies of 1,038 control subjects of European origin under the age of 60 from a paper by McKay et al. [34].

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279971.t003

	TheoreticalMaximum	Minimum	Maximum	Range	Mean	Std. Deviation
uGLS90	18.000	1.000	15.000	14.000	7.869	2.551
wGLS90	36.232	1.330	29.271	27.941	14.336	5.132
uGLS95	10.000	1.000	9.000	8.000	4.379	1.510
wGLS95	25.104	2.703	22.599	19.896	11.112	3.732

Table 4. Descriptive statistics of unweighted (uGLS) and weighted genetic longevity scores (wGLS) for survival to ages 90 and 95.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279971.t004

In order to test the predictive power of the obtained genetic longevity scores, we performed ROC curve analysis (Fig.4), which showed that all four scores were satisfactory for predicting the possibility of reaching the longevity milestones (90+ and 95+ years) that were above the theoretical cut-off value for this test of 0.5 [35, 36]. However, with an AUC score of 0.690, wGLS90 is a more predictive longevity score for survival to the age of 90, and uGLS90 with an AUC score of 0.662 is the less predictive. ROC curve analysis showed no differences between



Fig 2. Comparison of the genetic longevity score values between participants who died before and after reaching the cut-off ages of 90 and 95 years. Box-and-whiskers plot showing the median value, quartile and extremes of A) uGLS90, B) uGLS95, C) wGLS90, D) wGLS95.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279971.g002

0 0 1						
	uGLS90	wGLS90	uGLS95	wGLS95		
Pearson correlation (r)	0.159	0.178	0.215	0.211		
р	0.005	0.002	0.000	0.000		

Table 5. Correlation between age at death and calculated genetic longevity scores.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279971.t005

uGLS95 and wGLS95 as they are equally predictive with AUC scores of 0.649. A multivariate linear regression analysis was also performed, including all genetic scores as independent variables and a continuous age-at-death variable as a dependent phenotype. Beta-values and significance levels obtained from this analysis are presented in <u>Table 6</u>, with wGLS90 and uGLS95 highlighted as more informative scores.

Discussion

With the continuing demographic trend of population ageing, achieving a long and healthy life is becoming more than a personal goal—it is now a research focus of scientists all around the globe. There is a great inter-individual variation in the rate at which one ages, and twin studies have shown that this variation, like longevity, has a genetic component [37, 38]. The principal aims of this study were to investigate which of the alleles associated with longevity in previous studies were important for reaching longevity thresholds in the Croatian oldest-old population (aged 85+), and to calculate and test unweighted and weighted genetic risk scores for predicting survival to the age of 90 and 95 using loci that proved significant in logistic regression analysis. The model for predicting survival to age 90 accounts for two times more variance than the model for predicting survival to age 95, which can be explained by fewer SNPs entering the 95-year model. We also suggest that a decline in the proportion of variance explaining the age at death is due to a shift between survivor and non-survivor groups and a decline in the expected outcome group. However, we cannot rule out the importance of some other stochastic elements that might also increase with advancing age, which reduces the genetic effect.

The two loci most strongly associated with reaching the age of 90 in the studied population are rs16847897 in the *TERC* gene and rs2267723 in the *GHRHR* gene. The *TERC* gene encodes for the RNA component of telomerase, a ribonucleoprotein that elongates telomeric DNA [39,



Fig 3. Distribution of two unweighted genetic longevity scores in three age-at-death groups. Histograms show the distribution of A) uGLS90, and B) uGLS95 among the participants belonging to a specific age-at-death group: < 90.00 years, 90.00–94.99 years, and 95.00+ years.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279971.g003





https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279971.g004

40]. Shorter leukocyte telomere length is frequently reported in patients who suffer from agerelated diseases such as Alzheimer's disease [41] and vascular dementia [42], and has been proposed as a marker of biological ageing [43]. The intronic SNP rs16847897 located downstream of the *TERC* gene has been associated with leukocyte telomere length in large UK cohorts [44] and in the Chinese Han population [45]. The Chinese Han population study showed that the C allele of rs16847897 was associated with a shorter mean telomere length that equated to approximately 4 years of average age-related telomere attrition. Additionally, a study from

Table 6. T	Fhe results of a multivariate linear regression analysis including all genetic scores as independent variables and the continuous a	age-at-death variable as the
dependent	t phenotype.	

	uGLS90	wGLS90	uGLS95	wGLS95
Multiple regression (beta)	-0.132	0.143	0.188	-0.106
р	0.513	0.011	0.001	0.734

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0279971.t006

Scarabino et al. showed that the C allele increased the risk of earlier onset of Alzheimer's disease in the population from Southern Italy [46]. In the studied Croatian sample, the other allele, G, is beneficial for longevity because it contributes to the chances of reaching the longevity threshold of 90 years. In a follow-up study on a Southern Italian population, however, there was no significant association of rs16847897 with human lifespan [47]. Allele frequencies of this SNP vary considerably in different populations, so that the longevity allele G is a major allele in all mentioned European populations and a minor allele in the Chinese Han population.

The GHRHR gene encodes a growth hormone-releasing hormone receptor, a G proteincoupled receptor located on the membrane of somatotropic cells, cells that produce growth hormone in the anterior pituitary gland [48]. It binds growth hormone-releasing hormone, a peptide hormone produced in the hypothalamus. This binding is necessary for the proliferation of somatotrophs and for synthesis and secretion of growth hormone (GH) [49]. It is a part of the growth hormone/ insulin-like growth factor 1/insulin (GH/IGF-1/INS) signalling axis. Research from over 40 years ago showed that the secretion of GH and IGF-1 slowly decreases after an organism matures to adulthood, reaching its absolute lowest level in people over the age of 60 [50]. This biological phenomenon, which has been confirmed both in humans and other mammals [51], was even given a name-'somatopause' [52]. The decrease of GH/IGF-1 signaling has proven to extend longevity in many model organisms, including yeast, worms, fruit flies, and mice [53]. The minor allele A in the intronic rs2267723 of the GHRHR gene was significant for longevity in the Danish population [54]. It was also among the top-ranked interactions in a study that explored the combined effect of SNPs from candidate pathways on longevity [55]. This is in line with our study, where the minor allele A is advantageous for reaching 90 years of age.

The impact that changes in the immune system can have on ageing and reaching longevity has been clearly demonstrated in multiple studies [56]. With advancing age, the effectiveness of the immune response decreases, while inflammatory processes increase, which is described by the term 'inflamm-aging' [57]. This lack of equilibrium in the organism's response to stressors contributes to the development of chronic diseases with inflammatory pathogenesis, which are a major characteristic of ageing [58]. A significant association with survival to age 90 was found for rs1800629, located in a regulatory region upstream of the TNF- α gene. The TNF- α gene encodes a proinflammatory cytokine involved in many biological processes-from regulating proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis, to playing a role in lipid metabolism and coagulation. It has been linked to a number of conditions, including autoimmune disorders, insulin resistance, and cancer [59]. According to functional studies, the uncommon allele A of rs1800629 is a far more effective transcriptional activator than the common allele G [60]. However, a study conducted on an English Longitudinal study sample showed that the A allele is a risk factor for frailty [61], and similar results were obtained in a study of longevity and ageing of the Chinese population, where homozygous carriers of the A allele had worse results in physical function tests (Timed Up and Go Test and 5-meter walking test) [62]. In the Croatian oldest-old sample, the allele beneficial for reaching 90 years of age was the major allele G, which is in concordance with the previously mentioned research by Melki et al. and Yao et al. [61, 62].

rs1042522 was the only SNP significantly associated with survival to both ages 90 and 95. It is a missense variant with a very diverse distribution in world populations [63]. This SNP is located in the *TP53* gene, a gene that encodes the p53 protein that acts as a tumour suppressor by blocking cell cycle progression and promoting apoptosis. The p53 protein plays a central role in cellular regulatory pathways and is an important regulator of the expression and activity of several replication and transcription factors. Its activation is triggered by stress signals that

arise in response to the cell's conditions and environment. Some stressors, for example, are genotoxic damage, oncogene activation, replication stress, loss of normal cell connections and hypoxia [64]. It is crucial for determining cell fate by promoting either repair, survival, or elimination of damaged cells [65]. The TP53 is the most frequently mutated gene in human cancer, and mutations in this gene can be found in >50% of all human cancers [<u>66–68</u>]. It is also of great importance for the ageing process, since apoptosis and cellular senescence strongly influence the homeostasis of tissues, and too much of both can deplete renewable tissues of progenitor or stem cells and reduce their ability for regeneration [69]. In the presence of intracellular reactive oxidative species (ROS), p53 becomes a target of the histone deacetylase SIRT1 [70, 71], whose expression is strongly down-regulated in senescent cells, and is often considered a potential target for longevity extension [70]. Furthermore, it can downregulate the insulin/ IGF-1 pathway, which has been shown to increase lifespan [72]. The polymorphism of rs1042522 is a functional mutation that results in either an arginine (Arg) or a proline (Pro) residue at codon 72, with the proline allele showing a weaker response to induce apoptosis and prevent cell transformation [73, 74]. The European distribution of the Arg72Pro substitution is approximately 60%, 30% and 10% for Arg/Arg, Arg/Pro and Pro/Pro, respectively [75], with major C allele coding for arginine and minor G allele coding for proline. In a study by Ørsted et al. of the general Danish population, overall survival was higher for carriers of the G allele, both homozygotes (6% better survival) and heterozygotes (3% better survival), along with reduced mortality after cancer diagnosis [76]. Similar results were shown by a study conducted on a sample from the Leiden 85-plus study, in which the authors showed that carriers of the Pro/Pro genotype (G allele homozygotes) older than 85 years have increased survival compared to the carriers of Arg [77]. In a smaller cohort of 155 long-lived individuals, Groß et al. found that the proline allele was significantly associated with increased survival time in female participants [78]. In our study, rs1042522 was the only SNP significantly associated with both survival up to the age of 90 (CG genotype, Arg/Pro) and to the age of 95+ years (GG genotype, Pro/Pro). Therefore, regardless of the genotype, the G allele, which codes for proline at the 72nd residue of p53, proved to be beneficial for longevity in Croatian oldest-old persons, which coincides with the results of other studies. Interestingly, in the same paper on the Leiden 85-plus cohort, the Pro/Pro genotype was found as a risk for cancer mortality [77]. Furthermore, in a case-control association study of breast cancer performed on a sample of Croatian women, the percentage of Pro/Pro genotype was higher in cases (11.6%) than in controls (4.6%) [68]. Given the previously mentioned characteristic of the Pro allele for a reduced apoptotic response, that is perhaps not surprising. A reduced affinity for inducing apoptosis may cause a malignant cell being more likely to escape programmed cell death, thus increasing the risk of cancer. However, if Pro/Pro genotype triggers less apoptotic events, this might lead to a greater number of cells in general, which becomes increasingly important with old age. As an organism ages, proliferative capacity of tissues goes down, and this process might even be accelerated by an increased clearing of cells by apoptosis. Therefore, while the largest benefit for survival to the age of 90 in our studied population comes from the heterozygous Arg/Pro genotype (pointing to the importance of balance between cell proliferation and programmed cell death, and a possible heterosis effect), for survival to the threshold of extreme longevity (95 years) the maintenance of proliferative abilities that might come from homozygous Pro/Pro genotype seems to be more beneficial than cancer-protective effects of Arg. This could possibly explain the interplay through which p53 affects the ageing process and longevity. Nonetheless, we find it important to note that while the heterozygous CG genotype shows a statistically significant association in our model with reaching 90 years of age, the GG genotype points to an even higher chances of surviving beyond the age of 90. However, the effect of this might not be visible because only 14 out of 314 participants had the GG genotype, and its benefits might

have been masked by a much higher number of participants with a slightly weaker, but overall beneficial effect of the CG genotype.

The only genetic locus to reach the level of genome-wide significance (p $\leq 5 \times 10-8$) in multiple GWA studies for longevity is apolipoprotein E (APOE) [79-81]. APOE is a protein with an important role in cholesterol transport. The APOE gene is polymorphic, resulting in three major isoforms of the APOE: APOE2 (£2), APOE3 (£3) and APOE4 (£4) [82, 83]. The three APOE isoforms differ at the 112th and 158th residues of their primary structures, and are determined by two SNPs that cause amino acid substitutions and result in functional changes in the APOE protein: rs429358 and rs7412, respectively. APOE-£3 (cvs112, arg158) is the most common isoform of the APOE gene [84]. The carriers of this isoform have a C allele on rs7412 and T allele on rs429358. APOE-E2 (cys112, cys158) is an isoform caused by the transition of the C allele to the T allele of rs7412, while the T allele of rs429358 remains unchanged. This mutation causes a substitution of the basic amino acid Arg158 in APOE-E3 with the neutral amino acid Cys158 in APOE-ε2 [83], resulting in reduced APOE-ε2 receptor affinity. APOEε4 (arg112, arg158) isoform is characterised by the C allele of rs7412 and the C allele of rs429358. The £4 isoform of APOE is associated with increased total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol [82], heart disease [85-87], Alzheimer's disease and dementia [82, 88] and other illnesses [89, 90]. Its frequency varies significantly between young adult populations. APOE-E4 is expressed in approximately 25% of Finns, 17-20% of Danes and approximately 10% of French, Italians and Japanese. However, in all mentioned populations, the frequency of APOE-E4 among centenarians is closer to half of these values [91]. Studies have explained this age-related distribution by showing a negative association between chances of reaching extreme longevity and the presence of £4 [34, 92, 93]. The APOE isoforms make six possible biallelic genotypes: $\varepsilon_3/\varepsilon_3$, $\varepsilon_3/\varepsilon_4$, $\varepsilon_2/\varepsilon_3$, $\varepsilon_4/\varepsilon_4$, $\varepsilon_2/\varepsilon_4$ and $\varepsilon_2/\varepsilon_2$, which are shown here ranked from most to least common among European populations [94]. The T allele of rs7412, which is a minor allele in the Croatian oldest-old population and in all the populations indexed in 1000 Genomes database [63], has been associated with survival to the age of 90 in the studied population, both in homozygous and heterozygous form. This is in line with the findings of Deelen et al. [23], where the minor allele of rs7412 was found to have a beneficial effect on longevity. The same study found that the minor C allele of rs429358 had a deleterious effect on longevity, which is in concordance with our findings. In the Croatian oldest-old population, the rs429358 allele positively associated with survival to age 95 was the major allele T, but it was slightly below the significance level of $p \le 0.05$. Since the T allele was associated with survival to longevity threshold age in both APOE SNPs, this suggests a beneficial effect of the \varepsilon2 isoform of APOE on longevity. Comparison of allele frequencies from the studied population with the European average from the gnomAD database shows that the oldest-old Croats have a lower frequency of longevity-related T allele of rs7412. This is also reflected in the lower prevalence of £2 in the Croatian population older than 85 years compared to the data of 1038 control subjects of European origin younger than 60 years of age from a study by McKay et al. [34]. However, it is apparent that the studied Croatian population owes its longevity to a higher frequency of longevity-associated T allele of rs429358, which is confirmed by a much higher percentage of the neutral isoform £3, and a lower percentage of the detrimental isoform ε4 (Table 3). Therefore, we can conclude that while only a small percentage of the Croatian oldest-olds benefit from the protective $\varepsilon 2$, the majority had a good chance to reach extreme longevity by being spared from the negative influence of £4.

The two SNPs that were significant only for survival to the age of 95 are locus rs6067484 in the *PTPN1* gene, and rs4837525 located in the *PAPPA* gene. Information on both of these loci is scarce, with only minor A allele of rs6067484 being previously associated with higher levels of total plasma cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol in men [95].

However, both variants were reported as potential candidates affecting longevity in a paper by Dato et al. which examined the association between SNP-SNP interactions and longevity [55]. rs6067484 is an intronic variant of the PTPN1 gene that encodes protein tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor type 1, a suppressor of insulin signalling pathways [95]. The PTPN1 gene is located in the q13.1-q13.2 area of chromosome 20, a region that is gained or amplified in several cancers [96]. rs6067484 of PTPN1 was significant in interaction with rs12437963 in the IGF1R gene. Due to the importance of the insulin/IGF-1 pathway in ageing processes, it is not surprising that a suppressor of this pathway could be associated with longevity. This also explains why the signal for rs6067484 in the study by Dato et al. was paired with a signal for another variant involved in the same metabolic pathway [55]. In our sample, the allele contributing to survival to 95 years of age was the minor G allele, whose frequency varies from 20-30% in European and Latino populations, to only 1-4% in African populations [33, 63]. Additional connection that the PTPN1 gene has to healthy ageing is its association with Alzheimer's disease. Studies have shown that overexpression of this gene, mediated by knockdown of miR-124, reduces synaptic failure and memory deficits, highlighting it as a promising new therapeutic target for patients with Alzheimer's disease [97, 98]. Another SNP significant in the Croatian oldest-old population is rs4837525 in the PAPPA gene, which also had a significant interaction with the GHSR gene of the insulin/IGF-1 signalling pathway in the study by Dato et al. [55]. The PAPPA gene encodes a zinc metalloproteinase that cleaves inhibitors of IGF, thus enhancing the activity of insulin/IGF-1 pathway [99]. This enzyme was first discovered in the plasma of pregnant women, and since its function was unknown at the time, it was named pregnancy-associated plasma protein-A [100]. A study by Bøtkjær et al. showed that another single nucleotide variant in the PAPPA gene caused an amino acid change (Tyr>Ser) that significantly reduced cleavage rates for one of the IGF-binding proteins [101]. The SNP observed in this study, rs4837525, is intronic and therefore does not affect the protein's catalytic activity, but could affect its expression by acting as an enhancer [63]. It is interesting that the protective effect for reaching the age of 95 years among the oldest-olds in Croatia was found in heterozygotes for this SNP, who carry one ancestral allele A and one new allele G. However, both in the studied population and in other European populations, the G allele is major, regardless of the fact that the A allele is the ancestral one.

The second part of this study focused on the calculation of genetic risk scores for reaching the ages of 90 and 95, but the scores are more aptly named genetic longevity scores (GLSs). Unweighted and weighted longevity scores were calculated for reaching the threshold ages of 90 and 95, resulting in four scores. Because longevity is a complex trait, so heavily influenced by lifestyle and environment, it is not surprising that not many studies have been conducted to quantify the chances an individual might have for longevity based on their genetic makeup. But, perhaps the most similar concept to ours is found in a study by Tesi et al., in which a polygenic risk score for predicting the odds of becoming a healthy centenarian was constructed for a population of Dutch origin using 330 genetic variants that significantly discriminated between centenarians and older adults [102]. The calculated polygenic risk score showed a statistically significant association with cognitive healthy aging and prolonged survival of a sample of 343 centenarians in good cognitive health and 2,905 population-matched controls. In the present study of the Croatian sample of the oldest-olds, observation of empirical and theoretical values of calculated longevity scores showed that no participant had a minimum or maximum theoretical value of any score. Nevertheless, participants with the lowest longevity scores fell into the category of those who died before age 90, and their mean GLS values were lower than the mean GLS values of participants who survived past any longevity age threshold. All four GLSs were significantly associated with age at death with a p value of ≤ 0.01 in Pearson's correlation analysis, and all the results presented here support the predictive capabilities

of the calculated GLSs, which were based on only nine or five SNPs selected from a set of as few as 43 longevity variants. Namely, a multivariate linear regression analysis in which all four genetic longevity scores were compared as independent variables for their effect on age at death as a dependent phenotype, highlighted wGLS90 (p = 0.011) and uGLS95 (p = 0.001) as the most predictive scores for their threshold age for longevity. This finding was also confirmed by ROC curve analysis, with a 69% and 64.5% chance of correctly predicting survival to 90 and 95 years of age, respectively. The predictive power of the calculated genetic longevity scores is unexpectedly high, especially considering that some of the SNPs with a validated association with longevity from other studies are not even included in the models used for calculation of said scores. This might be partially due to the fact that the studied sample is preselected on the basis of a long life, and aged individuals in such sample have already survived the mortality selection caused by chronic diseases that arise during middle and early old ages. Therefore, the SNPs that might have had a strong negative effect earlier in life are not included when sampling a population that has already survived to an advanced old age. It is quite possible that some other loci would have been included in the models if the comparison would contrast the general adult population and the long-lived age groups.

The study of human longevity is a difficult task, as longevity phenotype is dependent on multiple other factors like individual health, genetics, environment, lifestyle differences and even chance. Because of this complexity, the approaches to studying longevity differ greatly—many studies have focused on finding the differences between long-lived individuals and non-long-lived controls [103, 104], some on studying lifespan as a quantitative variable in general populations by using survival models [105, 106], and others by observing the causal effects of specific risk factors on mortality [107]. However, all of these approaches have some shortcomings—either the choice of the right control group for a longevity GWAS, or the limited statistical power for predicting the effect of genetic variants on mortality. In a paper by Timmers et al. [108], a combination of these approaches is used to create the most comprehensible GWAS analysis of human lifespan to date, and even in that case, along with the discovery of some novel SNPs, only some of the previous findings were replicated. This further highlights the importance of undertaking longevity research with various methods, as all of them could contribute to the ever-growing pool of information on human ageing and longevity.

To our knowledge, this study is one of the first attempts to calculate genetic risk scores for longevity. The research sample consists of people who, because of their advanced age, already show the characteristics of healthy ageing. In this study, we wanted to further determine the influence of the genetic background on lifespan in this group, which was pre-selected according to age. Furthermore, we aimed to investigate whether there is a difference in genetic factors that contribute to longevity (90+ years) and those that could play a role in reaching extreme longevity (95+ years). The sex distribution of the studied population leans to the female side, with 74.8% percent of female participants, which is in line with the structure of the general population of Croatia for that age group, where 74.5% of people over 85 are women [109]. The main limitation of this study was the small number of SNPs available for analysis, which was compensated by the selection of genetic variants with a strong previously reported association with longevity and a role in various cellular pathways associated with the ageing process. The number of participants was also relatively small, but there was no pooling of data from several studies of independent populations that could weaken estimates of genetic associations due to the different environmental effects or genetic backgrounds [110], which were quite homogenous in this sample.

To summarise, this study indicates which of the previously reported SNPs also correlates with longevity in the Croatian population, a European population whose genetic data are still underrepresented in the available literature. Regardless of the various factors that may
influence age at death, including stochastic events, a selected set of longevity-associated SNPs explains a noteworthy 20% of the variance for survival to age 90 in a Croatian sample of the oldest-old individuals (85+ years). Of the analysed SNPs, rs16847897 in the *TERC* gene and rs2267723 in the *GHRHR* gene were most significantly associated with longevity in the model for survival to the age of 90 with a p \leq 0.01, while the set of genes affecting extreme longevity was quite different and with somewhat weaker associations (0.01. < p < 0.05). This study also provides unweighted and weighted genetic risk scores for predicting survival to the threshold ages of longevity (90) and extreme longevity (95 years), and while all four calculated scores were significantly correlated with longevity, wGLS90 had the highest predictive accuracy.

Supporting information

S1 Table. Information about the selected SNPs: Rs code, nearest gene, chromosome position, references for literature sources in which association with longevity was reported; along with data that refers to the studied Croatian population: Alleles (major/minor), minor allele frequencies (MAF), genotyping success rate, Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE). (XLSX)

S2 Table. Results of univariate binary logistic regression analysis for cut-off ages at death. (XLSX)

S3 Table. Means, standard deviations and differences in genetic longevity scores between sexes calculated using Student's t-test. (XLSX)

S1 Fig. Absolute distribution of the four genetic longevity scores median values (equal proportion of participants having genetic longevity scores above and below the median) by three age-at-death groups (<90.00 years, 90.00–94.99 years, and 95.00+ years). A) uGLS90, B) uGLS95, C) wGLS90, D) wGLS95. (TIF)

S2 Fig. Relative distribution of age-at-death groups by median genetic longevity score (equal proportion of participants with genetic longevity scores above and below the median). A) wGLS90, B) wGLS95. (TIF)

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Nina Smolej Narančić, Tatjana Škarić-Jurić.

Data curation: Tanja Ćorić, Branko Kolarić, Nina Smolej Narančić, Tatjana Škarić-Jurić.

Formal analysis: Maja Šetinc, Željka Celinšćak, Tatjana Škarić-Jurić.

Funding acquisition: Tatjana Škarić-Jurić.

Investigation: Matea Zajc Petranović, Marijana Peričić Salihović, Nina Smolej Narančić, Tatjana Škarić-Jurić.

Methodology: Maja Šetinc, Željka Celinšćak, Tatjana Škarić-Jurić.

Project administration: Tatjana Škarić-Jurić.

Resources: Luka Bočkor.

Supervision: Luka Bočkor, Branko Kolarić.

Validation: Maja Šetinc, Željka Celinšćak, Luka Bočkor, Tanja Ćorić.

Visualization: Maja Šetinc.

Writing - original draft: Maja Šetinc.

Writing – review & editing: Maja Šetinc, Željka Celinšćak, Luka Bočkor, Tanja Ćorić, Branko Kolarić, Anita Stojanović Marković, Matea Zajc Petranović, Marijana Peričić Salihović, Nina Smolej Narančić, Tatjana Škarić-Jurić.

References

- Oeppen J, Vaupel JW. Broken Limits to Life Expectancy. Science (80-). 2002; 296: 1029–1031. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1069675 PMID: 12004104
- World Health Organization. GHE: Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy. In: The Global Health Observatory [Internet]. [cited 26 Aug 2022]. https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/mortality-andglobal-health-estimates/ghe-life-expectancy-and-healthy-life-expectancy
- Niccoli T, Partridge L. Ageing as a Risk Factor for Disease. Curr Biol. 2012; 22: R741–R752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2012.07.024</u> PMID: 22975005
- Valderas JM, Starfield B, Sibbald B, Salisbury C, Roland M. Defining Comorbidity: Implications for Understanding Health and Health Services. Ann Fam Med. 2009; 7: 357–363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.983</u> PMID: <u>19597174</u>
- Kirchberger I, Meisinger C, Heier M, Zimmermann AK, Thorand B, Autenrieth CS, et al. Patterns of Multimorbidity in the Aged Population. Results from the KORA-Age Study. PLoS One. 2012; 7: 30556. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030556 PMID: 22291986
- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet. 2013; 381: 752– 762. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62167-9 PMID: 23395245
- Deelen J, van den Akker EB, Trompet S, van Heemst D, Mooijaart SP, Slagboom PE, et al. Employing biomarkers of healthy ageing for leveraging genetic studies into human longevity. Exp Gerontol. 2016; 82: 166–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2016.06.013 PMID: 27374409
- Pastorino R, Loreti C, Giovannini S, Ricciardi W, Padua L, Boccia S. Challenges of Prevention for a Sustainable Personalized Medicine. J Pers Med 2021, Vol 11, Page 311. 2021; 11: 311. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm11040311</u> PMID: <u>33923579</u>
- McCay CM, Maynard LA, Sperling G, Barnes LL. The Journal of Nutrition. Volume 18 July—December, 1939. Pages 1–13. Retarded growth, life span, ultimate body size and age changes in the albino rat after feeding diets restricted in calories. Nutr Rev. 1975; 33: 241–243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.1975.tb05227.x</u> PMID: <u>1095975</u>
- Mattison JA, Colman RJ, Beasley TM, Allison DB, Kemnitz JW, Roth GS, et al. Caloric restriction improves health and survival of rhesus monkeys. Nat Commun. 2017; 8: 14063. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14063</u> PMID: 28094793
- Pifferi F, Terrien J, Marchal J, Dal-Pan A, Djelti F, Hardy I, et al. Caloric restriction increases lifespan but affects brain integrity in grey mouse lemur primates. Commun Biol. 2018; 1: 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1038/s42003-018-0024-8 PMID: 30271916
- Brandhorst S, Longo VD. Fasting and Caloric Restriction in Cancer Prevention and Treatment. Recent Results Cancer Res. 2016; 207: 241–266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-42118-6_12</u> PMID: 27557543
- Puca F, Fedele M, Rasio D, Battista S. Role of Diet in Stem and Cancer Stem Cells. Int J Mol Sci. 2022; 23: 8108. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23158108 PMID: 35897685
- Zubrzycki A, Cierpka-Kmiec K, Kmiec Z, Wronska A. The role of low-calorie diets and intermittent fasting in the treatment of obesity and type-2 diabetes. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2018; 69: 663–683. <u>https:// doi.org/10.26402/jpp.2018.5.02</u> PMID: 30683819
- Rubio C, López-López F, Rojas-Hernández D, Moreno W, Rodríguez-Quintero P, Rubio-Osornio M. Caloric restriction: Anti-inflammatory and antioxidant mechanisms against epileptic seizures. Epilepsy Res. 2022; 186: 107012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2022.107012 PMID: 36027691
- Omodei D, Fontana L. Calorie restriction and prevention of age-associated chronic disease. FEBS Lett. 2011; 585: 1537–1542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2011.03.015 PMID: 21402069
- Kirkland JL, Peterson C. Healthspan, Translation, and New Outcomes for Animal Studies of Aging. Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2009; 64A: 209–212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/gln063</u> PMID: <u>19196900</u>

- Seals DR, Justice JN, LaRocca TJ. Physiological geroscience: targeting function to increase healthspan and achieve optimal longevity. J Physiol. 2016; 594: 2001–2024. <u>https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.</u> 2014.282665 PMID: 25639909
- Friedman DB, Johnson TE. A mutation in the age-1 gene in Caenorhabditis elegans lengthens life and reduces hermaphrodite fertility. Genetics. 1988; 118: 75–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/118.1.</u> 75 PMID: 8608934
- Wang K, Basu M, Malin J, Hannenhalli S. A transcription-centric model of SNP-age interaction. PLOS Genet. 2021; 17: e1009427. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1009427 PMID: 33770080
- Campisi J, Kapahi P, Lithgow GJ, Melov S, Newman JC, Verdin E. From discoveries in ageing research to therapeutics for healthy ageing. Nature. 2019; 571: 183–192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-019-1365-2</u> PMID: <u>31292558</u>
- van der Spoel E, Rozing MP, Houwing-Duistermaat JJ, Slagboom PE, Beekman M, de Craen AJM, et al. Association analysis of insulin-like growth factor-1 axis parameters with survival and functional status in nonagenarians of the Leiden Longevity Study. Aging (Albany NY). 2015; 7: 956–963. <u>https:// doi.org/10.18632/aging.100841</u> PMID: 26568155
- Deelen J, Beekman M, Uh HW, Helmer Q, Kuningas M, Christiansen L, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies a single major locus contributing to survival into old age; the APOE locus revisited. Aging Cell. 2011; 10: 686–698. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2011.00705.x PMID: 21418511
- Torkamani A, Wineinger NE, Topol EJ. The personal and clinical utility of polygenic risk scores. Nat Rev Genet 2018 199. 2018; 19: 581–590. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-018-0018-x</u> PMID: 29789686
- Chen S-F, Dias R, Evans D, Salfati EL, Liu S, Wineinger NE, et al. Genotype imputation and variability in polygenic risk score estimation. Genome Med. 2020; 12: 100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13073-020-00801-x PMID: 33225976</u>
- Jiang X, Holmes C, McVean G. The impact of age on genetic risk for common diseases. PLOS Genet. 2021; 17: e1009723. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1009723 PMID: 34437535
- Perinić Lewis A, Škarić-Jurić T, Despot Lučanin J, Smolić Š. The lasting impact of war experiences on quality of life in long-lived retirement homes residents: The birth cohort 1906–1928. Ageing Soc. 2022; 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X22000319
- Miller SA, Dykes DD, Polesky HF. A simple salting out procedure for extracting DNA from human nucleated cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 1988; 16: 1215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/16.3.1215</u> PMID: 3344216
- Semagn K, Babu R, Hearne S, Olsen M. Single nucleotide polymorphism genotyping using Kompetitive Allele Specific PCR (KASP): Overview of the technology and its application in crop improvement. Mol Breed. 2014; 33: 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11032-013-9917-x
- Šetinc M, Celinšćak Ž, Bočkor L, Ćorić T, Kolarić B, Marković AS, et al. 43 longevity-associated SNPs genotyped in a Croatian sample of oldest-old individuals. 2022 [cited 10 Dec 2022].
- Seral-Cortes M, Sabroso-Lasa S, De Miguel-Etayo P, Gonzalez-Gross M, Gesteiro E, Molina-Hidalgo C, et al. Development of a Genetic Risk Score to predict the risk of overweight and obesity in European adolescents from the HELENA study. Sci Rep. 2021; 11: 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-82712-4</u> PMID: <u>33542408</u>
- Barrett JC, Fry B, Maller J, Daly MJ. Haploview: analysis and visualization of LD and haplotype maps. Bioinforma Appl NOTE. 2005; 21: 263–265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bth457</u> PMID: 15297300
- Karczewski KJ, Francioli LC, Tiao G, Cummings BB, Alföldi J, Wang Q, et al. The mutational constraint spectrum quantified from variation in 141,456 humans. Nature. 2020; 581: 434–443. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41586-020-2308-7 PMID: 32461654</u>
- McKay GJ, Silvestri G, Chakravarthy U, Dasari S, Fritsche LG, Weber BH, et al. Variations in Apolipoprotein E Frequency With Age in a Pooled Analysis of a Large Group of Older People. Am J Epidemiol. 2011; 173: 1357–1364. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwr015 PMID: 21498624
- Janssens ACJW, Martens FK. Reflection on modern methods: Revisiting the area under the ROC Curve. Int J Epidemiol. 2020; 49: 1397–1403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyz274</u> PMID: <u>31967640</u>
- Dehestani M, Liu H, Gasser T. Polygenic Risk Scores Contribute to Personalized Medicine of Parkinson's Disease. J Pers Med. 2021; 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm11101030 PMID: 34683174
- Herskind AM, McGue M, Holm N V., Sørensen TIA, Harvald B, Vaupel JW. The heritability of human longevity: a population-based study of 2872 Danish twin pairs born 1870–1900. Hum Genet. 1996; 97: 319–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02185763 PMID: 8786073

- Skytthe A, Pedersen NL, Kaprio J, Stazi MA, Hjelmborg JVB, lachine I, et al. Longevity studies in GenomEUtwin. Twin Res. 2003; 6: 448–454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1375/136905203770326457</u> PMID: 14624729
- Blackburn EH, Collins K. Telomerase: An RNP Enzyme Synthesizes DNA. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2011; 3: 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a003558 PMID: 20660025
- He Y, Wang Y, Liu B, Helmling C, Sušac L, Cheng R, et al. Structures of telomerase at several steps of telomere repeat synthesis. Nature. 2021; 593: 454–459. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03529-9 PMID: 33981033</u>
- Panossian LA, Porter VR, Valenzuela HF, Zhu X, Reback E, Masterman D, et al. Telomere shortening in T cells correlates with Alzheimer's disease status. Neurobiol Aging. 2003; 24: 77–84. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s0197-4580(02)00043-x</u> PMID: 12493553
- Von Zglinicki T, Serra V, Lorenz M, Saretzki G, Lenzen-Großimlighaus R, Geßner R, et al. Short telomeres in patients with vascular dementia: an indicator of low antioxidative capacity and a possible risk factor? Lab Invest. 2000; 80: 1739–1747. https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest.3780184 PMID: 11092534
- Sanders JL, Newman AB. Telomere Length in Epidemiology: A Biomarker of Aging, Age-Related Disease, Both, or Neither? Epidemiol Rev. 2013; 35: 112–131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxs008</u> PMID: 23302541
- Codd V, Mangino M, Van Der Harst P, Braund PS, Kaiser M, Beveridge AJ, et al. Common variants near TERC are associated with mean telomere length. Nat Genet. 2010; 42: 197–199. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ng.532</u> PMID: 20139977
- Shen Q, Zhang Z, Yu L, Cao L, Zhou D, Kan M, et al. Common variants near TERC are associated with leukocyte telomere length in the Chinese Han population. Eur J Hum Genet. 2011; 19: 721–723. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2011.4 PMID: 21304559
- Scarabino D, Broggio E, Gambina G, Pelliccia F, Corbo RM. Common variants of human TERT and TERC genes and susceptibility to sporadic Alzheimers disease. Exp Gerontol. 2017; 88: 19–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2016.12.017 PMID: 28039025
- Scarabino D, Peconi M, Pelliccia F, Corbo RM. Analysis of the Association Between TERC and TERT Genetic Variation and Leukocyte Telomere Length and Human Lifespan—A Follow-Up Study. Genes (Basel). 2019; 10: 82. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10020082 PMID: 30691026
- Martari M, Salvatori R. Diseases associated with growth hormone-releasing hormone receptor (GHRHR) mutations. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2009; 88: 57–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1877-1173</u> (09)88003-4 PMID: 20374725
- Mayo KE, Miller T, DeAlmeida V, Godfrey P, Zheng J, Cunha SR. Regulation of the pituitary somatotroph cell by GHRH and its receptor. Recent Prog Horm Res. 2000; 55: 237–266. Available: <u>https://</u> europepmc.org/article/MED/11036940
- Zadik Z, Chalew SA, McCarter RJ, Meistas M, Avinoam Kowarski A. The influence of age on the 24hour integrated concentration of growth hormone in normal individuals. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1985; 60: 513–516. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-60-3-513 PMID: 3972964
- Bartke A. Growth hormone and aging: A challenging controversy. Clin Interv Aging. 2008; Volume 3: 659–665. https://doi.org/10.2147/cia.s3697 PMID: 19281058
- Hoffman AR, Pyka G, Lieberman SA, Ceda GP, Marcus R. The Somatopause. Growth Hormone and Somatomedins during Lifespan. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 1993. pp. 265–274.
- Fontana L, Partridge L, Longo VD. Extending Healthy Life Span—From Yeast to Humans. Science (80-). 2010; 328: 321–326. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1172539 PMID: 20395504
- Soerensen M, Dato S, Tan Q, Thinggaard M, Kleindorp R, Beekman M, et al. Human longevity and variation in GH/IGF-1/insulin signaling, DNA damage signaling and repair and pro/antioxidant pathway genes: Cross sectional and longitudinal studies. Exp Gerontol. 2012; 47: 379–387. <u>https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.exger.2012.02.010 PMID: 22406557</u>
- Dato S, Soerensen M, De Rango F, Rose G, Christensen K, Christiansen L, et al. The genetic component of human longevity: New insights from the analysis of pathway-based SNP-SNP interactions. Aging Cell. 2018; 17: 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12755</u> PMID: 29577582
- Fulop T, Witkowski JM, Pawelec G, Alan C, Larbi A. On the Immunological Theory of Aging. Interdiscip Top Gerontol. 2014; 39: 163–176. https://doi.org/10.1159/000358904 PMID: 24862019
- Franceschi C, Bonafè M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, et al. Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2000; 908: 244–254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06651.x PMID: 10911963</u>
- Franceschi C, Bonafè M. Centenarians as a model for healthy aging. Biochem Soc Trans. 2003; 31: 457–461. https://doi.org/10.1042/bst0310457 PMID: 12653662

- Aggarwal BB. Signalling pathways of the TNF superfamily: a double-edged sword. Nat Rev Immunol 2003 39. 2003; 3: 745–756. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1184 PMID: 12949498
- Wilson AG, Symons JA, Mcdowell TL, Mcdevitt HO, Duff GW. Effects of a polymorphism in the human tumor necrosis factor alpha promoter on transcriptional activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997; 94: 3195–3199. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.7.3195 PMID: 9096369
- Mekli K, Nazroo JY, Marshall AD, Kumari M, Pendleton N. Proinflammatory genotype is associated with the frailty phenotype in the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2015; 28: 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40520-015-0419-z PMID: 26248682
- Yao S, Zhu YS, Shi GP, Guo JH, Wang ZD, Chu XF, et al. Associations of TNF-A -308 G>A and TNF-B 252 A>G with Physical Function and BNP—Rugao Longevity and Ageing Study. J Nutr Health Aging. 2020; 24: 358–363. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12603-020-1336-1 PMID: 32115620
- Auton A, Abecasis GR, Altshuler DM, Durbin RM, Abecasis GR, Bentley DR, et al. A global reference for human genetic variation. Nature. 2015; 526: 68–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15393</u> PMID: 26432245
- Vousden KH, Prives C. Blinded by the Light: The Growing Complexity of p53. Cell. 2009; 137: 413– 431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.037 PMID: 19410540
- Wu D, Prives C. Relevance of the p53–MDM2 axis to aging. Cell Death Differ. 2018; 25: 169–179. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2017.187 PMID: 29192902
- 66. Olivier M, Hussain SP, Caron de Fromentel C, Hainaut P, Harris CC. TP53 mutation spectra and load: a tool for generating hypotheses on the etiology of cancer. IARC Sci Publ. 2004; 247–270. Available: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15055300/
- Muller PAJ, Vousden KH. p53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol 2013 151. 2013; 15: 2–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2641</u> PMID: 23263379
- Bišof V, Peričić Salihović M, Smolej Narančić N, Škarić-Jurić T, Jakić-Razumović J, Janićijević B, et al. TP53 gene polymorphisms and breast cancer in Croatian women: a pilot study. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol. 2010; 31: 539–544. Available: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21061796/
- Rodier F, Campisi J, Bhaumik D. Two faces of p53: aging and tumor suppression. Nucleic Acids Res. 2007; 35: 7475–7484. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkm744</u> PMID: <u>17942417</u>
- Vigneron A, Vousden KH. p53, ROS and senescence in the control of aging. Aging (Albany NY). 2010; 2: 471–474. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.100189 PMID: 20729567
- Yi J, Luo J. SIRT1 and p53, effect on cancer, senescence and beyond. Biochim Biophys Acta—Proteins Proteomics. 2010; 1804: 1684–1689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap.2010.05.002</u> PMID: 20471503
- Feng Z, Lin M, Wu R. The Regulation of Aging and Longevity: A New and Complex Role of p53. Genes Cancer. 2011; 2: 443–452. https://doi.org/10.1177/1947601911410223 PMID: 21779512
- Marin MC, Jost CA, Brooks LA, Irwin MS, O'Nions J, Tidy JA, et al. A common polymorphism acts as an intragenic modifier of mutant p53 behaviour. Nat Genet 2000 251. 2000; 25: 47–54. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/75586</u> PMID: <u>10802655</u>
- Dumont P, Leu JIJ, Della Pietra AC, George DL, Murphy M. The codon 72 polymorphic variants of p53 have markedly different apoptotic potential. Nat Genet. 2003; 33: 357–365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ ng1093</u> PMID: 12567188
- Høgdall EVS, Høgdall CK, Christensen L, Glud E, Blaakaer J, Bock JE, et al. Distribution of p53 codon 72 polymorphisms in ovarian tumour patients and their prognostic significance in ovarian cancer patients. Anticancer Res. 2002; 22: 1859–1864. Available: <u>http://europepmc.org/article/MED/</u> 12168882
- Ørsted DD, Bojesen SE, Tybjærg-Hansen A, Nordestgaard BG. Tumor suppressor p53 Arg72Pro polymorphism and longevity, cancer survival, and risk of cancer in the general population. J Exp Med. 2007; 204: 1295–1301. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20062476 PMID: 17535973
- Van Heemst D, Mooijaart SP, Beekman M, Schreuder J, De Craen AJM, Brandt BW, et al. Variation in the human TP53 gene affects old age survival and cancer mortality. Exp Gerontol. 2005; 40: 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2004.10.001 PMID: 15732191
- Groß S, Immel U-D, Klintschar M, Bartel F. Germline genetics of the p53 pathway affect longevity in a gender specific manner. Curr Aging Sci. 2014; 7: 91–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/</u> <u>1874609807666140321150751</u> PMID: <u>24654968</u>
- Fortney K, Dobriban E, Garagnani P, Pirazzini C, Monti D, Mari D, et al. Genome-Wide Scan Informed by Age-Related Disease Identifies Loci for Exceptional Human Longevity. Plos Genet. 2015; 11: e1005728–e1005728. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1005728 PMID: 26677855
- Partridge L, Deelen J, Slagboom PE. Facing up to the global challenges of ageing. Nature. 2018; 561: 45–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0457-8</u> PMID: <u>30185958</u>

- Deelen J, Evans DS, Arking DE, Tesi N, Nygaard M, Liu X, et al. A meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies identifies multiple longevity genes. Nat Commun. 2019; 10: 3669. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41467-019-11558-2 PMID: 31413261</u>
- Mahley RW, Rall SC. Apolipoprotein E: Far more than a lipid transport protein. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. 2000; 1: 507–537. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.genom.1.1.507 PMID: <u>11701639</u>
- Zuo L, van Dyck CH, Luo X, Kranzler HR, Yang B, Gelernter J. Variation at APOE and STH loci and Alzheimer's disease. Behav Brain Funct. 2006; 2: 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-9081-2-13</u> PMID: <u>16603077</u>
- Mahley RW, Huang Y, Rall SC. Pathogenesis of type III hyperlipoproteinemia (dysbetalipoproteinemia): ruestions, quandaries, and paradoxes. J Lipid Res. 1999; 40: 1933–1949. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2275(20)32417-2</u>
- Eichner JE, Kuller LH, Orchard TJ, Grandits GA, McCallum LM, Ferrell RE, et al. Relation of apolipoprotein E phenotype to myocardial infarction and mortality from coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol. 1993; 71: 160–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9149(93)90732-r PMID: 8421977
- Wilson PWF, Larson MG, Myers RH, Wolf PA, Ordovas JM, Schaefer EJ. Apolipoprotein E Alleles, Dyslipidemia, and Coronary Heart Disease: The Framingham Offspring Study. JAMA J Am Med Assoc. 1994; 272: 1666–1671. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.1994.03520210050031</u>
- Bennet AM, Di Angelantonio E, Ye Z, Wensley F, Dahlin A, Ahlbom A, et al. Association of apolipoprotein E genotypes with lipid levels and coronary risk. JAMA. 2007; 298: 1300–1311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.298.11.1300</u> PMID: 17878422
- Farrer LA, Cupples LA, Haines JL, Hyman B, Kukull WA, Mayeux R, et al. Effects of Age, Sex, and Ethnicity on the Association Between Apolipoprotein E Genotype and Alzheimer Disease: A Metaanalysis. JAMA. 1997; 278: 1349–1356. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.1997.03550160069041
- Lavretsky H, Ercoli L, Siddarth P, Bookheimer S, Miller K, Small G. Apolipoprotein ε4 Allele Status, Depressive Symptoms, and Cognitive Decline in Middle-Aged and Elderly Persons Without Dementia. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2003; 11: 667. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/APPI.AJGP.11.6.667</u> PMID: 14609807
- Kuo CL, Pilling LC, Atkins JL, Masoli JAH, Delgado J, Kuchel GA, et al. ApoE e4e4 Genotype and Mortality With COVID-19 in UK Biobank. Journals Gerontol Ser A. 2020; 75: 1801–1803. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1093/GERONA/GLAA169 PMID: 32623451
- Christensen K, Johnson TE, Vaupel JW. The quest for genetic determinants of human longevity: challenges and insights. Nat Rev Genet. 2006; 7: 436–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1871</u> PMID: 16708071
- Heijmans BT, Westendorp RGJ, Slagboom PE. Common gene variants, mortality and extreme longevity in humans. Exp Gerontol. 2000; 35: 865–877. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0531-5565(00)00171-6 PMID: 11053677
- Garatachea N, Emanuele E, Calero M, Fuku N, Arai Y, Abe Y, et al. ApoE gene and exceptional longevity: Insights from three independent cohorts. Exp Gerontol. 2014; 53: 16–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2014.02.004</u> PMID: 24534555
- Davignon J, Gregg RE, Sing CF. Apolipoprotein E polymorphism and atherosclerosis. Arteriosclerosis. 1988; 8: 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.atv.8.1.1 PMID: 3277611
- Bauer F, Charlotte O-MN, Niehoff AG, Elbers CC, Grobbee DE, Wijmenga C, et al. PTPN1 polymorphisms are Associated with total and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2010; 17: 28–34. https://doi.org/10.1097/HJR.0b013e32832d30c4 PMID: 20177231
- Davidson B, Bock AJ, Holth A, Nymoen DA. The phosphatase PTPN1/PTP1B is a candidate marker of better chemotherapy response in metastatic high-grade serous carcinoma. Cytopathology. 2021; 32: 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/cyt.12921 PMID: 33025675
- Wang X, Liu D, Huang HZ, Wang ZH, Hou TY, Yang X, et al. A Novel MicroRNA-124/PTPN1 Signal Pathway Mediates Synaptic and Memory Deficits in Alzheimer's Disease. Biol Psychiatry. 2018; 83: 395–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.07.023 PMID: 28965984
- Hou TY, Zhou Y, Zhu LS, Wang X, Pang P, Wang DQ, et al. Correcting abnormalities in miR-124/ PTPN1 signaling rescues tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem. 2020; 154: 441–457. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.14961 PMID: 31951013
- Conover CA, Oxvig C. 40 Years of IGF1: PAPP-A and Cancer. J Mol Endocrinol. 2018; 61: T1–T10. https://doi.org/10.1530/JME-17-0236 PMID: 29844094
- Lin TM, Galbert SP, Kiefer D, Spellacy WN, Gall S. Characterization of four human pregnancy-associated plasma proteins. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1974; 118: 223–236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9378</u> (74)90553-5 PMID: 4129188

- 101. Alrø Bøtkjær J, Rimmer Noer P, Oxvig C, Yding Andersen C. A common variant of the pregnancyassociated plasma protein-A (PAPPA) gene encodes a protein with reduced proteolytic activity towards IGF-binding proteins. Sci Reports 2019 91. 2019; 9: 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-49626-8 PMID: 31519945</u>
- Tesi N, van der Lee SJ, Hulsman M, Jansen IE, Stringa N, van Schoor NM, et al. Polygenic Risk Score of Longevity Predicts Longer Survival Across an Age Continuum. Le Couteur D, editor. Journals Gerontol Ser A. 2021; 76: 750–759. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glaa289 PMID: 33216869
- 103. Deelen J, Beekman M, Uh HW, Broer L, Ayers KL, Tan Q, et al. Genome-wide association meta-analysis of human longevity identifies a novel locus conferring survival beyond 90 years of age. Hum Mol Genet. 2014; 23: 4420–4432. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddu139 PMID: 24688116
- Broer L, Buchman AS, Deelen J, Evans DS, Faul JD, Lunetta KL, et al. GWAS of Longevity in CHARGE Consortium Confirms APOE and FOXO3 Candidacy. Journals Gerontol Ser A. 2015; 70: 110–118. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glu166 PMID: 25199915
- 105. Joshi PK, Fischer K, Schraut KE, Campbell H, Esko T, Wilson JF. Variants near CHRNA3/5 and APOE have age- and sex-related effects on human lifespan. Nat Commun 2016 71. 2016; 7: 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11174 PMID: 27029810
- 106. Pilling LC, Kuo CL, Sicinski K, Tamosauskaite J, Kuchel GA, Harries LW, et al. Human longevity: 25 genetic loci associated in 389,166 UK biobank participants. Aging (Albany NY). 2017; 9: 2504–2520. https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.101334 PMID: 29227965
- 107. McDaid AF, Joshi PK, Porcu E, Komljenovic A, Li H, Sorrentino V, et al. Bayesian association scan reveals loci associated with human lifespan and linked biomarkers. Nat Commun 2017 81. 2017; 8: 1– 11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15842 PMID: 28748955
- Timmers PRHJ, Mounier N, Lall K, Fischer K, Ning Z, Feng X, et al. Genomics of 1 million parent lifespans implicates novel pathways and common diseases and distinguishes survival chances. Elife. 2019; 8: 1–40. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.39856 PMID: 30642433
- Croatian Bureau of Statistics. Census of Population, Households and Dwellings 2011, Population by Sex and Age. Census 2011. Zagreb; 2013. https://web.dzs.hr/arhiva_e.htm
- Ukraintseva S, Yashin A, Arbeev K, Kulminski A, Akushevich I, Wu D, et al. Puzzling role of genetic risk factors in human longevity: "risk alleles" as pro-longevity variants. Biogerontology. 2016; 17: 109– 127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10522-015-9600-1</u> PMID: 26306600

** **S1 Table** from this paper has been updated and included in the next paper included in this thesis.**

SNP	Closest gene	p-value univariate (90.0+ years)	p-value univariate (95.0+ years)
rs225119	PARK7	0.796	0.420
rs2360675	KLF7	0.930	0.763
rs12696304	TERC	0.199	0.815
rs3772190	TERC	0.047	0.980
rs16847897	TERC	0.011	0.538
rs572169	GHSR	0.587	0.581
rs33954691	TERT	0.088	0.773
rs2706372	RAD50/IL13 region	0.488	0.410
rs2149954	LINC02227	0.426	0.714
rs12203592	IRF4	0.401	0.058
rs1800629	TNF-α	0.036	0.479
rs12206094	FOXO3A	0.050	0.668
rs2802292	FOXO3A	0.703	0.211
rs2764264	FOXO3A	0.427	0.842
rs10457180	FOXO3A	0.500	0.650
rs13217795	FOXO3A	0.410	0.955
rs4946935	FOXO3A	0.054	0.688
rs9456497	IGF2R	0.863	0.366
rs10455872	LPA	0.318	0.746
rs1800795	IL6	0.453	0.840
rs2069837	IL6	0.407	0.890
rs2267723	GHRHR	0.009	0.759
rs13251813	WRN	0.152	0.915
rs4977756	CDKN2B/ANRIL	0.946	0.937
rs1333049	TP53/CDKN2A	0.575	0.905
rs4837525	PAPPA	0.540	0.132
rs533984	MRE11A	0.659	0.284
rs17202060	TXNRD1	0.052	0.387
rs3184504	SH2B3/ATXN2	0.309	0.111
rs1207362	KLOTHO	0.783	0.766
rs9536314	KLOTHO	0.146	0.339
rs9527025	KLOTHO	0.146	0.339

S2 Table. Results of univariate binary logistic regression analysis for cut-off ages at death.

rs2229765	IGF1R	0.205	0.531
rs12437963	IGF1R	0.552	0.999
rs1042522	<i>TP53</i>	0.091	0.126
rs2078486	<i>TP53</i>	0.875	0.207
rs107251	SIRT6	0.422	0.612
rs2075650	TOMM40	0.225	0.176
rs429358	APOE	0.246	0.037
rs7412	APOE	0.010	0.283
rs4420638	APOC1	0.493	0.172
rs50871	ERCC2	0.103	0.718
rs6067484	PTPN1	0.898	0.107

S3 Table. Means, standard deviations and differences in genetic longevity scores between sexes calculated using Student's t-test.

		uGLS90	uGLS95	wGLS90	wGLS95
Total (N=314)	Mean	7.869	4.379	14.337	11.112
	Std. Dev.	2.551	1.510	5.132	3.732
Men (N=80)	Mean	7.588	4.350	13.871	11.011
	Std. Dev.	2.656	1.442	5.241	3.516
Women (N=234)	Mean	7.966	4.389	14.496	11.146
	Std. Dev.	2.513	1.536	5.096	3.809
T-test between sexes	p-value	0.253	0.843	0.348	0.781

S1 Figure. Absolute distribution of the four genetic longevity scores median values (equal proportion of participants having genetic longevity scores above and below the median) by three age-at-death groups (<90.00 years, 90.00–94.99 years, and 95.00+ years). A) uGLS90, B) uGLS95, C) wGLS90, D) wGLS95.



S2 Figure. Relative distribution of age-at-death groups by median genetic longevity score (equal proportion of participants with genetic longevity scores above and below the median). A) wGLS90, B) wGLS95.



Mechanisms of Ageing and Development 219 (2024) 111926



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Mechanisms of Ageing and Development



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/mechagedev

The role of longevity-related genetic variant interactions as predictors of survival after 85 years of age

Maja Šetinc^{a, b, *}, Željka Celinšćak^a, Luka Bočkor^{a, b}, Matea Zajc Petranović^a, Anita Stojanović Marković^a, Marijana Peričić Salihović^a, Joris Deelen^{c, d, **, 1}, Tatjana Škarić-Jurić^{a, 1}

^a Institute for Anthropological Research, Zagreb 10000, Croatia

^b Centre for Applied Bioanthropology, Institute for Anthropological Research, Zagreb 10000, Croatia

^c Max Planck Institute for Biology of Ageing, Cologne 50931, Germany

^d Cologne Excellence Cluster on Cellular Stress Responses in Ageing-Associated Diseases (CECAD), University of Cologne, Cologne 50931, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Longevity Genetics Survival SNP interaction Epistasis Health-related traits

ABSTRACT

Genome-wide association studies and candidate gene studies have identified several genetic variants that might play a role in achieving longevity. This study investigates interactions between pairs of those single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and their effect on survival above the age of 85 in a sample of 327 Croatian individuals. Although none of the SNPs individually showed a significant effect on survival in this sample, 14 of the 359 interactions tested (between SNPs not in LD) reached the level of nominal significance (p<0.05), showing a potential effect on late-life survival. Notably, *SH2B3* rs3184504 interacted with different SNPs near *TERC*, *TP53* rs1042522 with different SNPs located near the *CDKN2B* gene, and *CDKN2B* rs1333049 with different SNPs in *FOXO3*, as well as with *LINC02227* rs2149954. The other interaction pairs with a possible effect on survival were *FOXO3* rs2802292 and *ERCC2* rs50871, *IL6* rs1800795 and *GHRHR* rs2267723, *LINC02227* rs2149954 and *PARK7* rs225119, as well as *PARK7* rs225119 and *PTPN1* rs6067484. These interactions remained significant when tested together with a set of health-related variables that also had a significant effect on survival above 85 years. In conclusion, our results confirm the central role of genetic regulation of insulin signalling and cell cycle control in longevity.

1. Introduction

Ageing is a complex process of organismal changes influenced by environmental factors and modulated by a complex system of gene regulation. It is defined by progressive weakening of all the functions of the organism, which ultimately leads to its death (Kirkwood, 2005). Since the world is facing ageing of the global population, with the proportion of elderly expected to almost double by 2050 (World Health Organization, 2023), the importance of research on this topic has never been greater. Most basic ageing mechanisms and candidate genes that affect them were discovered in model organisms (Antebi, 2007), but many retain the same function in humans due to high conservation of those genes among species (Smulders and Deelen, 2023). Research into these mechanisms is essential for a better understanding of what drives the ageing process, as well as for discovering the factors that contribute to successful ageing and longevity. Also, studies of the complex cellular signalling network that regulates the ageing process indicate its plasticity (Campisi et al., 2019) and point to ways in which it can be influenced.

The connection between food intake and lifespan has long been established (Fontana et al., 2010), and with it the involvement of the insulin/insulin-like growth factor signalling pathway (IIS). The key role of the IIS in ageing is exemplified by studies of mice carrying mutations in key genes downstream of insulin receptors (such as IRS1 (Selman et al., 2008)), as well as drugs that modulate insulin sensitivity or boost autophagy (Curtis et al., 2005; Rubinsztein et al., 2011). However, it is likely that many other pathways also play a role. Accumulation of DNA damage and telomere shortening are both time-related processes that

** Corresponding author at: Max Planck Institute for Biology of Ageing, Cologne 50931, Germany.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mad.2024.111926

Received 26 January 2024; Received in revised form 27 February 2024; Accepted 11 March 2024 Available online 13 March 2024

0047-6374/© 2024 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

^{*} Corresponding author at: Institute for Anthropological Research, Zagreb 10000, Croatia.

E-mail addresses: maja.setinc@inantro.hr (M. Šetinc), Joris.Deelen@age.mpg.de (J. Deelen).

¹ These authors contributed equally.

accompany ageing (Vijg, 2000), and the mechanisms that affect DNA repair and control cell cycle progression are key for maintaining genomic integrity as an organism ages (Lombard et al., 2005). Age is a major risk factor for developing age-related chronic conditions (Niccoli and Partridge, 2012; Dillin et al., 2014; Hou et al., 2019), which is why genes modulating the risk for chronic disease have also been studied as candidate genes for longevity. The most well-known example is the *APOE* gene – associated with the risk for cardiovascular diseases (Eichner et al., 1993; Wilson et al., 1994; Bennet et al., 2007) and Alzheimer's disease (Zuo et al., 2006; Farrer et al., 1997) – which was first identified in candidate gene studies and later confirmed in genome-wide association studies (GWAS) as the most important genetic factor influencing longevity (Smulders and Deelen, 2023).

Longevity is a complex trait, shaped both by the environment and genetic background, as well as by interactions between different genes involved in various signalling pathways (Shadyab and LaCroix, 2015; Brooks-Wilson, 2013). As GWAS focus on identifying the effects of individual SNPs (Lin et al., 2017), the insight gained from these studies is often fragmentary and does not consider the way these genes interact with each other or act in regard to a broader genetic context. When the complexity of the ageing process is considered, it is clear that gene-gene interactions, or epistasis, should also be explored, as complex interactions may be more important than the independent main effects of any one susceptibility gene (Moore, 2003). Analysing statistical interaction between loci can both increase the power to detect effects as well as outline the biological and biochemical pathways that underpin the phenotype (Cordell, 2009). This approach has been successfully used by Dato et al. (2018), who looked at interactions between SNPs belonging to three candidate pathways - IIS, DNA repair and pro/antioxidant pathways - to determine the combined effect of these SNPs on longevity, thus proving the validity of this approach for studying the genetics of ageing (Dato et al., 2018).

In this study, we tested the effect of 43 SNPs, previously reported to have an effect on longevity and associated with genes belonging to different ageing-related pathways, on survival of the oldest-olds, both individually and in SNP-SNP interactions. To this end, we made use of our previously generated dataset on a Croatian sample of individuals aged 85 years and older, which has been used to determine the genetic makeup that contributes to reaching longevity and extreme longevity in the studied sample (<u>Setinc et al., 2023</u>). Furthermore, the significance of these interactions was tested together with a large set of health status indicators available for the studied population to determine whether the genetic effect was independent of health-related phenotypes.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study population

The study sample consisted 327 unrelated oldest-old adults (85 years and older) who were residents of one of the 13 homes for elderly and infirm in Zagreb area (Croatia) in the period between 2007 and 2009 when the field research was carried out. Each subject participated voluntarily, signing an informed consent for participation and an additional consent for providing a peripheral venous blood sample for biochemical, haematological, and genetic analyses. Biochemical and haematological parameters were determined in an accredited laboratory. All subjects were interviewed, a short anthropometry was performed, their blood pressure was measured, and an ultrasound densitometry of the calcaneus (heel bone) was performed using Sahara Bone Densitometer (Hologic, Marlborough, Massachusetts, United States). The comprehensive questionnaire used in the research contained a wide spectrum of questions about functional ability, quality of life, family history of health and longevity, health and health-related behaviours, as well as two internationally standardised questionnaires: Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA) for assessing nutritional status (Guigoz and Vellas, 1999) and the psychometric test Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) for assessing the mental state of respondents (Folstein et al., 1975). A detailed description of the sample and study protocol can be found in Perinić Lewis et al. (2022) (Perinić Lewis et al., 2022). Ten years after the initial survey, the date of death for each of the respondents was collected from the national mortality register. Peripheral blood samples of 100 unrelated young people between the ages of 20 and 35 were collected (using the snowball method, with the aim of collecting a sample of individuals with random chances for reaching advanced old age) as a reference group for calculating the relative telomere length of the older adult subjects. The only inclusion criteria for this group were Croatian citizenship (in second generation) and the year of birth, but additional care was taken to make sure that sex distribution and age variance of the control group of young individuals aligned to that of the elderly sample.

The sample collection and the research described here were approved by the Ethics Committee of Institute for Anthropological Research (Zagreb, Croatia) and performed following all institutional guidelines. Ethical approvals obtained on March 4th 2006 (130–981/ 06) and 22nd November 2018 (20180518).

2.2. DNA isolation and genotyping

DNA was isolated from peripheral blood using the salting-out method (Miller et al., 1988). Forty-three SNPs located in candidate longevity genes were selected by reviewing the relevant literature, with the main criteria for inclusion being a strong or repeated association with human longevity and involvement in various signalling and metabolic pathways that play a role in the ageing process (e.g., cell cycle regulation, DNA repair mechanisms, the IIS). The DNA samples of all subjects were genotyped in a commercial laboratory using Kompetitive Allele Specific Polymerase chain reaction (KASP). Out of the initial 327 subjects at nine or more loci (over 20% of data was missing) and they were therefore excluded from further analyses, leaving a final sample of 314 participants. All missing data for participants with 1–8 unsuccessfully genotyped SNPs were replaced by the median value for that SNP.

2.3. Measurement of relative telomere length

Relative telomere length (RTL) was measured by quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) using primers that specifically bind to telomeric repeats (Cawthon, 2002). To calculate the relative telomere length of each subject, two reactions are needed: one in which specific primers multiply telomeric repeats, and another in which a gene that is repeated only once in the human genome is multiplied (in this case, the gene for beta-globin was chosen). We used 200 nM of following primers: [5'-GGCTTG [5'-CGGTTT(GTTTGG)5GTT-3'] tel1 and tel2 (CCTTAC)5CCT-3'] for the telomere repeats, and hbg1 [5'GCTTCTGACACAACTGTGTTCACTAGC-3'] and hbg2 [5'-CACCAA CTTCATCCACGTTCACC-3'] for single-copy gene human beta-globin, as they were listed in the protocol by Lin et al. (2010) (Lin et al., 2010) adapted from Cawthon (2002) (Cawthon, 2002). We used Brilliant III Ultra-Fast SYBR® Green QPCR Master Mix with Low ROX (Agilent Biotechnologies, Santa Clara, California, United States) and added 50 ng of DNA per reaction, which was run on the Agilent AriaMX Real-time PCR System. The thermal cycling profile consisted of: 2 min preheating at 50 °C, 2 min denaturation of the samples at 96 °C, followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 96 °C lasting 15 s and annealing/extension at 54 °C for 60 s. All samples were run in triplicates. We performed qPCR for both the 85+ sample we wanted to determine the relative telomere length for, and a control group of young people that was used as a reference sample. The relative telomere length was then expressed by fold change which represents the difference between the ratio of multiplied telomeric DNA and reference gene DNA of the target sample compared to the reference sample (Cawthon, 2002), according to the following formula: $2^{-(\Delta Ct(old) - mean \ \Delta Ct(young))} = 2^{-\Delta \Delta Ct}$. The fold change

M. Šetinc et al.

calculated in this manner is proportional to the average length of telomeres in the subjects' leukocytes, and the obtained data was used as a variable in further analyses.

2.4. Statistical analyses

Genotype data (available in open access on the online repository Zenodo) (Setinc et al., 2022) were coded as follows: homozygotes were given a value of 0 or 2, and heterozygotes were assigned a value of 1. The value of 2 was given to the allele that has been associated with increased longevity in previous research (Supplementary Table 1). The participants whose exact date of death was unknown were censored, and the target variable for calculating survival was set as the number of years the participants had lived after the age of 85. First, a Cox regression analysis testing the effect of each SNP on survival above 85 years was performed, with bootstrapping using 1000 samples and correction for gender. In order to avoid false-positive results caused by an extremely small representation of a single genotype, all SNPs with less than 10 cases of homozygous genotypes of either type were excluded from further analyses (n = 15). The remaining SNPs were tested for LD using Haploview (Barrett et al., 2005), and all possible SNP-SNP interactions between two SNPs that were not in LD (r < 0.2) were tested in survival analysis (359 interactions in total, listed in Supplementary Table 2). The effect of the SNP-SNP interaction on survival was tested using a bootstrapped Cox regression model that included gender, both of the SNPs (to account for their individual effect on the model), and their interaction as the variables. Survival analysis was also performed for RTL, which was tested both univariately and as a part of the health-related dataset. The subset of variables out of this health-related dataset that had a significant effect on survival were tested once again using Cox regression analysis with

Table 1

The results of the Cox regression survival analysis for each of 43 longevity SNPs in the Croatian oldest-old sample.

SNP	Variant type	Associated	Gene most likely	Cox regre	ession			included in SNP-SNP
		gene	impacted	p-	Hazard Ratio	95% CI	for HR	analysis
				value	(HR)	Lower	Upper	
rs225119	intronic	PARK7	PARK7	0.626	0.956	0.795	1.142	*
rs2360675	intronic	KLF7	KLF7	0.740	0.969	0.811	1.151	*
rs12696304	regulatory region	TERC	ACTRT3	0.257	0.897	0.731	1.082	*
	variant							
rs3772190	intronic	TERC	ACTRT3	0.095	1.168	0.974	1.408	*
rs16847897	intronic	TERC	ACTRT3	0.078	0.849	0.705	1.011	*
rs572169	synonymous	GHSR	GHSR	0.746	1.030	0.845	1.228	*
rs33954691	synonymous	TERT	TERT	0.928	1.013	0.809	1.297	
rs2706372	intronic	RAD50/IL13	IL13	0.985	1.002	0.831	1.234	*
rs2149954	intronic	LINC02227	(no data)	0.464	0.942	0.801	1.114	*
rs12203592	intronic	IRF4	IRF4	0.059	0.763	0.568	1.016	
rs1800629	regulatory region	TNF	HLA-C	0.622	0.930	0.689	1.212	
rs12206094	intronic	FOXO3	FOXO3	0.804	1.021	0.870	1.221	*
re2802200	intronic	FOYO3	FOYO3	0.487	0.938	0.701	1 1 2 2	*
rs2764264	intronic	FOXO3	FOXO3	0.708	0.969	0.824	1.156	*
rs10457180	intronic	FOXO3	FOXO3	0.751	0.973	0.815	1.158	*
rs13217795	intronic	FOXO3	FOXO3	0.603	0.955	0.810	1.133	*
rs4946935	intronic	FOXO3	FOXO3	0.729	1.031	0.879	1.232	*
rs9456497	intronic	IGF2R	IGF2R	0.749	0.968	0.773	1.189	*
rs10455872	intronic	LPA	SLC22A3	0.711	0.919	0.596	1.445	
rs1800795	intronic	11.6	STEAP1B	0.714	0.971	0.823	1.149	*
rs2069837	non-coding exon	11.6	11.6	0.427	1.128	0.841	1.501	
	variant							
rs2267723	intronic	GHRHR	GHRHR	0.681	0.968	0.817	1.133	*
rs13251813	intronic	WRN	WRN	0.587	1.120	0.741	1.747	
rs4977756	intronic	CDKN2B	CDKN2B	0.835	1.018	0.851	1.215	*
rs1333049	intronic	CDKN2B	CDKN2B	0.642	1.037	0.891	1.221	*
rs4837525	intronic	PAPPA	PAPPA	0.162	0.883	0.751	1.049	*
rs533984	intronic	MRE11A	MRE11A	0.491	1.064	0.892	1.273	*
rs17202060	intronic	TXNRD1	TXNRD1	0.407	1.076	0.900	1.309	*
rs3184504	missense	SH2B3	SH2B3	0.357	0.921	0.780	1.102	*
rs1207362	intronic	KLOTHO	KLOTHO	0.269	0.911	0.767	1.066	*
rs9536314	missense	KLOTHO	KLOTHO	0.136	1.200	0.924	1.554	
rs9527025	missense	KLOTHO	KLOTHO	0.171	0.833	0.649	1.106	
rs2229765	missense	IGF1R	IGF1R	0.142	1.114	0.955	1.275	*
rs12437963	intronic	IGF1R	IGF1R	0.791	0.970	0.769	1.213	
rs1042522	missense	TP53	TP53	0.133	0.870	0.714	1.048	*
rs2078486	intronic	TP53	EFNB3	0.550	0.899	0.644	1.290	
rs107251	intronic	SIRT6	SIRT6	0.984	1.004	0.718	1.320	
rs2075650	intronic	TOMM40	TOMM40	0.709	0.949	0.705	1.225	
rs429358	missense	APOE	APOE	0.106	0.784	0.556	1.045	
rs7412	missense	APOE	APOE	0.345	0.879	0.676	1.153	
rs4420638	regulatory region	APOC1	APOE	0.262	0.871	0.668	1.129	
rc50871	intronic	FRCC2	KIC3	0.654	0.967	0.824	1 1 2 7	*
rs6067484	intronic	PTPN1	PTPN1	0.034	0.907	0.737	1.12/	*
13000/404	introllic	F 1 F 18 1	111111	0.241	0.094	0.737	1.099	

In order, the columns show rsID of tested SNPs, variant type, gene (both the gene that has been associated with the SNP in other publications and the gene reported to most likely be affected by the SNP by eQTL or Variant2Gene pipeline in the online database Open Targets Genetics), bootstrap-adjusted p-values, hazard ratios (HR) and adjusted 95% confidence intervals (CI) for HR obtained in a Cox regression analysis of single SNP and gender with survival time after 85 years of age as the time-to-event variable. SNPs that pass the criterion of having over 10 cases of any genotype represented in our sample and have been included in further analyses are marked with an asterisk.

bootstrapping, and the ones that reached statistical significance were added to the regression models with significant SNP-SNP interactions. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software package 21.0.

3. Results

3.1. Single SNP and interaction analyses

We first tested each of the 43 genotyped SNPs to determine their individual effect on survival after 85 years of age. However, none of the SNPs showed a significant effect on survival in our sample (Table 1). Relative telomere length, when tested univariately, was also not a significant predictor of survival.

As a next step, we studied the interactions between the SNPs. Out of the 359 tested models (Supplementary Table 2), 14 different SNP combinations showed a bootstrap-adjusted nominally significant interaction effect on survival after 85 years (Table 2). Out of 14 interactions, nine are combinations between three gene pairs - TERC and SH2B3, TP53 and CDKN2B, and CDKN2B and FOXO3. Missense variant rs3184504 in SH2B3 had an effect on late-life survival in interactions with three intronic SNPs located near TERC: rs16847897 (p=0.002), rs12696304 (p=0.014) and rs3772190 (p=0.032). A missense mutation in TP53, rs1042522, made significant interaction pairs with two intronic SNPs located near CDKN2B, rs4977756 (p=0.003) and rs1333049 (p=0.025). The variant rs1333049 near CDKN2B also impacted survival above 85 years in separate interactions with intronic FOXO3 SNPs rs4946935 (p=0.009), rs12206094 (p=0.021), rs13217795 (p=0.043) and rs2764264 (p=0.049). Multiple interactions between a single SNP and variants located in close genomic proximity corroborate the finding that these genes in tandem could affect survival, even though their

Table 2

The results of Cox regression analysis of SNP-SNP interactions as predictors of survival above 85 years in a Croatian sample.

First SNP	Second SNP	Interaction	Hazard	95% CI i	for HR
		p-value	Ratio (HR)	Lower	Upper
TERC rs16847897	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.002	0.665	0.512	0.860
CDKN2B	TP53	0.003	1.512	1.135	2.119
FOXO3	CDKN2B	0.009	1.306	1.066	1.654
FOXO3	ERCC2	0.013	0.750	0.584	0.940
TERC	SH2B3	0.014	0.708	0.539	0.946
FOXO3	CDKN2B	0.021	1.292	1.042	1.642
CDKN2B	TP53	0.025	1.336	1.030	1.738
rs1333049 TERC	rs1042522 SH2B3	0.032	1.403	1.007	1.927
rs3772190 LINC02227	rs3184504 CDKN2B	0.038	0.785	0.619	0.983
rs2149954 IL6 rs1800795	rs1333049 GHRHR	0.038	1.246	1.000	1.537
FOXO3	rs2267723 CDKN2B	0.043	1.279	1.021	1.649
rs13217795 PARK7	rs1333049 LINC02227	0.044	0.776	0.605	1.002
rs225119 PARK7	rs2149954 PTPN1	0.045	1.366	0.986	1.883
rs225119 FOXO3	rs6067484 CDKN2B	0.049	1.266	1.005	1.624
rs2764264	rs1333049				

Each model included gender, two SNPs and their interaction as predictor variables. Presented in the table are the bootstrap-adjusted p-values from regression models of all significant SNP-SNP interactions, as well as interaction HR and adjusted 95% CI for HR. Significant p-values are marked in bold. repeated pairing could also be due to the high LD between the TERC, CDKN2B and FOXO3 variants, respectively. Other interaction pairs that affected survival above 85 years were FOXO3 rs2802292 and ERCC2 rs50871 (p=0.013), CDKN2B rs1333049 and LINC02227 rs2149954 (p=0.038), IL6 rs1800795 and GHRHR rs2267723 (p=0.038), LINC02227 rs2149954 and PARK7 rs225119 (p=0.044), and PARK7 rs225119 and PTPN1 rs6067484 (p=0.045). We applied a false discovery rate (FDR) correction to the interaction p-values, but none of the SNP-SNP interactions passed this threshold ($p < 1.39 \times 10^{-4}$). Fig. 1 depicts the Kaplan-Meier curve of survival after the age of 85 for the interaction between TERC rs16847897 and SH2B3 rs3184504 (p=0.002, our strongest finding), which shows how different genotype combinations impact the late-life survival. It is visible that the respondents who are carriers of homozygous genotypes associated with longevity for both SNPs in interaction have better survival than carriers of the other genotype combinations.

3.2. Health-related measures contributing to survival

Given the large amount of health data collected from the participants, we created a comprehensive set of 33 variables covering a large spectrum of health-related parameters and then used Cox regression to determine which of those factors also contribute to the survival of our oldest-old sample (Table 3). In this model, nine out of the 33 healthrelated variables tested simultaneously remained significantly associated with survival in advanced old age. Higher odds of surviving past 85 were found for participants who had a family history of longevity, with either a mother or a sibling living beyond 80 years of age. Moreover, participants who were categorised as well-nourished and fell among the first three quartiles of the weight distribution had higher chances of survival as well. In addition, higher chances of survival were found among those who reported taking less than four medicaments daily and



Fig. 1. Kaplan-Meier curve of survival after the age of 85 for the interaction between *TERC* rs16847897 and *SH2B3* rs3184504 (p=0.002). Nine possible genotype combinations are grouped in four categories (4, 2, 1, 0) based on the product value of the genotype scores. The genotype combination with a value of four (marked in orange) has two longevity-associated effect alleles on each locus; the combinations with a value of two (magenta) have two longevity-associated effect alleles on one locus and one on the other; heterozygous genotype combination with the value of one (indigo) have one longevity-associated effect allele on each locus, and the genotypes with a value of zero (blue) have no longevity-associated effect alleles on at least one of the two loci.

Table 3

elomere length (RTI vith bootstrapping u	L) as predictors of su using 1000 samples	urvival ab	oove 85 yea	rs of age, j	performed	Predictor variables (referent values)	According to beta value, longer survival	p- value	Hazard Ratio (HR)	95% CI	tor HR Upper
Predictor variables	According to beta value,	p- value	Hazard Ratio	95% CI	for HR	(10101011 101005)	with following characteristics		(111)		
(referent values)	longer survival with following characteristics		(HR)	Lower	Upper	Basophils by median (0.02+ %)	Basophils: 0.02+ %	0.621	1.102	0.748	1.709
Gender (men) Body weight by sex-specific 4 th	Women Body weight: men = <87.3 kg;	0.546 0.014	0.869 0.576	0.489 0.340	1.390 0.949	Self-rated health (poor, satisfactory, good)	Self-rated health: very good, excellent	0.556	0.892	0.558	1.349
quartile (men = $87.3 + kg;$ women = 72.6 + kg)	women = <72.6 kg					Self-rated health compared to age-peers	Self-rated health is better compared to age-	0.084	0.727	0.485	1.063
Waist circumference by median (men = 100.0+	Waist circumference: men = 100.0+ cm; women =	0.110	1.352	0.902	2.036	(worse or equal) Functional ability (self-rated	self-rated mobility and/or	0.440	0.861	0.556	1.324
cm; women = 92.0+) Upper arm	92.0+ Upper arm	0.167	0.741	0.441	1.102	mobility and independence are both less than excellent)	independence are excellent				
by median (men = 27.6+ cm; women =	men = < 27.6 cm; women = <27.3 cm					Mini Mental State Examination score by median (< 23)	Mini Mental State Examination score: 23+	0.208	0.792	0.498	1.099
27.3+ cm) Left heel bone mineral density (T-values: > -1.0 OR <	Left heel bone mineral density T-values: (-1.0) - (-2.4)	0.010	0.631	0.407	0.826	Self-rated nutritional status (mildly or severely malnourished)	Self-rated nutritional status: well nourished	0.028	0.599	0.334	0.881
-2.4) Fasting glucose: 1 st , 4 th vs 2 nd , 3 rd quartile	Fasting glucose is within normal range: 4.20 –	0.471	0.890	0.620	1.228	Mild or heavy depression (Yes)	Not suffering from depression	0.080	0.745	0.512	1.045
(<4.20 mmol/L OR >6.40 mmol/L)	6.40 mmol/L					Number of medicaments taken daily	Number of medicaments taken daily: 0–4	0.044	0.685	0.430	0.946
Total serum cholesterol (<5.0 mmol/L) Bilirubia in	Total serum cholesterol: 5.0+ mmol/L Bilirybin in	0.354	0.845	0.558	1.240	Number of hospital admissions in	One or no hospital admissions in the	0.020	0.612	0.372	0.900
serum by sex- specific median (men = <11.0 µmol/L; women	serum: men = 11.0+ µmol/L; women = 9.0+ µmol/L	0.103	0.756	0.519	1.034	the past year (2 or more) Experiencing an acute illness in	past year Experiencing an acute illness in	0.074	0.701	0.437	1.047
= <9.0 μmol/L) Albumin in serum: 1 st , 4 th vs 2 nd , 3 rd	Albumin in serum: <40 g/L OR >48 g/L	0.464	1.144	0.770	1.603	No) Family history of hypertension	past 3 months No family history of hypertension	0.948	1.014	0.627	1.662
quartile (<40 g/L OR >48 g/L)		0.005	0.000	0.547	1.140	(No) Family history of diabetes (No)	Have a family history of diabetes	0.277	0.760	0.442	1.311
sex-specific median (men = <14 µmol/L;	men = 14+ µmol/L; women = 12+ µmol/L	0.225	0.800	0.547	1.160	Smoking status (smoker or ex- smoker)	Smoker or ex- smoker	0.656	1.086	0.724	1.613
women = <12 μ mol/L) Unsaturated Iron Binding Capacity: 1 st , 4 th vs 2 nd , 3 rd eventiae (=26)	UIBC is within normal range: 26–59 µmol/L	0.626	0.844	0.344	1.726	For the question: "Do you think that smoking is your health- risk behavior?" (Answer: "Yes")	Does not think that smoking is his/her health risk behavior	0.097	0.468	0.137	1.189
quartile (<26 µmol/L OR >59 µmol/L)						Using denture (No)	Does not use denture	0.348	1.220	0.780	1.976
Folates in serum by median (<=18.1 nmol/ L)	Folates in serum: >18.1 nmol/L	0.017	0.502	0.245	0.816	Number of vitamin supplements daily taken	Number of vitamin supplements daily taken: men:	0.570	1.110	0.770	1.639
Erythrocytes: 1 st , 4 th vs 2 nd , 3 rd quartile (< 9.0 *10e12/L OR >15.0 *10e12/ L)	Erythrocytes: < 9.0 *10e12/L OR >15.0 *10e12/L	0.549	1.152	0.703	2.028	(men: 0–2; women: 0–1) Regularly taking supplementary vitamin B complex (No)	0–2; women: 0–1 Regularly taking supplementary vitamin B complex	0.017	0.533	0.292	0.966

(continued on next page)

Table 3 (continued)

Predictor	According to	p-	Hazard	95% CI	for HR
variables (referent values)	beta value, longer survival with following characteristics	value	Ratio (HR)	Lower	Upper
Regularly taking supplementary magnesium (No)	Regularly taking supplementary magnesium	0.731	0.911	0.471	1.618
Drinking beer (rare or never)	Drinking beer at least once a week	0.426	0.772	0.356	1.380
Age of the oldest living sibling (<80)	Age of the oldest living sibling is 80+ years	0.035	0.560	0.289	0.897
Mother's age at death (<80)	Mother's age at death is 80+ years	0.049	0.738	0.506	0.983
RTL	RTL	0.491	1.052	0.910	1.250

Except RTL, all predictor variables are binary (0, 1) and the referent value "0" is described in parentheses. Significant p-values (p<0.05) are marked in bold.

taking B-complex supplements. Folate levels above 18,1 nmol/L and one or less hospital stays in the year prior to taking the survey were also significantly associated with higher chances of survival. Interestingly, higher chances of survival in advanced old age were found for participants who had osteopenia (lowered bone density), but not osteoporosis. When these nine variables were tested in a separate model (Supplementary Table 3), all of them remained significant. RTL, which was also tested jointly with the health-related variables, did not have a significant effect on survival chances of the studied sample.

3.3. Joint analyses of SNP interactions and health indicators

To determine whether the genetic interactions and the tested health status indicators have an independent effect on survival, significant SNP-SNP interaction models were tested along with the nine significant health-related variables (Supplementary Table 4). Out of 14 interaction models that were significant in the previous step, ten remain significant even in a bootstrapped model containing health variables, and they are presented in Table 4 in a decreasing order of interaction p-values. Five of the interactions that remained significant after the inclusion of health indicators in the analysis included one of the CDKN2B SNPs: the interactions of TP53 rs1042522 with both CDKN2B rs4977756 and rs1333049 (p=0.002 and p=0.013, respectively), the interactions of two FOXO3 SNPs, rs4946935 and rs12206094, with CDKN2B rs1333049 (p=0.035 and p=0.044, respectively); as well as the interaction between LINC02227 rs2149954 and CDKN2B rs1333049 (p=0.015). The interactions between the two SNPs near TERC, rs16847897 and rs12696304, and SH2B3 rs3184504 (p=0.007 and p=0.049, respectively) also remained significant after the addition of health-related parameters, along with the interactions between IL6 rs1800795 and GHRHR rs2267723 (p=0.005), LINC02227 rs2149954 and PARK7 rs225119 (p=0.016), and FOXO3A rs2802292 and ERCC2 rs50871 (p=0.047). While most health-related variables remain significant in models that include genetic interactions, the variable reporting the number of medicaments taken loses significance in both TERC - SH2B3 interaction models, and the maternal age at death is no longer a significant predictor of survival in both interaction models of CDKN2B and FOXO3, indicating that these genetic interactions likely impact survival through a phenotype that is covered by these health parameters. The number of hospital admissions also loses significance in both CDKN2B -FOXO3 models, the PARK7 - LINC02227 model, and one of the CDKN2B - TP53 models, while being only marginally significant in the other.

4. Discussion

In this study, we tested the effect of SNPs associated with longevity in

First gene	CDKN2B rs4977756	IL6 rs1800795	TERC rs16847897	CDKN2B rs1333049	LINC02227 rs2149954	PARK7 rs225119	FOXO3 rs4946935	FOXO3 rs12206094	FOX03 rs2802292	TERC rs12696304
Second gene	TP53 rs1042522	GHRHR rs2267723	SH2B3 rs3184504	TP53 rs1042522	CDKN2B rs1333049	LINC02227 rs2149954	CDKN2B rs1333049	CDKN2B rs1333049	ERCC2 rs50871	SH2B3 rs3184504
Interaction p-value Gender	0.002 0.311	0.005 0.146	0.007 0.078	0.013 0.182	0.015 0.292	0.016 0.082	0.035 0.248	0.044 0.238	0.047 0.183	0.049 0.134
Body weight by sex-specific 4 th	0.001	0.002	0.001	0.002	0.003	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
quartue Left heel bone mineral density	0.004	0.008	0.007	0.002	0.001	0.005	0.003	0.006	0.002	0.004
Folates in serum by median	0.023	0.001	0.019	0.009	0.011	0.018	0.014	0.023	0.020	0.014
Self-rated nutritional status	0.003	0.008	0.025	0.003	0.007	0.018	0.023	0.019	0.007	0.014
Number of medicaments taken daily	0.030	0.019	0.114	0.039	0.013	0.040	0.017	0.017	0.034	0.074
Number of hospital admissions in the past vear	0.069	0.014	0.037	0.050	0.040	0.074	0.095	0.102	0.039	0.037
Regularly taking supplementary vitamin B complex	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.003	0.002	0.002	0.006	0.001
Age of the oldest living sibling Mother's age at death	0.005 0.029	0.003 0.017	0.003 0.018	0.005 0.036	0.005 0.049	0.001 0.029	0.003 0.056	0.001 0.063	0.004 0.031	0.003 0.034
The table shows bootstrap-adjusted variables are described in Table 3.	l p-values of gende Significant p-value	er, the SNP-SNP in es (p<0.05) are ma	iteractions, and n arked in bold.	ine health-related	l variables that ma	de up the models tha	at were tested by	Cox regression ana	alysis. The values	of health-related

Table 4

other studies on survival above 85 years of age in a sample of Croatian oldest-old individuals, both individually and in two-SNP interactions. Individually, none of the SNPs had a significant effect on survival in advanced old age. Considering the relatively small sample size, the effect of the individual SNPs was possibly too weak to be detected at this level. However, the predictive power of SNPs can be improved by combining multiple SNPs in a single model (Van Den Broeck et al., 2014), or by testing the interactions between them, as SNP-SNP interactions may be more informative about the target phenotype than a single SNP alone (Gerke et al., 2009). The use of this approach for genetic studies of human longevity was validated in a study by (Dato et al. (2018); Dato et al., 2018), who investigated SNP-SNP interactions impacting longevity in a sample of Danish origin, while focusing on SNPs from three candidate pathways connected to longevity - the IIS, DNA repair, and pro/antioxidant pathways. Their approach was different from the one presented in this paper, as they studied a larger SNP dataset on a much larger sample and used the tagging approach to prioritize SNPs inside the candidate genes. They also applied a multi-dimensional reduction analysis, which we did not do here. We investigated interactions between all the SNPs we had available for our sample. SNP-SNP interactions were not examined for pairs of SNPs in LD, as linkage between loci might also falsely indicate a higher value of interaction (Su et al., 2015). As we also excluded from the interaction analyses all SNPs that had a very low frequency of one of the genotypes (less than 10 carriers of a homozygous genotype) to avoid false-positive results, the final set for interaction analyses comprised 28 SNPs. Of the 359 different models we tested, 10 SNP-SNP interaction pairs were nominally significant predictors of survival beyond the age of 85 years.

4.1. CDKN2B - the link between pathways with implications for longevity

Half of the two-SNP interactions that had an impact on survival above 85 years of age had an SNP associated with the CDKN2B gene as one of the members of the interacting pair, indicating a key role this gene has in longevity and late-life survival. Intronic variants rs4977756 and rs1333049, previously associated with longevity phenotypes (Pinós et al., 2014; Fortney et al., 2015; Pilling et al., 2016), are located in the chromosomic 9p21.3 region between the genes CDKN2A and CDKN2B, and are predicted in the online database Open Targets Genetics to most likely impact the expression of these genes, with the strongest evidence existing for CDKN2B (Ghoussaini et al., 2021). CDKN2B is a tumour suppressor gene that has been strongly associated with risk for coronary heart disease (Helgadottir et al., 2007; Burton et al., 2007; McPherson et al., 2007). It encodes protein p151NK4B, an inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinases 4 and 6 that stops cell cycle progression in response to regulatory signals (Park and Lee, 2003), and has an important role in cell cycle regulation and senescence (McPherson et al., 2007). The expression of p15^{INK4B} is strongly induced by transforming growth factor-\u03b3 (TGF-\u03b3) (Hannon and Beach, 1994), causing G1-phase cell cycle arrest. The genomic region around CDKN2B that spans across the two SNPs from this study also encodes a long non-coding RNA, ANRIL, that acts in cis via epigenetic mechanisms to silence the p15^{INK4B} expression and increase proliferation while slowing down the entry of cells into senescence (Kotake et al., 2011; Yap et al., 2010; Pasmant et al., 2011). Next to *CDKN2B* is the gene *CDKN2A* which encodes protein variants p16^{INK4A} and p14^{ARF} in two different reading frames (Pasmant et al., 2011). While $p16^{INK4A}$ works similarly to $p15^{INK4B}$ as a cell cycle inhibitor, $p14^{ARF}$, on the other hand, acts by activating the p53 tumour suppressor pathway (Gil and Peters, 2006) by inhibiting protein MDM2, the key effector for degradation of p53 (Lohrum et al., 2000).

4.1.1. Interactions within the cell cycle control network

In the current study, both SNPs associated with the CDKN2B gene interacted significantly with TP53 rs1042522 to affect survival in the population above 85 years. This variant is a missense mutation causing

substitution of arginine (Arg) with proline (Pro) at codon 72 of p53, a key tumour suppressor that blocks cell cycle progression (Lane, 1992; Lavin and Gueven, 2006) and promotes apoptosis in conditions of cellular stress (Shadyab et al., 2017). Under normal conditions, it is present in cells at low levels, but rapidly undergoes stabilising posttranslational modifications and activation in response to stimuli (Lavin and Gueven, 2006; Caspari, 2000). The effect of the Arg72Pro substitution is functional, with the proline variant having a reduced apoptotic response compared to the arginine (Marin et al., 2000; Dumont et al., 2003). This variant has also been reported to impact longevity and survival in the oldest-old age group (Van Heemst et al., 2005; Groß et al., 2014). As the potential effect on the expression of *CDKN2A*, and therefore $p14^{ARF}$, has been reported for at least one of the SNPs in the CDKN2A/B region, the link between them and the TP53 rs1042522 that we see in our study could be the via the p14ARF/MDM2/p53 axis, and the stabilizing effect p14ARF has on p53. Furthermore, a study by Leeper et al. (2013) found that CDKN2B knockdown in human arterial smooth muscle cells resulted in increased expression of p53. They also performed protein microarray analysis of factors related to the p53 signalling and apoptotic pathways, and found that MDM2 protein, ahead of p53 itself, was among the top targets of proteins that are regulated (Leeper et al., 2013). This shows that CDKN2B may regulate p53 activity by mediating its degradation via MDM2.

4.1.2. Interplay between cell cycle control and insulin signalling

The complex cellular network of insulin signalling and its downstream effects represents probably the best-studied system with implications for longevity. The FOXO genes are a group of transcription factors that act downstream of insulin and insulin-like growth factor receptors (Martins et al., 2016). As the most important transcriptional effectors of the IIS, FOXOs are activated by metabolic stress and lack of nutrients (Dong et al., 2008; Eijkelenboom and Burgering, 2013). Insulin or IGF-1 trigger a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B (PI3K-AKT) cascade, causing the serine/threonine kinase AKT to phosphorylate FOXO, which is followed by exclusion of FOXO from the nucleus and silencing of the genes targeted by FOXO (Biggs et al., 1999; Brunet et al., 1999; Webb and Brunet, 2014). The genes downstream of FOXO are involved in cellular quality control, proteostasis and autophagy (Mammucari et al., 2007; Kikis et al., 2010). FOXO3 is a gene whose implication in longevity is well established, and the association of SNPs near FOXO3 with longevity has been confirmed in diverse populations (Willcox et al., 2008; Anselmi et al., 2009; Flachsbart et al., 2009; Soerensen et al., 2010; Bao et al., 2014; Broer et al., 2015; Zeng et al., 2010). Four variants, whose association with the FOXO3 gene are also implicated in the Open Targets Genetics database (Ghoussaini et al., 2021), had a significant interaction with CDKN2B rs1333049 that contributed to survival above 85 years in our oldest-old sample. This is perhaps not surprising, as FOXO3 is upstream of the CDKN2B gene, acting as a regulator of CDKN2B expression (Hornsveld et al., 2018). Additionally, one study showed that FOXOs might be key interacting partners for SMAD transcription factors through which TGF-β pathway activates the CDKN2B gene expression (Gomis et al., 2006), which is what might explain the joint effect they have on longevity.

4.1.3. Genetic risk factors for cardiovascular diseases

Another significant interaction partner of *CDKN2B* rs1333049 was variant rs2149954, located in the 5q33.3 genomic region, and close to the long intergenic non-coding RNA 2227 (*LINC02227*). This variant was first mentioned in a paper by Deelen et al. (2014) reporting results of GWAS on longevity as a novel locus associated with survival beyond 90 years of age (Deelen et al., 2014). Prior to this, variants in LD with this SNP have been associated with blood pressure and hypertension (Ehret et al., 2011; Wain et al., 2011). Zeng et al. (2016) confirmed the association with longevity in their GWAS on Han Chinese population (Zeng et al., 2016), which was replicated in another study (Liu et al., 2021). There is no data on the functional impact of this variant in the

online databases, but the minor allele of rs2149954 was found to be protective against heart attack and heart failure, and was related with increased physical functioning in the long-lived individuals (Nygaard et al., 2017). Shadyab et al. (2017) found that seven SNPs in LD with rs2149954 impacted the chances of survival to age 85, which was explained by an increased risk of coronary heart disease connected to the one of the alleles (Shadyab et al., 2017). As a connection between genetic variants and CVD risk has been reported for both 5q33.3 region of rs2149954 and 9p21.3 region of *CDKN2B* rs1333049, the significant interaction of these SNPs for survival beyond the age of 85 might have something to do with modulating this risk.

LINC02227 rs2149954 was also significant in interaction with rs225119, an intronic variant associated to the PARK1 gene. PARK7 encodes Parkinsonism associated deglycase, also known as DJ-1, an evolutionary conserved enzyme with a cysteine residue that serves as a catalytic nucleophile (Wilson et al., 2003) and a domain that shares a significant homology with a bacterial heat-shock protein (Wei et al., 2007). The cysteine residue is easily oxidised and has been reported to mitigate oxidative stress by serving as a scavenger for reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Clements et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2010; Billia et al., 2013; Shi et al., 2015). DJ-1 has been shown to affect cell survival to some degree by modulating PTEN/PI3K/Akt signalling cascade (Kim et al., 2005) and by altering p53 activity (Shinbo et al., 2005). Dato et al. (2018) have found the interaction of PARK7 rs225119 with MRE11A rs533984 and GHSR rs572169 to be associated with longevity (Dato et al., 2018). The connection between PARK1 and LINC02227 is not very clear, but perhaps the antioxidative effect of PARK7 works synergistically with the CVD-protective effect of LINC02227 rs2149954 to influence survival chances.

4.2. Connection between CVD genetic risk factors and SNPs influencing telomere length

Intronic variants rs16847897, rs12696304 and rs3772190 are located on chromosome 3 near the TERC gene. Encoding the RNA component of the ribonucleoprotein telomerase, an enzyme that serves as a template and elongates telomeric DNA (Blackburn and Collins, 2011; Zhang et al., 2012), the TERC gene is an important component for telomere maintenance. It is an enzyme that is not expressed in most human cells (Blackburn et al., 2015), but is expressed in stem cells (Wright et al., 1996; Collins and Mitchell, 2002) and often in cancer cells (Hahn et al., 1999). All three of the SNPs have been associated with leukocyte telomere length (Codd et al., 2010; Soerensen et al., 2012; Shen et al., 2011), a phenotype that has been proposed as a marker of biological age (Sanders and Newman, 2013; Lohman et al., 2021) and associated with age-related diseases (Panossian et al., 2003; Aviv, 2012; Rossiello et al., 2022; Jeanclos et al., 1998). Functional analysis, however, links all three of these SNPs to changes in expression levels of another gene, ACTRT3 (Ghoussaini et al., 2021), whose function has yet to be characterized. The missing link between these SNPs and TERC in databases reporting the results of functional analyses could be due to the fact that the product of the TERC gene is of RNA nature, and isn't covered in analyses of protein expression. rs16847897, rs12696304 and rs3772190 all interacted with missense rs3184504 in the SH2B3 gene in a way that significantly affected survival above 85 years of age, with the most significant interaction being between rs16847897 and rs3184504. The SH2B3 gene encodes SH2B adaptor protein 3 (also known as LNK, lymphocyte adaptor protein), a protein whose main role is negative regulation of inflammatory cytokine signalling and haematopoiesis (Tong et al., 2005; Devallire and Charreau, 2011). rs3184504 is a common missense variant resulting in substitution of tryptophan (Trp) with arginine (Arg) at amino-acid 262, and is predicted to have the strongest impact on the SH2B3 (LNK) itself, disrupting its subcellular localisation and functioning (Dale and Madhur, 2016). This variant has been associated with exceptional human longevity and parental age (Fortney et al., 2015; Pilling et al., 2016). It is also is a top association

signal for hypertension in GWAS (Ehret et al., 2011; Levy et al., 2009), and has been linked to cardiovascular and autoimmune disorders (Devallire and Charreau, 2011; Laroumanie et al., 2018). As telomere length and *SH2B3* both impact the chances for developing cardiovascular disease (CVD), the connection between the *TERC* and *SH2B3* genes could lie in disease pathophysiology. Since the incidence of cardiovascular pathologies increases with age (Lye and Donnellan, 2000), with an estimated prevalence of CVD among people over the age of 80 being 82% (Yazdanyar and Newman, 2009), it would make sense for the interactions of these two genes to have an impact on survival in this age group via a joint effect of protective variants in CVD evasion.

4.3. Interactions within broader IIS network

4.3.1. Interplay of SNPs associated with obesity and IIS

The intronic variant rs50871 is located in the ERCC2 gene, a gene encoding a DNA helicase that is an essential subunit of a complex transcription factor known as the general transcription factor 2 H (TFIIH) in charge of basal transcription, and is also involved in transcription-coupled nucleotide excision repair (NER) (Coin et al., 1998; De Boer and Hoeijmakers, 2000; Keriel et al., 2002; Benhamou and Sarasin, 2002). Functional analyses, however, report that rs50871 impacts the expression of KLC3 gene (Ghoussaini et al., 2021) encoding kinesin light chain 3, a subunit of the molecular motor protein kinesin. While not much is known about the specific role of KLC3, apart from its ability to attach to mitochondria and its involvement in sperm tail formation, this gene has been associated with the development of Alzheimer's disease and obesity metrics (Charisis et al., 2023). While Dato et al. (2018) report that rs50871 had a significant effect on longevity in interaction with TP53 rs2078486 (Dato et al., 2018), in our study, rs50871 interacted significantly with the FOXO3 gene rs2802292, which has also been associated with longevity (Flachsbart et al., 2009), especially in men (Willcox et al., 2008; Anselmi et al., 2009; Bao et al., 2014). With FOXO3 being a main connecting link to the IIS, and rs50871 causing changes to the expression of the protein related to obesity, it is possible that the SNP-SNP interaction between these two variants is significant due to the obesity-related changes in insulin signaling (Blackburn and Collins, 2011; Zhang et al., 2012).

4.3.2. Interaction with genes from the growth hormone-IIS axis

Intronic variant rs2267723 is reported to influence the splicing of GHRHR, a gene that encodes growth hormone-releasing hormone receptor. A part of growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor 1/insulin signalling axis, this receptor, located in the pituitary gland on the membrane of somatotropic cells, binds growth hormone-releasing hormone which causes synthesis and secretion of growth hormone (GH) (Mayo et al., 2000). rs2267723 interacted significantly with rs1800795, an intronic variant that has previously been associated with the IL6 gene, but is located closest to the STEAP1B gene. While there is evidence it influences the expression of both genes, the effect on STEAP1B is much stronger (Ghoussaini et al., 2021). Not much is known of the biological functions of STEAP1B genes, apart from their metalloreductase activity and their role in iron and copper homeostasis, (Ohgami et al., 2006; Xu et al., 2022) so it is difficult to assume how the variant associated with this gene works together with GHRHR rs2267723 to impact survival of the oldest-olds. Perhaps their interaction is dependent on the effect of rs1800795 on IL6, a cytokine with both pro- and anti-inflammatory properties (Minciullo et al., 2016) that has previously been associated with longevity (Christiansen et al., 2004; Albani et al., 2009; Revelas et al., 2018), and can influence insulin signalling and glucose metabolism (Kim et al., 2008).

4.4. Genetic interactions and health status indicators

The key factor for benefitting from the extra years of life attained on account of beneficial genetic background is good health (Beard et al.,

M. Šetinc et al.

2016). Existence of disease and its onset, functional status and frailty are all indicators of physiological changes that can precede death (Crimmins and Beltrán-Sánchez, 2011), and can be useful as variables for predicting survival. In this study, we tested the dataset of health-related parameters for our oldest-old sample as predictors of survival in advanced old age, both independently and with the significant genetic factors. Of the 33 tested variables, a subset of nine had an effect on survival in a model without genetic factors. These were maternal and fraternal longevity, nourishment status, weight, bone density, folates, number of medicaments taken, taking of B-complex supplements and number of hospital stays in the year prior to taking the survey. For most of these, the category within the variable related to better survival was an expected one, except that higher chances of survival were found for participants who had osteopenia. However, this is not entirely surprising, as osteopenia is a common trait amongst the oldest-old, thus representing normal ageing (Ginsburg et al., 2001; Škarić-Jurić and Rudan, 1997; Raisz and Seeman, 2001). In the joint models of genetic and health-related factors, most of the health-related variables remained significant, proving that the selected health-related traits can indeed robustly and independently of genetic factors predict chances of survival for the oldest-old population. Interestingly, loss of significance of the variable describing the number of medicaments taken in combination with TERC and SH2B3 indicates that this interaction influences a phenotype that is also covered by these health parameters. Perhaps, it might have a role in mediating the number of chronic age-related conditions which are most often the cause of polypharmacy (Kurczewska--Michalak et al., 2021). Furthermore, loss of significance of maternal age at death in models with CDKN2B - FOXO3 interactions indicates that the phenotype targeted by this genetic interaction has to do with familial longevity and lifespan.

Only four of the genetic interactions stopped being significant with the addition of the health-related variables, probably due to the introduction of variables that impacted the same phenotype as them. The interactions that remained significant, however, highlight the importance of cell cycle control and its interplay with IIS, the two main pathways with implications for longevity, but also indicate the vital role that modulators of cardiovascular risk and proteins with antioxidative effect have in determining survival chances. Furthermore, these findings imply that health status and health-related indicators are not the sole determinants of the dynamics of the ageing process.

4.5. Strengths and limitations of the study

Principal limitations of this study are the relatively small sample size and limited number of genotyped genetic loci, which both lead to the findings that were only nominally significant. Those limitations were partially compensated by generating bootstrap-adjusted results that present a more accurately predicted p-value. This study does, however, focus on SNPs with a strong previous association in studies with more power, and emphasizes the SNP-SNP interactions. By using the two-SNPinteraction method, it was possible to elucidate an effect that might not be detected otherwise. In addition, the analysis of SNP-SNP interactions is a valid method for finding significant genetic contributors in studies with low power, even though the statistical strength of the interaction analysis would also benefit from a larger sample size. Finally, it is, to our knowledge, the first study of genetic makeup contributing to survival of the oldest-olds in the Croatian population, a population otherwise underrepresented in genetic studies. Therefore, our study presents these initial results, but the obtained associations should be replicated in a population with a different genetic background, and a much larger sample size.

5. Conclusion

In conclusion, this study explored the effect of SNP-SNP interactions on survival above 85 years of age in a sample of Croatian oldest-olds. By focusing on genetic interaction between the longevity-associated variants rather than the individual SNPs, it was possible to identify pathways that contribute to survival in advanced old age. We identified a nominally significant interaction between SNPs in *CDKN2B* and *FOXO3*, *TP53* and *LINC02227* SNPs, as well as several other combinations that remain significant even when tested together with health status indicators. This shows that the interplay between genetic variants in different genes may affect survival in a manner that is not explained by biomarkers of health status and should be further explored in studies with larger sample sizes.

Funding acknowledgements

Financial support was provided by Croatian Science Foundation (grants IP-01-2018-2497, HECUBA project; and DOK-2018-09-8382) and the European Union (ERC, ElucidAge,101041331). Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or the European Research Council Executive Agency. Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them. Neither of the funding sources had any involvement in study design; collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report or the decision to submit the article for publication.

Declarations of interest

None.

The sample collection and the research described here were approved by the Ethics Committee of Institute for Anthropological Research (Zagreb, Croatia) and performed following all institutional guidelines. Ethical approvals obtained on March 4th 2006 (130–981/ 06) and 22nd November 2018 (20180518).

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Maja Šetinc: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Visualization, Validation, Investigation, Formal analysis, Data curation. Željka Celinšćak: Writing – review & editing, Visualization, Validation, Investigation, Data curation. Luka Bočkor: Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Resources, Investigation. Matea Zajc Petranović: Writing – review & editing, Data curation. Anita Stojanović Marković: Writing – review & editing, Validation. Marijana Peričić Salihović: Writing – review & editing, Supervision. Joris Deelen: Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Funding acquisition, Conceptualization. Tatjana Škarić-Jurić: Writing – review & editing, Validation, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition, Data curation, Conceptualization.

Data Availability

Fully anonymised dataset of genetic data used in this study is publicly available on Zenodo repository (DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.7421684). Data on health-related parameters is available upon request.

Appendix A. Supporting information

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version at doi:10.1016/j.mad.2024.111926.

References

- Albani, D., Batelli, S., Polito, L., et al., 2009. Interleukin-6 plasma level increases with age in an Italian elderly population ("The Treviso Longeva"-Trelong-study) with a sex-specific contribution of rs1800795 polymorphism. Age 31 (2), 155–162. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11357-009-9092-5.
- Anselmi, C.V., Malovini, A., Roncarati, R., et al., 2009. Association of the FOXO3A locus with extreme longevity in a Southern Italian centenarian study. Rejuv. Res. 12 (2), 95–103. https://doi.org/10.1089/rej.2008.0827.
- Antebi, A., 2007. Genetics of Aging in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS Genet. 3 (9), e129 https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PGEN.0030129.

M. Šetinc et al.

Mechanisms of Ageing and Development 219 (2024) 111926

- Aviv, A., 2012. Genetics of leukocyte telomere length and its role in atherosclerosis. Mutat. Res. /Fundam. Mol. Mech. Mutagen. 730 (1-2), 68–74. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.MRFMMM.2011.05.001.
- Bao, J.M., Song, X.L., Hong, Y.Q., et al., 2014. Association between FOXO3A gene polymorphisms and human longevity: a meta-analysis. Asian J. Androl. 16 (3), 446–452. https://doi.org/10.4103/1008-682X.123673.
- Barrett, J.C., Fry, B., Maller, J., Daly, M.J., 2005. Haploview: analysis and visualization of LD and haplotype maps. Bioinforma. Appl. Note 21 (2), 263–265. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/bioinformatics/bth457.
- Beard, J.R., Officer, A., De Carvalho, I.A., et al., 2016. The World report on ageing and health: a policy framework for healthy ageing. Lancet 387 (10033), 2145. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00516-4.
- Benhamou, S., Sarasin, A., 2002. ERCC2/XPD gene polymorphisms and cancer risk. Mutagenesis 17 (6), 463–469. https://doi.org/10.1093/MUTAGE/17.6.463.
- Bennet, A.M., Di Angelantonio, E., Ye, Z., et al., 2007. Association of apolipoprotein E genotypes with lipid levels and coronary risk. JAMA 298 (11), 1300–1311. https:// doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.298.11.1300.
- Biggs, W.H., Meisenhelder, J., Hunter, T., Cavenee, W.K., Arden, K.C., 1999. Protein kinase B/Akt-mediated phosphorylation promotes nuclear exclusion of the winged helix transcription factor FKHR1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96 (13), 7421. https:// doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.96.13.7421.
- Billia, F., Hauck, L., Grothe, D., et al., 2013. Parkinson-susceptibility gene DJ-1/PARK7 protects the murine heart from oxidative damage in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 110 (15), 6085–6090. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1303444110/-/ DCSUPPEEMENTAL
- Blackburn, E.H., Collins, K., 2011. Telomerase: An RNP Enzyme Synthesizes DNA. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3 (5), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT. A003558.
- Blackburn, E.H., Epel, E.S., Lin, J., 2015. Human telomere biology: A contributory and interactive factor in aging, disease risks, and protection. Science (1979) 350 (6265), 1193–1198. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aab3389.
- Broer, L., Buchman, A.S., Deelen, J., et al., 2015. GWAS of Longevity in CHARGE Consortium Confirms APOE and FOXO3 Candidacy. J. Gerontol.: Ser. A 70 (1), 110–118. https://doi.org/10.1093/GERONA/GLU166.
- Brooks-Wilson, A.R., 2013. Genetics of healthy aging and longevity. Hum. Genet. 132 (12), 1323–1338. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-013-1342-z.
- Brunet, A., Bonni, A., Zigmond, M.J., et al., 1999. Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. Cell 96 (6), 857–868. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80595-4.
- Burton, P.R., Clayton, D.G., Cardon, L.R., et al., 2007. Genome-wide association study of 14,000 cases of seven common diseases and 3,000 shared controls. Nature 447 (7145), 661. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE05911.
- Campisi, J., Kapahi, P., Lithgow, G.J., Melov, S., Newman, J.C., Verdin, E., 2019. From discoveries in ageing research to therapeutics for healthy ageing. Nature 571 (7764), 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1365-2.
- Caspari, T., 2000. Checkpoints: How to activate p53. Curr. Biol. 10 (8), R315–R317. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00439-5.
- Cawthon, R.M., 2002. Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. e47-e47 Nucleic Acids Res 30 (10). https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/30.10.E47.
- Charisis, S., Lin, H., Ray, R., et al., 2023. Obesity impacts the expression of Alzheimer's disease-related genes: The Framingham Heart Study. Alzheimers Dement 19 (8), 3496–3505. https://doi.org/10.1002/ALZ.12954.
- Chen, J., Li, L., Chin, L.S., 2010. Parkinson disease protein DJ-1 converts from a zymogen to a protease by carboxyl-terminal cleavage. Hum. Mol. Genet. 19 (12), 2395–2408. https://doi.org/10.1093/HMG/DDQ113.
- Christiansen, L., Bathum, L., Andersen-Ranberg, K., Jeune, B., Christensen, K., 2004. Modest implication of interleukin-6 promoter polymorphisms in longevity. Mech. Ageing Dev. 125 (5), 391–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MAD.2004.03.004.
- Clements, C.M., McNally, R.S., Conti, B.J., Mak, T.W., Ting, J.P.Y., 2006. DJ-1, a cancerand Parkinson's disease-associated protein, stabilizes the antioxidant transcriptional master regulator Nrf2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103 (41), 15091. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/PNAS.0607260103.
- Codd, V., Mangino, M., Van Der Harst, P., et al., 2010. Common variants near TERC are associated with mean telomere length. Nat. Genet. 42 (3), 197–199. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ng.532.
- Coin, F., Marinoni, J.C., Rodolfo, C., Fribourg, S., Pedrini, A.M., Egly, J.M., 1998. Mutations in the XPD helicase gene result in XP and TTD phenotypes, preventing interaction between XPD and the p44 subunit of TFIIH. 2. 1998;20 Nat. Genet. 20 (2), 184–188. https://doi.org/10.1038/2491.
- Collins, K., Mitchell, J.R., 2002. Telomerase in the human organism. 4. 2002;21 Oncogene 21 (4), 564–579. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1205083.
- Cordell, H.J., 2009. Detecting gene-gene interactions that underlie human diseases. Nat. Rev. Genet. 10 (6), 392. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRG2579.
- Crimmins, E.M., Beltrán-Sánchez, H., 2011. Mortality and morbidity trends: is there compression of morbidity? J. Gerontol. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 66B (1), 75. https:// doi.org/10.1093/GERONB/GBQ088.
- Curtis, R., Geesaman, B.J., DiStefano, P.S., 2005. Ageing and metabolism: drug discovery opportunities. 2005 4:7 Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 4 (7), 569–580. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrd1777.
- Dale, B.L., Madhur, M.S., 2016. Linking inflammation and hypertension via LNK/SH2B3. Curr. Opin. Nephrol. Hypertens. 25 (2), 87. https://doi.org/10.1097/ MNH.000000000000196.
- Dato, S., Soerensen, M., De Rango, F., et al., 2018. The genetic component of human longevity: New insights from the analysis of pathway-based SNP-SNP interactions. Aging Cell 17 (3), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12755.

- De Boer, J., Hoeijmakers, J.H.J., 2000. Nucleotide excision repair and human syndromes. Carcinogenesis 21 (3), 453–460. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/21.3.453.
- Deelen, J., Beekman, M., Uh, H.W., et al., 2014. Genome-wide association meta-analysis of human longevity identifies a novel locus conferring survival beyond 90 years of age. Hum. Mol. Genet. 23 (16), 4420–4432. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddu139.
- Devallire, J., Charreau, B., 2011. The adaptor Lnk (SH2B3): An emerging regulator in vascular cells and a link between immune and inflammatory signaling. Biochem. Pharmacol. 82 (10), 1391–1402. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BCP.2011.06.023.
- Dillin, A., Gottschling, D.E., Nyström, T., 2014. The good and the bad of being connected: the integrons of aging, 0(1). Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 107. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. CEB.2013.12.003.
- Dong, X.C., Copps, K.D., Guo, S., et al., 2008. Inactivation of Hepatic Foxo1 by Insulin Signaling Is Required for Adaptive Nutrient Homeostasis and Endocrine Growth Regulation. Cell Metab. 8 (1), 65–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2008.06.006.
- Dumont, P., Leu, J.I.J., Della Pietra, A.C., George, D.L., Murphy, M., 2003. The codon 72 polymorphic variants of p53 have markedly different apoptotic potential. Nat. Genet. 33 (3), 357–365. https://doi.org/10.1038/NG1093.
- Ehret, G.B., Munroe, P.B., Rice, K.M., et al., 2011. Genetic variants in novel pathways influence blood pressure and cardiovascular disease risk. Nature 478 (7367), 103. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE10405.
- Eichner, J.E., Kuller, L.H., Orchard, T.J., et al., 1993. Relation of apolipoprotein E phenotype to myocardial infarction and mortality from coronary artery disease. Am. J. Cardiol. 71 (2), 160–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9149(93)90732-R.
- Eijkelenboom, A., Burgering, B.M.T., 2013. FOXOs: signalling integrators for homeostasis maintenance. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 14 (2), 83–97. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrm3507
- Farrer, L.A., Cupples, L.A., Haines, J.L., et al., 1997. Effects of age, sex, and ethnicity on the association between apolipoprotein e genotype and alzheimer disease: a metaanalysis. JAMA 278 (16), 1349–1356. https://doi.org/10.1001/ JAMA.1997.03550160069041.
- Flachsbart, F., Caliebe, A., Kleindorp, R., et al., 2009. Association of FOXO3A variation with human longevity confirmed in German centenarians. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106 (8), 2700–2705. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0809594106.
- Folstein, M.F., Folstein, S.E., McHugh, P.R., 1975. Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J. Psychiatr. Res. 12 (3), 189–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6.
- Fontana, L., Partridge, L., Longo, V.D., 2010. Extending Healthy Life Span—From Yeast to Humans. Science 328 (5976), 321–326. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1172539.
- Fortney, K., Dobriban, E., Garagnani, P., et al., 2015. Genome-wide scan informed by age-related disease identifies loci for exceptional human longevity. PLoS Genet. 11 (12), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1005728.
- Gerke, J., Lorenz, K., Cohen, B., 2009. Genetic interactions between transcription factors cause natural variation in yeast. Science 323 (5913), 498–501. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/SCIENCE.1166426.
- Ghoussaini, M., Mountjoy, E., Carmona, M., et al., 2021. Open Targets Genetics: systematic identification of trait-associated genes using large-scale genetics and functional genomics. Nucleic Acids Res 49 (D1), D1311–D1320. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/NAR/GKAA840.
- Gil, J., Peters, G., 2006. Regulation of the INK4b–ARF–INK4a tumour suppressor locus: all for one or one for all, 9. 2006;7 Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 7 (9), 667–677. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrm1987.
- Ginsburg, E., Škarić-Jurić, T., Kobyliansky, E., Malkin, I., Rudan, P., 2001. Evidence on major gene control of cortical index in pedigree data from Middle Dalmatia, Croatia. Am. J. Hum. Biol. 13 (3), 398–408. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.1064.
- Gomis, R.R., Alarcón, C., He, W., et al., 2006. A FoxO–Smad synexpression group in human keratinocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103 (34), 12747. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/PNAS.0605333103.
- Groß, S., Immel, U.D., Klintschar, M., Bartel, F., 2014. Germline genetics of the p53 pathway affect longevity in a gender specific manner. Curr. Aging Sci. 7 (2), 91–100. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874609807666140321150751.
- Guigoz, Y., Vellas, B., 1999. The Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA) for grading the nutritional state of elderly patients: presentation of the MNA, history and validation. In: In: Nestlé Nutrition Workshop Series. Clinical & Performance Programme, Vol 1. KARGER, pp. 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1159/000062967.

Hahn, W.C., Counter, C.M., Lundberg, A.S., Beijersbergen, R.L., Brooks, M.W., Weinberg, R.A., 1999. Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. Nature 400 (6743), 464–468. https://doi.org/10.1038/22780.

- Hannon, G.J., Beach, D., 1994. pl5INK4B is a potential effector of TGF-β-induced cell cycle arrest. 6494. 1994;371 Nature 371 (6494), 257–261. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 371257a0.
- Helgadottir, A., Thorleifsson, G., Manolescu, A., et al., 2007. A Common Variant on Chromosome 9p21 Affects the Risk of Myocardial Infarction. Science 316 (5830), 1491–1493. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1142842.
- Hornsveld, M., Dansen, T.B., Derksen, P.W., Burgering, B.M.T., 2018. Re-evaluating the role of FOXOs in cancer. Semin. Cancer Biol. 50, 90–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. SEMCANCER.2017.11.017.
- Hou, Y., Dan, X., Babbar, M., et al., 2019. Ageing as a risk factor for neurodegenerative disease. 10. 2019;15 Nat. Rev. Neurol. 15 (10), 565–581. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41582-019-0244-7.
- Jeanclos, E., Krolewski, A., Skurnick, J., et al., 1998. Shortened telomere length in white blood cells of patients with IDDM. Diabetes 47 (3), 482–486. https://doi.org/ 10.2337/DIABETES.47.3.482.
- Keriel, A., Stary, A., Sarasin, A., Rochette-Egly, C., Egly, J.M., 2002. XPD mutations prevent TFIIH-dependent transactivation by nuclear receptors and phosphorylation of RARα. Cell 109 (1), 125–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00692-X.

M. Setinc et al.

- Kikis, E.A., Gidalevitz, T., Morimoto, R.I., 2010. Protein homeostasis in models of aging and age-related conformational disease. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 694, 138. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4419-7002-2_11.
- Kim, J.H., Jae, E.K., Liu, H.Y., Cao, W., Chen, J., 2008. Regulation of interleukin-6induced hepatic insulin resistance by mammalian target of rapamycin through the STAT3-SOCS3 pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 283 (2), 708–715. https://doi.org/10.1074/ JBC.M708568200.
- Kim, R.H., Peters, M., Jang, Y., et al., 2005. DJ-1, a novel regulator of the tumor suppressor PTEN. Cancer Cell 7 (3), 263–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. CCR.2005.02.010.
- Kirkwood, T.B.L., 2005. Understanding the odd science of aging. Cell 120 (4), 437–447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.01.027.
- Kotake, Y., Nakagawa, T., Kitagawa, K., et al., 2011. Long non-coding RNA ANRIL is required for the PRC2 recruitment to and silencing of p151/NK4B tumor suppressor gene. 16. 2010;30 Oncogene 30 (16), 1956–1962. https://doi.org/10.1038/ onc.2010.568.
- Kurczewska-Michalak, M., Lewek, P., Jankowska-Polańska, B., et al., 2021. Polypharmacy management in the older adults: a scoping review of available interventions. Front. Pharmacol. 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/ FPHAR.2021.734045/FULL.
- Lane, D.P., 1992. p53, guardian of the genome, 6381. 1992;358 Nature 358 (6381), 15–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/358015a0.
- Laroumanie, F., Korneva, A., Bersi, M.R., et al., 2018. LNK deficiency promotes acute aortic dissection and rupture. JCI Insight 3 (20), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci. insight.122558.
- Lavin, M.F., Gueven, N., 2006. The complexity of p53 stabilization and activation. Cell Death Differ. 13 (6), 941–950. https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.CDD.4401925.
- Leeper, N.J., Raiesdana, A., Kojima, Y., et al., 2013. Loss of CDKN2B promotes p53dependent smooth muscle cell apoptosis and aneurysm formation. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 33 (1), e1 https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.300399.
- Levy, D., Ehret, G.B., Rice, K., et al., 2009. Genome-wide association study of blood pressure and hypertension. 6. 2009;41 Nat. Genet. 41 (6), 677–687. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ng.384.
- Lin, H.Y., Chen, D.T., Huang, P.Y., et al., 2017. SNP interaction pattern identifier (SIPI): an intensive search for SNP–SNP interaction patterns. Bioinformatics 33 (6), 822. https://doi.org/10.1093/BIOINFORMATICS/BTW762.
- Lin, J., Epel, E., Cheon, J., et al., 2010. Analyses and comparisons of telomerase activity and telomere length in human T and B cells: insights for epidemiology of telomere maintenance. J. Immunol. Methods 352 (1-2), 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. JIM.2009.09.012.
- Liu, X., Song, Z., Li, Y., et al., 2021. Integrated genetic analyses revealed novel human longevity loci and reduced risks of multiple diseases in a cohort study of 15,651 Chinese individuals. e13323-e13323 Aging Cell 20 (3). https://doi.org/10.1111/ ACEL.13323.
- Lohman, T., Bains, G., Berk, L., Lohman, E., 2021. Predictors of biological age: the implications for wellness and aging research. Gerontol. Geriatr. Med. 7, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/23337214211046419.
- Lohrum, M.A.E., Ashcroft, M., Kubbutat, M.H.G., Vousden, K.H., 2000. Contribution of two independent MDM2-binding domains in p14ARF to p53 stabilization. Curr. Biol. 10 (9), 539–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00472-3.
- Lombard, D.B., Chua, K.F., Mostoslavsky, R., Franco, S., Gostissa, M., Alt, F.W., 2005. DNA repair, genome stability, and aging. Cell 120 (4), 497–512. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.CELL.2005.01.028.
- Lye, M., Donnellan, C., 2000. Heart disease in the elderly. Heart 84 (5), 560–566. https://doi.org/10.1136/HEART.84.5.560.
- Mammucari, C., Milan, G., Romanello, V., et al., 2007. FoxO3 controls autophagy in skeletal muscle in vivo. Cell Metab. 6 (6), 458–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. CMET.2007.11.001.
- Marin, M.C., Jost, C.A., Brooks, L.A., et al., 2000. A common polymorphism acts as an intragenic modifier of mutant p53 behaviour, 1. 2000;25 Nat. Genet. 25 (1), 47–54. https://doi.org/10.1038/75586.
- Martins, R., Lithgow, G.J., Link, W., 2016. Long live FOXO: unraveling the role of FOXO proteins in aging and longevity. Aging Cell 15 (2), 196. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ACEL.12427.
- Mayo, K.E., Miller, T., DeAlmeida, V., Godfrey, P., Zheng, J., Cunha, S.R., 2000. Regulation of the pituitary somatotroph cell by GHRH and its receptor. Recent Prog. Horm. Res 55, 237–266. (https://europepmc.org/article/MED/11036940). Accessed September 2, 2022.
- McPherson, R., Pertsemlidis, A., Kavaslar, N., et al., 2007. A common allele on chromosome 9 associated with coronary heart disease. Science (1979) 316 (5830), 1488–1491. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1142447.
- Miller, S.A., Dykes, D.D., Polesky, H.F., 1988. A simple salting out procedure for extracting DNA from human nucleated cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 16 (3), 1215. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/16.3.1215.
- Minciullo, P.L., Catalano, A., Mandraffino, G., et al., 2016. Inflammaging and Anti-Inflammaging: The Role of Cytokines in Extreme Longevity. Arch. Immunol. Ther. Exp. (Warsz.) 64 (2), 111–126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00005-015-0377-3.
- Moore, J.H., 2003. The ubiquitous nature of epistasis in determining susceptibility to common human diseases. Hum. Hered. 56 (1-3), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000073735.
- Niccoli, T., Partridge, L., 2012. Ageing as a risk factor for disease. Curr. Biol. 22 (17), R741–R752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2012.07.024.Nygaard, M., Thinggaard, M., Christensen, K., Christiansen, L., 2017. Investigation of the
- Nygaard, M., Thinggaard, M., Christensen, K., Christiansen, L., 2017. Investigation of the 5q33.3 longevity locus and age-related phenotypes. Aging 9 (1), 247–255. https:// doi.org/10.18632/aging.101156.

- Ohgami, R.S., Campagna, D.R., McDonald, A., Fleming, M.D., 2006. The Steap proteins are metalloreductases. Blood 108 (4), 1388. https://doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD-2006-02-003681.
- Panossian, L.A., Porter, V.R., Valenzuela, H.F., et al., 2003. Telomere shortening in T cells correlates with Alzheimer's disease status. Neurobiol. Aging 24 (1), 77–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-4580(02)00043-X.
- Park, M.T., Lee, S.J., 2003. Cell cycle and cancer. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 36 (1), 60–65. https://doi.org/10.5483/BMBREP.2003.36.1.060.
- Pasmant, E., Sabbagh, A., Vidaud, M., Bièche, I., 2011. ANRIL, a long, noncoding RNA, is an unexpected major hotspot in GWAS. FASEB J. 25 (2), 444–448. https://doi.org/ 10.1096/FJ.10-172452.
- Perinić Lewis, A., Škarić-Jurić, T., Despot Lučanin, J., Smolić, Š., 2022. The lasting impact of war experiences on quality of life in long-lived retirement homes residents: The birth cohort 1906–1928. Published online May 17 Ageing Soc. 1–29. https:// doi.org/10.1017/S0144686×22000319.
- Pilling, L.C., Atkins, J.L., Bowman, K., et al., 2016. Human longevity is influenced by many genetic variants: evidence from 75,000 UK Biobank participants. Aging 8 (3), 547–560. https://doi.org/10.18632/AGING.100930.
- Pinós, T., Fuku, N., Cámara, Y., et al., 2014. The rs1333049 polymorphism on locus 9p21.3 and extreme longevity in Spanish and Japanese cohorts. Age 36 (2), 933–943. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11357-013-9593-0.
- Raisz, L.G., Seeman, E., 2001. Causes of age-related bone loss and bone fragility: an alternative view. J. Bone Miner. Res. 16 (11), 1948–1952. https://doi.org/10.1359/ JBMR.2001.16.11.1948.
- Revelas, M., Thalamuthu, A., Oldmeadow, C., et al., 2018. Review and meta-analysis of genetic polymorphisms associated with exceptional human longevity. Mech. Ageing Dev. 175, 24–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mad.2018.06.002.
- Rossiello, F., Jurk, D., Passos, J.F., d'Adda di Fagagna, F., 2022. Telomere dysfunction in ageing and age-related diseases. Nat. Cell Biol. 24 (2), 135–147. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41556-022-00842-x.
- Rubinsztein, D.C., Mariño, G., Kroemer, G., 2011. Autophagy and Aging. Cell 146 (5), 682–695. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2011.07.030.
- Sanders, J.L., Newman, A.B., 2013. Telomere length in epidemiology: a biomarker of aging, age-related disease, both, or neither? Epidemiol. Rev. 35 (1), 112–131. https://doi.org/10.1093/EPIREV/MXS008.
- Selman, C., Lingard, S., Choudhury, A.I., et al., 2008. Evidence for lifespan extension and delayed age-related biomarkers in insulin receptor substrate 1 null mice. FASEB J. 22 (3), 807–818. https://doi.org/10.1096/FJ.07-9261COM.
- Šetinc M., Celinšćak Ž., Bočkor L., et al. 43 longevity-associated SNPs genotyped in a Croatian sample of oldest-old individuals. Published online December 10, 2022. doi: (10.5281/ZENODO.7421684).
- Šetinc, M., Celinšćak, Ž., Bočkor, L., et al., 2023. Genetic scores for predicting longevity in the Croatian oldest-old population. PLoS One 18 (2), e0279971. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0279971.
- Shadyab, A.H., LaCroix, A.Z., 2015. Genetic factors associated with longevity: A review of recent findings. Ageing Res. Rev. 19, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ARR 2014 10.005.
- Shadyab, A.H., Kooperberg, C., Reiner, A.P., et al., 2017. Replication of genome-wide association study findings of longevity in white, african american, and hispanic women: the women's health initiative. J. Gerontol. - Ser. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 72 (10), 1401–1406. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glw198.
- Shen, Q., Zhang, Z., Yu, L., et al., 2011. Common variants near TERC are associated with leukocyte telomere length in the Chinese Han population. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 19 (6), 721–723. https://doi.org/10.1038/EJHG.2011.4.
- Shi, S.Y., Lu, S.Y., Sivasubramaniyam, T., et al., 2015. DJ-1 links muscle ROS production with metabolic reprogramming and systemic energy homeostasis in mice. Nat. Commun. 6 https://doi.org/10.1038/NCOMMS8415.
- Shinbo, Y., Taira, T., Niki, T., İguchi-Ariga, S.M.M., Ariga, H., 2005. DJ-1 restores p53 transcription activity inhibited by Topors/p53BP3. Int. J. Oncol. 26 (3), 641–648. https://doi.org/10.3892/JJO.26.3.641/HTML.
- Škarić-Jurić, T., Rudan, P., 1997. Family correlations of metacarpal bones-heritable (h2) and environmental (c2) components of total phenotypic variation. Coll. Antropol. 21 (2), 447–459. (https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/9439061/). Accessed December 6, 2023.
- Smulders, L., Deelen, J., 2023. Genetics of human longevity: From variants to genes to pathways (Published online). J. Intern. Med.. https://doi.org/10.1111/JOIM.13740.
- Soerensen, M., Dato, S., Christensen, K., et al., 2010. Replication of an association of variation in the FOXO3A gene with human longevity using both case-control and longitudinal data. Aging Cell 9 (6), 1010–1017. Accessed March 16, 2022. (https:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2010.00627.x).
- Soerensen, M., Thinggaard, M., Nygaard, M., et al., 2012. Genetic variation in TERT and TERC and human leukocyte telomere length and longevity: a cross-sectional and longitudinal analysis. Aging Cell 11 (2), 223–227. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2011.00775.x.
- Su, L., Liu, G., Wang, H., et al., 2015. Research on single nucleotide polymorphisms interaction detection from network perspective. PLoS One 10 (3). https://doi.org/ 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0119146.
- Tong, W., Zhang, J., Lodish, H.F., 2005. Lnk inhibits erythropoiesis and Epo-dependent JAK2 activation and downstream signaling pathways. Blood 105 (12), 4604. https:// doi.org/10.1182/BLOOD-2004-10-4093.
- Van Den Broeck, T., Joniau, S., Clinckemalie, L., et al., 2014. The role of single nucleotide polymorphisms in predicting prostate cancer risk and therapeutic decision making, Biomed. Res. Int. 2014 https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/627510.
- Van Heemst, D., Mooijaart, S.P., Beekman, M., et al., 2005. Variation in the human TP53 gene affects old age survival and cancer mortality. Exp. Gerontol. 40 (1-2), 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2004.10.001.

M. Šetinc et al.

- Vijg, J., 2000. Somatic mutations and aging: a re-evaluation. Mutat. Res. /Fundam. Mol. Mech. Mutagen. 447 (1), 117–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0027-5107(99)00202v
- Wain, L.V., Verwoert, G.C., O'reilly, P.F., et al., 2011. Genome-wide association study identifies six new loci influencing pulse pressure and mean arterial pressure. Nat. Genet. 43 (10), 1005–1012. https://doi.org/10.1038/NG.922.
- Webb, A.E., Brunet, A., 2014. FOXO transcription factors: key regulators of cellular quality control. Trends Biochem. Sci. 39 (4), 159–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. TIBS.2014.02.003.
- Wei, Y., Ringe, D., Wilson, M.A., Ondrechen, M.J., 2007. Identification of functional subclasses in the DJ-1 superfamily proteins. PLoS Comput. Biol. 3 (1), e15 https:// doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PCBI.0030010.
- Willcox, B.J., Donlon, T.A., He, Q., et al., 2008. FOXO3A genotype is strongly associated with human longevity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105 (37), 13987–13992. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0801030105.
- Wilson, M.A., Collins, J.L., Hod, Y., Ringe, D., Petsko, G.A., 2003. From the Cover: The 1.1-Å resolution crystal structure of DJ-1, the protein mutated in autosomal recessive early onset Parkinson's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100 (16), 9256. https:// doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1133288100.
- Wilson, P.W.F., Larson, M.G., Myers, R.H., Wolf, P.A., Ordovas, J.M., Schaefer, E.J., 1994. Apolipoprotein E Alleles, Dyslipidemia, and Coronary Heart Disease: The Framingham Offspring Study. JAMA: J. Am. Med. Assoc. 272 (21), 1666–1671. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.1994.03520210050031.
- World Health Organization. Ageing and Health.; 2022. Accessed November 23, 2023. (https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ageing-and-health).

- Wright, W.E., Piatyszek, M.A., Rainey, W.E., Shgy, J.W., Byrd, W., 1996. Telomerase activity in human germline embryonic tissues and cells. *Dev. Genet.* 18173–18179. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6408(1996)18:2.
- Xu, M., Evans, L., Bizzaro, C.L., et al., 2022. STEAP1-4 (Six-Transmembrane Epithelial Antigen of the Prostate 1-4) and Their Clinical Implications for Prostate Cancer, 4034. 2022;14 Cancers Vol 14 (16), 4034. https://doi.org/10.3390/ CANCERS14164034.
- Yap, K.L., Li, S., Muñoz-Cabello, A.M., et al., 2010. Molecular Interplay of the Noncoding RNA ANRIL and Methylated Histone H3 Lysine 27 by Polycomb CBX7 in Transcriptional Silencing of INK4a. Mol. Cell 38 (5), 662–674. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2010.03.021.
- Yazdanyar, A., Newman, A.B., 2009. The burden of cardiovascular disease in the elderly: morbidity, mortality, and costs. Clin. Geriatr. Med. 25 (4), 563. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.CGER.2009.07.007.
- Zeng, Y., Cheng, L., Chen, H., et al., 2010. Effects of FOXO genotypes on longevity: a biodemographic analysis. J. Gerontol.: Ser. A 65A (12), 1285–1299. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/GERONA/GLQ156.
- Zeng, Y., Nie, C., Min, J., et al., 2016. Novel loci and pathways significantly associated with longevity, 21243-21243 Sci. Rep. 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/SREP21243. Zhang, Y., Ou, Y., Cheng, M., Shojaei Saadi, H., Thundathil, J.C., van der Hoorn, F.A.,
- Zhang, Y., Ou, Y., Cheng, M., Shojaei Saadi, H., Thundathil, J.C., van der Hoorn, F.A., 2012. KLC3 is involved in sperm tail midpiece formation and sperm function. Dev. Biol. 366 (2), 101–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YDBIO.2012.04.026.Zuo, L., van Dyck, C.H., Luo, X., Kranzler, H.R., Yang, B. zhu, Gelernter, J., 2006.
- Zuo, L., van Dyck, C.H., Luo, X., Kranzler, H.R., Yang, B. zhu, Gelernter, J., 2006. Variation at APOE and STH loci and Alzheimer's disease. Behav. Brain Funct. 2 (1), 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-9081-2-13.

SNP	Associated gene	Chromosome(e position (GRCh38)	Alleles (major/minor) in Croatian oldest-old population	MAF	Genotyping success rate	HWE p value (Yate's correction*)	Literature source for association with longevity
rs225119	PARK7	1:7984301	C/T	0.425	0.979	0.815	[1]
rs2360675	KLF7	2:207194916	C/A	0.491	0.972	0.947	[2]
rs12696304	TERC	3:169763483	C/G	0.259	0.963	0.663	[3,4]
rs3772190	TERC	3:169782699	G/A	0.228	0.966	0.744	[4]
rs16847897	TERC	3:169850328	G/C	0.292	0.979	0.996	[3,5]
rs572169	GHSR	3:172447937	C/T	0.275	0.963	0.332	[1,6]
rs33954691	TERT	5:1255405	G/A	0.103	0.966	0.715 (0.862)	[4]
rs2706372	RAD50/IL13	5:132599785	C/T	0.272	0.960	0.997	[7]
rs2149954	LINC02227	5:158393594	C/T	0.380	0.982	0.291	[8,9]
rs12203592	IRF4	6:396321	C/T	0.074	0.976	0.582 (0.803)	[10]
rs1800629	TNF	6:31575254	G/A	0.126	0.972	0.318	[11]
rs12206094	FOXO3	6:108584997	C/T	0.295	0.963	0.925	[12,13]
rs2802292	FOXO3	6:108587315	T/G	0.424	0.982	0.710	[13–16]
rs2764264	FOXO3	6:108613258	T/C	0.331	0.948	0.889	[12,13]
rs10457180	FOXO3	6:108643836	A/G	0.329	0.963	0.745	[17,18]
rs13217795	FOXO3	6:108652895	T/C	0.324	0.963	0.584	[12,13,19]
rs4946935	FOXO3	6:108679539	G/A	0.298	0.979	0.991	[18,20–22]
rs9456497	IGF2R	6:160022396	A/G	0.191	0.969	0.854	[6,23]
rs10455872	LPA	6:160589086	A/G	0.036	0.969	0.039 (0.209)	[24,25]
rs1800795	IL6	7:22727026	G/C	0.448	0.948	0.562	[26–28]
rs2069837	IL6	7:22728408	A/G	0.077	0.969	0.781 (0.942)	[9,29]
rs2267723	GHRHR	7:30967327	A/G	0.444	0.951	0.999	[1,30]
rs13251813	WRN	8:31106695	C/T	0.047	0.976	0.934 (0.970)	[30]
rs4977756	CDKN2B	9:22068653	A/G	0.399	0.966	0.959	[24,31]
rs1333049	CDKN2B	9:22125504	G/C	0.470	0.972	0.319	[24,31,32]
rs4837525	PAPPA	9:116276279	G/A	0.373	0.960	0.686	[1]
rs533984	MRE11A	11:94466106	G/A	0.396	0.960	0.589	[1]
rs17202060	TXNRD1	12:104337068	C/T	0.336	0.960	0.812	[1]
rs3184504	SH2B3	12:111446804	T/C	0.484	0.966	1.000	[24,25,31,33]
rs1207362	KLOTHO	13:33038702	G/T	0.312	0.960	0.669	[6]
rs9536314	KLOTHO	13:33054001	T/G	0.118	0.982	0.173	[34,35]
rs9527025	KLOTHO	13:33054056	G/C	0.118	0.982	0.173	[36,37]
rs2229765	IGF1R	15:98934996	G/A	0.436	0.957	0.851	[38,39]
rs12437963	IGF1R	15:98953630	A/G	0.144	0.976	0.960	[1]
rs1042522	<i>TP53</i>	17:7676154	C/G	0.238	0.976	0.448	[40,41]
rs2078486	<i>TP53</i>	17:7679765	G/A	0.077	0.969	0.996 (0.959)	[1]
rs107251	SIRT6	19:4176088	C/T	0.101	0.982	0.984 (0.993)	[22]

Supplementary Table 1. Information about the selected SNPs.

rs2075650	TOMM40	19:44892362	A/G	0.142	0.982	0.776	[7,24,42–44]
rs429358	APOE	19:44908684	T/C	0.081	0.948	1.000 (0.941)	[42,45]
rs7412	APOE	19:44908822	C/T	0.076	0.963	0.644 (0.850)	[29,31]
rs4420638	APOC1	19:44919689	A/G	0.117	0.963	0.939	[8,24,25,31,44,46,47]
rs50871	ERCC2	19:45359257	A/C	0.460	0.966	0.902	[1]
rs6067484	PTPN1	20:50536246	A/G	0.279	0.963	0.796	[1]

Table shows rs code, gene associated with the SNP; chromosome position (in GRCh38), references for literature sources in which association with longevity was reported; along with data that refers to the studied Croatian population: alleles (major/minor), minor allele frequencies (MAF), genotyping success rate, HWE.

* Yate's correction for continuity was applied for cases where observed number of individuals in one of the cells of the Punnet Square was smaller than 5.

References for the Supplementary Table 1:

- 1 Dato S, Soerensen M, De Rango F, et al. The genetic component of human longevity: New insights from the analysis of pathway-based SNP-SNP interactions. Aging Cell. 2018;17(3):1-12. doi:10.1111/acel.12755
- 2 Harris SE, Hagenaars SP, Davies G, et al. Molecular genetic contributions to self-rated health. Int J Epidemiol. 2017;46(3):994-1009. doi:10.1093/ije/dyw219
- 3 Codd V, Mangino M, Van Der Harst P, et al. Common variants near TERC are associated with mean telomere length. Nat Genet. 2010;42(3):197-199. doi:10.1038/ng.532
- 4 Soerensen M, Thinggaard M, Nygaard M, et al. Genetic variation in TERT and TERC and human leukocyte telomere length and longevity: a cross-sectional and longitudinal analysis. Aging Cell. 2012;11(2):223-227. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2011.00775.x
- 5 Shen Q, Zhang Z, Yu L, et al. Common variants near TERC are associated with leukocyte telomere length in the Chinese Han population. Eur J Hum Genet. 2011;19(6):721-723. doi:10.1038/EJHG.2011.4
- 6 Soerensen M, Dato S, Tan Q, et al. Human longevity and variation in GH/IGF-1/insulin signaling, DNA damage signaling and repair and pro/antioxidant pathway genes: Cross sectional and longitudinal studies. Exp Gerontol. 2012;47(5):379-387. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2012.02.010
- 7 Flachsbart F, Ellinghaus D, Gentschew L, et al. Immunochip analysis identifies association of the RAD50/IL13 region with human longevity. Aging Cell. 2016;15(3):585-588. doi:10.1111/acel.12471
- 8 Deelen J, Beekman M, Uh HW, et al. Genome-wide association meta-analysis of human longevity identifies a novel locus conferring survival beyond 90 years of age. Hum Mol Genet. 2014;23(16):4420-4432. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddu139
- 9 Zeng Y, Nie C, Min J, et al. Novel loci and pathways significantly associated with longevity. Sci Rep. 2016;6:21243-21243. doi:10.1038/SREP21243
- 10 Timmers PRHJ, Wilson JF, Joshi PK, Deelen J. Multivariate genomic scan implicates novel loci and haem metabolism in human ageing. Nat Commun. 2020;11(1):1-10. doi:10.1038/s41467-020-17312-3
- 11 Yao S, Zhu YS, Shi GP, et al. Associations of TNF-A -308 G>A and TNF-B 252 A>G with Physical Function and BNP—Rugao Longevity and Ageing Study. Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging. 2020;24(3):358-363. doi:10.1007/s12603-020-1336-1
- 12 Soerensen M, Dato S, Christensen K, et al. Replication of an association of variation in the FOXO3A gene with human longevity using both case–control and longitudinal data. Aging Cell. 2010;9(6):1010-1017. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2010.00627.x
- 13 Flachsbart F, Caliebe A, Kleindorp R, et al. Association of FOXO3A variation with human longevity confirmed in German centenarians. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2009;106(8):2700-2705. doi:10.1073/pnas.0809594106
- 14 Willcox BJ, Donlon TA, He Q, et al. FOXO3A genotype is strongly associated with human longevity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(37):13987-13992. doi:10.1073/pnas.0801030105
- 15 Anselmi CV, Malovini A, Roncarati R, et al. Association of the FOXO3A locus with extreme longevity in a Southern Italian centenarian study. Rejuvenation Res. 2009;12(2):95-103. doi:10.1089/rej.2008.0827
- 16 Bao JM, Song XL, Hong YQ, et al. Association between FOXO3A gene polymorphisms and human longevity: A metaanalysis. Asian J Androl. 2014;16(3):446-452. doi:10.4103/1008-682X.123673
- 17 Broer L, Buchman AS, Deelen J, et al. GWAS of Longevity in CHARGE Consortium Confirms APOE and FOXO3 Candidacy. The Journals of Gerontology: Series A. 2015;70(1):110-118. doi:10.1093/GERONA/GLU166
- 18 Flachsbart F, Dose J, Gentschew L, et al. Identification and characterization of two functional variants in the human longevity gene FOXO3. Nat Commun. 2017;8(1):1-12. doi:10.1038/s41467-017-02183-y

- 19 Li Y, Wang WJ, Cao H, et al. Genetic association of FOXO1A and FOXO3A with longevity trait in Han Chinese populations. Hum Mol Genet. 2009;18(24):4897-4904. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddp459
- 20 Pawlikowska L, Hu D, Huntsman S, et al. Association of common genetic variation in the insulin/IGF1 signaling pathway with human longevity. Aging Cell. 2009;8(4):460-472. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2009.00493.x
- 21 Bae H, Gurinovich A, Malovini A, et al. Effects of FOXO3 Polymorphisms on Survival to Extreme Longevity in Four Centenarian Studies. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2018;73(11):1439-1447. doi:10.1093/GERONA/GLX124
- 22 TenNapel MJ, Lynch CF, Burns TL, et al. SIRT6 Minor Allele Genotype Is Associated with >5-Year Decrease in Lifespan in an Aged Cohort. Nazir A, ed. PLoS One. 2014;9(12):e115616. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115616
- Li N, Luo H, Liu X, et al. Association study of polymorphisms in FOXO3, AKT1 and IGF-2R genes with human longevity in a Han Chinese population. Oncotarget. 2016;7(1):23-32. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.6627
- 24 Fortney K, Dobriban E, Garagnani P, et al. Genome-Wide Scan Informed by Age-Related Disease Identifies Loci for Exceptional Human Longevity. PLoS Genet. 2015;11(12):e1005728.e1005728.doi:10.1371/JOURNAL.PGEN.1005728
- Joshi PK, Pirastu N, Kentistou KA, et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis associates HLA-DQA1/DRB1 and LPA and lifestyle factors with human longevity. Nat Commun. 2017;8(1):910-910. doi:10.1038/S41467-017-00934-5
- 26 Christiansen L, Bathum L, Andersen-Ranberg K, Jeune B, Christensen K. Modest implication of interleukin-6 promoter polymorphisms in longevity. Mech Ageing Dev. 2004;125(5):391-395. doi:10.1016/J.MAD.2004.03.004
- 27 Albani D, Batelli S, Polito L, et al. Interleukin-6 plasma level increases with age in an Italian elderly population ("The Treviso Longeva"-Trelong-study) with a sex-specific contribution of rs1800795 polymorphism. Age (Omaha). 2009;31(2):155-162. doi:10.1007/s11357-009-9092-5
- 28 Revelas M, Thalamuthu A, Oldmeadow C, et al. Review and meta-analysis of genetic polymorphisms associated with exceptional human longevity. Mech Ageing Dev. 2018;175:24-34. doi:10.1016/j.mad.2018.06.002
- 29 Deelen J, Evans DS, Arking DE, et al. A meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies identifies multiple longevity genes. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):3669. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-11558-2
- 30 Soerensen M, Dato S, Tan Q, et al. Human longevity and variation in GH/IGF-1/insulin signaling, DNA damage signaling and repair and pro/antioxidant pathway genes: Cross sectional and longitudinal studies. Exp Gerontol. 2012;47(5):379-387. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2012.02.010
- 31 Pilling LC, Atkins JL, Bowman K, et al. Human longevity is influenced by many genetic variants: evidence from 75,000 UK Biobank participants. Aging. 2016;8(3):547-560. doi:10.18632/AGING.100930
- Pinós T, Fuku N, Cámara Y, et al. The rs1333049 polymorphism on locus 9p21.3 and extreme longevity in Spanish and Japanese cohorts. Age (Omaha). 2014;36(2):933-943. doi:10.1007/s11357-013-9593-0
- 33 Kuo CL, Joaquim M, Kuchel GA, et al. The Longevity-Associated SH2B3 (LNK) Genetic Variant: Selected Aging Phenotypes in 379,758 Subjects. Le Couteur D, ed. The Journals of Gerontology: Series A. 2020;75(9):1656-1662. doi:10.1093/gerona/glz191
- 34 Tindale LC, Leach S, Spinelli JJ, Brooks-Wilson AR. Lipid and Alzheimer's disease genes associated with healthy aging and longevity in healthy oldest-old. Oncotarget. 2017;8(13):20612-20621. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.15296
- 25 Zhu Z, Xia W, Cui Y, et al. Klotho gene polymorphisms are associated with healthy aging and longevity: Evidence from a meta-analysis. Mech Ageing Dev. 2019;178:33-40. doi:10.1016/j.mad.2018.12.003
- Arking DE, Krebsova A, Macek M, et al. Association of human aging with a functional variant of klotho. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2002;99(2):856-861. doi:10.1073/pnas.022484299
- Pereira RMR, Freitas TQ, Franco AS, et al. KLOTHO polymorphisms and age-related outcomes in community-dwelling older subjects: The São Paulo Ageing & amp; Health (SPAH) Study. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):8574. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-65441-y
- 38 Bonafè M, Barbieri M, Marchegiani F, et al. Polymorphic Variants of Insulin-Like Growth Factor I (IGF-I) Receptor and Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Genes Affect IGF-I Plasma Levels and Human Longevity: Cues for an Evolutionarily Conserved Mechanism of Life Span Control. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(7):3299-3304. doi:10.1210/jc.2002-021810
- Albani D, Batelli S, Polito L, et al. A polymorphic variant of the insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) receptor correlates with male longevity in the Italian population: A genetic study and evaluation of circulating IGF-1 from the "treviso Longeva (TRELONG)" study. BMC Geriatr. 2009;9(1):1-7. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-9-19
- 40 Van Heemst D, Mooijaart SP, Beekman M, et al. Variation in the human TP53 gene affects old age survival and cancer mortality. Exp Gerontol. 2005;40(1-2):11-15. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2004.10.001
- 41 Groß S, Immel UD, Klintschar M, Bartel F. Germline genetics of the p53 pathway affect longevity in a gender specific manner. Curr Aging Sci. 2014;7(2):91-100. doi:10.2174/1874609807666140321150751
- 42 Deelen J, Beekman M, Uh HW, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies a single major locus contributing to survival into old age; the APOE locus revisited. Aging Cell. 2011;10(4):686-698. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2011.00705.x
- 43 Sebastiani P, Bae H, Sun FX, et al. Meta-analysis of genetic variants associated with human exceptional longevity. Aging. 2013;5(9):653-661. doi:10.18632/AGING.100594
- 44 Shadyab AH, Kooperberg C, Reiner AP, et al. Replication of Genome-Wide Association Study Findings of Longevity in White, African American, and Hispanic Women: The Women's Health Initiative. Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2017;72(10):1401-1406. doi:10.1093/gerona/glw198

- 45 Soerensen M, Dato S, Tan Q, et al. Evidence from case-control and longitudinal studies supports associations of genetic variation in APOE, CETP, and IL6 with human longevity. Age (Omaha). 2013;35(2):487-500. doi:10.1007/s11357-011-9373-7
- Nebel A, Kleindorp R, Caliebe A, et al. A genome-wide association study confirms APOE as the major gene influencing 46
- survival in long-lived individuals. Mech Ageing Dev. 2011;132(6-7):324-330. doi:10.1016/j.mad.2011.06.008 Beekman M, Blanché H, Perola M, et al. Genome-wide linkage analysis for human longevity: Genetics of healthy aging 47 study. Aging Cell. 2013;12(2):184-193. doi:10.1111/acel.12039

		First SNP			Secon	d SNP		Interaction					
				95%	95%			95%	95%			95%	95%
First SNP	Second SNP	p- value	HR	Lower	Upper	p- value	HR	CI Lower	Upper	p- value	HR	CI Lower	Upper
PARK7 rs225119	KLF7 rs2360675	0.879	0.975	0.717	1.320	0.932	0.987	0.752	1.262	0.876	0.979	0.753	1.274
PARK7 rs225119	TERC rs12696304	0.994	1.001	0.608	1.699	0.519	0.920	0.693	1.212	0.856	0.972	0.689	1.320
PARK7 rs225119	TERC rs3772190	0.521	0.925	0.728	1.169	0.591	1.080	0.828	1.470	0.539	1.107	0.802	1.499
PARK7 rs225119	TERC rs16847897	0.413	1.209	0.757	1.912	0.800	0.964	0.730	1.314	0.320	0.858	0.623	1.160
PARK7 rs225119	GHSR rs572169	0.738	0.916	0.526	1.448	0.970	1.005	0.710	1.377	0.870	1.027	0.779	1.452
PARK7 rs225119	RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	0.931	0.908	0.780	1.271	0.739	0.997	0.773	1.429	0.696	1.033	0.720	1.257
PARK7 rs225119	LINC02227 rs2149954	0.212	1.170	0.905	1.498	0.213	1.181	0.908	1.554	0.044	0.776	0.605	1.002
PARK7 rs225119	FOXO3 rs12206094	0.904	0.988	0.791	1.237	0.574	1.082	0.817	1.495	0.688	0.940	0.695	1.242
PARK7 rs225119	FOXO3 rs2802292	0.500	0.920	0.714	1.189	0.484	0.900	0.663	1.267	0.720	1.050	0.787	1.369
PARK7 rs225119	FOXO3 rs2764264	0.466	0.926	0.739	1.161	0.389	0.880	0.634	1.186	0.422	1.110	0.832	1.477
PARK7 rs225119	FOXO3 rs10457180	0.356	0.908	0.732	1.116	0.488	0.902	0.676	1.175	0.539	1.087	0.845	1.419
PARK7 rs225119	FOXO3 rs13217795	0.407	0.916	0.736	1.135	0.398	0.889	0.641	1.207	0.569	1.082	0.030	1.438
PARK7 rs225119	FOXO3 rs4946935	0.350	0.910	0.737	1.106	0.748	0.956	0.712	1.290	0.528	1.088	0.842	1.423
PARK7 rs225119	IGF2R rs9456497	0.697	0.953	0.745	1.261	0.754	0.955	0.695	1.309	0.922	1.016	0.748	1.334
PARK7 rs225119	IL6 rs1800795	0.544	1.104	0.790	1.548	0.458	1.093	0.854	1.402	0.266	0.868	0.665	1.129
PARK7 rs225119	GHRHR rs2267723	0.352	0.843	0.576	1.266	0.286	0.881	0.690	1.108	0.351	1.112	0.875	1.439
PARK7 rs225119	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.851	1.028	0.759	1.343	0.495	1.095	0.801	1.468	0.564	0.921	0.706	1.236
PARK7 rs225119	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.615	1.076	0.782	1.409	0.269	1.152	0.890	1.468	0.376	0.891	0.700	1.164
PARK7 rs225119	PAPPA rs4837525	0.935	1.017	0.693	1.510	0.559	0.921	0.688	1.240	0.726	0.957	0.746	1.251
PARK7 rs225119	MRE11A rs533984	0.657	0.908	0.597	1.387	0.657	1.028	0.597	1.370	0.784	1.042	0.710	1.368
PARK7 rs225119	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.875	1.021	0.767	1.327	0.277	1.187	0.872	1.654	0.487	0.901	0.680	1.194
PARK7 rs225119	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.766	1.049	0.781	1.426	0.903	1.014	0.768	1.301	0.450	0.901	0.692	1.206
PARK7 rs225119	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.726	1.062	0.734	1.507	0.812	0.971	0.720	1.274	0.538	0.929	0.717	1.219
PARK7 rs225119	IGF1R rs2229765	0.594	0.912	0.675	1.283	0.728	1.047	0.808	1.387	0.571	1.072	0.823	1.353
PARK7 rs225119	TP53 rs1042522	0.250	0.874	0.676	1.104	0.043	0.722	0.504	0.981	0.180	1.223	0.941	1.732
PARK7 rs225119	ERCC2 rs50871	0.469	0.902	0.671	1.201	0.517	0.929	0.752	1.178	0.631	1.054	0.847	1.302
PARK7 rs225119	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.063	0.804	0.647	1.019	0.023	0.698	0.504	0.962	0.045	1.366	0.986	1.883
KLF7 rs2360675	TERC rs12696304	0.206	0.761	0.480	1.166	0.129	0.751	0.514	1.088	0.252	1.170	0.890	1.567
KLF7 rs2360675	TERC rs3772190	0.858	1.021	0.805	1.303	0.152	1.324	0.880	1.958	0.438	0.896	0.671	1.181
KLF7 rs2360675	TERC rs16847897	0.431	1.166	0.742	1.744	0.861	0.968	0.649	1.342	0.345	0.874	0.665	1.188
KLF7 rs2360675	GHSR rs572169	0.578	0.865	0.512	1.428	0.781	0.951	0.613	1.353	0.657	1.077	0.802	1.483
KLF7 rs2360675	RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	0.107	0.832	0.660	1.023	0.129	0.754	0.507	1.080	0.063	1.315	0.998	1.804
KLF7 rs2360675	LINC02227 rs2149954	0.626	1.057	0.824	1.320	0.690	1.061	0.796	1.406	0.313	0.884	0.700	1.138
KLF7 rs2360675	FOXO3 rs12206094	0.487	0.927	0.750	1.158	0.767	0.952	0.711	1.294	0.526	1.074	0.845	1.334
KLF7 rs2360675	FOXO3 rs2802292	0.121	0.813	0.620	1.065	0.095	0.765	0.550	1.053	0.098	1.224	0.953	1.581

Supplementary Table 2. The results of Cox regression survival analyses with bootstrapping for all the 359 tested models of single SNPs and their interactions.

KLF7 rs2360675	FOXO3 rs2764264	0.679	0.957	0.755	1.215	0.864	0.970	0.715	1.330	0.989	1.001	0.771	1.300
KLF7 rs2360675	FOXO3 rs10457180	0.675	0.956	0.754	1.191	0.746	0.955	0.730	1.300	0.858	1.022	0.800	1.297
KLF7 rs2360675	FOXO3 rs13217795	0.652	0.947	0.749	1.189	0.569	0.922	0.698	1.274	0.724	1.040	0.816	1.293
KLF7 rs2360675	FOXO3 rs4946935	0.917	0.927	0.818	1.209	0.752	0.968	0.868	1.221	0.371	1.069	0.800	1.080
KLF7 rs2360675	IGF2R rs9456497	0.793	1.026	0.855	1.269	0.447	1.162	0.794	1.761	0.259	0.848	0.616	1.135
KLF7 rs2360675	IL6 rs1800795	0.357	0.848	0.592	1.204	0.355	0.866	0.626	1.179	0.395	1.115	0.868	1.459
KLF7 rs2360675	GHRHR rs2267723	0.706	0.938	0.649	1.347	0.683	0.942	0.697	1.276	0.809	1.030	0.808	1.303
KLF7 rs2360675	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.425	1.108	0.875	1.445	0.189	1.215	0.896	1.657	0.175	0.854	0.668	1.077
KLF7 rs2360675	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.813	0.963	0.721	1.281	0.850	1.031	0.765	1.365	0.966	1.006	0.801	1.278
KLF7 rs2360675	PAPPA rs4837525	0.317	0.837	0.607	1.226	0.066	0.775	0.594	1.063	0.243	1.135	0.903	1.411
KLF7 rs2360675	MRE11A rs533984	0.289	0.822	0.500	1.232	0.632	0.926	0.692	1.309	0.318	1.145	0.871	1.483
KLF7 rs2360675	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.271	0.872	0.685	1.137	0.621	0.922	0.666	1.318	0.215	1.177	0.899	1.520
KLF7 rs2360675	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.709	0.945	0.666	1.302	0.496	0.896	0.621	1.239	0.824	1.029	0.757	1.387
KLF7 rs2360675	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.749	0.937	0.598	1.368	0.462	0.889	0.640	1.231	0.870	1.020	0.785	1.332
KLF7 rs2360675	IGF1R rs2229765	0.361	0.866	0.647	1.177	0.920	0.987	0.742	1.322	0.337	1.124	0.885	1.426
KLF7 rs2360675	TP53 rs1042522	0.426	0.915	0.726	1.137	0.182	0.774	0.541	1.107	0.471	1.116	0.834	1.540
KLF7 rs2360675	ERCC2 rs50871	0.870	1.022	0.780	1.380	0.922	1.015	0.792	1.332	0.591	0.951	0.782	1.154
KLF7 rs2360675	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.741	0.960	0.747	1.210	0.462	0.888	0.662	1.245	0.972	1.005	0.772	1.314
TERC rs12696304	GHSR rs572169	0.442	0.797	0.387	1.232	0.729	0.901	0.444	1.442	0.646	1.083	0.813	1.634
TERC rs12696304	RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	0.131	0.806	0.594	1.053	0.249	0.720	0.392	1.234	0.221	1.244	0.888	1.784
TERC rs12696304	LINC02227 rs2149954	0.257	0.854	0.632	1.113	0.455	0.833	0.509	1.302	0.570	1.088	0.819	1.486
TERC rs12696304	FOXO3 rs12206094	0.487	0.909	0.688	1.195	0.740	1.080	0.676	1.809	0.833	0.969	0.699	1.298
TERC rs12696304	FOXO3 rs2802292	0.953	0.992	0.731	1.368	0.600	1.140	0.708	1.923	0.443	0.886	0.637	1.213
TERC rs12696304	FOXO3 rs2764264	0.850	0.973	0.746	1.269	0.400	1.232	0.748	2.008	0.318	0.859	0.632	1.188
TERC rs12696304	FOXO3 rs10457180	0.947	0.988	0.767	1.314	0.360	1.233	0.766	1.994	0.309	0.862	0.642	1.179
TERC rs12696304	FOXO3 rs13217795	0.858	0.976	0.742	1.283	0.490	1.188	0.719	1.982	0.368	0.870	0.624	1.196
TERC rs12696304	FOXO3 rs4946935	0.540	0.923	0.703	1.191	0.642	1.119	0.720	1.817	0.735	0.950	0.706	1.267
TERC rs12696304	IGF2R rs9456497	0.242	0.854	0.646	1.112	0.487	0.827	0.477	1.452	0.527	1.109	0.780	1.587
TERC rs12696304	IL6 rs1800795	0.791	0.957	0.645	1.416	0.794	1.052	0.676	1.652	0.628	0.940	0.708	1.226
TERC rs12696304	GHRHR rs2267723	0.351	0.841	0.532	1.179	0.575	0.882	0.463	1.326	0.657	1.062	0.821	1.519
TERC rs12696304	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.705	0.946	0.685	1.242	0.568	1.127	0.763	1.791	0.580	0.926	0.682	1.229
TERC rs12696304	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.897	1.022	0.735	1.435	0.270	1.240	0.832	1.895	0.323	0.877	0.652	1.141
TERC rs12696304	PAPPA rs4837525	0.410	0.823	0.527	1.335	0.390	0.809	0.509	1.372	0.718	1.057	0.764	1.392
TERC rs12696304	MRE11A rs533984	0.742	1.068	0.690	1.551	0.144	1.370	0.860	2.106	0.275	0.858	0.649	1.163
TERC rs12696304	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.321	0.874	0.661	1.122	0.952	1.014	0.630	1.788	0.827	1.039	0.760	1.387
TERC rs12696304	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.192	1.243	0.882	1.732	0.058	1.531	0.970	2.440	0.014	0.708	0.539	0.946
TERC rs12696304	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.331	1.196	0.831	1.763	0.318	1.235	0.818	1.910	0.101	0.805	0.599	1.038
TERC rs12696304	IGF1R rs2229765	0.141	0.749	0.477	1.055	0.449	0.823	0.447	1.317	0.238	1.204	0.905	1.735
TERC rs12696304	TP53 rs1042522	0.428	0.897	0.691	1.157	0.605	0.870	0.493	1.442	0.987	1.003	0.723	1.416
TERC rs12696304	ERCC2 rs50871	0.333	0.859	0.587	1.143	0.620	0.915	0.626	1.292	0.717	1.044	0.844	1.343
TERC rs12696304	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.375	0.896	0.676	1.141	0.705	0.911	0.543	1.542	0.941	0.988	0.715	1.411

TERC rs3772190	GHSR rs572169	0.303	1.340	0.781	2.363	0.581	1.061	0.835	1.302	0.581	0.912	0.634	1.294
TERC rs3772190	RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	0.025	1.359	1.044	1.809	0.482	1.093	0.853	1.428	0.104	0.762	0.535	1.071
TERC rs3772190	LINC02227 rs2149954	0.122	1.228	0.946	1.618	0.887	0.987	0.798	1.229	0.574	0.925	0.683	1.245
TERC rs3772190	FOXO3 rs12206094	0.255	1.163	0.887	1.523	0.862	1.018	0.821	1.301	0.911	1.017	0.745	1.430
TERC rs3772190	FOXO3 rs2802292	0.715	1.064	0.777	1.436	0.361	0.898	0.705	1.130	0.474	1.119	0.813	1.523
TERC rs3772190	FOXO3 rs2764264	0.417	1.116	0.858	1.455	0.501	0.925	0.725	1.165	0.497	1.112	0.821	1.493
TERC rs3772190	FOXO3 rs10457180	0.486	1.094	0.820	1.405	0.535	0.932	0.738	1.151	0.500	1.108	0.811	1.556
TERC rs3772190	FOXO3 rs13217795	0.427	1.109	0.850	1.446	0.472	0.918	0.728	1.170	0.554	1.093	0.798	1.508
TERC rs3772190	FOXO3 rs4946935	0.216	1.163	0.911	1.492	0.833	1.024	0.826	1.260	0.941	1.010	0.774	1.368
TERC rs3772190	IGF2R rs9456497	0.062	1.278	0.990	1.675	0.635	1.062	0.817	1.401	0.265	0.828	0.600	1.163
TERC rs3772190	IL6 rs1800795	0.759	1.059	0.734	1.560	0.358	0.912	0.748	1.112	0.471	1.092	0.851	1.418
TERC rs3772190	GHRHR rs2267723	0.250	1.247	0.852	1.921	0.919	0.990	0.787	1.247	0.666	0.942	0.701	1.244
TERC rs3772190	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.239	1.188	0.898	1.565	0.746	1.038	0.804	1.322	0.915	0.985	0.769	1.330
TERC rs3772190	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.995	1.001	0.683	1.390	0.859	0.978	0.780	1.220	0.326	1.146	0.895	1.610
TERC rs3772190	PAPPA rs4837525	0.299	1.277	0.788	2.081	0.380	0.908	0.713	1.122	0.688	0.943	0.705	1.305
TERC rs3772190	MRE11A rs533984	0.882	0.971	0.654	1.451	0.830	1.024	0.815	1.292	0.235	1.184	0.876	1.567
TERC rs3772190	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.090	1.276	0.975	1.745	0.287	1.132	0.888	1.423	0.436	0.870	0.640	1.212
TERC rs3772190	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.387	0.828	0.561	1.237	0.022	0.794	0.641	0.974	0.032	1.403	1.007	1.927
TERC rs3772190	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.376	0.851	0.578	1.235	0.079	0.811	0.630	1.011	0.072	1.283	0.989	1.742
TERC rs3772190	IGF1R rs2229765	0.009	1.556	1.083	2.201	0.037	1.201	1.006	1.442	0.052	0.752	0.553	0.990
TERC rs3772190	TP53 rs1042522	0.173	1.194	0.943	1.639	0.292	0.877	0.694	1.099	0.748	0.947	0.666	1.319
TERC rs3772190	ERCC2 rs50871	0.418	1.141	0.840	1.624	0.896	0.988	0.820	1.186	0.828	1.023	0.788	1.250
TERC rs3772190	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.164	1.184	0.950	1.543	0.392	0.892	0.694	1.161	0.915	0.983	0.701	1.351
TERC rs16847897	GHSR rs572169	0.080	0.645	0.366	1.023	0.280	0.761	0.436	1.241	0.215	1.205	0.904	1.670
TERC rs16847897	RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	0.235	0.859	0.660	1.125	0.933	1.021	0.633	1.621	0.924	0.984	0.716	1.354
TERC rs16847897	LINC02227 rs2149954	0.080	0.799	0.625	1.061	0.406	0.832	0.535	1.294	0.538	1.087	0.827	1.423
TERC rs16847897	FOXO3 rs12206094	0.125	0.820	0.636	1.043	0.758	0.935	0.614	1.411	0.661	1.064	0.815	1.411
TERC rs16847897	FOXO3 rs2802292	0.224	0.832	0.586	1.099	0.627	0.905	0.540	1.436	0.863	1.028	0.765	1.449
TERC rs16847897	FOXO3 rs2764264	0.145	0.821	0.611	1.067	0.689	0.918	0.592	1.387	0.815	1.033	0.782	1.395
TERC rs16847897	FOXO3 rs10457180	0.157	0.829	0.631	1.073	0.709	0.922	0.573	1.439	0.824	1.035	0.780	1.398
TERC rs16847897	FOXO3 rs13217795	0.167	0.833	0.624	1.087	0.698	0.916	0.569	1.350	0.871	1.027	0.789	1.402
TERC rs16847897	FOXO3 rs4946935	0.058	0.784	0.595	1.002	0.412	0.844	0.541	1.230	0.340	1.140	0.885	1.508
TERC rs16847897	IGF2R rs9456497	0.111	0.813	0.625	1.029	0.520	0.855	0.495	1.402	0.631	1.082	0.790	1.530
TERC rs16847897	IL6 rs1800795	0.788	1.037	0.719	1.452	0.205	1.251	0.855	1.799	0.111	0.831	0.655	1.052
TERC rs16847897	GHRHR rs2267723	0.082	0.721	0.502	1.052	0.259	0.787	0.525	1.240	0.302	1.146	0.860	1.504
TERC rs16847897	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.212	0.859	0.676	1.117	0.830	1.043	0.760	1.642	0.865	0.981	0.725	1.242
TERC rs16847897	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.283	0.847	0.629	1.194	0.934	1.012	0.739	1.461	0.970	1.004	0.773	1.255
TERC rs16847897	PAPPA rs4837525	0.138	0.736	0.475	1.132	0.206	0.751	0.476	1.257	0.477	1.109	0.815	1.462
TERC rs16847897	MRE11A rs533984	0.847	0.960	0.637	1.456	0.382	1.226	0.797	1.919	0.531	0.905	0.670	1.236
TERC rs16847897	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.029	0.765	0.591	0.973	0.471	0.860	0.569	1.336	0.241	1.176	0.884	1.576
TERC rs16847897	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.143	1.274	0.906	1.835	0.020	1.649	1.093	2.537	0.002	0.665	0.512	0.860

TERC rs16847897	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.923	1.016	0.654	1.425	0.663	1.084	0.683	1.590	0.293	0.879	0.691	1.157
TERC rs16847897	IGF1R rs2229765	0.164	0.804	0.579	1.106	1.000	1.000	0.684	1.456	0.619	1.061	0.839	1.369
TERC rs16847897	TP53 rs1042522	0.166	0.846	0.660	1.070	0.498	0.866	0.516	1.370	0.994	0.999	0.751	1.357
TERC rs16847897	ERCC2 rs50871	0.261	0.853	0.619	1.114	0.943	0.988	0.690	1.366	0.991	0.998	0.812	1.260
TERC rs16847897	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.248	0.879	0.688	1.099	0.953	0.987	0.660	1.709	0.628	0.931	0.666	1.226
GHSR rs572169	RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	0.211	1.154	0.901	1.430	0.141	1.358	0.869	2.046	0.107	0.806	0.614	1.062
GHSR rs572169	LINC02227 rs2149954	0.565	1.081	0.815	1.397	0.875	1.032	0.649	1.662	0.643	0.939	0.700	1.237
GHSR rs572169	FOXO3 rs12206094	0.965	0.995	0.745	1.313	0.792	0.943	0.618	1.682	0.729	1.056	0.741	1.394
GHSR rs572169	FOXO3 rs2802292	0.916	0.983	0.718	1.388	0.559	0.874	0.568	1.446	0.724	1.050	0.768	1.394
GHSR rs572169	FOXO3 rs2764264	0.670	0.944	0.728	1.241	0.297	0.791	0.543	1.339	0.324	1.151	0.816	1.471
GHSR rs572169	FOXO3 rs10457180	0.559	0.929	0.725	1.185	0.272	0.791	0.512	1.301	0.286	1.157	0.839	1.539
GHSR rs572169	FOXO3 rs13217795	0.730	0.959	0.748	1.242	0.327	0.812	0.541	1.327	0.396	1.120	0.815	1.456
GHSR rs572169	FOXO3 rs4946935	0.826	0.978	0.764	1.235	0.719	0.922	0.633	1.584	0.557	1.081	0.780	1.391
GHSR rs572169	IGF2R rs9456497	0.332	1.120	0.862	1.384	0.300	1.315	0.764	2.117	0.178	0.811	0.592	1.123
GHSR rs572169	IL6 rs1800795	0.261	1.243	0.846	1.835	0.322	1.221	0.830	1.906	0.226	0.856	0.649	1.111
GHSR rs572169	GHRHR rs2267723	0.538	0.898	0.598	1.307	0.293	0.808	0.509	1.217	0.329	1.130	0.875	1.480
GHSR rs572169	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.960	0.993	0.756	1.297	0.831	0.947	0.557	1.624	0.778	1.046	0.769	1.432
GHSR rs572169	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.250	1.184	0.870	1.579	0.173	1.336	0.855	2.052	0.190	0.843	0.643	1.094
GHSR rs572169	PAPPA rs4837525	0.173	0.768	0.498	1.106	0.036	0.644	0.400	0.982	0.123	1.245	0.954	1.682
GHSR rs572169	MRE11A rs533984	0.889	0.971	0.616	1.425	0.950	0.983	0.571	1.582	0.704	1.056	0.790	1.439
GHSR rs572169	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.565	1.086	0.813	1.420	0.377	1.207	0.770	1.855	0.557	0.924	0.700	1.218
GHSR rs572169	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.958	0.992	0.701	1.387	0.558	0.888	0.602	1.335	0.815	1.027	0.794	1.327
GHSR rs572169	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.972	1.005	0.682	1.443	0.542	0.883	0.569	1.373	0.854	1.022	0.771	1.323
GHSR rs572169	IGF1R rs2229765	0.558	1.091	0.793	1.448	0.349	1.198	0.792	1.709	0.697	0.953	0.751	1.270
GHSR rs572169	TP53 rs1042522	0.754	0.962	0.741	1.241	0.249	0.747	0.436	1.192	0.511	1.108	0.845	1.531
GHSR rs572169	ERCC2 rs50871	0.912	1.018	0.745	1.415	0.854	0.950	0.598	1.527	0.934	1.011	0.773	1.296
GHSR rs572169	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.195	1.166	0.924	1.449	0.416	1.213	0.763	1.824	0.128	0.811	0.625	1.084
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	LINC02227 rs2149954	0.550	0.924	0.696	1.201	0.312	0.891	0.708	1.105	0.478	1.101	0.851	1.474
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	FOXO3 rs12206094	0.774	0.964	0.728	1.229	0.941	0.993	0.815	1.246	0.671	1.065	0.803	1.476
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	FOXO3 rs2802292	0.910	0.981	0.715	1.287	0.477	0.930	0.746	1.137	0.876	1.019	0.766	1.452
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	FOXO3 rs2764264	0.677	0.945	0.689	1.218	0.452	0.918	0.732	1.150	0.465	1.118	0.845	1.559
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	FOXO3 rs10457180	0.654	0.939	0.708	1.201	0.535	0.933	0.753	1.162	0.538	1.095	0.817	1.539
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	FOXO3 rs13217795	0.767	0.964	0.741	1.231	0.473	0.927	0.760	1.139	0.644	1.068	0.807	1.500
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	FOXO3 rs4946935	0.786	0.963	0.731	1.226	0.995	1.001	0.806	1.217	0.672	1.067	0.812	1.474
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	IGF2R rs9456497	0.491	0.916	0.708	1.161	0.238	0.853	0.640	1.110	0.113	1.283	0.938	1.751
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	IL6 rs1800795	0.375	1.135	0.812	1.483	0.765	1.033	0.826	1.260	0.371	0.896	0.705	1.161
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	GHRHR rs2267723	0.202	1.245	0.883	1.791	0.484	1.078	0.860	1.344	0.131	0.822	0.625	1.051
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.576	0.925	0.679	1.244	0.756	0.964	0.773	1.250	0.401	1.119	0.830	1.445
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.867	0.974	0.676	1.344	0.863	1.021	0.833	1.274	0.813	1.028	0.794	1.326
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	PAPPA rs4837525	0.367	0.830	0.545	1.247	0.083	0.817	0.651	1.028	0.237	1.175	0.902	1.551
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	MRE11A rs533984	0.749	1.060	0.676	1.528	0.469	1.088	0.855	1.374	0.764	0.956	0.725	1.294

RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.988	0.997	0.747	1.328	0.642	1.063	0.838	1.413	0.890	1.021	0.736	1.336
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.819	0.965	0.670	1.297	0.346	0.904	0.732	1.127	0.774	1.038	0.783	1.357
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.892	0.969	0.625	1.540	0.356	0.897	0.720	1.140	0.869	1.028	0.752	1.379
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	IGF1R rs2229765	0.375	0.866	0.616	1.175	0.813	1.023	0.838	1.255	0.162	1.186	0.932	1.553
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	TP53 rs1042522	0.241	0.987	0.624	1.090	0.241	0.842	0.624	1.090	0.736	1.053	0.787	1.523
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	ERCC2 rs50871	0.276	1.180	0.839	1.575	0.599	1.058	0.862	1.285	0.201	0.854	0.680	1.111
RAD50/IL13 rs2706372	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.535	1.077	0.858	1.395	0.541	0.956	0.626	1.201	0.541	0.902	0.626	1.201
LINC02227 rs2149954	FOXO3 rs12206094	0.378	0.903	0.714	1.178	0.780	0.966	0.743	1.274	0.534	1.078	0.812	1.405
LINC02227 rs2149954	FOXO3 rs2802292	0.503	0.910	0.679	1.210	0.533	0.910	0.664	1.237	0.771	1.042	0.782	1.350
LINC02227 rs2149954	FOXO3 rs2764264	0.946	0.990	0.773	1.302	0.929	1.010	0.778	1.298	0.658	0.945	0.715	1.198
LINC02227 rs2149954	FOXO3 rs10457180	0.904	0.984	0.765	1.275	0.881	1.020	0.766	1.351	0.630	0.938	0.710	1.226
LINC02227 rs2149954	FOXO3 rs13217795	0.970	1.004	0.794	1.331	0.926	1.016	0.790	1.353	0.565	0.921	0.685	1.178
LINC02227 rs2149954	FOXO3 rs4946935	0.482	0.915	0.717	1.185	0.976	0.996	0.778	1.301	0.720	1.050	0.803	1.339
LINC02227 rs2149954	IGF2R rs9456497	0.596	0.946	0.768	1.149	0.866	0.977	0.742	1.320	0.983	0.997	0.782	1.302
LINC02227 rs2149954	IL6 rs1800795	0.686	1.073	0.809	1.540	0.522	1.073	0.866	1.323	0.295	0.881	0.676	1.097
LINC02227 rs2149954	GHRHR rs2267723	0.733	0.949	0.695	1.274	0.760	0.973	0.804	1.208	0.927	0.989	0.787	1.220
LINC02227 rs2149954	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.419	1.105	0.860	1.404	0.104	1.181	0.972	1.462	0.079	0.814	0.642	1,'57
LINC02227 rs2149954	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.164	1.211	0.908	1.642	0.024	1.237	1.021	1.490	0.038	0.785	0.619	0.983
LINC02227 rs2149954	PAPPA rs4837525	0.187	1.236	0.888	1.709	0.693	1.050	0.829	1.372	0.083	0.813	0.641	1.029
LINC02227 rs2149954	MRE11A rs533984	0.800	0.955	0.670	1.338	0.562	1.078	0.819	1.406	0.928	0.988	0.791	1.293
LINC02227 rs2149954	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.825	0.976	0.777	1.237	0.295	1.141	0.909	1.519	0.601	0.933	0.702	1.210
LINC02227 rs2149954	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.581	0.931	0.703	1.218	0.439	0.912	0.710	1.148	0.874	1.018	0.826	1.270
LINC02227 rs2149954	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.291	0.811	0.546	1.236	0.129	0.837	0.651	1.076	0.394	1.114	0.863	1.430
LINC02227 rs2149954	IGF1R rs2229765	0.396	0.903	0.694	1.171	0.532	1.068	0.847	1.305	0.631	1.055	0.867	1.315
LINC02227 rs2149954	TP53 rs1042522	0.118	0.838	0.672	1.037	0.019	0.723	0.530	0.929	0.069	1.253	0.996	1.674
LINC02227 rs2149954	ERCC2 rs50871	0.589	0.919	0.681	1.274	0.670	0.954	0.785	1.161	0.849	1.022	0.825	1.270
LINC02227 rs2149954	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.918	0.988	0.800	1.240	0.747	0.953	0.723	1.310	0.509	0.905	0.656	1.196
FOXO3 rs12206094	IGF2R rs9456497	0.670	0.955	0.771	1.182	0.348	0.875	0.647	1.156	0.267	1.180	0.871	1.598
FOXO3 rs12206094	IL6 rs1800795	0.578	1.105	0.735	1.543	0.962	1.006	0.783	1.242	0.617	0.942	0.748	1.208
FOXO3 rs12206094	GHRHR rs2267723	0.201	1.231	0.784	1.735	0.568	1.060	0.870	1.326	0.131	0.837	0.649	1.043
FOXO3 rs12206094	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.451	0.910	0.703	1.168	0.491	0.922	0.723	1.161	0.178	1.169	0.922	1.477
FOXO3 rs12206094	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.091	0.788	0.593	1.050	0.235	0.881	0.715	1.082	0.021	1.292	1.042	1.642
FOXO3 rs12206094	PAPPA rs4837525	0.721	1.062	0.753	1.637	0.316	0.892	0.709	1.119	0.855	0.980	0.736	1.240
FOXO3 rs12206094	MRE11A rs533984	0.470	1.151	0.788	1.649	0.324	1.128	0.686	1.461	0.486	0.907	0.687	1.207
FOXO3 rs12206094	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.940	0.989	0.769	1.273	0.703	1.050	0.845	1.335	0.732	1.048	0.793	1.439
FOXO3 rs12206094	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.895	1.020	0.744	1.397	0.507	0.924	0.730	1.165	0.998	0.999	0.780	1.284
FOXO3 rs12206094	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.300	1.214	0.824	1.737	0.871	0.979	0.784	1.218	0.292	0.878	0.678	1.123
FOXO3 rs12206094	IGF1R rs2229765	0.717	0.956	0.750	1.198	0.492	1.067	0.868	1.275	0.423	1.087	0.898	1.332
FOXO3 rs12206094	TP53 rs1042522	0.556	1.071	0.859	1.387	0.421	0.908	0.710	1.183	0.577	0.924	0.677	1.249
FOXO3 rs12206094	ERCC2 rs50871	0.304	1.148	0.899	1.608	0.682	1.034	0.865	1.236	0.268	0.893	0.705	1.102
FOXO3 rs12206094	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.335	1.113	0.903	1.433	0.810	0.974	0.773	1.265	0.279	0.860	0.635	1.138

FOXO3 rs2802292	IGF2R rs9456497	0.242	0.877	0.703	1.106	0.307	0.833	0.570	1.204	0.292	1.172	0.840	1.606
FOXO3 rs2802292	IL6 rs1800795	0.794	1.052	0.716	1.542	0.695	1.054	0.794	1.392	0.458	0.907	0.700	1.174
FOXO3 rs2802292	GHRHR rs2267723	0.707	1.057	0.761	1.442	0.631	1.059	0.839	1.346	0.297	0.892	0.710	1.113
FOXO3 rs2802292	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.391	0.902	0.703	1.145	0.852	0.976	0.748	1.267	0.694	1.049	0.828	1.326
FOXO3 rs2802292	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.086	0.777	0.586	1.050	0.299	0.891	0.708	1.106	0.093	1.203	0.970	1.514
FOXO3 rs2802292	PAPPA rs4837525	0.816	0.956	0.638	1.413	0.411	0.889	0.660	1.178	0.983	0.997	0.751	1.340
FOXO3 rs2802292	MRE11A rs533984	0.542	1.119	0.778	1.645	0.176	1.201	0.910	1.576	0.290	0.867	0.661	1.124
FOXO3 rs2802292	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.487	0.916	0.698	1.183	0.692	1.054	0.771	1.425	0.856	1.025	0.763	1.355
FOXO3 rs2802292	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.834	0.969	0.728	1.311	0.711	0.949	0.712	1.269	0.776	0.966	0.736	1.231
FOXO3 rs2802292	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.534	1.116	0.737	1.644	0.898	1.016	0.779	1.362	0.332	0.882	0.683	1.179
FOXO3 rs2802292	IGF1R rs2229765	0.371	0.886	0.661	1.213	0.834	1.025	0.821	1.296	0.380	1.105	0.874	1.404
FOXO3 rs2802292	TP53 rs1042522	0.724	0.960	0.757	1.231	0.452	0.899	0.664	1.226	0.803	0.963	0.700	1.290
FOXO3 rs2802292	ERCC2 rs50871	0.091	1.290	0.973	1.758	0.083	1.221	0.975	1.557	0.013	0.750	0.584	0.940
FOXO3 rs2802292	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.806	0.970	0.777	1.218	0.757	0.952	0.705	1.339	0.641	0.933	0.687	1.306
FOXO3 rs2764264	IGF2R rs9456497	0.406	0.918	0.754	1.135	0.345	0.867	0.643	1.163	0.398	1.148	0.816	1.594
FOXO3 rs2764264	IL6 rs1800795	0.654	1.085	0.769	1.542	0.667	1.053	0.825	1.335	0.430	0.911	0.706	1.145
FOXO3 rs2764264	GHRHR rs2267723	0.596	0.909	0.623	1.314	0.498	0.926	0.734	1.129	0.708	1.045	0.822	1.351
FOXO3 rs2764264	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.258	0.867	0.676	1.107	0.508	0.925	0.728	1.169	0.217	1.156	0.911	1.467
FOXO3 rs2764264	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.066	0.760	0.567	1.029	0.255	0.882	0.699	1.095	0.049	1.266	1.005	1.624
FOXO3 rs2764264	PAPPA rs4837525	0.695	1.076	0.770	1.644	0.473	0.924	0.742	1.179	0.567	0.929	0.705	1.178
FOXO3 rs2764264	MRE11A rs533984	0.856	1.040	0.701	1.548	0.383	1.112	0.867	1.443	0.677	0.945	0.725	1.245
FOXO3 rs2764264	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.950	0.991	0.756	1.265	0.252	1.163	0.899	1.553	0.729	0.949	0.694	1.274
FOXO3 rs2764264	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.743	0.954	0.712	1.281	0.284	0.886	0.700	1.110	0.894	1.015	0.789	1.297
FOXO3 rs2764264	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.854	1.037	0.674	1.530	0.750	0.964	0.759	1.213	0.666	0.947	0.723	1.242
FOXO3 rs2764264	IGF1R rs2229765	0.498	0.906	0.682	1.170	0.590	1.055	0.865	1.306	0.415	1.096	0.882	1.377
FOXO3 rs2764264	TP53 rs1042522	0.899	0.986	0.784	1.228	0.249	0.854	0.652	1.101	0.953	0.992	0.712	1.357
FOXO3 rs2764264	ERCC2 rs50871	0.594	1.074	0.825	1.464	0.765	1.031	0.861	1.266	0.355	0.904	0.711	1.112
FOXO3 rs2764264	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.472	0.917	0.725	1.164	0.148	0.838	0.651	1.074	0.460	1.101	0.850	1.471
FOXO3 rs10457180	IGF2R rs9456497	0.466	0.924	0.752	1.158	0.402	0.884	0.652	1.179	0.411	1.136	0.820	1.545
FOXO3 rs10457180	IL6 rs1800795	0.556	1.105	0.780	1.496	0.709	1.042	0.829	1.285	0.387	0.899	0.709	1.149
FOXO3 rs10457180	GHRHR rs2267723	0.545	0.902	0.616	1.264	0.540	0.934	0.750	1.149	0.642	1.058	0.852	1.363
FOXO3 rs10457180	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.326	0.882	0.692	1.139	0.534	0.929	0.740	1.174	0.264	1.141	0.906	1.423
FOXO3 rs10457180	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.082	0.778	0.592	1.061	0.296	0.893	0.728	1.111	0.056	1.245	0.980	1.560
FOXO3 rs10457180	PAPPA rs4837525	0.596	1.099	0.771	1.636	0.538	0.939	0.761	1.171	0.484	0.913	0.703	1.160
FOXO3 rs10457180	MRE11A rs533984	0.827	1.043	0.703	1.496	0.395	1.103	0.858	1.395	0.680	0.949	0.726	1.249
FOXO3 rs10457180	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.890	1.018	0.812	1.288	0.289	1.143	0.878	1.489	0.548	0.916	0.672	1.276
FOXO3 rs10457180	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.630	0.928	0.690	1.246	0.328	0.890	0.706	1.157	0.708	1.049	0.794	1.353
FOXO3 rs10457180	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.547	1.117	0.761	1.744	0.850	0.977	0.777	1.232	0.407	0.900	0.668	1.166
FOXO3 rs10457180	IGF1R rs2229765	0.536	0.919	0.693	1.184	0.557	1.054	0.871	1.284	0.416	1.097	0.882	1.342
FOXO3 rs10457180	TP53 rs1042522	0.751	0.964	0.780	1.226	0.216	0.852	0.657	1.103	0.837	1.035	0.751	1.405
FOXO3 rs10457180	ERCC2 rs50871	0.620	1.073	0.837	1.470	0.802	1.024	0.833	1.234	0.404	0.907	0.715	1.119

1	1	1	1	1				1				i	1
FOXO3 rs10457180	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.420	0.913	0.710	1.175	0.135	0.834	0.665	1.100	0.446	1.124	0.839	1.559
FOXO3 rs13217795	IGF2R rs9456497	0.387	0.914	0.731	1.139	0.493	0.900	0.640	1.208	0.496	1.120	0.807	1.608
FOXO3 rs13217795	IL6 rs1800795	0.709	1.073	0.782	1.502	0.744	1.035	0.816	1.296	0.431	0.908	0.704	1.142
FOXO3 rs13217795	GHRHR rs2267723	0.562	0.900	0.619	1.266	0.563	0.943	0.747	1.148	0.716	1.045	0.827	1.349
FOXO3 rs13217795	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.180	0.848	0.651	1.111	0.470	0.917	0.728	1.155	0.175	1.169	0.913	1.484
FOXO3 rs13217795	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.038	0.742	0.555	1.012	0.225	0.880	0.705	1.095	0.043	1.279	1.021	1.649
FOXO3 rs13217795	PAPPA rs4837525	0.552	1.119	0.781	1.699	0.770	0.966	0.784	1.223	0.347	0.888	0.665	1.138
FOXO3 rs13217795	MRE11A rs533984	0.838	1.036	0.696	1.484	0.367	1.112	0.890	1.418	0.618	0.939	0.731	1.247
FOXO3 rs13217795	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.979	0.996	0.760	1.289	0.356	1.131	0.882	1.490	0.631	0.932	0.686	1.260
FOXO3 rs13217795	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.485	0.899	0.660	1.194	0.254	0.876	0.698	1.111	0.648	1.063	0.829	1.344
FOXO3 rs13217795	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.737	1.071	0.725	1.614	0.770	0.968	0.757	1.206	0.494	0.916	0.713	1.200
FOXO3 rs13217795	IGF1R rs2229765	0.469	0.905	0.690	1.195	0.538	1.062	0.872	1.281	0.448	1.091	0.875	1.351
FOXO3 rs13217795	TP53 rs1042522	0.631	0.946	0.744	1.184	0.183	0.842	0.654	1.120	0.782	1.039	0.758	1.413
FOXO3 rs13217795	ERCC2 rs50871	0.765	1.044	0.765	1.380	0.880	1.017	0.834	1.219	0.431	0.916	0.736	1.138
FOXO3 rs13217795	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.426	0.905	0.696	1.147	0.176	0.846	0.664	1.105	0.505	1.098	0.821	1.489
FOXO3 rs4946935	IGF2R rs9456497	0.603	0.948	0.776	1.153	0.250	0.842	0.620	1.129	0.153	1.238	0.932	1.672
FOXO3 rs4946935	IL6 rs1800795	0.262	1.191	0.862	1.623	0.702	1.040	0.835	1.276	0.281	0.891	0.725	1.097
FOXO3 rs4946935	GHRHR rs2267723	0.669	1.074	0.774	1.486	0.945	0.992	0.806	1.220	0.688	0.954	0.766	1.191
FOXO3 rs4946935	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.278	0.880	0.689	1.120	0.322	0.896	0.723	1.127	0.063	1.226	0.974	1.534
FOXO3 rs4946935	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.090	0.784	0.581	1.048	0.215	0.880	0.708	1.076	0.009	1.306	1.066	1.654
FOXO3 rs4946935	PAPPA rs4837525	0.481	1.152	0.791	1.788	0.449	0.922	0.723	1.155	0.583	0.927	0.696	1.201
FOXO3 rs4946935	MRE11A rs533984	0.999	1.000	0.671	1.411	0.692	1.048	0.822	1.305	0.846	1.027	0.797	1.376
FOXO3 rs4946935	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.755	1.042	0.815	1.320	0.466	1.087	0.862	1.392	0.904	0.985	0.755	1.310
FOXO3 rs4946935	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.999	1.000	0.749	1.346	0.348	0.903	0.732	1.131	0.781	1.030	0.803	1.283
FOXO3 rs4946935	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.734	1.066	0.717	1.556	0.494	0.929	0.738	1.158	0.827	0.972	0.757	1.279
FOXO3 rs4946935	IGF1R rs2229765	0.732	0.958	0.732	1.228	0.592	1.052	0.874	1.266	0.282	1.121	0.907	1.428
FOXO3 rs4946935	TP53 rs1042522	0.595	1.067	0.852	1.394	0.267	0.886	0.712	1.097	0.759	0.958	0.696	1.319
FOXO3 rs4946935	ERCC2 rs50871	0.498	1.101	0.852	1.492	0.983	1.002	0.843	1.198	0.532	0.938	0.755	1.171
FOXO3 rs4946935	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.739	1.037	0.822	1.347	0.366	0.895	0.706	1.154	0.992	0.998	0.759	1.319
IGF2R rs9456497	IL6 rs1800795	0.345	0.838	0.560	1.155	0.408	0.910	0.718	1.115	0.318	1.154	0.890	1.579
IGF2R rs9456497	GHRHR rs2267723	0.886	1.033	0.647	1.575	0.940	0.992	0.815	1.221	0.727	0.949	0.706	1.290
IGF2R rs9456497	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.997	1.001	0.731	1.372	0.757	1.033	0.852	1.270	0.776	0.963	0.706	1.287
IGF2R rs9456497	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.087	0.699	0.447	1.066	0.531	0.945	0.788	1.137	0.067	1.331	0.973	1.855
IGF2R rs9456497	PAPPA rs4837525	0.619	0.907	0.577	1.280	0.177	0.864	0.691	1.081	0.792	1.037	0.784	1.419
IGF2R rs9456497	MRE11A rs533984	0.534	0.887	0.561	1.296	0.792	1.031	0.811	1.306	0.595	1.081	0.804	1.531
IGF2R rs9456497	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.787	0.957	0.660	1.324	0.540	1.077	0.860	1.397	0.996	0.999	0.733	1.351
IGF2R rs9456497	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.455	0.879	0.628	1.252	0.245	0.889	0.712	1.089	0.442	1.106	0.838	1.439
IGF2R rs9456497	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.072	0.696	0.443	1.049	0.056	0.818	0.666	1.018	0.075	1.271	0.969	1.723
IGF2R rs9456497	IGF1R rs2229765	0.362	1.146	0.831	1.578	0.054	1.217	0.985	1.496	0.078	0.800	0.614	1.031
IGF2R rs9456497	TP53 rs1042522	0.737	0.957	0.717	1.237	0.183	0.857	0.678	1.082	0.810	1.041	0.737	1.543
IGF2R rs9456497	ERCC2 rs50871	0.731	0.934	0.624	1.358	0.661	0.957	0.785	1.168	0.819	1.032	0.787	1.370

IGF2R rs9456497	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.160	0.809	0.583	1.093	0.053	0.806	0.641	1.006	0.119	1.348	0.947	2.054
IL6 rs1800795	GHRHR rs2267723	0.069	0.767	0.571	1.024	0.037	0.752	0.568	0.988	0.038	1.246	1.000	1.537
IL6 rs1800795	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.312	0.877	0.664	1.147	0.511	0.904	0.674	1.228	0.298	1.115	0.903	1.385
IL6 rs1800795	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.730	0.951	0.698	1.273	0.887	1.022	0.757	1.377	0.882	1.018	0.816	1.270
IL6 rs1800795	PAPPA rs4837525	0.221	0.800	0.543	1.095	0.072	0.745	0.526	1.037	0.209	1.172	0.922	1.525
IL6 rs1800795	MRE11A rs533984	0.292	0.834	0.571	1.142	0.653	0.935	0.674	1.254	0.289	1.130	0.897	1.455
IL6 rs1800795	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.581	0.936	0.740	1.198	0.941	1.013	0.742	1.495	0.645	1.057	0.812	1.343
IL6 rs1800795	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.894	1.019	0.761	1.365	0.825	0.971	0.735	1.300	0.707	0.958	0.752	1.191
IL6 rs1800795	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.381	0.877	0.621	1.177	0.210	0.836	0.605	1.119	0.501	1.075	0.862	1.358
IL6 rs1800795	IGF1R rs2229765	0.661	1.058	0.829	1.385	0.134	1.224	0.946	1.637	0.429	0.923	0.747	1.135
IL6 rs1800795	TP53 rs1042522	0.469	0.924	0.730	1.145	0.158	0.791	0.565	1.097	0.477	1.099	0.856	1.480
IL6 rs1800795	ERCC2 rs50871	0.602	0.943	0.748	1.209	0.592	0.933	0.720	1.234	0.754	1.026	0.835	1.235
IL6 rs1800795	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.859	1.020	0.826	1.273	0.988	0.996	0.691	1.474	0.474	0.907	0.686	1.219
GHRHR rs2267723	CDKN2B rs4977756	0.309	0.870	0.654	1.127	0.554	0.894	0.616	1.311	0.351	1.128	0.863	1.446
GHRHR rs2267723	CDKN2B rs1333049	0.937	0.989	0.760	1.311	0.661	1.068	0.799	1.507	0.831	0.977	0.772	1.192
GHRHR rs2267723	PAPPA rs4837525	0.444	1.135	0.811	1.543	0.991	1.002	0.696	1.419	0.337	0.888	0.705	1.134
GHRHR rs2267723	MRE11A rs533984	0.405	0.865	0.584	1.246	0.818	0.959	0.628	1.394	0.432	1.100	0.851	1.459
GHRHR rs2267723	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.358	1.108	0.881	1.397	0.149	1.360	0.931	2.197	0.162	0.809	0.583	1.060
GHRHR rs2267723	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.570	0.923	0.672	1.241	0.420	0.876	0.608	1.217	0.683	1.048	0.835	1.328
GHRHR rs2267723	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.888	1.021	0.726	1.474	0.803	0.956	0.652	1.430	0.745	0.964	0.747	1.237
GHRHR rs2267723	IGF1R rs2229765	0.415	0.908	0.705	1.145	0.766	1.049	0.760	1.392	0.556	1.055	0.880	1.296
GHRHR rs2267723	TP53 rs1042522	0.808	1.025	0.825	1.290	0.989	0.997	0.654	1.499	0.403	0.885	0.657	1.170
GHRHR rs2267723	ERCC2 rs50871	0.876	1.026	0.764	1.369	0.813	1.031	0.768	1.370	0.585	0.947	0.762	1.169
GHRHR rs2267723	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.908	0.989	0.783	1.240	0.611	0.903	0.594	1.334	0.950	0.990	0.760	1.317
CDKN2B rs4977756	PAPPA rs4837525	0.333	1.186	0.850	1.694	0.901	0.983	0.757	1.284	0.308	0.885	0.692	1.132
CDKN2B rs4977756	MRE11A rs533984	0.332	1.229	0.856	1.980	0.146	1.209	0.940	1.608	0.291	0.854	0.613	1.115
CDKN2B rs4977756	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.895	0.984	0.760	1.327	0.866	1.025	0.745	1.402	0.628	1.058	0.827	1.358
CDKN2B rs4977756	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.750	0.950	0.690	1.292	0.302	0.868	0.652	1.115	0.619	1.074	0.831	1.448
CDKN2B rs4977756	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.908	1.020	0.739	1.443	0.507	0.918	0.696	1.203	0.951	0.994	0.776	1.266
CDKN2B rs4977756	IGF1R rs2229765	0.716	0.947	0.718	1.279	0.797	1.029	0.826	1.276	0.306	1.128	0.875	1.425
CDKN2B rs4977756	TP53 rs1042522	0.103	0.819	0.643	1.054	0.003	0.629	0.465	0.811	0.003	1.512	1.135	2.119
CDKN2B rs4977756	ERCC2 rs50871	0.507	0.918	0.698	1.179	0.321	0.900	0.731	1.102	0.299	1.099	0.920	1.332
CDKN2B rs4977756	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.786	1.032	0.824	1.313	0.435	0.901	0.672	1.209	0.910	0.986	0.736	1.328
CDKN2B rs1333049	PAPPA rs4837525	0.957	0.921	0.803	1.276	0.173	0.808	0.744	1.065	0.658	1.093	0.902	1.168
CDKN2B rs1333049	MRE11A rs533984	0.626	1.083	0.768	1.551	0.537	1.109	0.808	1.527	0.787	0.967	0.759	1.231
CDKN2B rs1333049	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.874	0.982	0.780	1.234	0.897	0.977	0.708	1.429	0.489	1.085	0.851	1.384
CDKN2B rs1333049	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.503	1.105	0.819	1.474	0.890	0.975	0.712	1.298	0.669	0.943	0.728	1.230
CDKN2B rs1333049	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.424	1.140	0.837	1.608	0.916	0.981	0.743	1.314	0.539	0.932	0.739	1.157
CDKN2B rs1333049	IGF1R rs2229765	0.838	1.027	0.808	1.326	0.481	1.088	0.851	1.395	0.812	1.024	0.848	1.230
CDKN2B rs1333049	TP53 rs1042522	0.222	0.881	0.720	1.082	0.010	0.654	0.465	0.897	0.025	1.336	1.030	1.738
CDKN2B rs1333049	ERCC2 rs50871	0.493	1.086	0.854	1.391	0.870	1.019	0.796	1.279	0.616	0.954	0.799	1.150

CDKN2B rs1333049	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.877	0.985	0.815	1.213	0.150	0.808	0.595	1.094	0.374	1.113	0.861	1.436
PAPPA rs4837525	MRE11A rs533984	0.140	0.738	0.491	1.151	0.644	0.926	0.655	1.376	0.321	1.135	0.862	1.476
PAPPA rs4837525	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.593	0.928	0.705	1.269	0.440	1.194	0.743	1.984	0.679	0.931	0.663	1.323
PAPPA rs4837525	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.848	1.026	0.776	1.373	0.512	1.114	0.831	1.467	0.165	0.856	0.681	1.060
PAPPA rs4837525	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.636	0.918	0.628	1.354	0.807	0.944	0.745	1.252	0.807	0.972	0.745	1.252
PAPPA rs4837525	IGF1R rs2229765	0.433	0.898	0.672	1.198	0.364	1.152	0.830	1.571	0.827	0.976	0.783	1.231
PAPPA rs4837525	TP53 rs1042522	0.635	0.940	0.743	1.201	0.960	1.010	0.700	1.504	0.287	0.877	0.664	1.120
PAPPA rs4837525	ERCC2 rs50871	0.650	0.930	0.674	1.290	0.854	1.029	0.756	1.430	0.679	0.953	0.749	1.184
PAPPA rs4837525	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.379	0.902	0.727	1.160	0.774	0.946	0.631	1.397	0.780	0.962	0.734	1.278
MRE11A rs533984	TXNRD1 rs17202060	0.349	1.124	0.889	1.492	0.357	1.222	0.793	1.966	0.473	0.899	0.651	1.202
MRE11A rs533984	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.223	0.819	0.573	1.132	0.038	0.688	0.463	0.973	0.053	1.283	0.998	1.590
MRE11A rs533984	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.985	1.004	0.658	1.527	0.394	0.866	0.618	1.236	0.774	1.043	0.796	1.391
MRE11A rs533984	IGF1R rs2229765	0.562	1.100	0.809	1.504	0.306	1.177	0.845	1.677	0.690	0.955	0.749	1.212
MRE11A rs533984	TP53 rs1042522	0.306	1.137	0.891	1.523	0.940	1.016	0.658	1.507	0.373	0.879	0.667	1.194
MRE11A rs533984	ERCC2 rs50871	0.193	1.207	0.885	1.642	0.486	1.113	0.807	1.477	0.306	0.890	0.709	1.138
MRE11A rs533984	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.202	1.162	0.922	1.439	0.603	1.109	0.760	1.707	0.243	0.828	0.594	1.146
TXNRD1 rs17202060	SH2B3 rs3184504	0.689	1.066	0.803	1.571	0.464	0.919	0.741	1.155	0.938	1.011	0.736	1.274
TXNRD1 rs17202060	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.973	0.993	0.690	1.458	0.254	0.868	0.670	1.114	0.662	1.059	0.834	1.387
TXNRD1 rs17202060	IGF1R rs2229765	0.101	1.266	0.963	1.723	0.059	1.230	0.982	1.531	0.168	0.857	0.679	1.076
TXNRD1 rs17202060	TP53 rs1042522	0.656	1.052	0.825	1.411	0.221	0.829	0.604	1.088	0.669	1.064	0.790	1.439
TXNRD1 rs17202060	ERCC2 rs50871	0.575	1.114	0.806	1.685	0.974	0.995	0.811	1.260	0.838	0.968	0.717	1.226
TXNRD1 rs17202060	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.774	0.967	0.772	1.271	0.138	0.814	0.631	1.087	0.266	1.206	0.868	1.707
SH2B3 rs3184504	KLOTHO rs1207362	0.655	1.084	0.757	1.560	0.965	1.006	0.773	1.320	0.353	0.890	0.694	1.155
SH2B3 rs3184504	IGF1R rs2229765	0.196	0.851	0.656	1.087	0.682	1.047	0.838	1.327	0.496	1.068	0.882	1.278
SH2B3 rs3184504	TP53 rs1042522	0.131	0.846	0.664	1.058	0.036	0.718	0.497	0.972	0.104	1.222	0.954	1.626
SH2B3 rs3184504	ERCC2 rs50871	0.599	1.079	0.825	1.480	0.358	1.126	0.878	1.445	0.168	0.863	0.689	1.050
SH2B3 rs3184504	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.796	0.975	0.800	1.189	0.952	0.991	0.755	1.377	0.390	0.890	0.669	1.140
KLOTHO rs1207362	IGF1R rs2229765	0.070	0.789	0.605	1.043	0.349	0.854	0.595	1.189	0.095	1.210	0.965	1.523
KLOTHO rs1207362	TP53 rs1042522	0.053	0.798	0.626	1.010	0.021	0.583	0.363	0.931	0.066	1.319	0.969	1.777
KLOTHO rs1207362	ERCC2 rs50871	0.167	0.828	0.629	1.094	0.310	0.855	0.633	1.156	0.419	1.099	0.880	1.365
KLOTHO rs1207362	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.203	0.871	0.685	1.059	0.231	0.802	0.529	1.172	0.563	1.076	0.828	1.473
IGF1R rs2229765	TP53 rs1042522	0.197	1.134	0.928	1.385	0.343	0.865	0.617	1.145	0.811	0.976	0.791	1.236
IGF1R rs2229765	ERCC2 rs50871	0.751	0.963	0.756	1.239	0.294	0.877	0.689	1.132	0.151	1.140	0.938	1.369
IGF1R rs2229765	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.058	1.138	0.980	1.478	0.841	0.924	0.708	1.476	0.437	0.899	0.665	1.160
TP53 rs1042522	ERCC2 rs50871	0.304	0.853	0.598	1.170	0.706	0.965	0.788	1.179	0.872	1.019	0.815	1.310
TP53 rs1042522	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.227	0.863	0.676	1.093	0.384	0.883	0.674	1.171	0.915	1.018	0.745	1.426
ERCC2 rs50871	PTPN1 rs6067484	0.946	0.995	0.846	1.174	0.651	0.927	0.663	1.338	0.822	0.972	0.763	1.219
Supplementary Table 3. The full model of nine health-related variables tested by Cox regression analysis for their effect on survival above 85 years of age.

		IID	95% CI	for HR
	p-value	нк	Lower	Upper
Gender (men)	0.198	0.816	0.585	1.102
Body weight by sex-specific 4 th quartile (men = 87.3+ kg; women = 72.6+ kg)	0.001	0.542	0.405	0.750
Left heel bone mineral density (T-values: > -1.0 OR < -2.4)	0.003	0.691	0.510	0.884
Folates in serum by median (<=18.1 nmol/L)	0.011	0.565	0.342	0.863
Self-rated nutritional status (mildly or severely malnourished)	0.013	0.678	0.426	0.893
Number of medicaments taken daily (5+)	0.030	0.732	0.528	0.960
Number of hospital admissions in the past year (2 or more)	0.028	0.648	0.505	0.973
Regularly taking supplementary vitamin B complex (No)	0.003	0.541	0.346	0.815
Age of the oldest living sibling (<80)	0.002	0.533	0.290	0.701
Mother's age at death (<80)	0.033	0.718	0.582	0.979
Model (overall)	3.14E-09			

Supplementary Table 4. The full model of all interactions tested in a Cox regression survival analysis with gender and nine significant health-related variables.

		Interaction	Gender (men)	Body weight by sex-specific 4 th quartile (men = 87.3+ kg; women = 72.6+ kg)	Left heel bone mineral density (T-values: > -1.0 OR <-2.4)	Folates in serum by median (<=18.1 nmol/L)	Self-rated nutritional status (mildly or severely malnourished)	Number of medicaments taken daily (5+)	Number of hospital admissions in the past year (2 or more)	Regularly taking supplementary vitamin B complex (No)	Age of the oldest living sibling (<80)	Mother's age at death (<80)	Model (overall)
CDKN2B rs4	977756 42522		1									1	•
x 11 55 1810	p-value	0.002	0.311	0.001	0.004	0.023	0.003	0.030	0.069	0.001	0.005	0.029	1.49E-10
	HR	1.708	0.849	0.537	0.666	0.581	0.580	0.705	0.716	0.493	0.512	0.744	
95% CI	Lower	1.230	0.580	0.383	0.495	0.344	0.389	0.500	0.489	0.309	0.308	0.555	
for HR	Upper	2.404	1.159	0.736	0.843	0.903	0.833	0.943	1.019	0.760	0.780	0.981	
IL6 rs1800)795												
	p-value	0.005	0.146	0.002	0.008	0.001	0.008	0.019	0.014	0.001	0.003	0.017	4.09E-10
	- HR	1.444	0.791	0.537	0.700	0.472	0.590	0.695	0.679	0.444	0.482	0.719	
95% CI	Lower	1.131	0.560	0.385	0.516	0.282	0.398	0.497	0.489	0.266	0.293	0.536	
for HR	Upper	1.863	1.077	0.732	0.905	0.779	0.826	0.950	0.944	0.697	0.719	0.935	
TERC rs168	47897 184504												
A 0112D3 135.	p-value	0.007	0.078	0.001	0.007	0.019	0.025	0.114	0.037	0.001	0.003	0.018	6.77E-10
	HR	0.677	0.770	0.546	0.675	0.545	0.647	0.772	0.699	0.538	0.521	0.720	
95% CI	Lower	0.492	0.561	0.374	0.516	0.315	0.429	0.530	0.494	0.342	0.309	0.534	
for HR	Upper	0.916	1.025	0.733	0.869	0.896	0.918	1.056	0.995	0.798	0.759	0.936	
CDKN2B rs1 x TP53 rs10	333049 42522												
A 11 55 1510	p-value	0.013	0.182	0.002	0.002	0.009	0.003	0.039	0.050	0.001	0.005	0.036	2.12E-09
	HR	1.428	0.816	0.553	0.658	0.547	0.605	0.720	0.712	0.496	0.515	0.753	
95% CI	Lower	1.036	0.584	0.383	0.498	0.324	0.415	0.507	0.496	0.314	0.313	0.574	
for HR	Upper	1.886	1.105	0.762	0.850	0.877	0.854	0.953	1.019	0.782	0.776	0.993	
LINC02227 rs x CDKN2B rs	2149954 1333049												
	p-value	0.015	0.292	0.003	0.001	0.011	0.007	0.013	0.040	0.001	0.005	0.049	1.17E-09
	HR	0.732	0.851	0.568	0.647	0.535	0.634	0.676	0.713	0.513	0.500	0.775	
95% CI	Lower	0.563	0.605	0.391	0.480	0.313	0.439	0.473	0.502	0.326	0.307	0.589	
for HR	Upper	0.953	1.145	0.768	0.834	0.877	0.875	0.897	0.992	0.802	0.732	1.005	
PARK7 rs22 x LINC02227 r	25119 s2149954												
	p-value	0.016	0.082	0.001	0.005	0.018	0.018	0.040	0.074	0.003	0.001	0.029	2.55E-09
	HR	0.756	0.779	0.560	0.668	0.557	0.625	0.732	0.731	0.536	0.468	0.742	
	Lower	0.596	0.567	0.391	0.505	0.318	0.417	0.514	0.503	0.335	0.286	0.548	

95% CI for HR	Upper	0.972	1.020	0.739	0.855	0.910	0.890	0.975	1.036	0.809	0.674	0.959	
FOXO3 rs49	946935												
x CDKN2B rs	1333049	0.025	0.049	0.001	0.002	0.014	0.022	0.017	0.005	0.003	0.002	0.056	4.025.00
	p-value	0.035	0.248	0.001	0.003	0.014	0.023	0.017	0.095	0.002	0.003	0.056	4.92E-09
	-	1.277	0.835	0.560	0.670	0.537	0.663	0.696	0.743	0.499	0.483	0.779	
95% CI	Lower	1.011	0.581	0.387	0.496	0.306	0.449	0.487	0.512	0.317	0.311	0.598	
	Upper	1.646	1.116	0.765	0.849	0.875	0.918	0.945	1.054	0.805	0.703	1.014	
x CDKN2B rs	206094 1333049												
	p-value	0.044	0.238	0.001	0.006	0.023	0.019	0.017	0.102	0.002	0.001	0.063	4.45E-09
	HR	1.273	0.827	0.562	0.670	0.545	0.648	0.695	0.745	0.500	0.473	0.783	
95% CI	Lower	1.015	0.590	0.383	0.507	0.313	0.432	0.485	0.522	0.323	0.294	0.591	
for HR	Upper	1.682	1.116	0.763	0.858	0.901	0.925	0.937	1.079	0.808	0.700	1.015	
FOXO3A rs2 x ERCC2 rs	2802292 50871												
	p-value	0.047	0.183	0.001	0.002	0.020	0.007	0.034	0.039	0.006	0.004	0.031	1.68E-09
	HR	0.784	0.800	0.548	0.681	0.588	0.618	0.728	0.696	0.561	0.494	0.738	
95% CI	Lower	0.591	0.543	0.380	0.511	0.349	0.420	0.521	0.484	0.358	0.312	0.542	
for HR	Upper	0.999	1.109	0.735	0.879	0.884	0.869	0.967	0.977	0.841	0.708	0.953	
TERC rs126 x SH2B3 rs3	596304 5184504												
	p-value	0.049	0.134	0.001	0.004	0.014	0.014	0.074	0.037	0.001	0.003	0.034	1.75E-09
	HR	0.749	0.790	0.543	0.671	0.586	0.640	0.755	0.707	0.540	0.502	0.744	
95% CI	Lower	0.549	0.555	0.384	0.512	0.351	0.429	0.524	0.509	0.356	0.312	0.562	
for HR	Upper	1.036	1.060	0.730	0.858	0.901	0.893	1.010	0.985	0.813	0.760	0.966	
TERC rs37' x SH2B3 rs3	72190 5184504												
	p-value	0.062	0.101	0.001	0.003	0.039	0.007	0.072	0.058	0.002	0.005	0.022	3.04E-09
	HR	1.371	0.772	0.541	0.687	0.585	0.618	0.758	0.723	0.520	0.508	0.733	
95% CI	Lower	0.956	0.548	0.373	0.519	0.344	0.423	0.520	0.503	0.333	0.308	0.551	
for HR	Upper	1.912	1.036	0.733	0.885	1.016	0.879	0.982	1.014	0.764	0.764	0.956	
PARK7 rs2 x PTPN1 rs6	25119 067484												
	p-value	0.062	0.126	0.001	0.003	0.019	0.013	0.036	0.108	0.005	0.001	0.050	2.48E-09
	HR	1.379	0.774	0.579	0.662	0.562	0.636	0.720	0.743	0.539	0.457	0.758	
95% CI	Lower	0.937	0.538	0.405	0.495	0.328	0.435	0.508	0.496	0.363	0.282	0.547	
for HR	Upper	1.895	1.045	0.771	0.849	0.930	0.902	0.933	1.074	0.810	0.668	0.981	
FOXO3 rs27 x CDKN2B rs	764264 1333049												
	p-value	0.090	0.305	0.001	0.012	0.016	0.017	0.020	0.169	0.002	0.003	0.015	1.62E-09
	HR	1.238	0.852	0.500	0.729	0.507	0.639	0.689	0.784	0.469	0.516	0.728	
95% CI	Lower	0.949	0.588	0.350	0.550	0.283	0.426	0.481	0.542	0.295	0.324	0.544	
for HR	Upper	1.627	1.152	0.666	0.933	0.874	0.924	0.910	1.133	0.716	0.734	0.930	
FOXO3 rs13 X CDKN2B rs	217795 51333049												
<i>FOXO3</i> rs13 X <i>CDKN2B</i> rs	217795 31333049 p-value	0.128	0.281	0.002	0.002	0.016	0.022	0.022	0.068	0.003	0.003	0.023	1.39E-08

95% CI	Lower	0.940	0.601	0.388	0.497	0.317	0.430	0.498	0.497	0.310	0.317	0.568
for HR	Upper	1.650	1.158	0.753	0.845	0.902	0.921	0.916	1.023	0.816	0.717	0.968

3. DISCUSSION

Ageing is an intricate system of systemic changes that happen to the organism with the progression of time. It is an incredibly complex process with more than one definite cause, resulting in the gradual decline of all the functions of an organism and its death. The reasons behind the ageing process, as well as the mechanisms that drive it forward, have tried to be explained through various theories, with some being widely accepted and validated through experimental evidence. While today ageing is considered in a more holistic approach, as a network of connected processes and events, the need for a deeper understanding of its mechanics has never been greater. As the global population is ageing, more focus is put on research of factors that contribute to living both longer and healthier lives, and importance of such research is only expected to increase in the coming decades as the elderly population, for the first time in history, surpasses the young in numbers.

The end result of a successful ageing process is longevity. As a complex trait shaped by both genetic and environmental factors, longevity is somewhat hard to study. However, long-lived individuals, as examples of successful ageing, are key for gaining a better understanding of what conditions need to be met for achieving a long life. And even though genetic contribution to longevity is only moderate, the study of genetics of longevity allows us to account for at least a part of the variance in the longevity phenotype.

This thesis is, to our knowledge, the first study of the genetic background of human longevity of such magnitude in the Croatian population. By applying different statistical analyses, we aimed to explore different facets of genetic influence on the complex phenotype of longevity. In the era of the global ageing of the population, this kind of research of long-lived individuals is becoming increasingly important, as it can help to shed light on the genetic factors that contribute to successful ageing, as well as give insight in the mechanics of the ageing process by highlighting key genes that are involved in the complex regulatory network behind it.

3.1. The difference in the frequency of longevity-associated variants between the young and the oldest-old

The first aim of this study – to determine whether a difference in the frequency of genetic variants associated with longevity exists between the oldest-old sample (85+ years) and a young adult

control group (aged 20-35 years) – has been covered in the *Anthropologie* paper included in this dissertation (and the Appendices 1 and 2). In this paper, the allele and genotype data for 33 out of the 43 SNPs with association to longevity in other populations were compared between the Croatian oldest-old (N=314) and young (N=97) age groups, as well as with a sample of Roma individuals living in Croatia (N=308). Additionally, a genetic risk score (deemed genetic longevity score) was calculated for all three groups in order to determine whether genetics had a significant role in modulating the chances of achieving longevity in the Roma population. Out of 43 genotyped variants, only 33 consistently reported the same longevity effect allele in published researches, so only they were selected for the construction of our genetic longevity scores. The results for the generational comparison of all 43 individually tested SNPs are presented in the Appendices 1 and 2.

The only difference between the oldest-old and the young Croatian sample was SNP rs533984 associated with *MRE11* gene that passed the Bonferroni correction for multiple testing. The two groups differed significantly in the allele frequency of this SNP, with the G allele being more common in the long-lived sample. This allele of rs533984 has previously been associated with better late-life survival of females in a SNP interaction study by Dato et al. (2018) performed on a sample of Danish nonagenarians (Dato et al., 2018). This variant is an intronic mutation in the *MRE11* gene, and is reported in an online database Open Targets Genetics (Ghoussaini et al., 2021) to most likely impact its expression. MRE11 encodes a nuclease that is a part of the MRN complex, a "first responder" in case of a double-strand break (Williams et al., 2007). With both exo- and endonuclease activity, MRE11 plays a vital role in the repair of double-strand breaks via homologous recombination repair pathway (HR) and non-homologous end-joining mechanism (NHEJ) (Rass et al., 2009; Shibata et al., 2014). Due to this role in DNA damage repair, the connection between this gene and ageing is not surprising. In fact, a decreased expression of MRE11, along with Ku70 form the NHEJ pathway, has been connected to ageing and cellular senescence (Ju et al., 2006). The rs533984 variant in MRE11, however, didn't significantly contribute to the chances of reaching longevity or survival above the age of 85 in our other analyses.

The difference in the allele frequencies between the oldest-old group and the young controls indicates that there could be certain variants that are enriched in the older population, either those that have a beneficial effect as the organism ages, or those that are protective against diseases that

might cause death at an earlier age. In recent years, however, there has been a growing body of evidence to support the former hypothesis, as long-lived individuals have been shown to carry a similar number of risk factors as their younger counterparts (Lin et al., 2021; Revelas et al., 2019). That the oldest-old and the young population in our study differed only in one SNP is surprising, though; the explanation for this might lie in the fact that our sample was very small, especially the control sample of young adults. The main factor speaking in favour of this is the fact that the two groups did not differ in frequencies of either epsilon-defining variants in *APOE* gene, which are considered as a benchmark for studies of longevity (Bürkle et al., 2015).

The main reason for this comparison of the Croatian oldest-old and the young control samples with the Roma ethnic minority group was the fact that the Roma have a much lower life expectancy than the majority populations they live amongst (The European Public Health Alliance, 2018). The Roma, present around the world, are the largest transnational ethnic minority in Europe, numbering between 10 and 12 million people (European Commission, 2020). Originating in India, they migrated to Europe across Central Asia and modern-day Turkey (Fraser, 1992; Matras, 2002). They reached the Balkan peninsula around the 14th century, where the majority of them settled (Hrvatić & Ivančić, 2000), while a smaller number continued further into Central, Western and Northern Europe. Regardless of their long presence on this continent, they continued to live their lives as isolated population groups throughout their history. They tend to follow their characteristic cultural and social practises – such as endogamy, marrying only within a certain tribe or clan – along with social marginalisation and the absence of assimilation with the surrounding populations (Chaix et al., 2004; Fraser, 1992; Gresham et al., 2001). The Roma populations have gone through multiple founder and bottleneck events, which results in specific genetic profiles of the different Roma groups today (Kalaydjieva et al., 2005; Martnez-Cruz et al., 2016). In Croatia, there are two socioculturally and linguistically different groups of Roma: the Balkan Roma, who are the descendants of the Roma who arrived in the Balkans around the 14th century and speak dialects of the Romani chib language, and the Vlax Roma (also known as Bayash Roma), descendants of the group of Roma who between the 13th and 15th century travelled to the areas of present-day Romania and Moldavia, where they were enslaved for the next 500 years. During this time, they were not allowed to use their language, so they are today characterised by a specific archaic Romanian language – ljimb'd bayash. Of the three separate Roma groups used in this research to represent the Roma population, Roma from the Zagreb area belong to the Balkan Roma, while the Roma of Međimurje and Baranja belong to the Vlax Roma populations (Stojanović Marković et al., 2022). Apart from the cultural isolation, the Roma populations struggle with worse living conditions than majority populations, often not having appropriate housing and hygienic living environments (Anthonj et al., 2020). They also face challenges regarding social inclusion, which is perpetuated even more by poor education and inability to find a stable job (EU-FRA. European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights, 2014), and further reflected in low socioeconomic status and limited access to healthcare. These reasons, along with a higher prevalence of chronic diseases related to several risk factors (Hubáček et al., 2020; Llanaj et al., 2020; Zajc Petranović et al., 2021; Zeljko et al., 2008; Zeljko et al., 2011), all contribute to negative health outcomes and increase mortality risk (Škarić-Jurić et al., 2007). This increased risk of mortality at all ages is the main reason for lower life expectancy of Roma, and has, along with a high fertility rate (Škarić-Jurić et al., 2007), caused the demographic pyramid of the Roma people to very much skew toward younger ages, with the percentage of elderly being much lower among Roma compared to other European populations.

Because of the genetic specificity of the Croatian Roma population (Barešić & Peričić Salihović, 2014; Martinović Klarić et al., 2009; Peričić Salihović et al., 2011), it is not surprising that, in our study, they differed from the Croatian population in almost a third of examined loci. Frequencies of 10 variants were statistically different between the Roma and the young Croatian control group, and frequencies of 13 were between the Roma and the oldest-old sample. Nonetheless, when a genetic longevity score (both unweighted and weighted) was calculated for all the SNPs not in LD, there was no difference between either of the Croatian groups and the Roma. These results indicate that, even with all the genetic differences between the two groups, the overall number of longevityassociated variants in these populations remains roughly the same, with some more frequent longevity-associated alleles compensating for the lack of others. This might be attributed to the fact that, throughout human evolutionary history, genes associated with ageing were not under selective pressure due to most individuals dying of other causes before reaching old age (Kirkwood, 2005). Thus, a random selection of variants that cumulatively had a balanced effect on the longevity phenotype - not causing premature mortality but also not necessarily contributing to longevity was passed on to the progeny. Furthermore, it means that the higher mortality and shorter life expectancy of the Roma is rooted in other genetic and non-genetic risk factors, especially those related to cardiovascular diseases, such as diabetes, abdominal obesity and metabolic syndrome (Zajc Petranović et al., 2021).

3.2. Genetic background for longevity and extreme longevity in Croatian population

Genetic risk scores for longevity were also calculated based on multivariate logistic regression models for predicting the chances of reaching longevity (90 years) and extreme longevity (95 years). Unweighted and weighted genetic longevity scores were calculated for both age threshold ages, and their power of prediction was tested by Receiver Operater Characteristics (ROC) curve, as well as by Pearson's correlation with the participants' age at death. While all four scores could predict the outcome of reaching longevity with relatively good accuracy, the most informative score was weighted score for the survival age of 90, with the area under curve (AUC) of 0.690 (69%). The high power of prediction obtained in our study is quite remarkable – especially considering a relatively small sample size this score was calculated on. Even risk scores calculated on much larger samples achieve only modest predictability (Duncan et al., 2019a), so this speaks in favour of good selection of tested genetic loci. With the advent of GWAS, creating polygenic risk scores for predicting the genetic component to complex traits became an achievable goal, and they are increasingly being used with hopes of predicting health risks and improving time to diagnosis (Duncan et al., 2019b). However, until recently, few polygenic risk scores (PRS) have been done for longevity. Tesi et al. (2021) reported a polygenic risk score for predicting the odds of becoming a healthy centenarian which was based on 330 genetic variants that could discern centenarians from older adults, while most recently Don et al. (2024) created and tested eleven different polygenic longevity scores for predicting parental longevity based on GWAS summary data from four different studies (including the one by Tesi and collaborators) (Don et al., 2024; Tesi et al., 2021). Since these attempts proved that genetic contribution to longevity-related phenotypes can be quantified in this manner, we can expect more PRS for longevity to be calculated in the future.

The multivariate regression analyses that our longevity scores were based on were performed with the goal of determining if any of the chosen variants affect the chances for reaching these thresholds of longevity, and to explore whether the contributing variants differed between the two cut-off ages. In the first round of analyses, we univariately tested of all 43 loci, and the ones that showed moderate association (p < 0.20) entered multivariate testing. The resulting best model for predicting the chances of reaching the age of 90 contained nine SNPs and explained 20.5% of variance in

survival to this age, which is quite high considering the moderate overall effect genetics has on this trait (Herskind et al., 1996). Out of these nine loci, four were not significant but contributed to the quality of the model. These were FOXO3 rs12206094, KLOTHO rs9536314, ERCC2 rs50871 and TXNRD1 rs17202060. The five loci that had a significant effect on reaching the threshold age of 90 years were intronic SNPs rs16847897 near TERC and rs2267723 near GHRHR, regulatory region variant rs1800629 near *TNF-\alpha*, and missense variants *APOE* rs7412 and *TP53* rs1042522. The variant in *TP53* is also the only variant that was included in the best model for predicting the chances of reaching the extreme longevity threshold of 95 years, which contained five SNPs and explained 9.3% of the variance in survival to the age of 95. Another four SNPs included in the 95+ model were the intronic rs6067484 locus associated with the PTPN1 gene and rs4837525 near the PAPPA gene, as well as IRF4 rs12203592 and missense APOE rs429358 that were not significant but contributed to the quality of the model. Therefore, our results show that in our studied population there is some difference between the genetic variants that contribute to the chances of reaching the ages of 90 and 95. This could be caused by some of these variants having lesser effect with progressing age. Additionally, some stochastic elements whose effect increases with age cannot be ruled out completely either. The fewer SNPs entering the 95+ model also explains the decrease in the percentage of explained variance between the two models.

3.3. Genetic interactions in survival of the oldest-olds

Thirteen different SNPs associated with twelve different genes were included in the best logistic regression models presented above, and out of these twelve genes that contributed to the longevity of Croatian population, six genes were also part of genetic interactions that affected survival chances above the age of 85. Those six genes are *TERC*, *TP53*, *FOXO3*, *GHRHR*, *ERCC2* and *PTPN1*.

While all the SNPs were also tested univariately for the effect on survival in advanced old age, only SNP-SNP interaction analyses gave significant results. We theorise that the effect of the individual SNPs was possibly too weak to be detected when examining the impact of a sole SNP on survival, again possibly due to a small sample size. However, analysing the interactions between genetic variants could be more informative than focusing on individual SNPs (Gerke et al., 2009) just as predictive power of the model increases if multiple SNPs are entered (Van Den Broeck et

al., 2014). The analysis of SNP-SNP interactions for studies of longevity was validated by Dato et al. (2018), who investigated the interactions that impacted longevity in a large sample of Danish nonagenarians (Dato et al., 2018).

In our sample, the significant interactions pairs were *TERC* and *SH2B3*, *FOXO3* and *ERCC2*, *GHRHR* and *IL6*, *PTPN1* and *PARK7*, *PARK7* and *LINC02227*, while the most important interaction partner was *CDKN2B* that interacted significantly with *TP53*, *FOXO3* and *LINC02227*, and was involved in half of the significant interactions.

Located on chromosome 3, TERC gene has a vital role in telomere maintenance. It encodes the RNA component of the ribonucleoprotein telomerase and serves as a template for telomere elongation (Blackburn & Collins, 2011). It is not expressed in most human cells (Blackburn et al., 2015), but is expressed in stem cells (Collins & Mitchell, 2002; Wright et al., 1996) and often in cancer cells (Hahn et al., 1999), as elongation of telomeres is necessary in all cells that continuously divide. All three of the variants near TERC that have been chosen for this study - rs16847897, rs12696304 and rs3772190 - have been associated with leukocyte telomere length (Codd et al., 2010; Shen et al., 2011; Soerensen et al., 2012b), which is a phenotype that has been connected to many age-related diseases, including CVD (Aviv, 2012; Jeanclos et al., 1998; Panossian et al., 2003; Rossiello et al., 2022). In our sample, aside from a significant effect on the chances for reaching 90 years of age, the G allele of rs16847897 was associated with better subjective health, functional ability, and scores on the validated Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) test (Šetinc et al., 2023). All three TERC variants had a significant interaction with missense rs3184504 in the SH2B3 that affected survival above 85 years of age, with the most significant interaction being between rs16847897 and rs3184504. While the connection of all three TERC SNPs to SH2B3 could be due to moderate linkage within the TERC gene, it still confirmed a synergistic effect these two genes have on the target phenotype. The SH2B3 gene encodes SH2B adaptor protein 3 (also known as LNK, lymphocyte adaptor protein) that is a suppressor of inflammatory cytokine signalling and haematopoiesis (Devallire & Charreau, 2011; Tong et al., 2005). This variant, predicted to disrupt the subcellular localisation and functioning of LNK (Dale & Madhur, 2016), has been associated with exceptional human longevity and parental age at death (Fortney et al., 2015; Pilling et al., 2016), as have other variants in the surrounding genomic region (Joshi et al., 2017; Kuo et al., 2020; Pilling et al., 2017; Timmers et al., 2019). However, it has also been reported as a top association signal for hypertension in GWAS (Ehret et al., 2011; Levy et al., 2009), and is linked to cardiovascular and autoimmune disorders (Devallire & Charreau, 2011; Laroumanie et al., 2018). It is this implication in cardiovascular disorders that could be the connecting link between *TERC* and *SH2B3*. With CVD being the most prevalent chronic conditions in old age – with the incidence increasing to almost 82% among the people over 80 years of age (Lye & Donnellan, 2000; Yazdanyar & Newman, 2009) – the joint effect of protective alleles on these two loci perhaps lessens the risk for development of CVD.

The other locus from our study that has been strongly implicated in CVD risk is CDKN2B, located in the 9p21.3 chromosomic region (Burton et al., 2007; Helgadottir et al., 2007; McPherson et al., 2007). This region spans two genes, CDKN2A and CDKN2B, as well as a long non-coding RNA, ANRIL, that can act in cis via epigenetic mechanisms to silence the CDKN2B expression (Kotake et al., 2010; Pasmant et al., 2011; Yap et al., 2010). Two intronic variants, rs4977756 and rs1333049, that have previously been associated with longevity phenotypes in other populations (Fortney et al., 2015; Pilling et al., 2016; Pinós et al., 2014) and were associated with higher selfrated health and functional ability scores in our sample (Šetinc et al., 2023), are located in the between these genes, and are reported by the online database Open Targets Genomics (Ghoussaini et al., 2021) to most likely impact the expression of these genes, with the strongest evidence existing for CDKN2B. The CDKN2B gene encodes p15^{INK4B}, an inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinases 4 and 6 that stops cell cycle progression in G1-phase in response to regulatory signals, thus having an important role in regulation of senescence (McPherson et al., 2007). Its neighbouring gene, CDKN2A, encodes in two different reading frames p16^{INK4A}, which works similarly to p15^{INK4B}, and p14^{ARF}, which activates the p53 tumour suppressor pathway by inhibiting protein MDM2, the key effector for degradation of p53 (Gil & Peters, 2006; Lohrum et al., 2000; Pasmant et al., 2011). As the variants associated with CDKN2B accounted as one member of the interaction pair for half of all the genetic interactions that had a significant effect on survival above the age of 85, it is clear that this gene has an important role in longevity and late-life survival. In our analyses, it interacted significantly with another variant associated with CVD risk factors, rs2149954 (Ehret et al., 2011; Wain et al., 2011), which further strengthens our hypothesis that the link between these variants and longevity lies in the protective effect of longevity-associated alleles against CVD. The central role of CDKN2B in our network of longevity-related genetic factors is also backed up by the significance of interaction between CDKN2B and FOXO3, which is upstream of the CDKN2B

and can regulate its expression – either directly (Hornsveld et al., 2018) or via partnering with SMAD transcription factors in response to TGF- β pathway, the main transcription activator of *CDKN2B* (Gomis et al., 2006; Hannon & Beach, 1994).

Another significant interaction partner of CDKN2B was rs1042522, a missense variant in TP53 that causes substitution of arginine (Arg) with proline (Pro) at codon 72 of p53. The TP53 gene, also known as the 'guardian of the genome', plays a crucial role in determining cell fate by promoting either repair, survival, or elimination of damaged cells (Wu & Prives, 2018), and is the most frequently mutated gene in human cancer (Bišof et al., 2012; Muller & Vousden, 2013; Olivier et al., 2004). The Arg72Pro substitution, which has a very varied distribution throughout the world populations (Auton et al., 2015), does affect the function of the protein, with the proline allele weakening the response that trigger apoptosis (Dumont et al., 2003; Marin et al., 2000). This variant has been reported to impact longevity and survival in the oldest-old age group (Groß et al., 2014; Van Heemst et al., 2005), and was the only variant that was included in both regression models for predicting survival to ages 90 and 95 in our population. The allele that is associated with longevity and better survival is the allele G, the one coding for proline. However, while it was shown that this substitution is beneficial for longevity, it also represented a higher risk for cancer (Van Heemst et al., 2005), which is in line with another study on a Croatian sample that showed a higher percentage of Pro/Pro genotype among patients with breast cancer that among controls (Bišof et al., 2010). This can be explained by the trade-off between a strong apoptosis response, which is important in earlier life stages, and the importance of maintaining proliferative capacity in old age. While weaker apoptotic response can increase the chances of damaged cells escaping the programmed cell death (and thus increase the risk for developing cancer), an overly strong response in an already ageing organism could deplete tissues of proliferative cells, and tip the balance towards prevalence of senescent, non-dividing cells. This is why a weaker apoptotic response might be more beneficial in later stages of life. The implication of TP53 in survival is further proved by the significant effect the interaction between TP53 and CDK2B had on survival above 85 in our sample, probably due to their synergistic effect as regulators of the cell cycle.

The three remaining SNPs that had a significant effect on both longevity and late-life survival in our sample were associated with genes *ERCC2*, *GHRHR*, and *PTPN1*. What makes them worth mentioning is the fact that the role of these genes in ageing has not yet been thoroughly explored.

Likewise, the variants in these genes have been linked to longevity in only a few studies. Interestingly, both the ERCC2 variant rs50871 and the PTPN1 variant rs6067484 have only been reported by Dato and collaborators (2018), while GHRHR rs2267723 was first associated with longevity in a study done on Danish population (Soerensen et al., 2012a), and then mentioned again by Dato and collaborators (Dato et al., 2018). Furthermore, their study also focused on variants from specific longevity-related pathways, and explored the genetic interactions between these variants. This has led us to the hypothesis that the effect of these variants is more discreet, and might require a multiple-loci approach to be detected, which is also why they have not yet been reported by any GWAS. Encoding the growth hormone-releasing hormone receptor that is expressed on the membrane of somatotropic cells in the anterior pituitary gland (Martari & Salvatori, 2009), GHRHR gene has an important role in the growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor 1/insulin (GH/IGF-1/INS) signalling axis. The connection between growth hormone signalling and ageing has been made almost half a century ago, when it was discovered that the secretion of GH and IGF-1 slowly started to decrease after reaching adulthood, reaching the lowest level after the age of 60 (Zadik et al., 1985). Additionally, the beneficial effect of decreased GH/IGF-1 signalling on longevity has been confirmed in many model organisms (Fontana et al., 2010), so it is not surprising that the variant associated with this gene had an implication for longevity. The connection of *PTPN1* gene and ageing is also quite clear. *PTPN1*, also known as tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor type 1 gene, encodes protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1B (PTP1B), an enzyme that suppresses insulin signalling pathway by dephosphorylating the phosphorylated tyrosine residues of active insulin receptors (Bauer et al., 2010; Bowden, 2009), which is probably how it contributes to lifespan extension. Contrary to these two genes, the ERCC2 gene is not directly connected to IIS, but contributes to longevity through another important pathway. The product of the ERCC2 gene is a multifunctional protein with DNA helicase activity, known as XPD. It is both a subunit with a structural role of a nine-piece transcription factor in charge of basal transcription (Benhamou & Sarasin, 2002; Coin et al., 1998; Keriel et al., 2002), and has a crucial role in transcription-coupled nucleotide excision repair (NER) (Coin et al., 1998), one of key mechanisms for protection against genotoxic damage. The mutations in this gene cause Xeroderma pigmentosum, a condition characterised by extreme sensitivity to UV radiation due to dysfunctional NER that cannot repair the occurring DNA lesions (De Boer & Hoeijmakers, 2000). Based on the vital role this gene plays in preventing DNA damage, it is clear how it could have repercussions on longevity.

3.4. Impact of other factors on survival of the oldest-olds

Apart from testing the impact of genetic variants and their interactions on longevity, we wanted to determine if other parameters, namely telomere length and health-related parameters available for our study population, would also have an impact on survival above the age of 85. The telomere length was determined in the laboratories of the Institute for Anthropological Research (Zagreb) for the purposes of this thesis using a method by Cawthon (2002) that measures relative telomere length - RTL (Cawthon, 2002). Telomere length has been proposed as a potential biomarker for ageing (Butler et al., 2004; Zglinicki & Martin-Ruiz, 2005), but the relation between telomere length and longevity remains unclear. While some studies found a connection between shorter telomeres and increased mortality rate (Arbeev et al., 2020; Cawthon et al., 2003; Kimura et al., 2008), that connection was often not significant for the old or oldest-old age groups (Bischoff et al., 2006; Cawthon et al., 2003; Harris et al., 2006; Martin-Ruiz et al., 2005; Njajou et al., 2009). In our study, relative telomere length was not a significant contributor to the survival of the oldestold – either by itself or in combination with other health variables – adding to the body of evidence that the effect of longer telomeres is beneficial only earlier in life, possibly because of lowering the risk of CVD (Brouilette et al., 2003; Fitzpatrick et al., 2007). Furthermore, the method for determining relative telomere length is quite sensitive and best done on fresh (or once-thawed) DNA, while our DNA samples were over a decade old. While we checked the validity of the method in our case by comparing variance between the samples and excluded the outliers within each sample, there was a significant amount of DNA fragmentation among the oldest-old sample to begin with, which might have perhaps skewed the analysis. Therefore, it would be beneficial to perform RTL analyses using this method on fresh DNA samples of oldest-old individuals, and use a sample comprised of different age groups originating from the Croatian population as a reference.

The 33 health-related parameters comprised our database for determining the effect of health status on survival in advanced old age. All the variables were tested in a multivariate model without the genetic factors, and a subset of nine showed a significant effect on survival. These were maternal and fraternal longevity, nourishment status, body weight, heel bone mineral density, folates in serum, number of medicaments taken daily, usage of B-complex supplements and number of hospital stays in the year prior to taking the survey. Since the variables were categorical, we could see which values were connected to better survival, and for all but one, this category was the one we would expect. However, subjects who had osteopenia - intermediate bone mineral density values - were found to have higher chances of survival. This, though, is not such an unexpected finding, since in the aged population, and especially the oldest-olds, osteopenia is considered a normal trait (Ginsburg et al., 2001; Raisz & Seeman, 2001; Škarić-Jurić & Rudan, 1997). The nine significant health-related variables were then added to the models of significant SNP-SNP interactions in order to test if their effect on survival was independent or just a phenotypic manifestation of the tested genetic factors. In these combined models, almost all of the healthrelated variables remained significant, indicating that effect of health-related variables on survival for the oldest-old population is indeed not just a product of the studied genetic variants, but instead they each influence late-life survival through their own mechanism. With the addition of the healthrelated parameters, only four of the fourteen genetic interactions stopped being significant, probably due to the introduction of variables that described the same phenotype they affected. The ones that remained significant, however, suggest that the interplay between genetic variants in different genes and longevity-related pathways could affect survival in a way that is not accounted for by health status parameters, and would warrant further investigation.

4. CONCLUSIONS

Our investigation of genetic variants associated with longevity in other populations on a sample of Croatian oldest-olds (85+ years), performed with the aim of giving an overview of the genetic background of longevity in Croatian population, yielded the following results:

- The studied population of Croatian oldest-olds differed significantly from the control sample of young adult individuals only in the variant rs533984 associated with *MRE11*, with allele G being more common among the oldest-old. As this variant is associated to a gene with a vital role in DNA repair, this difference between the study and the control sample is not surprising. However, the lack of other differences between the two groups is; but this can be attributed to a relatively small sample size of the young control group.
- Allele and genotype frequencies of many longevity-associated variants differed significantly between the Croatian Roma and both the Croatian oldest-old and the young control group, proving that the Roma are a genetically distant population.
- Regardless of the numerous differences in allele distribution between the Croatian majority and the Roma minority populations, genetic longevity scores did not significantly differ between them. This has showed that the lower life expectancy of the Roma had more to do with other risk factors for chronic diseases, either genetic, or environmental and lifestyle ones.
- There was a difference in the variants that contribute significantly to the chances of reaching two thresholds of longevity 90 and 95 years in our population. Using multivariate logistic regression analyses, we created a best model for each of the age thresholds. Nine SNPs were entered in the model for predicting the chances of reaching 90 years that explained 20.5% of variance, while only five were entered in the best model for survival above 95, which explained 9.3% of variance. The only SNP shared between the two is a missense mutation in *TP53* gene, but both models also had one of the variants that determine the epsilon diplotypes of *APOE*. While we have shown that there is a difference in the genetic background behind longevity and extreme longevity for our studied population, we recognise that this difference might be caused by some of these variants having lesser effect with progressing age as well as by some other stochastic factors contributing to late-life mortality.
- The unweighted and weighted genetic longevity scores for predicting the chances of reaching 90 and 95 years of age, which were based on the models obtained by regression analyses, were

shown as highly predictive. It showed that, although few in number, the genetic loci have been selected well.

- Fourteen SNP-SNP interactions significantly impacted survival above the age of 85. *CDKN2B*, an important regulator of the cell cycle, stood out as the most significant interaction partner, being represented in half of all the significant interactions. It affected late-life survival in interaction with *TP53*, another controller of the cell cycle; *FOXO3*, the main transcription factor downstream of insulin signalling; and a variant in a long non-coding RNA *LINC02227*, associated with cardiovascular diseases. Another interaction pair with a strong effect on survival above 85 were *TERC* gene and *SH2B3*, which could affect survival by modulating CVD risk. These results confirm the central role cell cycle control and insulin signalling have among the ageing-associated pathways, and highlight the importance of alleles protective of CVD for survival in advanced age.
- Parameters describing one's health status could reliably predict late-life survival, while relative telomere length could not. A set of health-related parameters that included maternal and fraternal longevity, nourishment status, body weight, heel bone mineral density, folates in serum, number of medicaments taken daily, usage of B-complex supplements and number of hospital stays in the year prior to taking the survey was significantly associated with survival above the age of 85.
- When these health-related parameters were tested along significant genetic interaction, in most cases, both the genetic and health variables remained significant, which means they affect survival independently and through separate mechanisms. These results indicate that not enough is known about the way these longevity-associated variants impact survival in advanced old age, which is why they warrant further research. Most importantly, they also show that both genetic and health indicators should be used as predictors of survival in future studies of healthy ageing.

5. **REFERENCES**

- Albani, D., Batelli, S., Polito, L., Prato, F., Pesaresi, M., Gajo, G. B., De Angeli, S., Zanardo, A., Galimberti, D., Scarpini, E., Gallucci, M., & Forloni, G. (2009b). Interleukin-6 plasma level increases with age in an Italian elderly population ("The Treviso Longeva"-Trelong-study) with a sex-specific contribution of rs1800795 polymorphism. Age, 31(2), 155–162.
- Albani, D., Batelli, S., Polito, L., Vittori, A., Pesaresi, M., Gajo, G. B., De Angeli, S., Zanardo, A., Gallucci, M., & Forloni, G. (2009a). A polymorphic variant of the insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) receptor correlates with male longevity in the Italian population: A genetic study and evaluation of circulating IGF-1 from the "treviso Longeva (TRELONG)" study. BMC Geriatrics, 9(1), 1–7.
- Anselmi, C. V., Malovini, A., Roncarati, R., Novelli, V., Villa, F., Condorelli, G., Bellazzi, R., & Puca, A. A. (2009). Association of the FOXO3A locus with extreme longevity in a Southern Italian centenarian study. Rejuvenation Research, 12(2), 95–103.
- Antebi, A. (2007). Genetics of Aging in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLOS Genetics, 3(9), e129.
- Anthonj, C., Setty, K. E., Ezbakhe, F., Manga, M., & Hoeser, C. (2020). A systematic review of water, sanitation and hygiene among Roma communities in Europe: Situation analysis, cultural context, and obstacles to improvement. International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health, 226, 113506.
- Arbeev, K. G., Verhulst, S., Steenstrup, T., Kark, J. D., Bagley, O., Kooperberg, C., Reiner, A. P., Hwang, S. J., Levy, D., Fitzpatrick, A. L., Christensen, K., Yashin, A. I., & Aviv, A. (2020). Association of leukocyte telomere length with mortality among adult participants in 3 longitudinal studies. JAMA Network Open, 3(2), e200023–e200023.
- Arking, D. E., Krebsova, A., Macek, M., Macek, M., Arking, A., Mian, I. S., Fried, L., Hamosh, A., Dey, S., McIntosh, I., & Dietz, H. C. (2002). Association of human aging with a functional variant of klotho. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 99(2), 856– 861.
- Arking, R. (1998). Biology of aging: observations and principles. Sinauer Associates.
- Austad, S. N., & Hoffman, J. M. (2018). Is antagonistic pleiotropy ubiquitous in aging biology? Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health, 2018(1), 287–294.
- Auton, A., Abecasis, G. R., Altshuler, D. M., Durbin, R. M., Abecasis, G. R., Bentley, D. R., Chakravarti, A., Clark, A. G., Donnelly, P., Eichler, E. E., Flicek, P., Gabriel, S. B., Gibbs, R. A., Green, E. D., Hurles, M. E., Knoppers, B. M., Korbel, J. O., Lander, E. S., Lee, C., ... Abecasis, G. R. (2015). A global reference for human genetic variation. Nature, 526(7571), 68–74.
- Aviv, A. (2012). Genetics of leukocyte telomere length and its role in atherosclerosis. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis, 730(1–2), 68–74.
- Ballenger, L. (1999). Animal Diversity Web: Mus musculus. https://animaldiversity.org/accounts/Mus_musculus/

- Bao, J. M., Song, X. L., Hong, Y. Q., Zhu, H. L., Li, C., Zhang, T., Chen, W., Zhao, S. C., & Chen, Q. (2014). Association between FOXO3A gene polymorphisms and human longevity: A meta-analysis. Asian Journal of Andrology, 16(3), 446–452.
- Barbieri, M., Bonafè, M., Franceschi, C., & Paolisso, G. (2003). Insulin/IGF-I-signaling pathway: an evolutionarily conserved mechanism of longevity from yeast to humans. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism, 285(5), E1064–E1071.
- Bardage, C., Pluijm, S. M. F., Pedersen, N. L., Deeg, D. J. H., Jylhä, M., Noale, M., Blumstein, T., & Otero, Á. (2005). Self-rated health among older adults: A cross-national comparison. European Journal of Ageing, 2(2), 149–158.
- Barešić, A., & Peričić Salihović, M. (2014). Carrier rates of four single-gene disorders in croatian Bayash Roma. Genetic Testing and Molecular Biomarkers, 18(2), 83–87.
- Bartke, A. (2011). Pleiotropic effects of growth hormone signaling in aging. Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism: TEM, 22(11), 437–442.
- Bauer, F., Charlotte, O.-M. N., Niehoff, A. G., Elbers, C. C., Grobbee, D. E., Wijmenga, C., & Schouw, Y. T. van der. (2010). PTPN1 polymorphisms are Associated with total and lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol. European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation, 17(1), 28–34.
- Beard, J. R., Officer, A., De Carvalho, I. A., Sadana, R., Pot, A. M., Michel, J. P., Lloyd-Sherlock, P., Epping-Jordan, J. E., Peeters, G. M. E. E., Mahanani, W. R., Thiyagarajan, J. A., & Chatterji, S. (2016). The World report on ageing and health: a policy framework for healthy ageing. Lancet (London, England), 387(10033), 2145.
- Bell, J. T., Tsai, P. C., Yang, T. P., Pidsley, R., Nisbet, J., Glass, D., Mangino, M., Zhai, G., Zhang, F., Valdes, A., Shin, S. Y., Dempster, E. L., Murray, R. M., Grundberg, E., Hedman, A. K., Nica, A., Small, K. S., Dermitzakis, E. T., McCarthy, M. I., ... Deloukas, P. (2012). Epigenome-wide scans identify differentially methylated regions for age and age-related phenotypes in a healthy ageing population. PLoS Genetics, 8(4), e1002629.
- Belsky, D. W., Caspi, A., Houts, R., Cohen, H. J., Corcoran, D. L., Danese, A., Harrington, H., Israel, S., Levine, M. E., Schaefer, J. D., Sugden, K., Williams, B., Yashin, A. I., Poulton, R., & Moffitt, T. E. (2015). Quantification of biological aging in young adults. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(30), E4104–E4110.
- Benhamou, S., & Sarasin, A. (2002). ERCC2/XPD gene polymorphisms and cancer risk. Mutagenesis, 17(6), 463–469.
- Bennet, A. M., Di Angelantonio, E., Ye, Z., Wensley, F., Dahlin, A., Ahlbom, A., Keavney, B., Collins, R., Wiman, B., De Faire, U., & Danesh, J. (2007). Association of apolipoprotein E genotypes with lipid levels and coronary risk. JAMA, 298(11), 1300–1311.
- Bhattacharjee, N. V, Schumacher, A. E., Aali, A., Abate, Y. H., Abbasgholizadeh, R., Abbasian, M., Abbasi-Kangevari, M., Abbastabar, H., Abd ElHafeez, S., Abd-Elsalam, S., Abdollahi, M., Abdollahifar, M.-A., Abdoun, M., Abdullahi, A., Abebe, M., Abebe, S. S., Abiodun, O., Abolhassani, H., Abolmaali, M., ... Vollset, S. E. (2024). Global fertility in 204 countries

and territories, 1950–2021, with forecasts to 2100: a comprehensive demographic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2021. The Lancet, 403(10440):2057-2099.

- Bischoff, C., Petersen, H. C., Graakjaer, J., Andersen-Ranberg, K., Vaupel, J. W., Bohr, V. A., Kølvraa, S., & Christensen, K. (2006). No association between telomere length and survival among the elderly and oldest old. Epidemiology, 17(2), 190–194.
- Bišof, V., Peričić Salihović, M., Smolej Narančić, N., Škarić-Jurić, T., Jakić-Razumović, J., Janićijević, B., Turek, S., & Rudan, P. (2010). TP53 gene polymorphisms and breast cancer in Croatian women: a pilot study. European Journal of Gynaecological Oncology, 31(5), 539–544.
- Bišof, V., Peričić Salihović, M., Smolej Narančić, N., Škarić-Jurić, T., Jakić-Razumović, J., Janićijević, B., & Rudan, P. (2012). The TP53 gene polymorphisms and survival of sporadic breast cancer patients. Medical Oncology, 29(2), 472–478.
- Blackburn, E. H., & Collins, K. (2011). Telomerase: An RNP Enzyme Synthesizes DNA. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 3(5), 1–9.
- Blackburn, E. H., Epel, E. S., & Lin, J. (2015). Human telomere biology: A contributory and interactive factor in aging, disease risks, and protection. Science, 350(6265), 1193–1198.
- Bonafè, M., Barbieri, M., Marchegiani, F., Olivieri, F., Ragno, E., Giampieri, C., Mugianesi, E., Centurelli, M., Franceschi, C., & Paolisso, G. (2003). Polymorphic Variants of Insulin-Like Growth Factor I (IGF-I) Receptor and Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Genes Affect IGF-I Plasma Levels and Human Longevity: Cues for an Evolutionarily Conserved Mechanism of Life Span Control. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 88(7), 3299–3304.
- Bowden, D. W. (2009). Association of the PTPN1 Gene With Type 2 Diabetes and Insulin Resistance. Discovery Medicine, 4(24), 427–432.
- Bratic, A., & Larsson, N. G. (2013). The role of mitochondria in aging. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 123(3), 951–957.
- Broer, L., Buchman, A. S., Deelen, J., Evans, D. S., Faul, J. D., Lunetta, K. L., Sebastiani, P., Smith, J. A., Smith, A. V., Tanaka, T., Yu, L., Arnold, A. M., Aspelund, T., Benjamin, E. J., De Jager, P. L., Eirkisdottir, G., Evans, D. A., Garcia, M. E., Hofman, A., ... Murabito, J. M. (2015). GWAS of Longevity in CHARGE Consortium Confirms APOE and FOXO3 Candidacy. The Journals of Gerontology: Series A, 70(1), 110–118.
- Brouilette, S., Singh, R. K., Thompson, J. R., Goodall, A. H., & Samani, N. J. (2003). White cell telomere length and risk of premature myocardial infarction. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 23(5), 842–846.
- Budovsky, A., Craig, T., Wang, J., Tacutu, R., Csordas, A., Lourenço, J., Fraifeld, V. E., & De Magalhães, J. P. (2013). LongevityMap: a database of human genetic variants associated with longevity. Trends in Genetics : TIG, 29(10), 559–560.
- Buettner, D., & Skemp, S. (2016). Blue Zones: Lessons From the World's Longest Lived. American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine, 10(5), 318–321.

- Buffenstein, R., & Jarvis, J. U. M. (2002). The Naked Mole Rat--A New Record for the Oldest Living Rodent. Science of Aging Knowledge Environment, 2002(21), pe7.
- Bürkle, A., Moreno-Villanueva, M., Bernhard, J., Blasco, M., Zondag, G., Hoeijmakers, J. H. J., Toussaint, O., Grubeck-Loebenstein, B., Mocchegiani, E., Collino, S., Gonos, E. S., Sikora, E., Gradinaru, D., Dollé, M., Salmon, M., Kristensen, P., Griffiths, H. R., Libert, C., Grune, T., ... Aspinall, R. (2015). MARK-AGE biomarkers of ageing. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development, 151, 2–12.
- Burton, P. R., Clayton, D. G., Cardon, L. R., Craddock, N., Deloukas, P., Duncanson, A., Kwiatkowski, D. P., McCarthy, M. I., Ouwehand, W. H., Samani, N. J., Todd, J. A., Donnelly, P., Barrett, J. C., Davison, D., Easton, D., Evans, D., Leung, H. T., Marchini, J. L., Morris, A. P., ... Compston, A. (2007). Genome-wide association study of 14,000 cases of seven common diseases and 3,000 shared controls. Nature, 447(7145), 661.
- Butler, R. N., Sprott, R., Warner, H., Bland, J., Feuers, R., Forster, M., Fillit, H., Harman, S. M., Hewitt, M., Hyman, M., Johnson, K., Kligman, E., McClearn, G., Nelson, J., Richardson, A., Sonntag, W., Weindruch, R., & Wolf, N. (2004). Aging: The Reality: Biomarkers of Aging: From Primitive Organisms to Humans. The Journals of Gerontology: Series A, 59(6), B560– B567.
- Calderwood, S. K., Murshid, A., & Prince, T. (2009). The Shock of Aging: Molecular Chaperones and the Heat Shock Response in Longevity and Aging A Mini-Review. Gerontology, 55(5), 550.
- Carrel, A. (1912). On The Permanent Life Of Tissues Outside Of The Organism. The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 15(5), 516.
- Carter, A. J. R., & Nguyen, A. Q. (2011). Antagonistic pleiotropy as a widespread mechanism for the maintenance of polymorphic disease alleles. BMC Medical Genetics, 12, 160.
- Cawthon, R. M. (2002). Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. Nucleic Acids Research, 30(10), e47–e47.
- Cawthon, R. M., Smith, K. R., O'Brien, E., Sivatchenko, A., & Kerber, R. A. (2003). Association between telomere length in blood and mortality in people aged 60 years or older. The Lancet, 361(9355), 393–395.
- Chaix, R., Austerlitz, F., Morar, B., Kalaydjieva, L., & Heyer, E. (2004). Vlax Roma history: what do coalescent-based methods tell us? European Journal of Human Genetics, 12(4), 285–292.
- Chen, B., Retzlaff, M., Roos, T., & Frydman, J. (2011). Cellular Strategies of Protein Quality Control. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 3(8), 1–14.
- Chesnokova, V., & Melmed, S. (2002). Minireview: Neuro-immuno-endocrine modulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis by gp130 signaling molecules. Endocrinology, 143(5), 1571–1574.
- Chondrogianni, N., Petropoulos, I., Grimm, S., Georgila, K., Catalgol, B., Friguet, B., Grune, T., & Gonos, E. S. (2014). Protein damage, repair and proteolysis. Molecular Aspects of Medicine, 35(1), 1–71.

- Christensen, B. C., Houseman, E. A., Marsit, C. J., Zheng, S., Wrensch, M. R., Wiemels, J. L., Nelson, H. H., Karagas, M. R., Padbury, J. F., Bueno, R., Sugarbaker, D. J., Yeh, R. F., Wiencke, J. K., & Kelsey, K. T. (2009). Aging and environmental exposures alter tissuespecific DNA methylation dependent upon CpG island context. PLoS Genetics, 5(8), e1000602.
- Christiansen, L., Bathum, L., Andersen-Ranberg, K., Jeune, B., & Christensen, K. (2004). Modest implication of interleukin-6 promoter polymorphisms in longevity. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development, 125(5), 391–395.
- Clegg, A., Young, J., Iliffe, S., Rikkert, M. O., & Rockwood, K. (2013). Frailty in elderly people. The Lancet, 381(9868), 752–762.
- Codd, V., Mangino, M., Van Der Harst, P., Braund, P. S., Kaiser, M., Beveridge, A. J., Rafelt, S., Moore, J., Nelson, C., Soranzo, N., Zhai, G., Valdes, A. M., Blackburn, H., Leach, I. M., De Boer, R. A., Goodall, A. H., Ouwehand, W., Van Veldhuisen, D. J., Van Gilst, W. H., ... Samani, N. J. (2010). Common variants near TERC are associated with mean telomere length. Nature Genetics, 42(3), 197–199.
- Coin, F., Marinoni, J. C., Rodolfo, C., Fribourg, S., Pedrini, A. M., & Egly, J. M. (1998). Mutations in the XPD helicase gene result in XP and TTD phenotypes, preventing interaction between XPD and the p44 subunit of TFIIH. Nature Genetics, 20(2), 184-8.
- Collins, K., & Mitchell, J. R. (2002). Telomerase in the human organism. Oncogene 2002 21:4, 21(4), 564–579.
- Corder, E. H., Saunders, A. M., Strittmatter, W. J., Schmechel, D. E., Gaskell, P. C., Small, G. W., Roses, A. D., Haines, J. L., & Pericak-Vance, M. A. (1993). Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. Science, 261(5123), 921–923.
- Craig, T., Smelick, C., Tacutu, R., Wuttke, D., Wood, S. H., Stanley, H., Janssens, G., Savitskaya, E., Moskalev, A., Arking, R., & De Magalhães, J. P. (2015). The Digital Ageing Atlas: integrating the diversity of age-related changes into a unified resource. Nucleic Acids Research, 43(Database issue), D873–D878.
- Crimmins, E. M., & Beltrán-Sánchez, H. (2011). Mortality and Morbidity Trends: Is There Compression of Morbidity? The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 66B(1), 75.
- Croatian Bureau of Statistics. (2023). STAN-2023-3-1 Population Estimate of the Republic of Croatia, 2022. https://podaci.dzs.hr/2023/en/58064
- Curtin, R. B., Lowrie, E. G., & DeOreo, P. B. (1999). Self-Reported Functional Status: An Important Predictor of Health Outcomes Among End-Stage Renal Disease Patents. Advances in Renal Replacement Therapy, 6(2), 133–140.
- Dale, B. L., & Madhur, M. S. (2016). Linking Inflammation and Hypertension via LNK/SH2B3. Current Opinion in Nephrology and Hypertension, 25(2), 87.

- Dang, W., Steffen, K. K., Perry, R., Dorsey, J. A., Johnson, F. B., Shilatifard, A., Kaeberlein, M., Kennedy, B. K., & Berger, S. L. (2009). Histone H4 lysine-16 acetylation regulates cellular lifespan. Nature, 459(7248), 802.
- Dato, S., Soerensen, M., De Rango, F., Rose, G., Christensen, K., Christiansen, L., & Passarino, G. (2018). The genetic component of human longevity: New insights from the analysis of pathway-based SNP-SNP interactions. Aging Cell, 17(3), 1–12.
- Dattani, S., Rodés-Guirao, L., Ritchie, H., Ortiz-Ospina, E., & Roser, M. (2023). Life Expectancy. Published Online at OurWorldInData.Org. https://ourworldindata.org/life-expectancy
- Davies, K. J. A. (2001). Degradation of oxidized proteins by the 20S proteasome. Biochimie, 83(3–4), 301–310.
- De Boer, J., & Hoeijmakers, J. H. J. (2000). Nucleotide excision repair and human syndromes. Carcinogenesis, 21(3), 453–460.
- Deelen, J., Beekman, M., Uh, H. W., Helmer, Q., Kuningas, M., Christiansen, L., Kremer, D., van der Breggen, R., Suchiman, H. E. D., Lakenberg, N., van den Akker, E. B., Passtoors, W. M., Tiemeier, H., van Heemst, D., de Craen, A. J., Rivadeneira, F., de Geus, E. J., Perola, M., van der Ouderaa, F. J., ... Slagboom, P. E. (2011). Genome-wide association study identifies a single major locus contributing to survival into old age; the APOE locus revisited. Aging Cell, 10(4), 686–698.
- Deelen, J., Evans, D. S., Arking, D. E., Tesi, N., Nygaard, M., Liu, X., Wojczynski, M. K., Biggs, M. L., van der Spek, A., Atzmon, G., Ware, E. B., Sarnowski, C., Smith, A. V., Seppälä, I., Cordell, H. J., Dose, J., Amin, N., Arnold, A. M., Ayers, K. L., ... Murabito, J. M. (2019). A meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies identifies multiple longevity genes. Nature Communications, 10(1), 3669.
- Devallire, J., & Charreau, B. (2011). The adaptor Lnk (SH2B3): An emerging regulator in vascular cells and a link between immune and inflammatory signaling. Biochemical Pharmacology, 82(10), 1391–1402.
- Dobriansky, P. J., Suzman, R. M., & Hodes, R. J. (2007). Why Population Aging Matters: A Global Perspective. https://www.nia.nih.gov/sites/default/files/2017-06/WPAM.pdf
- Don, J., Schork, A. J., Glusman, G., Rappaport, N., Cummings, S. R., Duggan, D., Raju, A., Hellberg, K. L. G., Gunn, S., Monti, S., Perls, T., Lapidus, J., Goetz, L. H., Sebastiani, P., & Schork, N. J. (2024). The relationship between 11 different polygenic longevity scores, parental lifespan, and disease diagnosis in the UK Biobank. GeroScience. doi: 10.1007/s11357-024-01107-1. Epub ahead of print.
- Druzhyna, N. M., Wilson, G. L., & LeDoux, S. P. (2008). Mitochondrial DNA repair in aging and disease. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development, 129(7–8), 383.
- Dumont, P., Leu, J. I. J., Della Pietra, A. C., George, D. L., & Murphy, M. (2003). The codon 72 polymorphic variants of p53 have markedly different apoptotic potential. Nature Genetics, 33(3), 357–365.
- Duncan, L., Ostacher, M., & Ballon, J. (2019a). How genome-wide association studies (GWAS) made traditional candidate gene studies obsolete. Neuropsychopharmacology, 44(9), 1518.

- Duncan, L., Shen, H., Gelaye, B., Meijsen, J., Ressler, K., Feldman, M., Peterson, R., & Domingue, B. (2019b). Analysis of polygenic risk score usage and performance in diverse human populations. Nature Communications, 10(1), 3328.
- Ehret, G. B., Munroe, P. B., Rice, K. M., Bochud, M., Johnson, A. D., Chasman, D. I., Smith, A. V., Tobin, M. D., Verwoert, G. C., Hwang, S. J., Pihur, V., Vollenweider, P., O'Reilly, P. F., Amin, N., Bragg-Gresham, J. L., Teumer, A., Glazer, N. L., Launer, L., Zhao, J. H., ... Johnson, T. (2011). Genetic Variants in Novel Pathways Influence Blood Pressure and Cardiovascular Disease Risk. Nature, 478(7367), 103.
- Eichner, J. E., Kuller, L. H., Orchard, T. J., Grandits, G. A., McCallum, L. M., Ferrell, R. E., & Neaton, J. D. (1993). Relation of apolipoprotein E phenotype to myocardial infarction and mortality from coronary artery disease. The American Journal of Cardiology, 71(2), 160– 165.
- Eijkelenboom, A., & Burgering, B. M. T. (2013). FOXOs: signalling integrators for homeostasis maintenance. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 14(2), 83–97.
- EU-FRA. European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights. (2014). Roma survey Data in focus Poverty and employment: the situation of Roma in 11 EU Member States. https://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra_uploads/fra-2014-roma-survey-dif-employment-1_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2020). Roma equality, inclusion and participation in the EU. https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/policies/justice-and-fundamentalrights/combatting-discrimination/roma-eu/roma-equality-inclusion-and-participationeu_en#reports
- Farrer, L. A., Cupples, L. A., Haines, J. L., Hyman, B., Kukull, W. A., Mayeux, R., Myers, R. H., Pericak-Vance, M. A., Risch, N., & Duijn, C. M. van. (1997). Effects of Age, Sex, and Ethnicity on the Association Between Apolipoprotein E Genotype and Alzheimer Disease: A Meta-analysis. JAMA, 278(16), 1349–1356.
- Ferrucci, L., & Fabbri, E. (2018). Inflammageing: chronic inflammation in ageing, cardiovascular disease, and frailty. Nature Reviews. Cardiology, 15(9), 505.
- Feser, J., Truong, D., Das, C., Carson, J. J., Kieft, J., Harkness, T., & Tyler, J. K. (2010). Elevated histone expression promotes lifespan extension. Molecular Cell, 39(5), 724.
- Fitzpatrick, A. L., Kronmal, R. A., Gardner, J. P., Psaty, B. M., Jenny, N. S., Tracy, R. P., Walston, J., Kimura, M., & Aviv, A. (2007). Leukocyte telomere length and cardiovascular disease in the cardiovascular health study. American Journal of Epidemiology, 165(1), 14–21.
- Flachsbart, F., Caliebe, A., Kleindorp, R., Blanché, H., von Eller-Eberstein, H., Nikolaus, S., Schreiber, S., & Nebel, A. (2009). Association of FOXO3A variation with human longevity confirmed in German centenarians. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(8), 2700–2705.
- Flatt, T., & Partridge, L. (2018). Horizons in the evolution of aging. BMC Biology 2018 16:1, 16(1), 1–13.

- Fontana, L., Partridge, L., & Longo, V. D. (2010). Extending Healthy Life Span—From Yeast to Humans. Science, 328(5976), 321–326.
- Fortney, K., Dobriban, E., Garagnani, P., Pirazzini, C., Monti, D., Mari, D., Atzmon, G., Barzilai, N., Franceschi, C., Owen, A. B., & Kim, S. K. (2015). Genome-Wide Scan Informed by Age-Related Disease Identifies Loci for Exceptional Human Longevity. PLoS Genetics, 11(12), 1–23.
- Franceschi, C., Bonafè, M., Valensin, S., Olivieri, F., De Luca, M., Ottaviani, E., & De Benedictis, G. (2000). Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 908, 244–254.
- Franceschi, C., Garagnani, P., Parini, P., Giuliani, C., & Santoro, A. (2018). Inflammaging: a new immune-metabolic viewpoint for age-related diseases. Nature Reviews. Endocrinology, 14(10), 576–590.
- Fraser, A. M. (1992). The Gypsies. 1st edition. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Group.
- Friedman, D. B., & Johnson, T. E. (1988). A mutation in the age-1 gene in Caenorhabditis elegans lengthens life and reduces hermaphrodite fertility. Genetics, 118(1), 75–86.
- Garmany, A., Yamada, S., & Terzic, A. (2021). Longevity leap: mind the healthspan gap. NPJ Regenerative Medicine, 6(1), 57.
- Gerke, J., Lorenz, K., & Cohen, B. (2009). Genetic interactions between transcription factors cause natural variation in yeast. Science, 323(5913), 498–501.
- Ghoussaini, M., Mountjoy, E., Carmona, M., Peat, G., Schmidt, E. M., Hercules, A., Fumis, L., Miranda, A., Carvalho-Silva, D., Buniello, A., Burdett, T., Hayhurst, J., Baker, J., Ferrer, J., Gonzalez-Uriarte, A., Jupp, S., Karim, M. A., Koscielny, G., MacHlitt-Northen, S., ... Dunham, I. (2021). Open Targets Genetics: systematic identification of trait-associated genes using large-scale genetics and functional genomics. Nucleic Acids Research, 49(D1), D1311–D1320.
- Gil, J., & Peters, G. (2006). Regulation of the INK4b–ARF–INK4a tumour suppressor locus: all for one or one for all. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 7(9), 667–677.
- Gilbert, S. F. (2000). Aging: The Biology of Senescence. 6th edition. Sunderland, Massachusetts: Sinauer Associates.
- Ginsburg, E., Škarić-Jurić, T., Kobyliansky, E., Malkin, I., & Rudan, P. (2001). Evidence on major gene control of cortical index in pedigree data from Middle Dalmatia, Croatia. American Journal of Human Biology, 13(3), 398–408.
- Gomis, R. R., Alarcón, C., He, W., Wang, Q., Seoane, J., Lash, A., & Massagué, J. (2006). A FoxO–Smad synexpression group in human keratinocytes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 103(34), 12747.
- Gresham, D., Morar, B., Underhill, P. A., Passarino, G., Lin, A. A., Wiser, C., Angelicheva, D., Calafell, F., Oefner, P. J., Shen, P., Tournev, I., De Pablo, R., Kuĉinskas, V., Perez-Lezaun, A., Marushiakova, E., Popov, V., & Kalaydjieva, L. (2001). Origins and divergence of the Roma (gypsies). American Journal of Human Genetics, 69(6), 1314–1331.

- Groß, S., Immel, U.-D., Klintschar, M., & Bartel, F. (2014). Germline genetics of the p53 pathway affect longevity in a gender specific manner. Current Aging Science, 7(2), 91–100.
- Hahn, W. C., Counter, C. M., Lundberg, A. S., Beijersbergen, R. L., Brooks, M. W., & Weinberg, R. A. (1999). Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. Nature, 400(6743), 464–468.
- Hamilton, M. L., Van Remmen, H., Drake, J. A., Yang, H., Guo, Z. M., Kewitt, K., Walter, C. A., & Richardson, A. (2001). Does oxidative damage to DNA increase with age? Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 98(18), 10469–10474.
- Hannon, G. J., & Beach, D. (1994). pl5INK4B is a potentia effector of TGF-β-induced cell cycle arrest. Nature, 371(6494), 257–261.
- Harries, L. W., Hernandez, D., Henley, W., Wood, A. R., Holly, A. C., Bradley-Smith, R. M., Yaghootkar, H., Dutta, A., Murray, A., Frayling, T. M., Guralnik, J. M., Bandinelli, S., Singleton, A., Ferrucci, L., & Melzer, D. (2011). Human aging is characterized by focused changes in gene expression and deregulation of alternative splicing. Aging Cell, 10(5), 868– 878.
- Harris, S. E., Deary, I. J., MacIntyre, A., Lamb, K. J., Radhakrishnan, K., Starr, J. M., Whalley, L. J., & Shiels, P. G. (2006). The association between telomere length, physical health, cognitive ageing, and mortality in non-demented older people. Neuroscience Letters, 406(3), 260–264.
- Hayflick, L. (1965). The limited in vitro lifetime of human diploid cell strains. Experimental Cell Research, 37(3), 614–636.
- Helgadottir, A., Thorleifsson, G., Manolescu, A., Gretarsdottir, S., Blondal, T., Jonasdottir, A., Jonasdottir, A., Sigurdsson, A., Baker, A., Palsson, A., Masson, G., Gudbjartsson, D. F., Magnusson, K. P., Andersen, K., Levey, A. I., Backman, V. M., Matthiasdottir, S., Jonsdottir, T., Palsson, S., ... Stefansson, K. (2007). A Common Variant on Chromosome 9p21 Affects the Risk of Myocardial Infarction. Science, 316(5830), 1491–1493.
- Herskind, A. M., McGue, M., Holm, N. V., Sørensen, T. I. A., Harvald, B., & Vaupel, J. W. (1996). The heritability of human longevity: a population-based study of 2872 Danish twin pairs born 1870-1900. Human Genetics, 97(3), 319–323.
- Hipp, M. S., Kasturi, P., & Hartl, F. U. (2019). The proteostasis network and its decline in ageing. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 20(7), 421–435.
- Hornsveld, M., Dansen, T. B., Derksen, P. W., & Burgering, B. M. T. (2018). Re-evaluating the role of FOXOs in cancer. Seminars in Cancer Biology, 50, 90–100.
- Horvath, S., & Raj, K. (2018). DNA methylation-based biomarkers and the epigenetic clock theory of ageing. Nature Reviews. Genetics, 19(6), 371–384.
- Hrvatić, N., & Ivančić, S. (2000). Povijesno socijalna obilježja Roma u Hrvatskoj. Društvena Istraživanja : Časopis Za Opća Društvena Pitanja, 9(2-3 (46-47)), 251–266.
- Hubáček, J. A., Šedová, L., Olišarová, V., Adámková, V., & Tóthová, V. (2020). Different prevalence of T2DM risk alleles in Roma population in comparison with the majority Czech population. Molecular Genetics and Genomic Medicine, 8(9), e1361.

- Huebbe, P., & Rimbach, G. (2017). Evolution of human apolipoprotein E (APOE) isoforms: Gene structure, protein function and interaction with dietary factors. Ageing Research Reviews, 37, 146–161.
- Hut, H. M. J., Kampinga, H. H., & Sibon, O. C. M. (2005). Hsp70 Protects Mitotic Cells against Heat-induced Centrosome Damage and Division Abnormalities. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 16(8), 3776.
- Inouye, S. K., Peduzzi, P. N., Robison, J. T., Hughes, J. S., Horwitz, R. I., & Concato, J. (1998). Importance of Functional Measures in Predicting Mortality Among Older Hospitalized Patients. JAMA, 279(15), 1187–1193.
- Jacob, K. D., Noren Hooten, N., Trzeciak, A. R., & Evans, M. K. (2013). Markers of oxidant stress that are clinically relevant in aging and age-related disease. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development, 134(3–4), 139–157.
- Jasienska, G. (2020). Costs of reproduction and ageing in the human female. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B, 375(1811).
- Jeanclos, E., Krolewski, A., Skurnick, J., Kimura, M., Aviv, H., Warram, J. H., & Aviv, A. (1998). Shortened telomere length in white blood cells of patients with IDDM. Diabetes, 47(3), 482–486.
- Johnson, T. E. (2006). Recent results: Biomarkers of aging. Experimental Gerontology, 41(12), 1243–1246.
- Joshi, P. K., Pirastu, N., Kentistou, K. A., Fischer, K., Hofer, E., Schraut, K. E., Clark, D. W., Nutile, T., Barnes, C. L. K., Timmers, P. R. H. J., Shen, X., Gandin, I., McDaid, A. F., Hansen, T. F., Gordon, S. D., Giulianini, F., Boutin, T. S., Abdellaoui, A., Zhao, W., ... Wilson, J. F. (2017). Genome-wide meta-analysis associates HLA-DQA1/DRB1 and LPA and lifestyle factors with human longevity. Nature Communications, 8(1), 910–910.
- Ju, Y. J., Lee, K. H., Park, J. E., Yi, Y. S., Yun, M. Y., Ham, Y. H., Kim, T. J., Hyun, M. C., Gwi, J. H., Lee, J. H., Lee, J., Jong, S. H., Lee, K. M., & Park, G. H. (2006). Decreased expression of DNA repair proteins Ku70 and Mre11 is associated with aging and may contribute to the cellular senescence. Experimental & Molecular Medicine, 38(6), 686–693.
- Kalaydjieva, L., Morar, B., Chaix, R., & Tang, H. (2005). A newly discovered founder population: the Roma/Gypsies. BioEssays: News and Reviews in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology, 27(10), 1084–1094.
- Kawada, T. (2003). Self-rated health and life prognosis. Archives of Medical Research, 34(4), 343–347.
- Kennedy, B. K., Berger, S. L., Brunet, A., Campisi, J., Cuervo, A. M., Epel, E. S., Franceschi, C., Lithgow, G. J., Morimoto, R. I., Pessin, J. E., Rando, T. A., Richardson, A., Schadt, E. E., Wyss-Coray, T., & Sierra, F. (2014). Geroscience: linking aging to chronic disease. Cell, 159(4), 709–713.
- Kenyon, C., Chang, J., Gensch, E., Rudner, A., & Tabtiang, R. (1993). A C. elegans mutant that lives twice as long as wild type. Nature, 366(6454), 461–464.

- Keriel, A., Stary, A., Sarasin, A., Rochette-Egly, C., & Egly, J. M. (2002). XPD Mutations Prevent TFIIH-Dependent Transactivation by Nuclear Receptors and Phosphorylation of RARα. Cell, 109(1), 125–135.
- Kim, J. H., Jae, E. K., Liu, H. Y., Cao, W., & Chen, J. (2008). Regulation of Interleukin-6-induced Hepatic Insulin Resistance by Mammalian Target of Rapamycin through the STAT3-SOCS3 Pathway. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 283(2), 708–715.
- Kimura, M., Hjelmborg, J. V. B., Gardner, J. P., Bathum, L., Brimacombe, M., Lu, X., Christiansen, L., Vaupel, J. W., Aviv, A., & Christensen, K. (2008). Telomere Length and Mortality: A Study of Leukocytes in Elderly Danish Twins. American Journal of Epidemiology, 167(7), 799–806.
- Kirchberger, I., Meisinger, C., Heier, M., Zimmermann, A. K., Thorand, B., Autenrieth, C. S., Peters, A., Ladwig, K. H., & Döring, A. (2012). Patterns of Multimorbidity in the Aged Population. Results from the KORA-Age Study. PLoS ONE, 7(1), 30556.
- Kirkwood, T. B. L. (1977). Evolution of ageing. Nature, 270(5635), 301-304.
- Kirkwood, T. B. L. (2005). Understanding the odd science of aging. Cell, 120(4), 437–447.
- Kirkwood, T. B. L., & Tipton, M. (2017). Why and how are we living longer? Experimental Physiology, 102(9), 1067–1074.
- Martinović Klarić, I., Peričić Salihović, M., Lauc, L. B., Zhivotovsky, L. A., Rootsi, S., & Janićijevic, B. (2009). Dissecting the molecular architecture and origin of bayash romani patrilineages: Genetic influences from south-asia and the balkans. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 138(3), 333–342.
- Kotake, Y., Nakagawa, T., Kitagawa, K., Suzuki, S., Liu, N., Kitagawa, M., & Xiong, Y. (2010). Long non-coding RNA ANRIL is required for the PRC2 recruitment to and silencing of p15INK4B tumor suppressor gene. Oncogene, 30(16), 1956–1962.
- Krajačić, P. (2017). Utjecaj "gena dugovječnosti" na biološku dob u osoba duboke starosti [Prirodoslovno-matematički fakultet, Sveučilište u Zagrebu].
- Kuo, C.-L., Joaquim, M., Kuchel, G. A., Ferrucci, L., Harries, L. W., Pilling, L. C., & Melzer, D. (2020). The Longevity-Associated SH2B3 (LNK) Genetic Variant: Selected Aging Phenotypes in 379,758 Subjects. The Journals of Gerontology: Series A, 75(9), 1656–1662.
- Kurczewska-Michalak, M., Lewek, P., Jankowska-Polańska, B., Giardini, A., Granata, N., Maffoni, M., Costa, E., Midão, L., & Kardas, P. (2021). Polypharmacy Management in the Older Adults: A Scoping Review of Available Interventions. Frontiers in Pharmacology, 12, 734045.
- Kushi, R., Hirota, Y., & Ogawa, W. (2021). Insulin resistance and exaggerated insulin sensitivity triggered by single-gene mutations in the insulin signaling pathway. Diabetology International, 12(1), 62–67.
- Laroumanie, F., Korneva, A., Bersi, M. R., Alexander, M. R., Xiao, L., Zhong, X., Van Beusecum, J. P., Chen, Y., Saleh, M. A., McMaster, W. G., Gavulic, K. A., Dale, B. L., Zhao, S., Guo, Y., Shyr, Y., Perrien, D. S., Cox, N. J., Curci, J. A., Humphrey, J. D., & Madhur, M. S.

(2018). LNK deficiency promotes acute aortic dissection and rupture. JCI Insight, 3(20), 1–14.

- Larson, K., Yan, S. J., Tsurumi, A., Liu, J., Zhou, J., Gaur, K., Guo, D., Eickbush, T. H., & Li, W. X. (2012). Heterochromatin Formation Promotes Longevity and Represses Ribosomal RNA Synthesis. PLOS Genetics, 8(1), e1002473.
- Lax, N. Z., Turnbull, D. M., & Reeve, A. K. (2011). Mitochondrial Mutations: Newly Discovered Players in Neuronal Degeneration. The Neuroscientist, 17(6), 645.
- Lee, R., Mason, A., Amporfu, E., An, C. B., Bixby, L. R., Bravo, J., Bucheli, M., Chen, Q., Comelatto, P., Coy, D., D'Albis, H., Donehower, G., Dramani, L., Fürnkranz-Prskawetz, A., Gal, R. I., Holz, M., Huong, N. T. L., Kluge, F., Ladusingh, L., ... Zhang, Q. (2014). Is Low Fertility Really a Problem? Population Aging, Dependency, and Consumption. Science, 346(6206), 229.
- Levy, D., Ehret, G. B., Rice, K., Verwoert, G. C., Launer, L. J., Dehghan, A., Glazer, N. L., Morrison, A. C., Johnson, A. D., Aspelund, T., Aulchenko, Y., Lumley, T., Köttgen, A., Vasan, R. S., Rivadeneira, F., Eiriksdottir, G., Guo, X., Arking, D. E., Mitchell, G. F., ... Van Duijn, C. M. (2009). Genome-wide association study of blood pressure and hypertension. Nature Genetics, 41(6), 677–687.
- Li, N., Luo, H., Liu, X., Ma, S., Lin, H., Chen, R., Hao, F., & Zhang, D. (2016). Association study of polymorphisms in FOXO3, AKT1 and IGF-2R genes with human longevity in a Han Chinese population. Oncotarget, 7(1), 23–32.
- Lin, J. R., Sin-Chan, P., Napolioni, V., Torres, G. G., Mitra, J., Zhang, Q., Jabalameli, M. R., Wang, Z., Nguyen, N., Gao, T., Laudes, M., Görg, S., Franke, A., Nebel, A., Greicius, M. D., Atzmon, G., Ye, K., Gorbunova, V., Ladiges, W. C., ... Zhang, Z. D. (2021). Rare genetic coding variants associated with human longevity and protection against age-related diseases. Nature Aging, 1(9), 783–794.
- Llanaj, E., Vincze, F., Kósa, Z., Sándor, J., Diószegi, J., & Ádány, R. (2020). Dietary Profile and Nutritional Status of the Roma Population Living in Segregated Colonies in Northeast Hungary. Nutrients, 12(9), 2836.
- Lohman, T., Bains, G., Berk, L., & Lohman, E. (2021). Predictors of Biological Age: The Implications for Wellness and Aging Research. Gerontology and Geriatric Medicine, 7, 1– 13.
- Lohrum, M. A. E., Ashcroft, M., Kubbutat, M. H. G., & Vousden, K. H. (2000). Contribution of two independent MDM2-binding domains in p14ARF to p53 stabilization. Current Biology, 10(9), 539–542.
- López-Otín, C., Blasco, M. A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., & Kroemer, G. (2013). The Hallmarks of Aging Europe PMC Funders Group. Cell, 153(6), 1194–1217.
- López-Otín, C., Blasco, M. A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., & Kroemer, G. (2023). Hallmarks of aging: An expanding universe. Cell, 186(2), 243–278.
- Lye, M., & Donnellan, C. (2000). Heart disease in the elderly. Heart, 84(5), 560-566.

- Mahley, R. W., & Rall, S. C. (2000). Apolipoprotein E: Far More Than a Lipid Transport Protein. Annual Review of Genomics and Human Genetics, 1(1), 507–537.
- Mamoshina, P., Kochetov, K., Putin, E., Cortese, F., Aliper, A., Lee, W. S., Ahn, S. M., Uhn, L., Skjodt, N., Kovalchuk, O., Scheibye-Knudsen, M., & Zhavoronkov, A. (2018). Population Specific Biomarkers of Human Aging: A Big Data Study Using South Korean, Canadian, and Eastern European Patient Populations. The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 73(11), 1482–1490.
- Manowsky, J., Camargo, R. G., Kipp, A. P., Henkel, J., & Püschel, G. P. (2016). Insulin-induced cytokine production in macrophages causes insulin resistance in hepatocytes. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism, 310(11), E938–E946.
- Marin, M. C., Jost, C. A., Brooks, L. A., Irwin, M. S., O'Nions, J., Tidy, J. A., James, N., McGregor, J. M., Harwood, C. A., Yulug, I. G., Vousden, K. H., Allday, M. J., Gusterson, B., Ikawa, S., Hinds, P. W., Crook, T., & Kaelin, W. G. (2000). A common polymorphism acts as an intragenic modifier of mutant p53 behaviour. Nature Genetics, 25(1), 47–54.
- Stojanović Marković, A., Zajc Petranović, M., Tomas, Ž., Puljko, B., Šetinc, M., Škarić-Jurić, T., & Peričić Salihović, M. (2022). Untangling SNP Variations within CYP2D6 Gene in Croatian Roma. Journal of Personalized Medicine, 12(3), 374.
- Martari, M., & Salvatori, R. (2009). Diseases associated with growth hormone-releasing hormone receptor (GHRHR) mutations. Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science, 88(C), 57–84.
- Martens, D. S., Van Der Stukken, C., Derom, C., Thiery, E., Bijnens, E. M., & Nawrot, T. S. (2021). Newborn telomere length predicts later life telomere length: Tracking telomere length from birth to child- and adulthood. EBioMedicine, 63, 103164.
- Martin-Ruiz, C. M., Gussekloo, J., van Heemst, D., von Zglinicki, T., & Westendorp, R. G. J. (2005). Telomere length in white blood cells is not associated with morbidity or mortality in the oldest old: a population-based study. Aging Cell, 4(6), 287–290.
- Martins, R., Lithgow, G. J., & Link, W. (2016). Long live FOXO: unraveling the role of FOXO proteins in aging and longevity. Aging Cell, 15(2), 196.
- Martnez-Cruz, B., Mendizabal, I., Harmant, C., De Pablo, R., Ioana, M., Angelicheva, D., Kouvatsi, A., Makukh, H., Netea, M. G., Pamjav, H., Zaln, A., Tournev, I., Marushiakova, E., Popov, V., Bertranpetit, J., Kalaydjieva, L., Quintana-Murci, L., & Comas, D. (2016). Origins, admixture and founder lineages in European Roma. European Journal of Human Genetics : EJHG, 24(6), 937–943.
- Mather, K. A., Jorm, A. F., Parslow, R. A., & Christensen, H. (2011). Is Telomere Length a Biomarker of Aging? A Review. The Journals of Gerontology: Series A, 66A(2), 202–213.
- Matras, Y. (2002). Romani: A Linguistic Introduction. Cambridge University Press.
- Mayer, M. P., & Bukau, B. (2005). Hsp70 chaperones: cellular functions and molecular mechanism. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences : CMLS, 62(6), 670–684.

- McCay, C. M., Maynard, L. A., Sperling, G., & Barnes, L. L. (1975). The Journal of Nutrition. Volume 18 July--December, 1939. Pages 1--13. Retarded growth, life span, ultimate body size and age changes in the albino rat after feeding diets restricted in calories. Nutrition Reviews, 33(8), 241–243.
- McPherson, R., Pertsemlidis, A., Kavaslar, N., Stewart, A., Roberts, R., Cox, D. R., Hinds, D. A., Pennacchio, L. A., Tybjaerg-Hansen, A., Folsom, A. R., Boerwinkle, E., Hobbs, H. H., & Cohen, J. C. (2007). A common allele on chromosome 9 associated with coronary heart disease. Science, 316(5830), 1488–1491.
- Mithal, A., Bonjour, J. P., Boonen, S., Burckhardt, P., Degens, H., El Hajj Fuleihan, G., Josse, R., Lips, P., Morales Torres, J., Rizzoli, R., Yoshimura, N., Wahl, D. A., Cooper, C., & Dawson-Hughes, B. (2013). Impact of nutrition on muscle mass, strength, and performance in older adults. Osteoporosis International : A Journal Established as Result of Cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA, 24(5), 1555–1566.
- Moyzis, R. K., Buckingham, J. M., Cram, L. S., Dani, M., Deaven, L. L., Jones, M. D., Meyne, J., Ratliff, R. L., & Wu, J. R. (1988). A highly conserved repetitive DNA sequence, (TTAGGG)n, present at the telomeres of human chromosomes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 85(18), 6622–6626.
- Muller, P. A. J., & Vousden, K. H. (2013). p53 mutations in cancer. Nature Cell Biology, 15(1), 2–8.
- Niccoli, T., & Partridge, L. (2012). Ageing as a Risk Factor for Disease. Current Biology, 22(17), R741–R752.
- Niedernhofer, L. J., Gurkar, A. U., Wang, Y., Vijg, J., Hoeijmakers, J. H. J., & Robbins, P. D. (2018). Nuclear Genomic Instability and Aging. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 87, 295– 322.
- Nielsen, J., Hedeholm, R. B., Heinemeier, J., Bushnell, P. G., Christiansen, J. S., Olsen, J., Ramsey, C. B., Brill, R. W., Simon, M., Steffensen, K. F., & Steffensen, J. F. (2016). Eye lens radiocarbon reveals centuries of longevity in the Greenland shark (Somniosus microcephalus). Science, 353(6300), 702–704.
- Njajou, O. T., Hsueh, W. C., Blackburn, E. H., Newman, A. B., Wu, S. H., Li, R., Simonsick, E. M., Harris, T. M., Cummings, S. R., & Cawthon, R. M. (2009). Association Between Telomere Length, Specific Causes of Death, and Years of Healthy Life in Health, Aging, and Body Composition, a Population-Based Cohort Study. The Journals of Gerontology: Series A, 64A(8), 860–864.
- Nunnari, J., & Suomalainen, A. (2012). Mitochondria: In Sickness and in Health. Cell, 148(6), 1145.
- Oeppen, J., & Vaupel, J. W. (2002). Broken Limits to Life Expectancy. Science, 296(5570), 1029– 1031.

- Olivier, M., Hussain, S. P., Caron de Fromentel, C., Hainaut, P., & Harris, C. C. (2004). TP53 mutation spectra and load: a tool for generating hypotheses on the etiology of cancer. IARC Scientific Publications, 157, 247–270.
- Olovnikov, A. M. (1973). A theory of marginotomy: The incomplete copying of template margin in enzymic synthesis of polynucleotides and biological significance of the phenomenon. Journal of Theoretical Biology, 41(1), 181–190.
- Olovnikov, A. M. (1996). Telomeres, telomerase, and aging: Origin of the theory. Experimental Gerontology, 31(4), 443–448.
- Panossian, L. A., Porter, V. R., Valenzuela, H. F., Zhu, X., Reback, E., Masterman, D., Cummings, J. L., & Effros, R. B. (2003). Telomere shortening in T cells correlates with Alzheimer's disease status. Neurobiology of Aging, 24(1), 77–84.
- Pasmant, E., Sabbagh, A., Vidaud, M., & Bièche, I. (2011). ANRIL, a long, noncoding RNA, is an unexpected major hotspot in GWAS. The FASEB Journal, 25(2), 444–448.
- Pawlikowska, L., Hu, D., Huntsman, S., Sung, A., Chu, C., Chen, J., Joyner, A. H., Schork, N. J., Hsueh, W. C., Reiner, A. P., Psaty, B. M., Atzmon, G., Barzilai, N., Cummings, S. R., Browner, W. S., Kwok, P. Y., & Ziv, E. (2009). Association of common genetic variation in the insulin/IGF1 signaling pathway with human longevity. Aging Cell, 8(4), 460–472.
- Pereira, R. M. R., Freitas, T. Q., Franco, A. S., Takayama, L., Caparbo, V. F., Domiciano, D. S., Machado, L. G., Figueiredo, C. P., Menezes, P. R., Onuchic, L. F., & de Castro, I. (2020). KLOTHO polymorphisms and age-related outcomes in community-dwelling older subjects: The São Paulo Ageing & amp; Health (SPAH) Study. Scientific Reports, 10(1), 8574.
- Petersen, K. F., Befroy, D., Dufour, S., Dziura, J., Ariyan, C., Rothman, D. L., DiPietro, L., Cline, G. W., & Shulman, G. I. (2003). Mitochondrial dysfunction in the elderly: possible role in insulin resistance. Science, 300(5622), 1140–1142.
- Zajc Petranović, M., Rizzieri, A. E., Sivaraj, D., Smolej Narančić, N., Škarić-Jurić, T., Celinšćak,
 Ž., Stojanović Marković, A., Peričić Salihović, M., Kalászi, J., Kalászi, M., Lin, J. Q., Mehta,
 S., Burleson, J., & Rizzieri, D. A. (2021). CVD Risk Factors in the Ukrainian Roma and
 Meta-Analysis of Their Prevalence in Roma Populations Worldwide. Journal of Personalized
 Medicine, 11(11), 1138.
- Pianka, E. R. (1970). On r- and K-Selection. The American Naturalist, 104(940), 592–597.
- Pilling, L. C., Atkins, J. L., Bowman, K., Jones, S. E., Tyrrell, J., Beaumont, R. N., Ruth, K. S., Tuke, M. A., Yaghootkar, H., Wood, A. R., Freathy, R. M., Murray, A., Weedon, M. N., Xue, L., Lunetta, K., Murabito, J. M., Harries, L. W., Robine, J. M., Brayne, C., ... Melzer, D. (2016). Human longevity is influenced by many genetic variants: evidence from 75,000 UK Biobank participants. Aging, 8(3), 547–560.
- Pilling, L. C., Kuo, C. L., Sicinski, K., Tamosauskaite, J., Kuchel, G. A., Harries, L. W., Herd, P., Wallace, R., Ferrucci, L., & Melzer, D. (2017). Human longevity: 25 genetic loci associated in 389,166 UK biobank participants. Aging, 9(12), 2504–2520.
- Pinós, T., Fuku, N., Cámara, Y., Arai, Y., Abe, Y., Rodríguez-Romo, G., Garatachea, N., Santos-Lozano, A., Miro-Casas, E., Ruiz-Meana, M., Otaegui, I., Murakami, H., Miyachi, M.,

Garcia-Dorado, D., Hinohara, K., Andreu, A. L., Kimura, A., Hirose, N., & Lucia, A. (2014). The rs1333049 polymorphism on locus 9p21.3 and extreme longevity in Spanish and Japanese cohorts. Age, 36(2), 933–943.

- Piper, M. D. W., & Partridge, L. (2018). Drosophila as a model for ageing. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Basis of Disease, 1864(9), 2707–2717.
- Powers, E. T., Morimoto, R. I., Dillin, A., Kelly, J. W., & Balch, W. E. (2009). Biological and chemical approaches to diseases of proteostasis deficiency. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 78, 959–991.
- Putin, E., Mamoshina, P., Aliper, A., Korzinkin, M., Moskalev, A., Kolosov, A., Ostrovskiy, A., Cantor, C., Vijg, J., & Zhavoronkov, A. (2016). Deep biomarkers of human aging: Application of deep neural networks to biomarker development. Aging, 8(5), 1021–1033.
- Raisz, L. G., & Seeman, E. (2001). Causes of Age-Related Bone Loss and Bone Fragility: An Alternative View. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research, 16(11), 1948–1952.
- Ramnath, U., Rauch, L., Lambert, E. V., & Kolbe-Alexander, T. L. (2018). The relationship between functional status, physical fitness and cognitive performance in physically active older adults: A pilot study. PLoS ONE, 13(4), e0194918.
- Rass, E., Grabarz, A., Plo, I., Gautier, J., Bertrand, P., & Lopez, B. S. (2009). Role of Mre11 in chromosomal nonhomologous end joining in mammalian cells. Nature Structural & Molecular Biology, 16(8), 819–824.
- Reuben, D. B., Rubenstein, L. V., Hirsch, S. H., & Hays, R. D. (1992). Value of functional status as a predictor of mortality: results of a prospective study. The American Journal of Medicine, 93(6), 663–669.
- Revelas, M., Thalamuthu, A., Oldmeadow, C., Evans, T. J., Armstrong, N. J., Kwok, J. B., Brodaty, H., Schofield, P. R., Scott, R. J., Sachdev, P. S., Attia, J. R., & Mather, K. A. (2018). Review and meta-analysis of genetic polymorphisms associated with exceptional human longevity. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development, 175, 24–34.
- Revelas, M., Thalamuthu, A., Oldmeadow, C., Evans, T. J., Armstrong, N. J., Riveros, C., Kwok, J. B., Schofield, P. R., Brodaty, H., Scott, R. J., Attia, J. R., Sachdev, P. S., & Mather, K. A. (2019). Exceptional Longevity and Polygenic Risk for Cardiovascular Health. Genes, 10(3), 227.
- Robinson, O., Chadeau Hyam, M., Karaman, I., Climaco Pinto, R., Ala-Korpela, M., Handakas, E., Fiorito, G., Gao, H., Heard, A., Jarvelin, M. R., Lewis, M., Pazoki, R., Polidoro, S., Tzoulaki, I., Wielscher, M., Elliott, P., & Vineis, P. (2020). Determinants of accelerated metabolomic and epigenetic aging in a UK cohort. Aging Cell, 19(6), e13149.
- Rossiello, F., Jurk, D., Passos, J. F., & d'Adda di Fagagna, F. (2022). Telomere dysfunction in ageing and age-related diseases. Nature Cell Biology, 24(2), 135–147.
- Ryan, C. P., Hayes, M. G., Lee, N. R., McDade, T. W., Jones, M. J., Kobor, M. S., Kuzawa, C. W., & Eisenberg, D. T. A. (2018). Reproduction predicts shorter telomeres and epigenetic age acceleration among young adult women. Scientific Reports, 8(1), 1–9.

- Peričić Salihović, M., Barešić, A., Martinović Klarić, I., Cukrov, S., Lauc, L. B., & Janićijević, B. (2011). The role of the Vlax Roma in shaping the European Romani maternal genetic history. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 146(2), 262–270.
- Salive, M. E. (2013). Multimorbidity in Older Adults. Epidemiologic Reviews, 35(1), 75-83.
- Saxton, R. A., & Sabatini, D. M. (2017). mTOR Signaling in Growth, Metabolism, and Disease. Cell, 168(6), 960–976.
- Schächter, F., Faure-Delanef, L., Guénot, F., Rouger, H., Froguel, P., Lesueur-Ginot, L., & Cohen, D. (1994). Genetic associations with human longevity at the APOE and ACE loci. Nature Genetics, 6(1), 29–32.
- Sen, P., Shah, P. P., Nativio, R., & Berger, S. L. (2016). Epigenetic mechanisms regulating longevity and aging. Cell, 166(4), 822.
- Šetinc, M., Zajc Petranović, M., Slivšek, G., Mijač, S., Celinščak, Ž., Stojanović Marković, A., Bišof, V., Peričić Salihović, M., & Škarić-Jurić, T. (2023). Genes Involved in DNA Damage Cell Pathways and Health of the Oldest-Old (85+). Genes, 14(9), 1806.
- Shang, F., & Taylor, A. (2011). Ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and cellular responses to oxidative stress. Free Radical Biology & Medicine, 51(1), 5–16.
- Shay, J. W., Zou, Y., Hiyama, E., & Wright, W. E. (2001). Telomerase and cancer. Human Molecular Genetics, 10(7), 677–685.
- Shen, Q., Zhang, Z., Yu, L., Cao, L., Zhou, D., Kan, M., Li, B., Zhang, D., He, L., & Liu, Y. (2011). Common variants near TERC are associated with leukocyte telomere length in the Chinese Han population. European Journal of Human Genetics, 19(6), 721–723.
- Shibata, A., Moiani, D., Arvai, A. S., Perry, J., Harding, S. M., Genois, M. M., Maity, R., van Rossum-Fikkert, S., Kertokalio, A., Romoli, F., Ismail, A., Ismalaj, E., Petricci, E., Neale, M. J., Bristow, R. G., Masson, J. Y., Wyman, C., Jeggo, P. A., & Tainer, J. A. (2014). DNA double-strand break repair pathway choice is directed by distinct MRE11 nuclease activities. Molecular Cell, 53(1), 7–18.
- Short, K. R., Bigelow, M. L., Kahl, J., Singh, R., Coenen-Schimke, J., Raghavakaimal, S., & Nair, K. S. (2005). Decline in skeletal muscle mitochondrial function with aging in humans. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 102(15), 5618–5623.
- Škarić-Jurić, T., Martinović Klarić, I., Smolej Narančić, N., Drmić, S., Peričić Salihović, M., Lauc, L. B., Miličić, J., Barabalić, M., Zajc, M., & Janićijević, B. (2007). Trapped between tradition and transition - Anthropological and epidemiological cross-sectional study of Bayash Roma in Croatia. Croatian Medical Journal, 48(5), 708–719.
- Škarić-Jurić, T., & Rudan, P. (1997). Family correlations of metacarpal bones--heritable (h2) and environmental (c2) components of total phenotypic variation. Collegium Antropologicum, 21(2), 447–459.
- Smulders, L., & Deelen, J. (2023). Genetics of human longevity: From variants to genes to pathways. Journal of Internal Medicine, 295(4), 416-435.

- Soerensen, M., Dato, S., Christensen, K., McGue, M., Stevnsner, T., Bohr, V. A., & Christiansen, L. (2010). Replication of an association of variation in the FOXO3A gene with human longevity using both case–control and longitudinal data. Aging Cell, 9(6), 1010–1017.
- Soerensen, M., Dato, S., Tan, Q., Thinggaard, M., Kleindorp, R., Beekman, M., Jacobsen, R., Suchiman, E. H. D., de Craen, A. J. M., Westendorp, R. G. J., Schreiber, S., Stevnsner, T., Bohr, V. A., Slagboom, P. E., Nebel, A., Vaupel, J. W., Christensen, K., McGue, M., & Christiansen, L. (2012a). Human longevity and variation in GH/IGF-1/insulin signaling, DNA damage signaling and repair and pro/antioxidant pathway genes: Cross sectional and longitudinal studies. Experimental Gerontology, 47(5), 379–387.
- Soerensen, M., Thinggaard, M., Nygaard, M., Dato, S., Tan, Q., Hjelmborg, J., Andersen-Ranberg, K., Stevnsner, T., Bohr, V. A., Kimura, M., Aviv, A., Christensen, K., & Christiansen, L. (2012b). Genetic variation in TERT and TERC and human leukocyte telomere length and longevity: a cross-sectional and longitudinal analysis. Aging Cell, 11(2), 223–227.
- Spielman, L. J., Bahniwal, M., Little, J. P., Walker, D. G., & Klegeris, A. (2015). Insulin Modulates In Vitro Secretion of Cytokines and Cytotoxins by Human Glial Cells. Current Alzheimer Research, 12(7), 684-93.
- Sprott, R. L. (2010). Biomarkers of aging and disease: Introduction and definitions. Experimental Gerontology, 45(1), 2–4.
- Stefanetti, R. J., Voisin, S., Russell, A., & Lamon, S. (2018). Recent advances in understanding the role of FOXO3. F1000Research, 7, F1000 Faculty Rev-1372.
- Tanaka, T., Biancotto, A., Moaddel, R., Moore, A. Z., Gonzalez-Freire, M., Aon, M. A., Candia, J., Zhang, P., Cheung, F., Fantoni, G., Semba, R. D., & Ferrucci, L. (2018). Plasma proteomic signature of age in healthy humans. Aging Cell, 17(5), e12799.
- Taylor, R. C., & Dillin, A. (2011). Aging as an Event of Proteostasis Collapse. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 3(5), 1–17.
- TenNapel, M. J., Lynch, C. F., Burns, T. L., Wallace, R., Smith, B. J., Button, A., & Domann, F. E. (2014). SIRT6 Minor Allele Genotype Is Associated with >5-Year Decrease in Lifespan in an Aged Cohort. PLoS ONE, 9(12), e115616.
- Teschendorff, A. E., Menon, U., Gentry-Maharaj, A., Ramus, S. J., Weisenberger, D. J., Shen, H., Campan, M., Noushmehr, H., Bell, C. G., Maxwell, A. P., Savage, D. A., Mueller-Holzner, E., Marth, C., Kocjan, G., Gayther, S. A., Jones, A., Beck, S., Wagner, W., Laird, P. W., ... Widschwendter, M. (2010). Age-dependent DNA methylation of genes that are suppressed in stem cells is a hallmark of cancer. Genome Research, 20(4), 440–446.
- Tesi, N., van der Lee, S. J., Hulsman, M., Jansen, I. E., Stringa, N., van Schoor, N. M., Scheltens, P., van der Flier, W. M., Huisman, M., Reinders, M. J. T., & Holstege, H. (2021). Polygenic Risk Score of Longevity Predicts Longer Survival Across an Age Continuum. The Journals of Gerontology: Series A, 76(5), 750–759.
- The European Public Health Alliance. (2018). Closing the life expectancy gap of Roma in Europe (Issue December). https://epha.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/closing-the-life-expectancy-gap-of-roma-in-europe-study.pdf
- Tian, X., Firsanov, D., Zhang, Z., Cheng, Y., Luo, L., Tombline, G., Tan, R., Simon, M., Henderson, S., Steffan, J., Goldfarb, A., Tam, J., Zheng, K., Cornwell, A., Johnson, A., Yang, J.-N., Mao, Z., Manta, B., Dang, W., ... Gorbunova, V. (2019). SIRT6 Is Responsible for More Efficient DNA Double-Strand Break Repair in Long-Lived Species. Cell, 177(3), 622-638.e22.
- Timmers, P. R. H. J., Mounier, N., Lall, K., Fischer, K., Ning, Z., Feng, X., Bretherick, A. D., Clark, D. W., Shen, X., Esko, T., Kutalik, Z., Wilson, J. F., & Joshi, P. K. (2019). Genomics of 1 million parent lifespans implicates novel pathways and common diseases and distinguishes survival chances. ELife, 8, 1–40.
- Tong, W., Zhang, J., & Lodish, H. F. (2005). Lnk inhibits erythropoiesis and Epo-dependent JAK2 activation and downstream signaling pathways. Blood, 105(12), 4604.
- Trifunovic, A., & Larsson, N. G. (2008). Mitochondrial dysfunction as a cause of ageing. Journal of Internal Medicine, 263(2), 167–178.
- Trifunovic, A., Wredenberg, A., Falkenberg, M., Spelbrink, J. N., Rovio, A. T., Bruder, C. E., Bohlooly-Y, M., Gldlöf, S., Oldfors, A., Wibom, R., Törnell, J., Jacobs, H. T., & Larsson, N. G. (2004). Premature ageing in mice expressing defective mitochondrial DNA polymerase. Nature, 429(6990), 417–423.
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, & Population Division. (2019). World Population Prospects 2019: Highlights (Statistical Papers - United Nations (Ser. A), Population and Vital Statistics Report). United Nations.
- Van Den Broeck, T., Joniau, S., Clinckemalie, L., Helsen, C., Prekovic, S., Spans, L., Tosco, L., Van Poppel, H., & Claessens, F. (2014). The Role of Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms in Predicting Prostate Cancer Risk and Therapeutic Decision Making. BioMed Research International, 627510.
- Van Heemst, D., Mooijaart, S. P., Beekman, M., Schreuder, J., De Craen, A. J. M., Brandt, B. W., Eline Slagboom, P., & Westendorp, R. G. J. (2005). Variation in the human TP53 gene affects old age survival and cancer mortality. Experimental Gerontology, 40(1–2), 11–15.
- Vijg, J. (2000). Somatic mutations and aging: a re-evaluation. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis, 447(1), 117–135.
- Vijg, J., & Suh, Y. (2013). Genome instability and aging. Annual Review of Physiology, 75(Volume 75, 2013), 645–668.
- Wain, L. V., Verwoert, G. C., O'reilly, P. F., Shi, G., Johnson, T., Johnson, A. D., Bochud, M., Rice, K. M., Henneman, P., Smith, A. V., Ehret, G. B., Amin, N., Larson, M. G., Mooser, V., Hadley, D., Dörr, M., Bis, J. C., Aspelund, T., Esko, T., ... Navis, G. (2011). Genomewide association study identifies six new loci influencing pulse pressure and mean arterial pressure. Nature Genetics, 43(10), 1005–1012.
- Wallace, D. C. (2010). Mitochondrial DNA mutations in disease and aging. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis, 51(5), 440–450.
- Weismann, A. (1891). Essays upon heredity and kindred biological problems. 2nd Edition. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

- Wilkening, S., Chen, B., Bermejo, J. L., & Canzian, F. (2009). Is there still a need for candidate gene approaches in the era of genome-wide association studies? Genomics, 93(5), 415–419.
- Willcox, B. J., Donlon, T. A., He, Q., Chen, R., Grove, J. S., Yano, K., Masaki, K. H., Willcox, D. C., Rodriguez, B., & Curb, J. D. (2008). FOXO3A genotype is strongly associated with human longevity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 105(37), 13987–13992.
- Williams, R. S., Williams, J. S., & Tainer, J. A. (2007). Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 is a keystone complex connecting DNA repair machinery, double-strand break signaling, and the chromatin template. Biochemistry and Cell Biology = Biochimie et Biologie Cellulaire, 85(4), 509– 520.
- Wilmoth, J. R. (1998). The future of human longevity: a demographer's perspective. Science, 280(5362), 395–396.
- Wilson, P. W. F., Larson, M. G., Myers, R. H., Wolf, P. A., Ordovas, J. M., & Schaefer, E. J. (1994). Apolipoprotein E Alleles, Dyslipidemia, and Coronary Heart Disease: The Framingham Offspring Study. JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association, 272(21), 1666–1671.
- Wood, J., O'Connor, K., Holman, D., Brindle, E., Barsom, S., & Grimes, M. (2000). The Evolution of Menopause by Antagonistic Pleiotropy. Homo, 51, 1–18.
- World Health Organization. (n.d.). GHE: Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy. The Global Health Observatory. Retrieved August 26, 2022, from https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/mortality-and-global-health-estimates/ghe-lifeexpectancy-and-healthy-life-expectancy
- Wright, W. E., Piatyszek, M. A., Rainey, W. E., Shgy, J. W., & Byrd, W. (1996). Telomerase Activity in Human Germline Embryonic Tissues and Cells. DEVELOPMENTAL GENETICS, 18173–18179.
- Wu, D., & Prives, C. (2018). Relevance of the p53–MDM2 axis to aging. Cell Death & Differentiation, 25(1), 169–179.
- Yap, K. L., Li, S., Muñoz-Cabello, A. M., Raguz, S., Zeng, L., Mujtaba, S., Gil, J., Walsh, M. J., & Zhou, M. M. (2010). Molecular Interplay of the Noncoding RNA ANRIL and Methylated Histone H3 Lysine 27 by Polycomb CBX7 in Transcriptional Silencing of INK4a. Molecular Cell, 38(5), 662–674.
- Yazdanyar, A., & Newman, A. B. (2009). The Burden of Cardiovascular Disease in the Elderly: Morbidity, Mortality, and Costs. Clinics in Geriatric Medicine, 25(4), 563.
- Yoon, M. S. (2017). The Role of Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) in Insulin Signaling. Nutrients, 9(11), 1176.
- Yousefzadeh, M., Henpita, C., Vyas, R., Soto-Palma, C., Robbins, P., & Niedernhofer, L. (2021). DNA damage—how and why we age? ELife, 10, 1–17.

- Zadik, Z., Chalew, S. A., McCarter, R. J., Meistas, M., & Avinoam Kowarski, A. (1985). The influence of age on the 24-hour integrated concentration of growth hormone in normal individuals. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 60(3), 513–516.
- Zajc Petranović, M. (2013). Uloga polimorfizama kandidatskih gena za kardiovaskularne bolesti u dugovječnosti: antropološki pristup [Prirodoslovno-matematički fakultet, Sveučilište u Zagrebu].
- Zeljko, H. M., Škarić-Jurić, T., Smolej Narančić, N., Tomas, Ž., Barešić, A., Peričić Salihović, M., Starčević, B., & Janićijević, B. (2011). E2 allele of the Apolipoprotein e gene polymorphism is predictive for obesity status in Roma minority population of Croatia. Lipids in Health and Disease, 10(9), 10:9, doi: 10.1186/1476-511X-10-9.
- Zeljko, H., Škarić-Jurić, T., Smolej Narančić, N., Peričić Salihović, M., Martinović Klarić, I., Barbalić, M., Starčević, B., Lauc, L. B., & Janićijević, B. (2008). Traditional CVD risk factors and socio-economic deprivation in Roma minority population of Croatia. Collegium Antropologicum, 32(3), 667–676.
- Zeng, Y., Cheng, L., Chen, H., Cao, H., Hauser, E. R., Liu, Y., Xiao, Z., Tan, Q., Tian, X. L., & Vaupel, J. W. (2010). Effects of FOXO Genotypes on Longevity: A Biodemographic Analysis. The Journals of Gerontology: Series A, 65A(12), 1285–1299.
- Zglinicki, T. v., & Martin-Ruiz, C. M. (2005). Telomeres as Biomarkers for Ageing and Age-Related Diseases. Current Molecular Medicine, 5(2), 197–203.
- Zhu, Z., Xia, W., Cui, Y., Zeng, F., Li, Y., Yang, Z., & Hequn, C. (2019). Klotho gene polymorphisms are associated with healthy aging and longevity: Evidence from a metaanalysis. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development, 178, 33–40.
- Zuo, L., van Dyck, C. H., Luo, X., Kranzler, H. R., Yang, B., & Gelernter, J. (2006). Variation at APOE and STH loci and Alzheimer's disease. Behavioral and Brain Functions, 2(1), 13.

6. CURRICULUM VITAE

Maja Šetinc was born on April 29 1995 in Zagreb, where she completed elementary school and attended the language-focused programme of grammar school Gimnazija Lucijana Vranjanina. In 2019, she graduated from the Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb, obtaining her Master's degree in Molecular Biology after defending her thesis "Cloning of the ligand JAGGED1 and its effect on the proliferation of lymphocytes". During her studies, she completed a six-month laboratory internship at the Division of Microbiology of Department of Biology and actively participated in the organisation of the yearly manifestation "Night of Biology". She was also a part of the organising committee of the first rendition of "Meet the Biologists".

In 2020, Maja started working as an assistant at the Institute for Anthropological Research in Zagreb under the supervision of Tatjana Škarić-Jurić, MD, PhD, scientific advisor with tenure, within her projects "Health, Cultural, and Biological Determinants of Longevity: Anthropological Perspective on Survival in Very Old Age (HECUBA)" and "Young Researchers' Career Development Project – Training New Doctoral Students" funded by Croatian Science Foundation. That same year, Maja also enrolled in the doctoral programme of Biology at the Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, University of Zagreb. In 2022, Maja spent three months in scientific training as a guest scientist at the Max Planck Institute for Biology of Ageing in Cologne, Germany, under the supervision of Joris Deelen, PhD, for which she was awarded the Scientific Exchange Grant from the European Molecular Biology Organization (EMBO). She has also been chosen as one of the scholarship recipients of the National programme L'Oréal-UNESCO "For Women in Science" for 2024.

Maja Šetinc has so far published nine original scientific papers (three of them as the first author) and one professional review paper. She participated in nine conferences and multiple workshops, and is currently a member of the European Anthropological Association and Croatian Society for Human Genetics.

7. APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Allele frequencies of the 43 longevity-associated SNPs in Croatian oldest-old and the young control sample. The frequencies were compared between the two groups using Chi-square or Fisher's exact test, and the p-values of this comparison are shown in the table.

Associated game	rsID	مارما	Old	est-old sample	Ŷ	oung control	n valua
	ISID	Ancie	Ν	frequency (%)	Ν	frequency (%)	p-value
11.6	ma 1 8 0 0 7 0 5	G	342	55.2	116	63.0	0.062
ILO	181800795	С	278	44.8	68	37.0	0.062
KLOTHO	m=0526214	Т	566	88.2	173	89.2	0.708
KLOIHO	189530314	G	76	11.8	21	10.8	0.798
<i>KLOTUO</i>		G	566	88.2	177	90.3	0.442
KLOTHO	189527025	С	76	11.8	19	9.7	0.443
ADOCI	ma1420628	А	556	88.3	170	85.0	0.222
APOCI	184420038	G	74	11.7	30	15.0	0.223
EOVO2		Т	370	57.6	125	62.5	0.240
FOXOS	182802292	G	272	42.4	75	37.5	0.249
TEDC		С	467	74.1	142	73.2	0.780
IEKC	1812090304	G	163	25.9	52	26.8	0.780
		А	585	92.3	155	96.9	0.036
ILO	rs2069837	G	49	7.7	5	3.1	
CDKNOD		А	380	60.1	123	62.1	0.677
CDKN2B	184977750	G	252	39.9	75	37.9	
ADOE		С	582	92.4	189	96.4	0.049
APOE	rs/412	Т	48	7.6	7	3.6	
ADOE	420259	Т	570	91.9	179	89.5	0.311
APOE	18429358	С	50	8.1	21	10.5	
TOMMAO	ma2075650	А	551	85.8	168	86.6	0.906
10/////40	182073630	G	91	14.2	26	13.4	
		С	591	92.6	180	96.8	0.042
ΙΚΓ4	1812205592	Т	47	7.4	6	3.2	0.042
CDKNOD		G	337	53.0	98	49.5	0.416
CDKN2B	181333049	С	299	47.0	100	50.5	0.416
CUOD 2		Т	326	51.6	101	51.0	0.025
5H2B5	183184304	С	306	48.4	97	49.0	0.935
T D A	ma10455972	А	611	96.4	194	97.0	0.826
LPA	rs10455872	G	23	3.6	6	3.0	0.820
TNE	ma1800620	G	556	87.4	162	84.4	0.077
INF	181800029	А	80	12.6	30	15.6	0.277
<i>TP53</i>	rs1042522	C	486	76.2	150	77.3	0.773

		G	152	23.8	44	22.7	
TID 5 2	2070406	G	585	92.3	189	95.5	0.150
1P53	rs20/8486	А	49	7.7	9	4.5	0.150
CHED	5701.00	С	457	72.5	146	73.0	0.020
GHSR	rs5/2169	Т	173	27.5	54	27.0	0.928
TIDC	1 60 47007	G	453	70.8	141	69.8	0.701
IERC	rs1684/89/	С	187	29.2	61	30.2	0.791
ICEID	2220765	G	353	56.4	98	51.6	0.245
IGFIK	rs2229765	А	273	43.6	92	48.4	
EDCCO		А	341	54.0	103	52.6	0.744
ERCC2	1830871	С	291	46.0	93	47.4	0.744
EOVO2	ma10457190	А	423	67.1	144	72.0	0.222
FUXUS	1810437180	G	207	32.9	56	28.0	0.222
EOVO2	ra12206004	С	444	70.5	147	74.2	0 222
ΓΟΛΟΣ	1812200094	Т	186	29.5	51	25.8	0.323
EOVO2		Т	426	67.6	144	73.5	0.133
FOXOS	rs13217795	C 204	204	32.4	52	26.5	
EOVO2	ma4046025	G	449	70.2	143	75.3	0.201
ΓΟΧΟΣ	184940933	А	191	29.8	47	24.7	
CUDUD	ma2267722	А	346	55.6	111	57.2	0.741
GAKAK	182207725	G	276	44.4	83	42.8	
ICE1P	ra12427062	А	546	85.6	156	79.6	0.057
IGFIK	1812437903	G	92	14.4	40	20.4	0.037
ICE2P	rc0456407	А	513	80.9	158	84.0	0.391
IGF2K	189430497	G	121	19.1	30	16.0	
KI OTHO	ra1207262	G	432	68.8	136	70.1	0.790
KLOTHO	131207302	Т	196	31.2	58	29.9	
KI F7	rs2360675	С	324	50.9	90	48.9	0.676
KLI ⁺ /	132300073	А	312	49.1	94	51.1	0.070
LINC02227	rs21/1995/1	С	398	62.0	122	61.6	0.933
	132147734	Т	244	38.0	76	38.4	0.755
MRF11A	rs533984	G	379	60.4	95	48.0	0.002
	13555704	А	249	39.6	103	52.0	0.002
РАРРА	rs4837525	G	394	62.7	119	61.3	0.735
	151057525	А	234	37.3	75	38.7	0.755
PARK7	rs225119	С	368	57.5	111	56.1	0 743
1/11/11/	10220117	Т	272	42.5	87	43.9	0.75
PTPN1	rs6067484	А	454	72.1	147	74.2	0.584
	100007101	G	176	27.9	51	25.8	0.001
RAD50/IL13	rs2706372	С	457	72.8	139	70.9	0.648
	102100012	Т	171	27.2	57	29.1	0.010
SIRT6	rs107251	С	577	89.9	174	87.9	0.429
SIKIO	15107231	Т	65	10.1	24	12.1	0.429

TERC	ma2772100	G	488	77.2	146	76.0	0.760
	185772190	А	144	22.8	46	24.0	0.769
TERT	rs33954691	G	567	89.7	179	89.5	0.895
		А	65	10.3	21	10.5	
TXNRD1	ma17202060	С	417	66.4	136	71.6	0.186
	1817202060	Т	211	33.6	54	28.4	
WRN	rs13251813	C	608	95.3	196	96.1	0.946
		Т	30	4.7	8	3.9	0.840
FOXO3	ma2764264	Т	415	66.9	142	71.7	0.221
	182/04204	С	205	33.1	56	28.3	0.221

Appendix 2. Genotype frequencies of the 43 longevity-associated SNPs in Croatian oldest-old and the young control sample. The frequencies were compared between the two groups using Chi-square or Fisher's exact test, and the p-values of this comparison are shown in the table.

Associated come	and ID	Construng	Oldest-old sample Young control	oung control			
Associated gene	ISID	Genotype	N	frequency (%)	N	frequency (%)	p-value
		G:G	99	31.9	36	39.1	
IL6	rs1800795	C:G	144	46.5	44	47.8	0.152
		C:C	67	21.6	12	13.0	
		T:T	253	78.8	77	79.4	
KLOTHO	rs9536314	T:G	60	18.7	19	19.6	0.679
		G:G	8	2.5	1	1.0	
		G:G	253	78.8	79	80.6	
KLOTHO	rs9527025	C:G	60	18.7	19	19.4	0.288
		C:C	8	2.5	0	0.0	
		A:A	246	78.1	71	71.0	0.259
APOC1	rs4420638	G:A	64	20.3	28	28.0	
		G:G	5	1.6	1	1.0	
	rs2802292	T:T	103	32.1	38	38.0	0.458
FOXO3		T:G	164	51.1	49	49.0	
		G:G	54	16.8	13	13.0	
		C:C	170	54.0	52	53.6	0.860
TERC	rs12696304	G:C	127	40.3	38	39.2	
		G:G	18	5.7	7	7.2	
IL6		A:A	269	84.9	75	93.8	0.110
	rs2069837	G:A	47	14.8	5	6.2	
		G:G	1	0.3	0	0.0	
CDKN2B	rs/1077756	A:A	113	35.8	40	40.4	0.635
CDKN2B	154777730	G:A	154	48.7	43	43.4	0.035

		G:G	49	15.5	16	16.2	
		C:C	270	85.7	91	92.9	
APOE	rs7412	C:T	42	13.3	7	7.1	0.151
		T:T	3	1.0	0	0.0	
		T:T	262	84.5	79	79.0	0.262
APOE	rs429358	C:T	46	14.8	21	21.0	
		C:C	2	0.6	0	0.0	
		A:A	238	74.1	72	74.2	
TOMM40	rs2075650	G:A	75	23.4	24	24.7	0.671
		G:G	8	2.5	1	1.0	
		C:C	275	86.2	87	93.5	
IRF4	rs12203592	T:C	41	12.9	6	6.5	0.142
		T:T	3	0.9	0	0.0	
		G:G	96	30.2	24	24.2	
CDKN2B	rs1333049	G:C	145	45.6	50	50.5	0.509
		C:C	77	24.2	25	25.3	
		T:T	84	26.6	27	27.3	0.897
SH2B3	rs3184504	T:C	158	50.0	47	47.5	
		C:C	74	23.4	25	25.3	
		A:A	296	93.4	94	94.0	
LPA	rs10455872	G:A	19	6.0	6	6.0	0.728
		G:G	2	0.6	0	0.0	
		G:G	246	77.4	67	69.8	
TNF	rs1800629	G:A	64	20.1	28	29.2	0.135
		A:A	8	2.5	1	1.0	
		C:C	181	56.7	58	59.8	0.778
<i>TP53</i>	rs1042522	C:G	124	38.9	34	35.1	
		G:G	14	4.4	5	5.2	
		G:G	270	85.2	90	90.9	0.297
<i>TP53</i>	rs2078486	G:A	45	14.2	9	9.1	
		A:A	2	0.6	0	0.0	
		C:C	171	54.3	55	55.0	
GHSR	rs572169	C:T	115	36.5	36	36.0	0.992
		T:T	29	9.2	9	9.0	
TERC		G:G	160	50.0	49	48.5	
	rs16847897	G:C	133	41.6	43	42.6	0.964
		C:C	27	8.4	9	8.9	
IGF1R		G:G	102	32.6	27	28.4	
	rs2229765	A:G	149	47.6	44	46.3	0.483
		A:A	62	19.8	24	25.3	
		A:A	94	29.7	29	29.6	
ERCC2	rs50871	A:C	153	48.4	45	45.9	0.847
		C:C	69	21.8	24	24.5	

FOXO3		A:A	139	44.1	52	52.0	
	rs10457180	G:A	145	46.0	40	40.0	0.384
		G:G	31	9.8	8	8.0	
		C:C	155	49.2	53	53.5	
FOXO3	rs12206094	T:C	134	42.5	41	41.4	0.513
		T:T	26	8.3	5	5.1	
		T:T	140	44.4	53	54.1	
FOXO3	rs13217795	T:C	146	46.3	38	38.8	0.245
		C:C	29	9.2	7	7.1	
		G:G	157	49.1	55	57.9	
FOXO3	rs4946935	G:A	135	42.2	33	34.7	0.318
		A:A	28	8.8	7	7.4	
		A:A	96	30.9	30	30.9	
GHRHR	rs2267723	G:A	154	49.5	51	52.6	0.771
		G:G	61	19.6	16	16.5	
		A:A	233	73.0	61	62.2	
IGF1R	rs12437963	G:A	80	25.1	34	34.7	0.119
		G:G	6	1.9	3	3.1	
		A:A	206	65.0	67	71.3	0.500
IGF2R	rs9456497	G:A	101	31.9	24	25.5	
		G:G	10	3.2	3	3.2	
		G:G	152	48.4	47	48.5	0.742
KLOTHO	rs1207362	T:G	128	40.8	42	43.3	
		T:T	34	10.8	8	8.2	
		C:C	84	26.4	18	19.6	0.238
KLF7	rs2360675	C:A	156	49.1	54	58.7	
		A:A	78	24.5	20	21.7	
		C:C	130	40.5	39	39.4	
LINC02227	rs2149954	T:C	138	43.0	44	44.4	0.968
		T:T	53	16.5	16	16.2	
	-	G:G	110	35.0	22	22.2	
MRE11A	rs533984	G:A	159	50.6	51	51.5	0.006
		A:A	45	14.3	26	26.3	
		G:G	120	38.2	41	42.3	
PAPPA	rs4837525	G:A	154	49.0	37	38.1	0.099
		A:A	40	12.7	19	19.6	
	-	C:C	103	32.2	28	28.3	
PARK7	rs225119	T:C	162	50.6	55	55.6	0.680
		T:T	55	17.2	16	16.2	
		A:A	166	52.7	53	53.5	
PTPN1	rs6067484	G:A	122	38.7	41	41.4	0.508
		G:G	27	8.6	5	5.1	
RAD50/IL13	rs2706372	C:C	166	52.9	53	54.1	0.237

		T:C	125	39.8	33	33.7	
		T:T	23	7.3	12	12.2	
		C:C	259	80.7	77	77.8	
SIRT6	rs107251	T:C	59	18.4	20	20.2	0.618
		T:T	3	0.9	2	2.0	
		G:G	186	58.9	56	58.3	
TERC	rs3772190	G:A	116	36.7	34	35.4	0.764
		A:A	14	4.4	6	6.2	
		G:G	253	80.1	80	80.0	
TERT	rs33954691	G:A	61	19.3	19	19.0	0.930
		A:A	2	0.6	1	1.0	
		C:C	141	44.9	47	49.5	
TXNRD1	rs17202060	T:C	135	43.0	42	44.2	0.269
		T:T	38	12.1	6	6.3	
		C:C	290	90.9	94	92.2	
WRN	rs13251813	T:C	28	8.8	8	7.8	0.814
		T:T	1	0.3	0	0.0	
		T:T	137	44.2	51	51.5	
FOXO3	rs2764264	T:C	141	45.5	40	40.4	0.428
		C:C	32	10.3	8	8.1	

8. PROŠIRENI SAŽETAK

Starenje je biološki proces progresivnog slabljenja svih funkcija organizma kroz vrijeme koji na kraju završava smrću organizma. Ono nema samo jedan uzrok, već više njih, međusobno povezanih i umreženih tako da djeluju na čitav organizam. Stoga ne čudi što je kroz povijest istraživanja starenja razvijeno mnoštvo teorija kako bi se objasnile promjene koje se događaju dok organizam stari, no niti jedna nije uspjela objediniti sve aspekte ovog složenog procesa.

Dugovječnost je složeno obilježje uvjetovano i genetskim i okolišnim čimbenicima, a može se smatrati rezultatom uspješnog procesa starenja. U proteklih 200 godina, očekivani životni vijek čovjeka se više nego udvostručio, što je dovelo do velikog povećanja udjela starije populacije. Kako je životna dob glavni rizični faktor za razvoj kroničnih nezaraznih bolesti, proces starenja svjetskog stanovništva predstavlja teret za zdravstvene i socijalne sustave mnogih zemalja, što naglašava značaj istraživanja zdravog starenja – postizanja dugovječnosti uz održavanje dobrog zdravlja. U istraživanju čimbenika koji doprinose dugovječnosti vrlo značajnu ulogu imaju osobe duboke starosti, upravo kao primjeri uspješnog starenja. Takva su istraživanja o čimbenicima koji doprinose dugom i zdravom životu.

U sklopu ovog istraživanja 43 genetske varijante povezane s dugovječnošću u drugim populacijama istraživane su na hrvatskom uzorku osoba duboke starosti (85+ godina) kako bi se dobio uvid u genetsku pozadinu dugovječnosti u toj populaciji. Cilj je bio utvrditi postoji li razlika u učestalostima genotipova ili alela između osoba duboke starosti i mladog kontrolnog uzorka te utvrditi doprinose li iste varijante postizanju dugovječnosti (90 godina) i ekstremne dugovječnosti (95 godina). Također, genetske varijante te pokazatelji zdravstvenog statusa i relativna duljina telomera testirani su kako bi se utvrdilo utječu li na preživljenje u dubokoj starosti (iznad 85 godina).

Ispitanici duboke starosti od kontrolne su se skupine mladih osoba razlikovali samo u jednoj varijanti, povezanoj s genom *MRE11* koji ima važnu ulogu u popravku DNA. Izostanak drugih razlika vjerojatno je posljedica malog broja ispitanika, pogotovo kontrolne skupine. Devet varijanti doprinosilo je šansama za postizanje dugovječnosti, dok je pet varijanti doprinosilo postizanju ekstremne dugovječnosti. Tim dvama modelima zajednička je bila jedino varijanta rs1042522 u

genu *TP53*, poznatom i kao "čuvar genoma". Također, 14 je interakcija između dvaju polimorfizma jednog nukleotida imalo značajan utjecaj na preživljenje u dubokoj starosti, među kojima se kao najznačajniji interakcijski partner pokazao *CDKN2B*, gen koji kodira inhibitor kinaza ovisnih o ciklinu te tako sudjeluje u regulaciji staničnog ciklusa. Pokazatelji zdravstvenog stanja također su imali utjecaj na preživljenje u dobi iznad 85 godina, a testiranjem sa značajnim genetskim interakcijama utvrđeno je da su njihovi utjecaji na krajnji fenotip – preživljenje – međusobno neovisni. Time je pokazano da su oba tipa varijabli uključena u dosizanje dugovječnosti. Relativna duljina telomera nije imala utjecaj na preživljenje osoba starijih od 85 godina.